SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

FORM 20-F/A

Annual and transition report of foreign private issuers pursuant to sections 13 or 15(d) [amend]

Filing Date: **2022-05-17** | Period of Report: **2021-12-31** SEC Accession No. 0000950157-22-000595

(HTML Version on secdatabase.com)

FILER

AerCap Holdings N.V.

CIK:1378789| IRS No.: 000000000 | State of Incorp.:P7 | Fiscal Year End: 1231

Type: 20-F/A | Act: 34 | File No.: 001-33159 | Film No.: 22933000

SIC: 7359 Equipment rental & leasing, nec

Mailing Address
AERCAP HOUSE
65 ST. STEPHEN'S GREEN
DUBLIN L2 2

Business Address AERCAP HOUSE 65 ST. STEPHEN'S GREEN DUBLIN L2 2 35 31 819 2010

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549 FORM 20-F/A

(Amendment No. 1)

■ ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021

Commission file number 001-33159

AerCap Holdings N.V.

(Exact name of Registrant as specified in its charter)

The Netherlands

(Jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)

AerCap House 65 St. Stephen's Green Dublin D02 YX20 Ireland + 353 1 819 2010

(Address of principal executive offices)

Vincent Drouillard, AerCap House, 65 St. Stephen's Green, Dublin D02 YX20, Ireland Telephone number: +353 1 819 2010, Fax number: +353 1 672 0270

(Name, Telephone, Email and/or Facsimile number and Address of Company Contact Person)

Securities registered or to be registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

	Trading	Name of each exchange on which
Title of each class	Symbol(s)	registered
Ordinary Shares	AER	The New York Stock Exchange
5.875% Fixed-Rate Reset Junior Subordinated Notes		
due 2079	AER79	The New York Stock Exchange

Securities registered or to be registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None

Securities for which there is a reporting obligation pursuant to Section 15(d) of the Act: None

Indicate the number of outstanding shares of each of the issuer's classes of capital or ordinary stock as of the close of the period covered by the annual report.

Ordinary Shares, Euro 0.01 par value

245,395,448

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. Yes \boxtimes No \square

2021 Auditor Name: KPMG, Auditor location: Dublin, Ireland, Audit Firm ID: 1116	
Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes □ No 🗷	
If this is an annual report, indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in	
If "Other" has been checked in response to the previous question, indicate by check mark which financial statement item the registrant has elected to follow: Item 17 \square Item 18 \square	
International Financial Reporting Standards as U.S. GAAP	
Indicate by check mark which basis of accounting the registrant has used to prepare the financial statement included in this filing:	ts
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed a report on and attestation to its management's assessment of the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting under Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (15 U.S.C. 7262(b)) by the registered public accounting firm that prepared or issued its audreport. Yes ☑ No □	it
Large Accelerated Non accelerated filer filer (Do not check if a smaller reporting company) Company	
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or an emerging growth company. See definition of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer," and "emerging growth company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.	
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data Fi required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such files). Yes ☑ No □	
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 of 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 9 days. Yes \boxtimes No \square	he
reports pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Yes \square No \square	ie

EXPLANATORY NOTE

AerCap Holdings N.V. (the "Company") is filing this Amendment No. 1 ("Amendment No. 1") to the Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2021 (the "Original Form 20-F"), as filed with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") on March 30, 2022 (the "Original Filing Date"), as an exhibits-only filing, solely to update the Form 20-F to provide Exhibit 2.7 and Exhibit 2.8 and to amend the exhibit index pursuant to Item 19 of Form 20-F.

Except as described above, no changes have been made to the Original Form 20-F, and this Amendment No. 1 does not modify, amend or update the financial or other information contained in the Original Form 20-F. This Amendment No. 1 does not reflect any events that have occurred on or after the Original Filing Date. Among other things, the Company has not revised forward-looking statements made in the Original Form 20-F to reflect events that occurred or facts that became known to the Company after the Original Filing Date. Therefore, this Amendment No. 1 should be read in conjunction with the Original Form 20-F and any other documents that the Company has filed with the SEC on or after the Original Filing Date.

Pursuant to Rule 12b-15 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Exchange Act"), this Amendment No. 1 also includes as exhibits the certifications of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of the Company pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Because no financial statements have been included in this Amendment No. 1 and this Amendment No. 1 does not contain or amend any disclosure with respect to Item 15 of Form 20-F, paragraphs 3, 4, and 5 have been omitted from such certifications. The Company is not including certifications pursuant to Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code (18 U.S.C. 1350) because no financial statements are filed with this Amendment No. 1.

This Amendment No. 1 consists solely of the cover page, this explanatory note, the exhibit index and the exhibits filed herewith.

Item 19. Exhibits

We have filed the following documents as exhibits to this annual report:

Exhibit Number	Description of Exhibit
<u>1.1</u>	Articles of Association
2.1	AerCap Holdings N.V. 2006 Equity Incentive Plan (including form of Stock Option Agreement) (filed as an exhibit to our Registration Statement on Form F-1, File No. 333-138381 and incorporated herein by reference)
2.2	Amended and Restated Facility Agreement, dated as of December 14, 2012, among the Banks and Financial Institutions named therein as ECA Lenders, Crédit Agricole Corporate and Investment Bank, as ECA Agent, National Agent, and Security Trustee, Citibank International PLC, as ECA Agent and National Agent, Jetstream Aircraft Leasing Limited, as Principal Borrower, ALS 3 Limited and Airstream Aircraft Leasing Limited, as Borrowers, AerCap Ireland Limited and AerCap A330 Holdings Limited, as Principal AerCap Obligors, the companies named there in as Lessees and Lessee Parents, Citibank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, and AerCap Holdings, N.V. (filed as an exhibit to our Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference)
2.3	Deed of Amendment, dated as of April 9, 2014, relating to the Amended and Restated Facility Agreement, dated as of December 14, 2012, among the Banks and Financial Institutions named therein as ECA Lenders, Crédit Agricole Corporate and Investment Bank, as ECA Agent, National Agent, and Security Trustee, Citibank International PLC, as ECA Agent and National Agent, Jetstream Aircraft Leasing Limited, as Principal Borrower, ALS 3 Limited and Airstream Aircraft Leasing Limited, as Borrowers, AerCap Ireland Limited and AerCap A330 Holdings Limited, as Principal AerCap Obligors, the companies named there in as Lessees and Lessee Parents, Citibank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, and AerCap Holdings, N.V. (filed as an exhibit to our Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference)
<u>2.4</u>	AerCap Holdings N.V. 2012 Equity Incentive Plan (filed as an exhibit to our Registration Statement on Form S-8, File No. 333-180323 and incorporated herein by reference)
2.5	Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of May 10, 2013, among the Service Providers and Financial Institutions named therein, Credit Suisse AG, New York Branch, Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, AerFunding 1 Limited and AerCap Ireland Limited (filed as an exhibit to our Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2013 and incorporated herein by reference)
2.6***	Seventh Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of February 25, 2022, among the Service Providers and Financial Institutions named therein, Credit Suisse AG, New York Branch, Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, AerFunding 1 Limited and AerCap Ireland Limited
2.7*	Third Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of October 22, 2019, as amended by Amendment No. 1, dated as of March 30, 2021, among AerCap Holdings N.V., AerCap Ireland Capital Designated Activity Company, AerCap Aviation Solutions B.V., AerCap Ireland Limited, AerCap Global Aviation Trust, AerCap U.S. Global Aviation LLC, International Lease Finance Corporation, the lending institutions party thereto and Citibank, N.A., as administrative agent
2.8*	Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of March 30, 2021, among AerCap Holdings N.V., AerCap Ireland Capital Designated Activity Company, the subsidiary guarantors party thereto, the lending institutions party thereto and Citibank, N.A., as administrative agent
<u>2.9</u>	Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of June 9, 2015, between AerCap Global Aviation Trust, American International Group, Inc. and the Guarantors party thereto (filed as an exhibit to our Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2015 and incorporated herein by reference)

- 2.10 Indenture, dated as of May 14, 2014, among AerCap Ireland Capital Limited, AerCap Global Aviation Trust, AerCap Holdings N.V., the Guarantors party thereto and Wilmington Trust, National Association, as Trustee (filed as an exhibit to our Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference)
- 2.11 Fifth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of September 29, 2014, to the Indenture, dated as of May 14, 2014, by and among AerCap Ireland Capital Limited, AerCap Global Aviation Trust, AerCap Holdings N.V., the Guarantors party thereto and Wilmington Trust, National Association, as Trustee (filed as an exhibit to our Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference)

on April 4, 2019 and incorporated herein by reference)

- 2.23 Twenty-First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of August 14, 2019, to the Indenture, dated as of May 14, 2014, by and among AerCap Ireland Capital Designated Activity Company, AerCap Global Aviation Trust, AerCap Holdings N.V., the Guarantors party thereto and Wilmington Trust, National Association, as Trustee (filed as an exhibit to our Form 6-K on August 14, 2019 and incorporated herein by reference)
- 2.24 Twenty-Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of June 8, 2020, to the Indenture, dated as of May 14, 2014, by and among AerCap Ireland Capital Designated Activity Company, AerCap Global Aviation Trust, AerCap Holdings N.V., the Guarantors party thereto and Wilmington Trust, National Association, as Trustee (filed as an exhibit to our Form 6-K on June 8, 2020 and incorporated herein by reference)

Exhibit	
Number	Description of Exhibit
2.25	Twenty-Third Supplemental Indenture, dated as of July 2, 2020, to the Indenture, dated as of May 14, 2014, by and among AerCap Ireland Capital Designated Activity Company, AerCap Global Aviation Trust, AerCap Holdings N.V., the Guarantors party thereto and Wilmington Trust, National Association, as Trustee (filed as an exhibit to our Form 6-K on July 2, 2020 and incorporated herein by reference)
2.26	Twenty-Fourth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of September 25, 2020, to the Indenture, dated as of May 14, 2014, by and among AerCap Ireland Capital Designated Activity Company, AerCap Global Aviation Trust, AerCap Holdings N.V., the Guarantors party thereto and Wilmington Trust, National Association, as Trustee (filed as an exhibit to our Form 6-K on September 28, 2020 and incorporated herein by reference)
2.27	Twenty-Fifth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of September 25, 2020, to the Indenture, dated as of May 14, 2014, by and among AerCap Ireland Capital Designated Activity Company, AerCap Global Aviation Trust, AerCap Holdings N.V., the Guarantors party thereto and Wilmington Trust, National Association, as Trustee (filed as an exhibit to our Form 6-K on September 28, 2020 and incorporated herein by reference)
2.28	Twenty-Sixth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of January 13, 2021, to the Indenture, dated as of May 14, 2014, by and among AerCap Ireland Capital Designated Activity Company, AerCap Global Aviation Trust, AerCap Holdings N.V., the Guarantors party thereto and Wilmington Trust, National Association, as Trustee (filed as an exhibit to our Form 6-K on January 13, 2021 and incorporated herein by reference)
2.29	Indenture, dated as of October 1, 2019, among AerCap Holdings N.V., the Guarantors party thereto and Wilmington Trust, National Association, as Trustee (filed as an exhibit to our Registration Statement No. 333-234028 and incorporated herein by reference)
2.30	First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of October 10, 2019, to the Indenture, dated as of October 1, 2019, among AerCap Holdings N.V., the Guarantors party thereto and Wilmington Trust, National Association, as Trustee (filed as an exhibit to our Form 6-K on October 10, 2019 and incorporated herein by reference)
2.31	Indenture, dated as of October 29, 2021, among AerCap Ireland Capital Designated Activity Company, AerCap Global Aviation Trust, the guarantors party thereto and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee (filed as an exhibit to our Form 6-K on October 29, 2021 and incorporated herein by reference)
2.32	First Supplemental Indenture relating to the Fixed Rate Notes, dated as of October 29, 2021, among AerCap Ireland Capital Designated Activity Company, AerCap Global Aviation Trust, the guarantors party thereto and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee (filed as an exhibit to our Form 6-K on October 29, 2021 and incorporated herein by reference)
2.33	Second Supplemental Indenture relating to the Floating Rate Notes, dated as of October 29, 2021, among AerCap Ireland Capital Designated Activity Company, AerCap Global Aviation Trust, the guarantors party thereto and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee (filed as an exhibit to our Form 6-K on October 29, 2021 and incorporated herein by reference)
2.34	Third Supplemental Indenture relating to the 1.899% Senior Notes due 2025, dated as of November 1, 2021, among AerCap Ireland Capital Designated Activity Company, AerCap Global Aviation Trust, the guarantors party thereto and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee (filed as an exhibit to our Form 6-K on November 1, 2021 and incorporated herein by reference)
2.35	Indenture, dated as of August 1, 2006, between ILFC and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, as Trustee (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the ILFC Registration Statement No. 333-136681 and incorporated herein by reference)
2.36	Fourth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of December 22, 2011, to the Indenture dated as of August 1, 2006, between ILFC and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, as Trustee (filed as an exhibit to the ILFC Form 8-K filed on December 22, 2011 and incorporated herein by reference)

- 2.37 Sixth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of August 21, 2012, to the Indenture dated August 1, 2006, between ILFC and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, as Trustee (filed as an exhibit to the ILFC Form 8-K filed on August 21, 2012 and incorporated herein by reference)
- 2.38 Ninth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of May 14, 2014, to the Indenture dated August 1, 2006, between ILFC and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, as Trustee (filed as an exhibit to the ILFC Form 8-K filed on May 15, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference)
- 2.39 Officers' Certificate, dated as of December 22, 2011, establishing the terms of the 8.625% senior notes due 2022 (filed as an exhibit to the ILFC Form 8-K filed on December 22, 2011 and incorporated herein by reference)
- 2.40 Officers' Certificate, dated as of August 21, 2012, establishing the terms of the 5.875% senior notes due 2022 (filed as an exhibit to the ILFC Form 8-K filed on August 21, 2012 and incorporated herein by reference)

Exhibit Number	Description of Exhibit
2.41	Junior Subordinated Indenture, dated as of December 21, 2005, by and between ILFC and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, as Trustee (filed as an exhibit to the ILFC Form 8-K filed on July 26, 2013 and incorporated herein by reference)
2.42	First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of July 25, 2013, to the Junior Subordinated Indenture, dated as of December 21, 2005, by and between ILFC and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, as Trustee (filed as an exhibit to the ILFC Form 8-K filed on July 26, 2013 and incorporated herein by reference)
2.43	Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of July 25, 2013, to the Junior Subordinated Indenture, dated as of December 21, 2005, by and between ILFC and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, as Trustee (filed as an exhibit to the ILFC Form 8-K filed on July 26, 2013 and incorporated herein by reference)
<u>2.44</u>	Third Supplemental Indenture, dated as of May 14, 2014, to the Junior Subordinated Indenture, dated as of December 21, 2005, by and between ILFC, AerCap Global Aviation Trust and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, as Trustee (filed as an exhibit to the ILFC Form 8-K filed on May 15, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference)
2.45	Amended and Restated 5.90% Junior Subordinated Debenture due 2065 (filed as an exhibit to the ILFC Form 8-K filed on July 26, 2013 and incorporated herein by reference)
<u>2.46</u>	Amended and Restated 6.25% Junior Subordinated Debenture due 2065 (filed as an exhibit to the ILFC Form 8-K filed on July 26, 2013 and incorporated herein by reference)
<u>2.47</u>	Term Loan Credit Agreement, dated as of March 6, 2014, among Delos Finance S.À.R.L., as borrower, ILFC, Hyperion Aircraft Limited, Delos Aircraft Limited, Apollo Aircraft Inc., and Artemis (Delos) Limited as obligors, the lenders identified therein, and Deutsche Bank AG New York Branch, as administrative agent and collateral agent (portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment) (filed as an exhibit to the ILFC Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference)
2.48	First Amendment to Term Loan Credit Agreement, dated as of April 3, 2014, among Delos Finance S.À.R.L., as borrower, ILFC, Hyperion Aircraft Limited, Delos Aircraft Limited, Apollo Aircraft Inc., Artemis (Delos) Limited, AerCap Global Aviation Trust, the acceding obligors identified therein, and Deutsche Bank AG New York Branch, as collateral agent and administrative agent (filed as an exhibit to the ILFC Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference)
2.49	Second Amendment to Term Loan Credit Agreement, dated as of January 19, 2017, among Delos Finance S.À.R.L., as borrower, ILFC, Hyperion Aircraft Limited, Delos Aircraft Limited, Apollo Aircraft Inc., Artemis (Delos) Limited, AerCap Global Aviation Trust, the Additional Obligors identified therein, and Deutsche Bank AG New York Branch, as collateral agent and administrative agent (filed as an exhibit to our Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2016 and incorporated herein by reference)
2.50	Third Amendment to Term Loan Credit Agreement, dated as of August 9, 2017, among Delos Finance S.À.R.L., as borrower, ILFC, Hyperion Aircraft Limited, Delos Aircraft Limited, Apollo Aircraft Inc., Artemis (Delos) Limited, AerCap Global Aviation Trust, the Additional Obligors identified therein, and Deutsche Bank AG New York Branch, as collateral agent and administrative agent (filed as an exhibit to our Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2017 and incorporated herein by reference)
2.51***	Fourth Amendment to Term Loan Credit Agreement, dated as of March 7, 2018, among Delos Finance S.À.R.L., as borrower, ILFC, Hyperion Aircraft Limited, Delos Aircraft Limited, Artemis (Delos) Limited, AerCap Global Aviation Trust, the Additional Obligors identified therein, and Deutsche Bank AG New York Branch, as collateral agent and administrative agent
2.52	Term Loan Security Agreement, dated as of March 6, 2014, among Hyperion Aircraft Limited, Delos Aircraft Limited, Delos Finance S.À.R.L., Artemis (Delos) Limited, Apollo Aircraft Inc., and the additional grantors referred to therein as grantors, and Deutsche Bank AG New York Branch, as collateral agent (filed as an exhibit to the ILFC Form 10-Q for the guarter ended March 31, 2014 and incorporated berein by reference)

for the quarter ended March 31, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference)

- 2.53*** Term Loan Credit Agreement, dated as of November 5, 2021, among Setanta Aircraft Leasing DAC, as borrower, Aercap Holdings N.V., Aercap Ireland Limited, Setanta Aviation Holdings Limited, Culann Aircraft Leasing Limited, Dagda Aircraft Leasing Limited, the Owner Subsidiaries identified therein and the Intermediate Lessees identified therein, as Obligors, the lenders identified therein, and Citibank N.A., as administrative agent and collateral agent (portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment)
- 2.54*** Term Loan Security Agreement, dated as of November 5, 2021, among Setanta Aircraft Leasing Designated Activity
 Company, Setanta Aviation Holdings Limited, Culann Aircraft Leasing Limited, Dagda Aircraft Leasing Limited, and the additional grantors referred to therein as grantors, and Citibank, N.A., as collateral agent
- 2.55 AerCap Holdings N.V. 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (filed as an exhibit to our Registration Statement on Form S-8, File No. 333-194638 and incorporated herein by reference)

Exhibit Number	Description of Exhibit
2.56	The Company agrees to furnish to the SEC upon request a copy of each instrument with respect to issues of long-term debt of the Company and its subsidiaries, the authorized principal amount of which does not exceed 10% of the consolidated assets of the Company and its subsidiaries
2.57***	Description of Certain Registrant Securities
4.1	Aircraft Purchase Agreement, dated as of December 30, 2005, between Airbus S.A.S. and AerVenture Limited (filed as an exhibit to our Registration Statement on Form F-1, File No. 333-138381 and incorporated herein by reference)
4.2	Agreement and Plan of Amalgamation, dated as of September 17, 2009, among AerCap Holdings N.V., Genesis Lease Limited and AerCap International Bermuda Limited (filed as an exhibit to our Form 6-K on September 18, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference)
<u>4.3</u>	Framework Deed, dated as of May 28, 2013, between AerCap Holdings N.V. and LATAM Airlines Group S.A.
	(portions of which have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment) (filed as an exhibit to our Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2013 and incorporated herein by reference)
4.4	Share Repurchase Agreement, dated as of June 1, 2015, among AIG Capital Corporation, American International Group, Inc., the guarantors named therein, AerCap Holdings N.V. and AerCap Global Aviation Trust (filed as an exhibit to American International Group, Inc.'s Form 8-K on June 4, 2015 and incorporated herein by reference)
4.5	Transaction Agreement, dated as of March 9, 2021, by and among GE Ireland USD Holdings ULC, GE Financial Holdings ULC, GE Capital US Holdings, Inc., General Electric Company, AerCap Holdings N.V., AerCap US Aviation LLC and AerCap Aviation Leasing Limited (filed as an exhibit to our Form 6-K on March 12, 2021 and incorporated herein by reference)
4.6	Amendment No. 1 to Transaction Agreement, dated as of November 1, 2021, by and among GE Ireland USD Holdings ULC, GE Financial Holdings ULC, GE Capital US Holdings, GE, the Issuer, AerCap US Aviation LLC, AerCap Ireland Capital DAC and AerCap Aviation Leasing Limited (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 to Schedule 13D (File No 005-82221) filed by AerCap Holdings N.V. with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 10, 2021)
4.7	Shareholders' Agreement, dated as of November 1, 2021, by and between the Issuer, GE Capital US Holdings and GE (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 to Schedule 13D (File No 005-82221) filed by AerCap Holdings N.V. with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 10, 2021)
4.8	Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of November 1, 2021, by and between the Issuer and GE (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 to Schedule 13D (File No 005-82221) filed by AerCap Holdings N.V. with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 10, 2021)
4.9	Noteholder Agreement, dated as of November 1, 2021, by and between the Issuer, AerCap Ireland Capital Designated Activity Company, AerCap Global Aviation Trust, AerCap Aviation Solutions B.V., AerCap Ireland Limited, AerCap U.S. Global Aviation LLC, International Lease Finance Corporation and GE Capital US Holdings (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 to Schedule 13D (File No 005-82221) filed by AerCap Holdings N.V. with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 10, 2021)
8.1***	List of Subsidiaries of AerCap Holdings N.V.
12.1*	Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
12.2*	Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
13.1**	Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
15.1***	Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers, an independent registered public accounting firm

- 15.2*** Consent of KPMG, an independent registered public accounting firm
- 15.3*** Letter from PricewaterhouseCoopers, an independent registered public accounting firm, dated March 30, 2022
- 17.1*** Subsidiary Issuers of Registered Guaranteed Securities

- 101*** The following financial information formatted in Inline eXtensible Business Reporting Language (iXBRL):
 - (1) Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2021 and 2020
 - (2) Consolidated Income Statements for the Years Ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019
 - (3) Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the Years Ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 (4) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019
 - (5) Consolidated Statements of Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019
 - (6) Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, tagged as blocks of text and including detailed tags
- The cover page from the Company's annual report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2021, formatted in Inline XBRL (included in Exhibit 101)
- * Filed herewith.
- ** Previously furnished with the initial filing of the Original Form 20-F, filed on March 30, 2022.
- *** Previously filed with the initial filing of the Original Form 20-F, filed on March 30, 2022.

SIGNATURES

The registrant hereby certifies that it meets all of the requirements for filing on Form 20-F and that it has duly caused and authorized the undersigned to sign this Amendment No. 1 to the annual report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2021 on its behalf.

AERCAP HOLDINGS N.V.

By: /s/ AENGUS KELLY
Aengus Kelly
Chief Executive Officer

Date: May 17, 2022

AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO THE THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT

AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO THE THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT, dated as of March 30, 2021 (this "Amendment"), is entered into by and among AERCAP HOLDINGS N.V., an entity organized under the laws of the Netherlands (the "Company"), AERCAP IRELAND CAPITAL DESIGNATED ACTIVITY COMPANY, a designated activity company incorporated under the laws of Ireland with limited liability (the "Borrower"), the SUBSIDIARY GUARANTORS party hereto, the LENDERS party hereto (constituting the Required Lenders), and CITIBANK, N.A. (in its individual corporate capacity, "Citibank"), as administrative agent for the Lenders (in such capacity, "Administrative Agent").

PRELIMINARY STATEMENTS:

WHEREAS, the Borrower, the Company, certain Subsidiary Guarantors, the Administrative Agent and certain Lenders are parties to that certain Third Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of October 22, 2019 (the "Credit Agreement" and, the Credit Agreement as amended by this Amendment, the "Amended Credit Agreement"; capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined herein (including in the preamble and recital paragraphs herein) shall have the respective meanings ascribed to those terms in the Amended Credit Agreement); and

WHEREAS, the parties hereto wish to enter into certain amendments, supplements or other modifications to the Credit Agreement as provided herein, subject to the terms and conditions set forth below.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and covenants contained herein and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto, intending to be legally bound hereby, agree as follows:

Section 1. Amendments to the Credit Agreement.

- (a) Effective on the Amendment Effective Date (as defined below), the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by deleting the stricken text (indicated textually in the same manner as the following example: stricken text) and adding the double-underlined text (indicated textually in the same manner as the following example: double-underlined text) as set forth in the pages of the Amended Credit Agreement attached as Exhibit A hereto.
- (b) Exhibit C to the Credit Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety to be in the form of Exhibit C hereto.
- (c) On and after the Amendment Effective Date, the rights and obligations of the parties to the Credit Agreement shall be governed by the Amended Credit Agreement.

Section 2. Conditions to Effectiveness. This Amendment and the amendments to the Credit Agreement pursuant to Section 1 hereof shall become effective upon

satisfaction (or waiver) of the following conditions (the date on which such conditions are fulfilled or waived being referred to herein as the "Amendment Effective Date"):

- (a) the Administrative Agent shall have received executed signature pages or counterparts thereof to this Amendment from each Obligor and such Lenders as shall constitute the Required Lenders; and
- (b) all fees and expenses required to be paid to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders on or before the Amendment Effective Date, in each case, pursuant to written agreements in effect on the Amendment Effective Date, and all reasonable out-of-pocket attorney's fees of the Administrative Agent in connection with this Amendment invoiced at least one Business Day prior to the Amendment Effective Date shall have been paid.

Section 3. Representations and Warranties. Each Obligor hereby represents and warrants to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders that on the Amendment Effective Date, immediately before and immediately after giving effect to this Amendment:

- (a) this Amendment has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by each such Obligor party hereto, and this Amendment and the Credit Agreement (as amended hereby) constitute its legal, valid and binding obligations, enforceable against each such Obligor in accordance with their respective terms, subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent transfer, reorganization, moratorium and similar laws of general applicability relating to or affecting creditors' rights and to general equity principles;
- (b) the representations and warranties contained in Section 7 (with references to the "Closing Date" contained in Section 7.5 being deemed to be references to the "Amendment Effective Date") of the Credit Agreement are true and correct in all material respects as of the Amendment Effective Date, with the same effect as though made on the Amendment Effective Date, except to the extent such representations and warranties expressly relate to an earlier date, in which case such representations and warranties were true and correct in all material respects as of such earlier date; and
- (c) no Event of Default or Unmatured Event of Default has occurred and is continuing or will result from this Amendment.

Section 4. Reference to and Effect on the Loan Documents.

- (a) The amendment of the Credit Agreement pursuant to <u>Section 1</u> hereof does not constitute a novation or termination of the obligations under the Credit Agreement as in effect prior to the Amendment Effective Date; and such obligations thereunder, as specifically amended by this Amendment, are continuing and hereby ratified and confirmed.
- (b) The execution, delivery and effectiveness of this Amendment shall not, except as expressly provided herein, operate as a waiver of any right, power or remedy of any Lender or the Administrative Agent under any of the Loan Documents.
 - (c) This Amendment constitutes a Loan Document.

Section 5. Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts and by different parties hereto on separate counterparts, and each such counterparty shall be deemed to be an original, but all such counterparts shall together constitute one and the same agreement. Delivery of a counterpart via facsimile or electronic mail, including by email with a ".pdf" copy hereof attached, shall constitute delivery of an original counterpart. Any signature to this Amendment may be delivered by facsimile, electronic mail (including ".pdf") or any electronic signature complying with the U.S. federal ESIGN Act of 2000 or the New York Electronic Signature and Records Act or other transmission method and any counterpart so delivered shall be deemed to have been duly and validly delivered and be valid and effective for all purposes to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law. For the avoidance of doubt, the foregoing also applies to any amendment, extension or renewal of this Amendment.

Section 6. Governing Law, Etc. THIS AMENDMENT SHALL BE A CONTRACT MADE UNDER, GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAW OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK. The provisions contained in the Amended Credit Agreement, insofar as they relate to submission to jurisdiction and the settlement of disputes (including, without limitation, the appointment of process agent and the waiver of jury trial), shall apply to this Amendment *mutatis mutandis* as if they were incorporated herein.

Section 7. Headings. The headings of this Amendment are for purposes of reference only and shall not limit or otherwise affect the meaning hereof.

Section 8. Notices. All communications and notices hereunder shall be given as provided in the Amended Credit Agreement.

Section 9. <u>Severability</u>. Whenever possible, each provision of this Amendment shall be interpreted in such manner as to be effective and valid under applicable law, but if any provision of this Amendment shall be prohibited by or invalid under applicable law, such provision shall be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition or invalidity, without invalidating the remainder of such provision or the remaining provisions of this Amendment.

Section 10. <u>Successors</u>. The terms of this Amendment shall be binding upon, and shall inure to the benefit of, the parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

[The remainder of this page is intentionally left blank]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, t	the parties hereto have caused t	this Amendment to be exe	cuted by their respective	authorized officers
as of the date first above written.	-		•	

AERCAP IRELAND CAPITAL DESIGNATED ACTIVITY COMPANY

By:/s/ Eimear Gilmartin

Name:Eimear Gilmartin Title: Attorney-in-Fact

GUARANTORS

AERCAP HOLDINGS N.V.

By: /s/ Eimear Gilmartin

Name:Eimear Gilmartin Title: Attorney-in-Fact

AERCAP GLOBAL AVIATION TRUST

By:/s/ Eimear Gilmartin

Name:Eimear Gilmartin Title: Attorney-in-Fact

AERCAP U.S. GLOBAL AVIATION LLC

By:/s/Eimear Gilmartin

Name:Eimear Gilmartin Title: Attorney-in-Fact

INTERNATIONAL LEASE FINANCE CORPORATION

By:/s/ Patrick Ross

Name:Patrick Ross
Title: Vice President

AERCAP IRELAND LIMITED

SIGNED AND DELIVERED AS A DEED

	By: /s/ Eimear Gilmartin		
	As Attorney of AERCAP IRELAND LIMITED		
	In the presence of	of:	
Signat	Signature of	/s/ Lorraine Hanlon	
	witness:		
	Name of witness: Lorraine Hanlon		
		B.18. 7.1.1	
	Address of witness:	Dublin, Ireland	
	williess.		
	Occupation of	Treasury Director	
	witness:	•	

CITIBANK, N.A., as Administrative Agent and Lender

By:/s/ Maureen Maroney

Name:Maureen Maroney Title: Vice President

GOLDMAN SACHS BANK USA, as Lender

By:/s/ Robert Ehudin

Name:Robert Ehudin Title: Authorized Signatory

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as Lender

By:/s/ Chris Choi

Name:Chris Choi Title: Director

BARCLAYS BANK PLC, as Lender

By: /s/ Craig Malloy

Name:Craig Malloy
Title: Director

BNP PARIBAS, as Lender

By: /s/ Chatainier Céline

Name:Chatainier Céline

Title:

By: /s/ [ILLEGIBLE]

Name:[ILLEGIBLE]
Title: [ILLEGIBLE]

Crédit Agricole Corporate & Investment Bank, as Lender

By:/s/ Julien Clamou

Name:Julien Clamou Title: Attorney-in-Fact

By:/s/ Sébastien Maetz

Name:Sébastien Maetz Title: Attorney-in-Fact

DEUTSCHE BANK AG NEW YORK BRANCH, as Lender

By:/s/ Ming Chu

Name:Ming K. Chu Title: Director

For any Lender requiring a second signature block:

By:/s/ Marko Lukin

Name:Marko Lukin Title: Vice President

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A., as Lender

By:/s/ Christina Caviness

Name:Christina Caviness Title: Executive Director

MORGAN STANLEY BANK, N.A., as a Lender

By:/s/ Michael King

Name:Michael King

Title: Authorized Signatory

MORGAN STANLEY SENIOR FUNDING, INC., as a Lender

By: /s/ Michael King

Name:Michael King Title: Vice President

Royal Bank of Canada, as Lender

By:/s/ Scott Umbs

Name:Scott Umbs

Title: Authorized Signatory

MIZUHO BANK, LTD.,

as Lender

By:/s/ Donna DeMagistris

Name:Donna DeMagistris Title: Authorized Signatory

Banco Santander, S.A. as Lender

By: /s/ Pierre Roserot de Melin

Name:Pierre Roserot de Melin Title: Chief Administrative Officer Banco Santander SA Paris Branch

For any Lender requiring a second signature block:

By:/s/ Caroline Pantaleao

Name:Caroline Pantaleao
Title: Head of Middle Office
Banco Santander SA
Paris Branch

CREDIT SUISSE AG, Cayman Islands Branch, as Lender

By:/s/ Doreen Barr

Name:Doreen Barr

Title: Authorized Signatory

By:/s/ Andrew Griffin

Name:Andrew Griffin Title: Authorized Signatory

HSBC Continental Europe, as Lender

By:/s/ Diana Banciu

Name:Diana Banciu
Title: Associate Director,
HSBC Continental Europe

For any Lender requiring a second signature block:

By:/s/ Frederic Sammut

Name:Frederic Sammut Title: Director

WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A., as Lender

By: /s/ William R. Eustis

Name: William R. Eustis
Title: Managing Director

The Toronto Dominion Bank, London Branch, as Lender

By:/s/ Andrew Williams

Name:Andrew Williams
Title: Managing Director

By:/s/Pei-Lyn Hui

Name:Pei-Lyn Hui Title: Director

Trust Bank, as Lender

By:/s/ David Fournier

Name:David Fournier Title: Managing Director

MUFG Bank (Europe) N.V., as Lender

By:/s/ Chris Uphoff

Name:Chris Uphoff Title: Managing Director

By:/s/ Mark Selles

Name:Mark Selles Title: CFO

SOCIETE GENERALE, LONDON BRANCH, as Lender

By: /s/ Peter McGahan

Name:Peter McGahan

Title: Managing Director, Head of UK Coverage

Amended Credit Agreement

(attached)

Third Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement

dated as of

October 22, 2019

(as amended by Amendment No. 1 to the Third Amended and Restated Revolving Credit
Agreement dated as of March 30, 2021)

among

AERCAP HOLDINGS N.V.,

AERCAP IRELAND CAPITAL DESIGNATED ACTIVITY COMPANY, as Borrower,

the SUBSIDIARY GUARANTORS party hereto,

the LENDERS party hereto

and

CITIBANK, N.A., as Administrative Agent

MIZUHO BANK, LTD., CITIBANK, N.A.,

BANCO SANTANDER, S.A., LONDON BRANCH, BANK OF AMERICABOFA
SECURITIES, INC., BARCLAYS BANK PLC, CREDIT AGRICOLE CORPORATE AND
INVESTMENT BANK, DEUTSCHE BANK SECURITIES INC., JP MORGAN CHASE
BANK, N.A., MORGAN STANLEY SENIOR FUNDING, INC.
AND RBC CAPITAL MARKETS¹,

THE RECEIPTING WINDOWS,

as Joint Lead Arrangers and Joint Bookrunners,

MIZUHO BANK, LTD., as Syndication Agent,

and

BANCO SANTANDER, S.A., LONDON BRANCH, BANK OF AMERICABOFA
SECURITIES, INC., BARCLAYS BANK PLC, CREDIT AGRICOLE CORPORATE AND
INVESTMENT BANK, DEUTSCHE BANK SECURITIES INC., JP MORGAN CHASE

¹ RBC Capital Markets is a brand name for the capital markets activities of Royal Bank of Canada and its affiliates.

BANK, N.A., MORGAN STANLEY SENIOR FUNDING, INC. AND ROYAL BANK OF CANADA,

as Documentation Agents

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
SECTION 1.	CERTAIN DEFINITIONS	1
Section		1
Section	•	42
Section	•	2431
SECTION 2.	COMMITTED LOANS AND COMMITTED NOTES	2431
Section		2431
Section	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	2431
Section		25 33
Section	·	26 33
SECTION 3.	INTEREST AND FEES	26 34
Section	3.1. Interest Rates	26 34
Section	3.2. Interest Payment Dates	27 34
Section	·	27 34
Section	<u> </u>	27 35
Section	3.5. Agent's Fees	28 35
Section	3.6. Computation of Interest and Fees	28 35
SECTION 4.	REDUCTION OR TERMINATION OF THE COMMITMENTS; PREPAYMENTS;	28 35
	DEFAULTING LENDERS; INCREASE OF COMMITMENTS	
Section		28 35
Section	4.2. Voluntary Prepayments	29 36
Section	4.3. Defaulting Lenders	29 37
Section	4.4. Increase of Commitments	30 38
SECTION 5.	MAKING AND PRORATION OF PAYMENTS; SET-OFF; TAXES	32 39
Section	5.1. Making of Payments	32 39
Section	5.2. Pro Rata Treatment; Sharing	32 39
Section	5.3. Set-off	32 40
Section	5.4. Taxes	3340
SECTION 6.	INCREASED COSTS AND SPECIAL PROVISIONS FOR LIBOR RATE LOANS	35 43
Section	6.1. Increased Costs	35 43
Section	6.2. Basis for Determining Interest Rate Inadequate or Unfair-Benchmark Replacement	37 44
Section	6.3. Changes in Law Rendering Certain Loans Unlawful	3847
Section	6.4. Funding Losses	3948
Section	6.5. Discretion of Lenders as to Manner of Funding	3948
Section	6.6. Conclusiveness of Statements; Survival of Provisions	39 48
SECTION 7.	REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES	3948
Section	7.1. Organization, etc.	39 49
Section	7.2. Authorization; Consents; No Conflict	4049
Section	7.3. Validity and Binding Nature	4049
Section	7.4. Financial Statements	4150
Section	7.5. Litigation	4150

Section	7.6. Employee Benefit Plans	4150
Section	1.7.7. Investment Company Act	4251
Section	ϵ	4251
Section		4251
Section 7.10.	Compliance with Applicable Laws, etc.	4251
Section 7.11.	n Insurance	4252
Section 7.12.	n Taxes	4352
Section 7.13.	Use of Proceeds	4352
Section 7.14.	n Pari Passu	4352
Section 7.15.	n OFAC, Etc.	4352
SECTION 8.	COVENANTS	52 52
Section	1 8.1. Reports, Certificates and Other Information	4353
Section	1 8.2. Existence	4555
Section	n 8.3. Nature of Business	4655
Section	n 8.4. Books, Records and Access	4655
Section	n 8.5. Insurance	4655
Section	n 8.6. Repair	4656
Section		4756
Section	n 8.8. Compliance	4756
Section	•	4756
Section 8.10.	Consolidated Indebtedness to Shareholder's Equity	4757
Section 8.11.	Interest Coverage Ratio	4757
Section 8.12.	Unencumbered Assets	4757
Section 8.13.	n Restricted Payments	4857
Section 8.14.	n Liens	4857
Section 8.15.	Use of Proceeds	5059
Section 8.16.	Transactions with Affiliates	50 59
Section 8.17.	Limitation on Issuances of Guarantees of Indebtedness	52 61
Section 8.18.	n [Reserved]	52 62
Section 8.19.	Subsidiary Guarantors	52 62
SECTION 9.	CONDITIONS TO LENDING	52 62
Section	1 9.1. Conditions Precedent to All Committed Loans	52 62
Section	1 9.2. Conditions to Effectiveness	53 62
SECTION 10.	EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND THEIR EFFECT	55 64
Section 10.1.	Events of Default	5564
Section 10.2.	Effect of Event of Default	5766

SECTION 11.	THE AGENT	57 67
Section 11.1.	Authorization and Authority	5767
Section 11.2.	Agent Individually	5767
Section 11.3.	Indemnification	58 68
Section 11.4.	Action on Instructions of the Required Lenders	59 69
Section 11.5.	•	59 69
Section 11.6.	Duties of Agent; Exculpatory Provisions	60 71
Section 11.7.	Reliance by Agent	6172
Section 11.8.	Delegation of Duties	6172
Section 11.9.	Resignation of Agent	6272
	ii	

Section 11.10	Non-Reliance on Agent and Other Lenders	62 73
Section 11.11.	The Register; the Committed Notes	63 74
Section 11.12.	No Other Duties, etc.	6475
Section 11.13.	Certain ERISA Matters.	6475
SECTION 12.	GENERAL	65 76
Section 12.1.	Waiver; Amendments	65 76
Section 12.2.	Notices	66 77
Section 12.3.	Computations	6878
Section 12.4.	Assignments; Participations	6879
Section 12.5.	Costs, Expenses and Taxes	7283
Section 12.6.	Confidentiality	73 84
Section 12.7.	Indemnification	7485
Section 12.8.	Acknowledgement and Consent to Bail-In of EEAAffected Financial Institutions	7486
Section 12.9.	Extension of Termination Dates; Removal of Lenders; Substitution of Lenders	75 86
Section 12.10.	Captions	7788
Section 12.11.	Governing Law; Jurisdiction; Severability	7788
Section 12.12.	Counterparts; Effectiveness	7889
Section 12.13.	Further Assurances	7890
Section 12.14.	Successors and Assigns	78 90
Section 12.15.	Judgment	7890
Section 12.16.	Waiver of Jury Trial	79 91
Section 12.17.	No Fiduciary Relationship	79 91
Section 12.18.	USA Patriot Act	80 92
Section 12.19.	Existing Credit Agreement; Effect of Amendment and Restatement;	80 92
Section 12.20.	Acknowledgment Regarding Any Supported QFCs	93
SECTION 13.	GUARANTEE	81 93
Section 13.1.	The Guarantee	8193
Section 13.2.	Obligations Unconditional	82 94
Section	Reinstatement	82 95

Section 13.4.	Subrogation	8395
Section 13.5.	Remedies	8395
Section 13.6.	Continuing Guarantee	8396
Section 13.7.	Indemnity and Rights of Contribution	8396
Section 13.8.	General Limitation on Guarantee Obligations	8496
Section 13.9.	Releases	8497

SCHEDULES AND EXHIBITS

Schedule I	Schedule of Lenders
Schedule II	Fees and Margins
Schedule III	Address for Notices
Exhibit A	Form of Committed Loan Request
Exhibit B	Form of Committed Note
Exhibit C	Form of Compliance Certificate
Exhibit D	Form of Assignment and Assumption Agreement
Exhibit E	Form of Request for Extension of Termination Date
Exhibit F	Form of Guarantee Assumption Agreement
Exhibit G	Form of Secretary's Certificate
Exhibit H-1	Form of Opinion of Special New York Counsel
Exhibit H-2	Form of Opinion of Special Irish Counsel
Exhibit H-3	Form of Opinion of Special Dutch Counsel
Exhibit H-4	Form of Opinion of Special California Counsel
Exhibit H-5	Form of Opinion of Special Delaware Counsel

THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT

THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT (this "Agreement"), dated as of October 22, 2019 (as amended by Amendment No. 1 to the Third Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of March 30, 2021), among AERCAP HOLDINGS N.V., an entity a public limited liability company (naamloze vennootschap) organized under the laws of the Netherlands with its corporate seat in Amsterdam, the Netherlands and registered in the Dutch Trade Register (Handelsregister) under number 34251954 (herein called the "Company"), AERCAP IRELAND CAPITAL DESIGNATED ACTIVITY COMPANY, a designated activity company incorporated under the laws of Ireland with limited liability with registered number 535682 (herein called the "Borrower"), the SUBSIDIARY GUARANTORS party hereto from time to time, the LENDERS (as defined herein) party hereto from time to time and CITIBANK, N.A. (herein, in its individual corporate capacity, together with its successors and permitted assigns, called "Citibank"), as administrative agent for the Lenders (herein, in such capacity, together with its successors and permitted assigns in such capacity, called the "Agent" or "Administrative Agent").

<u>W I T N E S S E T H</u>:

WHEREAS, the Company, the Borrower, the Subsidiary Guarantors party thereto, certain of the Lenders and the Administrative Agent are party to the Existing Credit Agreement (as defined below).

WHEREAS, the Borrower has requested that the "Lenders" under the Existing Credit Agreement agree to amend and restate the Existing Credit Agreement in the form hereof. The Lenders party hereto are willing to amend and restate the Existing Credit Agreement in the form hereof and to lend up to \$4,000,000,000 to the Borrower on a revolving basis for general corporate purposes, in each case on the terms and subject to the conditions herein set forth.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual agreements herein contained, the parties hereto agree as follows:

SECTION 1. CERTAIN DEFINITIONS

Section 1.1. Terms Generally. The definitions ascribed to terms in this Section 1 and elsewhere in this Agreement shall apply equally to both the singular and plural forms of the terms defined. Whenever the context may require, any pronoun shall include the corresponding masculine, feminine and neuter forms. The words "include", "includes" and "including" shall be deemed to be followed by the phrase "without limitation". Unless expressly provided for herein or the context requires otherwise, (a) any definition of or reference to any agreement, instrument or other document herein shall be construed as referring to such agreement, instrument or other document as from time to time amended, supplemented or otherwise modified, in each case in accordance with its terms and (b) any reference herein to any Person shall be construed to include such Person's successors and permitted assigns. The words "hereby", "herein", "hereof", "hereunder" and words of similar import refer to this Agreement as a whole (including any exhibits and schedules hereto) and not merely to the specific Section, paragraph or clause

in which such word appears. All references herein to Sections, Exhibits and Schedules shall be deemed references to Sections of and Exhibits and Schedules to this Agreement unless the context shall otherwise require.

Section 1.2. <u>Specific Terms</u>. When used herein, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

"Act" has the meaning set forth in Section 12.18.

"Acquisition" means any transaction, or any series of related transactions, consummated on or after the date of this Agreement, by which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (a) acquires all or substantially all of the assets of any firm, corporation, limited liability company or other Person, or business unit or division thereof, whether through purchase of assets, merger or otherwise or (b) directly or indirectly acquires (in one transaction or as the most recent transaction in a series of transactions) at least a majority (in number of votes for the members of the board of directors) of the capital stock of a Person.

"Act" has the meaning set forth in Section 12.18.

"Activities" has the meaning set forth in Section 11.2(b).

"Additional Lender" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.4(a)(ii).

"Administrative Agent" has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

"Affected Financial Institution" means (a) any EEA Financial Institution or (b) any UK Financial Institution.

"Affiliate" means, with respect to any Person, any other Person directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by, or under direct or indirect common control with such Person. A Person shall be deemed to control another Person if such first Person possesses, directly or indirectly, the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of such other Person, whether through ownership of stock, by contract or otherwise.

"Affiliate Transaction" has the meaning set forth in Section 8.16.

"Agent" has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

"Agent's Group" has the meaning set forth in Section 11.2(b).

"Agent Parties" has the meaning set forth in Section 12.2(f).

"Aggregate Commitment" means \$4,000,000,000, as reduced by any reduction in the Commitments made from time to time pursuant to Section 4.1 or Section 12.9 or increased by any increase in the Commitments made from time to time pursuant to Section 4.4.

"Agreement" has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

"Aircraft Assets" means "Flight Equipment held for Operating Lease, [net]," plus "Net Investment in Direct Finance Leases," plus "Inventory" plus "Lease Premium" plus "End of Lease Assets", plus "Prepayments on Flight Equipment" (or such substantially similar terms for such substantially similar assets as may be used from time to time).

"Anti-Corruption Laws" means (a) the United States Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977 and all other United States laws, rules and regulations applicable to the Company and its Subsidiaries concerning or relating to bribery or corruption and (b) the UK Bribery Act of 2010.

"Arranger" means each of Mizuho Bank, Ltd., Citibank, N.A., Banco Santander, S.A., London Branch, Bank of AmericaBofA Securities, Inc., Barclays Bank PLC, Credit Agricole Corporate And Investment Bank, Deutsche Bank Securities Inc., JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., Morgan Stanley Senior Funding, Inc. and RBC Capital Markets in their respective capacities as joint lead arrangers and joint bookrunners.

"Assignee" has the meaning set forth in Section 12.4.1.

"Authorized Officer" of the Company means any of the following: any director, any attorney-in-fact, the Chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer, the Vice Chairman, the President, any Executive Vice President, any Senior Vice President, any Vice President, the Chief Financial Officer, the Treasurer, any Assistant Treasurer, the Controller, the Chief Accounting Officer and the Secretary of the Company; provided that, for purposes of any certification of financial statements of the Company required to be delivered hereunder, the term "Authorized Officer" shall mean any of the Chief Financial Officer, the Treasurer, any Assistant Treasurer, the Controller and the Chief Accounting Officer of the Company.

"Available Tenor" means, as of any date of determination and with respect to the then-current Benchmark, as applicable, any tenor for such Benchmark or payment period for interest calculated with reference to such Benchmark, as applicable, that is or may be used for determining the length of a Loan Period pursuant to this Agreement as of such date and not including, for the avoidance of doubt, any tenor for such Benchmark that is then-removed from the definition of "Loan Period" pursuant to Section 6.2(d).

"<u>Bail-In Action</u>" means, as to any <u>EEA Financial Institution</u>, the exercise of any Write-Down and Conversion Powers by the applicable <u>EEA</u>-Resolution Authority in respect of any liability of <u>such EEA an Affected</u> Financial Institution.

"Bail-In Legislation" means, (a) with respect to any EEA Member Country implementing Article 55 of Directive 2014/59/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of the European Union, the implementing law, regulation rule or requirement for such EEA Member Country from time to time which is described in the EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule and (b) with respect to the United Kingdom, Part I of the United Kingdom Banking Act 2009 (as amended from time to time) and any other law, regulation or rule applicable in the United Kingdom relating to the resolution of unsound or failing banks, investment firms or other financial institutions or their affiliates (other than through liquidation, administration or other insolvency proceedings).

"Base LIBOR" means, with respect to any Loan Period for a LIBOR Rate Loan, an interest rate per annum equal to the rate per annum obtained by dividing (a) the rate per annum (rounded upward to the nearest whole multiple of 1/100 of 1.00% per annum) equal to (i) the rate determined by the Administrative Agent (and notified to the Borrower) to be the offered rate which appears on the page of the Bloomberg Screen which displays an average ICE Benchmark Administration Interest Settlement Rate (or successor thereto if such rate is no longer displayed) (such page currently being the LIBOR01 page) for deposits (for delivery on the first day of such Loan Period) with a term equivalent to such Loan Period in Dollars, determined as of approximately 11:00 a.m. (London, England time) two Business Days prior to the first day of such Loan Period, or (ii) in the event the rate referenced in the preceding sub-clause (i) does not appear on such page or service or if such page or service shall cease to be available, the rate determined by the Administrative Agent (and notified to the Borrower) to be the offered rate on such other page or other service which displays an average ICE Benchmark Administration Interest Settlement Rate (or successor thereto if such rate is no longer displayed) for deposits (for delivery on the first day of such Loan Period) with a term equivalent to such Loan Period in Dollars, determined as of approximately 11:00 a.m. (London, England time) two Business Days prior to the first day of such Loan Period or a rate determined through the use of straightline interpolation by reference to two such rates, one of which shall be determined as if the period of time for which the rate for such deposits is available is the period next shorter than the length of such Loan Period and the other of which shall be determined as if the period of time for which the rate for such deposits are available is the period next longer than the length of such Loan Period as determined by the Administrative Agent (and notified to the Borrower) (such rate referred to in clauses (i) and (ii), the "Screen Rate") by (b) a percentage equal to 100% minus the Eurodollar Reserve Percentage for such Loan Period; provided that at no time shall "Base LIBOR" in respect of Committed Loans for any purposes hereunder be deemed to be less than 0.00% per annum.

"Base Rate" means for any day a fluctuating interest rate per annum equal to the applicable rate margin set forth for Base Rate Loans in the row entitled "Margins" on Schedule II <u>plus</u> the highest of (a) the Federal Funds Rate for such day <u>plus</u> 1/2 of 1.00%, (b) the Prime Rate and (c) the LIBOR Rate that would be payable on such day for a LIBOR Rate Loan with a one-month Loan Period <u>plus</u> 1.00% <u>less</u> the applicable rate margin set forth for LIBOR Rate Loans in the row entitled "Margins" on Schedule II, <u>provided</u> that at no time shall "Base Rate" for any purposes hereunder (including in respect of Committed Loans) be deemed to be less than 0.00% per annum.

"Base Rate Loan" means any Committed Loan which bears interest at the Base Rate.

"Benchmark" means, initially, Base LIBOR; provided that if a Benchmark Transition Event or an Early Optin Election, as applicable, and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred with respect to the then-current Benchmark, then "Benchmark" means the applicable Benchmark Replacement to the extent that such Benchmark Replacement has replaced such prior benchmark rate pursuant to Section 6.2(a).

"Benchmark Replacement" means, for any Available Tenor, the first alternative set forth below and in the order set forth below that can be determined by the Administrative Agent for the applicable Benchmark Replacement Date:

- (1) the sum of: (a) Term SOFR and (b) the related Benchmark Replacement Adjustment;
- (2) the sum of: (a) Daily Simple SOFR and (b) the related Benchmark Replacement Adjustment; and
- the Sum of: (a) the alternate benchmark rate that has been selected by the Administrative Agent and the Borrower as the replacement for the then-current Benchmark for the applicable Corresponding Tenor giving due consideration to (i) any selection or recommendation of a replacement benchmark rate or the mechanism for determining such a rate by the Relevant Governmental Body or (ii) any evolving or then-prevailing market convention for determining a benchmark rate as a replacement for the then-current Benchmark for Dollar-denominated syndicated credit facilities at such time and (b) the related Benchmark Replacement Adjustment; provided that, in the case of clause (1), such Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement is displayed on a screen or other information service that publishes such rate from time to time as selected by the Administrative Agent in its reasonable discretion.

If the Benchmark Replacement as determined pursuant to clause (1), (2) or (3) above would be less than the Floor, the Benchmark Replacement will be deemed to be the Floor for the purposes of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents.

"Benchmark Replacement Adjustment" means, with respect to any replacement of the then current
Benchmark with an Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement for any applicable Loan Period and Available Tenor for any setting of such Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement:

- (1) for purposes of clauses (1) and (2) of the definition of "Benchmark Replacement," the first alternative set forth in the order below that can be determined by the Administrative Agent: (a) the spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) as of the Reference Time such Benchmark Replacement is first set for such Loan Period that has been selected or recommended by the Relevant Governmental Body for the replacement of such Benchmark with the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement for the applicable Corresponding Tenor; and (b) the spread adjustment (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) as of the Reference Time such Benchmark Replacement is first set for such Loan Period that would apply to the fallback rate for a derivative transaction referencing the ISDA Definitions to be effective upon an index cessation event with respect to such Benchmark for the applicable Corresponding Tenor; and
- (2) for purposes of clause (3) of the definition of "Benchmark Replacement", the spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that has been

selected by the Administrative Agent and the Borrower for the applicable Corresponding Tenor giving due consideration to (i) any selection or recommendation of a spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, for the replacement of such Benchmark with the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement by the Relevant Governmental Body on the applicable Benchmark Replacement Date or (ii) any evolving or then-prevailing market convention for determining a spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, for the replacement of such Benchmark with the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement for Dollar-denominated syndicated credit facilities; provided that, in the case of clause (1) above, such adjustment is displayed on a screen or other information service that publishes such Benchmark Replacement Adjustment from time to time as selected by the Administrative Agent in its reasonable discretion.

"Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes" means, with respect to any Benchmark Replacement, any technical, administrative or operational changes (including changes to the definition of "Base Rate", the definition of "Business Day", the definition of "Loan Period", the timing and frequency of determining rates and making payments of interest, the timing of borrowing requests or prepayment, conversion or continuation notices, the length of lookback periods, the applicability of breakage provisions, the formula for calculating any successor rates identified pursuant to the definition of "Benchmark Replacement", the formula, methodology or convention for applying the successor Floor to the successor Benchmark Replacement and other technical, administrative or operational matters) that the Administrative Agent decides may be appropriate to reflect the adoption and implementation of such Benchmark Replacement and to permit the administration thereof by the Administrative Agent in a manner substantially consistent with market practice (or, if the Administrative Agent decides that adoption of any portion of such market practice is not administratively feasible or if the Administrative Agent determines that no market practice for the administration of such Benchmark Replacement exists, in such other manner of administration as the Administrative Agent decides is reasonably necessary in connection with the administration of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents).

"Benchmark Replacement Date" means the earliest to occur of the following events with respect to the thencurrent Benchmark:

- (1) in the case of clause (1) or (2) of the definition of "Benchmark Transition Event", the later of (a) the date of the public statement or publication of information referenced therein and (b) the date on which the administrator of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof) permanently or indefinitely ceases to provide all Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or such component thereof);
- (2) in the case of clause (3) of the definition of "Benchmark Transition Event," the date of the public statement or publication of information referenced therein; or

(3) in the case of an Early Opt-in Election, the sixth Business Day after the date notice of such Early Opt-in Election is provided to the Lenders, so long as the Administrative Agent has not received, by 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the fifth Business Day after the date notice of such Early Opt-in Election is provided to the Lenders, written notice of objection to such Early Opt-in Election from Lenders comprising the Required Lenders.

For the avoidance of doubt, (i) if the event giving rise to the Benchmark Replacement Date occurs on the same day as, but earlier than, the Reference Time in respect of any determination, the Benchmark Replacement Date will be deemed to have occurred prior to the Reference Time for such determination and (ii) the "Benchmark Replacement Date" will be deemed to have occurred in the case of clause (1) or (2) with respect to any Benchmark upon the occurrence of the applicable event or events set forth therein with respect to all then-current Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof).

"Benchmark Transition Event" means the occurrence of one or more of the following events with respect to the then-current Benchmark:

- (1) a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf of the administrator of such
 Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof) announcing that such administrator has ceased or will
 cease to provide all Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or such component thereof), permanently or indefinitely, provided
 that, at the time of such statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to provide any Available
 Tenor of such Benchmark (or such component thereof);
- (2) a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof), the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, an insolvency official with jurisdiction over the administrator for such Benchmark (or such component), a resolution authority with jurisdiction over the administrator for such Benchmark (or such component) or a court or an entity with similar insolvency or resolution authority over the administrator for such Benchmark (or such component), which states that the administrator of such Benchmark (or such component) has ceased or will cease to provide all Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or such component thereof) permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at the time of such statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to provide any Available Tenor of such Benchmark (or such component thereof); or
- (3) a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof) announcing that all Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or such component thereof) are no longer representative.

For the avoidance of doubt, a "Benchmark Transition Event" will be deemed to have occurred with respect to any Benchmark if a public statement or publication of

information set forth above has occurred with respect to each then-current Available Tenor of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof).

"Benchmark Unavailability Period" means the period (if any) (x) beginning at the time that a Benchmark Replacement Date pursuant to clause (1) or (2) of the definition of such term has occurred if, at such time, no Benchmark Replacement has replaced the then-current Benchmark for all purposes hereunder and under any Loan Document in accordance with Section 6.2 and (y) ending at the time that a Benchmark Replacement has replaced the then-current Benchmark for all purposes hereunder and under any Loan Document in accordance with Section 6.2.

"Beneficial Ownership Certification" means a certification regarding beneficial ownership as required by the Beneficial Ownership Regulation.

"Beneficial Ownership Regulation" means 31 C.F.R. § 1010.230.

"Benefit Plan" means any of (a) an "employee benefit plan" (as defined in ERISA) that is subject to Title I of ERISA, (b) a "plan" as defined in and subject to Section 4975 of the Code or (c) any Person whose assets include (for purposes of ERISA Section 3(42) or otherwise for purposes of Title I of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code) the assets of any such "employee benefit plan" or "plan".

"BHC Act Affiliate" of a party means an "affiliate" (as such term is defined under, and interpreted in accordance with, 12 U.S.C. 1841(k)) of such party.

"Board of Directors" means (a) with respect to a corporation or company, as applicable, the board of directors of the corporation or company, as applicable, or any committee thereof duly authorized to act on behalf of such board, (b) with respect to a partnership, the board of directors of the general partner of the partnership, (c) with respect to a limited liability company, the managing member or members or any controlling committee of managing members thereof, and (d) with respect to any other Person, the board or committee of such Person serving a similar function.

"Business Day" means any day of the year on which banks are not required or authorized by law to close in New York City, Dublin or Amsterdam and, if the applicable Business Day relates to notices, determinations, fundings and payments in connection with any LIBOR Rate Loan, a day on which dealings are carried on in the London interbank market.

"Capital Markets Debt" means any debt securities (other than (a) a Qualified Securitization Financing or (b) a debt issuance guaranteed by an export credit agency (including the Eximbank)) issued in the capital markets by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, whether issued in a public offering or private placement, including pursuant to Section 4(2) of the Securities Act or Rule 144A, Regulation S or Regulation D under the Securities Act.

"Capital Stock" means (a) in the case of a corporation, corporate stock, (b) in the case of an association or business entity, any and all shares, interests, participations, rights or other equivalents (however designated) of corporate stock, (c) in the case of a partnership or limited liability company, partnership, membership interests (whether general or limited) or

shares in the capital of the company, and (d) any other interest or participation that confers on a Person the right to receive a share of the profits and losses of, or distributions of assets of, the issuing Person.

"Capitalized Lease" means any lease under which any obligations of the lessee are, or are required to be, capitalized on a balance sheet of the lessee in accordance with GAAP; provided, however, that notwithstanding the foregoing, the treatment of Capitalized Leases shall be evaluated, and the amount of Capitalized Rentals shall be determined, in accordance with Sections 12.3(b) and (c) and without giving effect to any change to GAAP occurring after December 31, 2015 as a result of the adoption of any proposals set forth in the *Proposed Accounting Standards Update, Leases (Topic 840)*, issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board on August 17, 2010, or any other proposals issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board in connection therewith, in each case if such change would require treating any lease (or similar arrangement conveying the right to use) as a capital lease where such lease (or similar arrangement) was not required to be so treated under GAAP as in effect on December 31, 2015.

"Capitalized Rentals" means, as of the date of any determination, the amount at which the obligations of the lessee, due and to become due under all Capitalized Leases under which the Company or any Subsidiary is a lessee, are reflected as a liability on a consolidated balance sheet of the Company and its Subsidiaries.

"Change of Control" means (a) any "person" or "group" (as such terms are used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Exchange Act), other than one or more Permitted Holders, is or becomes the beneficial owner (as defined in Rules 13d-3 and 13d-5 under the Exchange Act), directly or indirectly, of shares representing more than 50% of the voting power of the Company's Voting Stock, (b) (i) all or substantially all of the assets of the Company and the Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, are sold or otherwise transferred to any Person other than a Wholly-owned Subsidiary of the Company or one or more Permitted Holders or (ii) the Company amalgamates, consolidates or merges with or into another Person or any Person consolidates, amalgamates or merges with or into the Company, in either case under this clause (b), in one transaction or a series of related transactions in which immediately after the consummation thereof Persons beneficially owning (as defined in Rules 13d-3 and 13d-5 under the Exchange Act) Voting Stock representing in the aggregate a majority of the total voting power of the Voting Stock of the Company, immediately prior to such consummation do not beneficially own (as defined in Rules 13d-3 and 13d-5 under the Exchange Act) Voting Stock representing a majority of the total voting power of the Voting Stock of the Company, or the applicable surviving or transferee Person; provided that this clause shall not apply (A) in the case where, immediately after the consummation of the transactions, Permitted Holders beneficially own Voting Stock representing in the aggregate a majority of the total voting power of the Company, or the applicable surviving or transferee Person or (B) to an amalgamation or a merger of the Company with or into (x) a corporation, limited liability company or partnership or (y) a wholly-owned subsidiary of a corporation, limited liability company or partnership that, in either case, immediately following the transaction or series of transactions, has no Person or group (other than Permitted Holders), which beneficially owns Voting Stock representing 50% or more of the voting power of the total outstanding Voting Stock of such entity and, in the case of clause (y), the parent of such Wholly-owned Subsidiary guarantees the Borrower's

Obligations obligations under this Agreement, (c) the Company shall adopt a plan of liquidation or dissolution or any such plan shall be approved by the shareholders of the Company or (d) the Borrower ceases to be a direct or indirect Wholly-owned Subsidiary of the Company.

"Citibank" has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

"Closing Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 9.2.

"Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

"Commitments" means the Lenders' commitments to make Committed Loans hereunder; and "Commitment" as to any Lender means the amount set forth opposite such Lender's name on Schedule I (as reduced or increased, as applicable, in accordance with Section 4.1 or Section 4.4, or as periodically revised in accordance with Section 12.4 or Section 12.9).

"Committed Loan" means a loan in Dollars that is a Base Rate Loan or LIBOR Rate Loan made pursuant to Section 2 (each of which shall be a "Type" of Committed Loan).

"Committed Loan Request" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(a).

"Committed Note" means a promissory note of the Borrower, substantially in the form of Exhibit B, duly completed, evidencing Committed Loans to the Borrower, as such note may be amended, modified or supplemented or supplanted pursuant to Section 12.4.1 from time to time.

"Communications" has the meaning set forth in Section 12.2(b).

"Company" has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

"Connection Income Taxes" means Other Connection Taxes that are imposed on or measured by net income (however denominated) or that are franchise Taxes or branch profits Taxes.

"Consolidated Indebtedness" means, as of the date of any determination, (a) the total amount of Indebtedness less the amount of current and deferred income taxes and rentals received in advance of the Company and its Subsidiaries (to the extent constituting Indebtedness) determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP (but without giving effect to any election to value any Indebtedness at "fair value", or any other accounting principle, including purchase accounting, that results in the amount of any such Indebtedness (other than zero coupon Indebtedness) as reflected on a consolidated balance sheet of the Company to be reflected thereon in any amount other than the stated principal amount of such Indebtedness), and excluding (i) the amount that is (A) the aggregate amount outstanding of Hybrid Capital Securities multiplied by (B) the Hybrid Capital Securities Percentage, (ii) adjustments in relation to Indebtedness denominated in any currency other than Dollars and any related derivative liability, in each case to the extent arising from currency fluctuations (such exclusions to apply only to the extent the resulting liability is hedged by the Company or such Subsidiary), (iii) net obligations of any Person under any swap contracts that are not yet due and payable, and (iv) trade payables outstanding in the ordinary course of business, but not overdue by more than 90

days less (b) the lesser of (x) \$2,000,000,0003,000,0000 and (y) the aggregate amount of "cash and cash equivalents" or any line item of similar import (but in any event, excluding "restricted eash" or any line item of similar import and excluding "cash and eash equivalents" or any line item of similar import subject to any Lien (other than (A) Liens arising by operation of law and (B) bankers' Liens arising in the ordinary course of business) Restricted Cash) reflected on a consolidated balance sheet of the Company prepared as of such date of determination in accordance with GAAP; provided that, in the event that the Company or any of its Subsidiaries incurs any GECAS Transaction Financing prior to the consummation of the GECAS Transaction, the limitation in clause (b)(x) above shall not apply to the aggregate amount of GECAS Financing Proceeds as of any date of determination prior to the consummation of the GECAS Transaction.

"Consolidated Interest Expense" means for any measurement period, and without duplication, interest expense in respect of all Indebtedness for borrowed money accrued during such measurement period by the Company and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, as determined under GAAP (but without giving effect to any adjustment to such interest expense resulting from any election to value any Indebtedness at "fair value", or any other accounting principle, including purchase accounting, that results in the amount of any such Indebtedness (other than zero coupon Indebtedness) as reflected on a consolidated balance sheet of the Company to be reflected thereon in any amount other than the stated principal amount of such Indebtedness).

"Continue", "Continuation" and "Continued" each refers to a continuation of LIBOR Rate Loans as LIBOR Rate Loans for a new Loan Period pursuant to Section 2.4.

"Convert", "Conversion" and "Converted" each refers to a conversion of Committed Loans of one Type into Committed Loans of the other Type pursuant to Section 2.4.

"Corresponding Tenor" with respect to any Available Tenor means, as applicable, either a tenor (including overnight) or an interest payment period having approximately the same length (disregarding business day adjustment) as such Available Tenor.

"Covered Entity" means any of the following: (a) a "covered entity" as that term is defined in, and interpreted in accordance with, 12 C.F.R. § 252.82(b), (b) a "covered bank" as that term is defined in, and interpreted in accordance with, 12 C.F.R. § 47.3(b) or (c) a "covered FSI" as that term is defined in, and interpreted in accordance with, 12 C.F.R. § 382.2(b).

"Covered Party" has the meaning set forth in Section 12.20.

"Credit Facilities" means one or more debt facilities, or commercial paper facilities with banks or other institutional lenders or investors or indentures providing for revolving credit loans, term loans, receivables financing, including through the sale of receivables to such lenders or to special purpose entities formed to borrow from such lenders against receivables, letters of credit or other long-term indebtedness, including any guarantees, collateral documents, instruments and agreements executed in connection therewith, and any

amendments, supplements, modifications, extensions, renewals, restatements or refundings thereof and any indentures or credit facilities or commercial paper facilities with banks or other institutional lenders or investors that replace, refund or refinance any part of the loans, notes, other credit facilities or commitments thereunder, including any such replacement, refunding or refinancing facility or indenture that increases the amount borrowable thereunder or alters the maturity thereof.

"Daily Simple SOFR" means, for any day, SOFR, with the conventions for this rate (which will include a lookback) being established by the Administrative Agent in accordance with the conventions for this rate selected or recommended by the Relevant Governmental Body for determining "Daily Simple SOFR" for syndicated business loans; provided, that if the Administrative Agent decides that any such convention is not administratively feasible for the Administrative Agent, then the Administrative Agent may establish another convention in its reasonable discretion.

"<u>Debtor Relief Law</u>" means title 11 of the United States Code, as in effect from time to time, and all other liquidation, conservatorship, bankruptcy, assignment for the benefit of creditors, moratorium, rearrangement, receivership, insolvency, reorganization, <u>examinership</u> or similar debtor relief laws of the United States or other applicable jurisdictions from time to time in effect and affecting the rights of creditors generally.

"Default Right" has the meaning assigned to that term in, and shall be interpreted in accordance with, 12 C.F.R. §§ 252.81, 47.2 or 382.1, as applicable.

"Defaulted Commitments" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.1(b).

"Defaulting Lender" means, at any time, any Lender that at such time (a) has failed to perform any of its funding obligations hereunder, including in respect of its Committed Loans within two Business Days of the date required to be funded by it hereunder unless such Lender notifies the Agent and the Borrower in writing that such failure is the result of such Lender's determination that one or more conditions precedent to funding (each of which conditions precedent, together with any applicable default, shall be specifically identified in such writing) has not been satisfied, (b) has notified the Borrower or the Agent that it does not intend to comply with its funding obligations or has made a public statement to that effect with respect to its funding obligations hereunder or generally under other agreements in which it commits to extend credit (unless such notice or public statement relates to such Lender's obligation to fund a Committed Loan hereunder and states that such position is based on such Lender's determination that a condition precedent to funding (which condition precedent, together with any applicable default, shall be specifically identified in such notice or public statement) cannot be satisfied), (c) has failed, within three Business Days after written request by the Agent or the Borrower (based on its reasonable belief that such Lender may not fulfill its funding obligations hereunder), to confirm in writing or a manner satisfactory to the Agent and the Borrower that it will comply with its funding obligations hereunder (provided that such Lender shall cease to be a Defaulting Lender pursuant to this clause (c) upon receipt of such written confirmation by the Agent and the Borrower), or (d) has, or has a direct or indirect parent company that has, (i) become the subject of a proceeding under any Debtor Relief Law, (ii) had a receiver, conservator, trustee, administrator, intervenor, sequestrator, assignee for the benefit of creditors or similar Person

under any applicable Debtor Relief Law charged with reorganization or liquidation of its business or a custodian appointed for it, (iii) taken any action in furtherance of, or indicated its consent to, approval of or acquiescence in any such proceeding or appointment, or (iv) become the subject of a Bail-inIn Action; provided, that, a Lender shall not be a Defaulting Lender solely by virtue of the control, ownership or acquisition of any equity interest in that Lender or any direct or indirect parent company thereof by a Governmental Authority, so long as such ownership interest does not result in or provide such Lender with immunity from the jurisdiction of courts within the United States or from the enforcement of judgments or writs of attachment on its assets or permit such Lender (or such Governmental Authority) to reject, repudiate, disavow or disaffirm any contracts or agreements made with such Lender. Any determination that a Lender is a Defaulting Lender under clauses (a) through (d) above will be made by the Agent in its reasonable discretion acting in good faith. If the Borrower believes in good faith that a Lender should be determined by the Agent to be a Defaulting Lender and so notifies Agent, citing the reasons therefor, the Agent shall determine in its reasonable discretion acting in good faith whether or not such Lender is a Defaulting Lender. The Agent will promptly send to all parties hereto a copy of any notice to the Borrower provided for in this definition.

"Disqualified Lender" means (a) any Person that (a) is an operating lessor of aircraft assets or an Affiliate of an operating lessor of aircraft assets if the business of leasing aircraft assets is a principal line of business of such Person or the Affiliates of such Person taken as a whole, (bii) has a business unit or an Affiliate that is an operating lessor of aircraft assets (regardless of whether the business of leasing aircraft assets is a principal line of business of such Person or the Affiliates of such Person taken as a whole) if such Person has not affirmed to the Borrower that such Person has in place procedures not to transmit or permit the transmission to such operating lessor of any information concerning the Company or any of its Subsidiaries obtained in connection with this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby, (eiii) is a Defaulting Lender or, upon becoming a Lender under this Agreement, would be a Defaulting Lender or (div) based on the law and circumstances existing at the time of any proposed transfer, would be entitled to claim additional amounts from the Borrower under Section 5.4 or 6.1 (as compared to any amounts able to be claimed by the proposed assignor) or whose acquisition of any Committed Loan or Commitments would conflict with applicable law or would impose on the Borrower any withholding obligation not applicable to the assignor at the time of the assignment; (b) [reserved]; and (c) Affiliates of the Persons identified pursuant to clause (a) that are either clearly identifiable as Affiliates solely on the basis of their name or identified in writing by the Company to the Administrative Agent (it being understood that, notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, in no event shall any such identification apply retroactively to disqualify any parties that have previously acquired or have agreed to acquire an assignment or participation interest hereunder that is otherwise permitted hereunder, but upon the effectiveness of such designation, any such party may not acquire or agree to acquire any additional Commitments, Committed Loans or participations hereunder).

"<u>Disqualified Stock</u>" means with respect to any Person, any Capital Stock of such Person which, by its terms, or by the terms of any security into which it is convertible or for which it is putable or exchangeable, or upon the happening of any event, matures or is mandatorily redeemable, other than as a result of a change of control or asset sale, pursuant to a sinking fund obligation or otherwise, or is redeemable at the option of the holder thereof, other

than as a result of a change of control or asset sale, in whole or in part, in each case prior to the date 91 days after the earlier of (a) the latest scheduled Termination Date in effect on the date of issuance of such Capital Stock and (b) the date which no Committed Loans or Commitments are then outstanding hereunder; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that if such Capital Stock is issued to any plan for the benefit of employees of the Company or its Subsidiaries or by any such plan to such employees, such Capital Stock shall not constitute Disqualified Stock solely because it may be required to be repurchased by the Company or its Subsidiaries in order to satisfy applicable statutory or regulatory obligations.

"Dollar" and "\sums" refer to the lawful money of the United States of America.

"Early Opt-in Election" means if the then-current Benchmark is Base LIBOR:

- (1) a notification by the Administrative Agent to (or the request by the Borrower to the Administrative Agent to notify) each of the other parties hereto that at least five currently outstanding Dollar-denominated syndicated credit facilities in the U.S. syndicated loan market at such time contain (as a result of amendment or as originally executed) a SOFR-based rate (including SOFR, a term SOFR or any other rate based upon SOFR) as a benchmark rate (and such syndicated credit facilities are identified in such notice and are publicly available for review); and
- (2) the joint election by the Administrative Agent and the Borrower to trigger a fallback from Base LIBOR and the provision by the Administrative Agent of written notice of such election to the Lenders.

"EBITDA" means for any period, (a) the sum, without duplication, of (i) net income (or net loss), (ii) Consolidated Interest Expense, (iii) income tax expense, (iv) depreciation and depletion expense, (v) amortization expense, (vi) extraordinary, unusual or nonrecurring losses to the extent the foregoing have been deducted in determining such net income, (vii) any non-cash items (including write-downs and impairment of property, plant, equipment and intangibles and other long-lived assets, including aircraft, and the impact of purchase accounting, including stock based compensation expense, derivative expense and fair value adjustments) to the extent deducted in determining net income, and (viii) the amount of any extraordinary, unusual or nonrecurring non-cash restructuring charges, less (b) the sum, without duplication, of (i) extraordinary, unusual or nonrecurring gains to the extent added in determining net income, and (ii) all non-cash items to the extent included in determining net income). For the purposes of calculating EBITDA for any four quarter period, such calculation shall be made (i) after giving effect to any Acquisition consummated during such period and (ii) assuming that such Acquisition occurred at the beginning of such period; provided, that any pro forma calculation made by the Company either (i) based on Regulation S-X or (ii) as calculated in good faith and set forth in an officer's certificate of the Company, in reasonable detail, (and in the case of this clause (ii), based on audited financials of the target company) shall be acceptable.

"ECA Financing" means any financing provided or supported by one or more government export credit agencies.

"EEA Financial Institution" means (a) any credit institution or investment firm established in any EEA Member Country which is subject to the supervision of an EEA Resolution Authority, (b) any entity established in an EEA Member Country that is a parent of an institution described in clause (a) above or (c) any financial institution established in an EEA Member Country that is a subsidiary of an institution described in clause (a) or (b) above and is subject to consolidated supervision with its parent.

"EEA Member Country" means any of the member states of the European Union, Iceland, Liechtenstein and Norway.

"EEA Resolution Authority" means any public administrative authority or any Person entrusted with public administrative authority of any EEA Member Country (including any delegee) having responsibility for the resolution of any EEA Financial Institution.

"Eligible Assignee" means any financial institution; provided, however, that (a) neither the Borrower nor any Affiliate of the Borrower shall qualify as an Eligible Assignee, and (b) no natural person or Disqualified Lender shall qualify as an Eligible Assignee, whether or not an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing (unless otherwise agreed by the Borrower in its sole discretion).

"Equity Interests" means Capital Stock and all warrants, options or other rights to acquire Capital Stock, but excluding any debt security that is convertible into, or exchangeable for, Capital Stock.

"ERISA" means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

"ERISA Affiliate" means any corporation, trade or business that is, along with the Company or any Subsidiary, a member of a controlled group of corporations or a controlled group of trades or businesses, as described in Sections 414(b) and 414(c), respectively, of the Code or Section 4001 of ERISA (and Sections 414(m) and 414(o) of the Code for purposes of provisions relating to Section 412 of the Code).

"ERISA Event" means (a) any "reportable event", as defined in Section 4043 of ERISA or the regulations issued thereunder with respect to a Plan (other than an event for which the 30-day notice period is waived); (b) any failure by any Plan to satisfy the minimum funding standard (as defined in Section 412 of the Code or Section 302 of ERISA), applicable to such Plan; (c) the incurrence by the Company or any of its ERISA Affiliates of any liability under Title IV of ERISA with respect to the termination of any Plan; (d) the receipt by the Company or any ERISA Affiliate from the PBGC or a plan administrator of any notice having the effect of terminating any Plan or Plans or appointing a trustee to administer any Plan; (e) the incurrence by the Company or any of its ERISA Affiliates of any liability with respect to the withdrawal or partial withdrawal from any Plan or Multiemployer Plan; or (f) the receipt by the Company or any ERISA Affiliate of any notice, or the receipt by any Multiemployer Plan from the Company or any ERISA Affiliate of any notice, concerning the imposition of Withdrawal Liability or a determination that a Multiemployer Plan is, or is expected to be, insolvent, within the meaning of

Title IV of ERISA or in "endangered" or "critical" status, within the meaning of Section 305 of ERISA or Section 432 of the Code.

"<u>EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule</u>" means the EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule published by the Loan Market Association (or any successor Person), as in effect from time to time.

"Eurodollar Reserve Percentage" means for any day in any Loan Period for any LIBOR Rate Loan that percentage in effect on such day as prescribed by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (or any successor thereto) or other U.S. government agency for determining the reserve requirement (including any marginal, basic, supplemental or emergency reserves) for a member bank of the Federal Reserve System in New York City with deposits exceeding one billion dollars in respect of eurocurrency funding liabilities.

"Event of Default" means any of the events described in Section 10.1.

"Exchange Act" means the United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

"Excluded Subsidiary" means (a) any dormant Subsidiary (it being understood and agreed that the provision by such Subsidiary of any Guarantees under any indenture, credit agreement or other agreement or instrument existing on the date hereof (or under any amendments, supplements (including in respect of supplemental issuances), modifications, upsizings, extensions, renewals, restatements, refundings or refinancings of any such indenture, credit agreement or other agreement or instrument from time to time) shall not cause such Subsidiary to be deemed not to be dormant) or (b) any other Subsidiary that (i) is not engaged in any material business activities (it being understood and agreed that the provision by such Subsidiary of any Guarantees under any indenture, credit agreement or other agreement or instrument existing on the date hereof (or under any amendments, supplements (including in respect of supplemental issuances), modifications, upsizings, extensions, renewals, restatements, refundings or refinancings of any such indenture, credit agreement or other agreement or instrument from time to time), shall be deemed not to be a material business activity) and (ii) does not hold any material assets. For the avoidance of doubt, no Significant Subsidiary shall be an "Excluded Subsidiary" for purposes of Section 8.17 of this Agreement.

"Excluded Taxes" means any of the following Taxes imposed on or with respect to a Recipient or required to be withheld or deducted from a payment to a Recipient, (a) Taxes imposed on or measured by net income (however denominated), franchise Taxes, and branch profits Taxes, in each case, (i) imposed as a result of such Recipient being organized under the laws of, or having its principal office or, in the case of any Lender, its applicable lending office located in, the jurisdiction imposing such Tax (or any political subdivision thereof) or (ii) that are Other Connection Taxes, (b) in the case of a Lender, U.S. Federal, Netherlands or Irish withholding Taxes imposed on amounts payable to or for the account of such Lender with respect to an applicable interest in a Committed Loan or Commitment pursuant to a law in effect on the date on which (i) such Lender acquires such interest in the Committed Loan or Commitment (other than pursuant to an assignment request by the Borrower under Section 12.9(c)) or (ii) such Lender changes its lending office (other than pursuant to Section 6.1(c)), its place of incorporation or its place of tax residence, except in each case to the extent that, (x)

pursuant to Section 5.4, amounts with respect to such Taxes were payable either to such Lender's assignor immediately before such Lender acquired the applicable interest in such Committed Loan or Commitment or to such Lender immediately before it changed its lending office, its place of incorporation or its place of tax residence or (y) in the case of Irish withholding Taxes, such Taxes are imposed on Lenders that are Qualifying Lenders, (c) Taxes attributable to such Recipient's failure to comply with Section 5.4(f), and (d) any withholding Taxes imposed under FATCA.

"Eximbank" means the Export-Import Bank of the United States.

"Existing Credit Agreement" means that certain Second Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of February 15, 2017, among the Company, the Borrower, the Subsidiary Guarantors party thereto, certain financial institutions party thereto and Citibank, as administrative agent, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified through the Closing Date (but shall not, for any purposes hereunder, include this Agreement).

"Extension Request" has the meaning set forth in Section 12.9(a).

"FATCA" means Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code, as of the date of this Agreement (or any amended or successor version that is substantively comparable and not materially more onerous to comply with), together in each case with any current or future regulations or official IRS interpretations thereof, any official agreements entered into pursuant to Section 1471(b)(1) of the Code and any fiscal or regulatory legislation, rules or practices adopted pursuant to any intergovernmental agreement, treaty, or convention among Governmental Authorities and implementing such Sections of the Code.

"Federal Funds Rate" means, for any period, the greater of (a) a fluctuating interest rate per annum equal for each day during such period to the weighted average of the rates on overnight Federal funds transactions with members of the Federal Reserve System, as published for such day (or, if such day is not a Business Day, for the next preceding Business Day) by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or, if such rate is not so published for any day which is a Business Day, the average of the quotations for such day on such transactions received by the Agent from three Federal funds brokers of recognized standing selected by it and (b) 0%.

"Financial Indebtedness" of any Person means Indebtedness of the type that appears as "debt" upon a consolidated balance sheet (excluding the footnotes thereto) of such Person and its Subsidiaries prepared in accordance with GAAP (but without giving effect to any election to value any such Indebtedness at "fair value", or any other accounting principle, including purchase accounting, that results in the amount of any such Indebtedness (other than zero coupon Indebtedness) as reflected on a consolidated balance sheet of such Person to be reflected thereon in any amount other than the stated principal amount of such Indebtedness), excluding, however, any such "debt" that is issued to any holder (or Affiliate of any such holder) of Equity Interests in such Person and is fully subordinated (including as to payment and liquidity preference) to the Committed Loans.

"Financing Trust" means AerCap Global Aviation Trust, a Delaware statutory trust.

"Floor" means the benchmark rate floor, if any, provided in this Agreement initially (as of the execution of this Agreement, the modification, amendment or renewal of this Agreement or otherwise) with respect to Base LIBOR.

"Foreign Benefit Event" means, with respect to any Foreign Plan, (a) the existence of unfunded liabilities in excess of the amount permitted under any applicable law, (b) the failure to make the required contributions or payments, under any applicable law, on or before the due date for such contributions or payments, (c) the receipt of a notice by a Governmental Authority relating to the termination of any such Foreign Plan or the appointment of a trustee or similar official to administer any such Foreign Plan, (d) the incurrence of any liability by the Company or any Subsidiary under any applicable law on account of the complete or partial termination of such Foreign Plan or the complete or partial withdrawal of any participating employer therein or (e) the occurrence of any transaction that is prohibited under any applicable law and that could reasonably be expected to result in the incurrence of any material liability by the Company or any Subsidiary.

"Foreign Plan" means each "employee benefit plan" (as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA) maintained or contributed to by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries outside the United States with respect to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries could have any actual or contingent liability, other than a Plan.

"Funding Date" means the date on which any Committed Loan is scheduled to be disbursed.

"Funding Office" means, with respect to any Lender, any office or offices of such Lender or Affiliates of such Lender through which such Lender shall fund or shall have funded any Committed Loan. A Funding Office may be, at such Lender's option, either a domestic or foreign office of such Lender.

"GAAP" means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States which are in effect from time to time. At any time after the Closing Date, the Company may elect to apply IFRS accounting principles in lieu of GAAP for reporting purposes and for purposes of calculations hereunder. The Company shall give notice of any such election made in accordance with this definition to the Agent. Upon receipt of such notice, the Agent and the Company shall negotiate in good faith to amend the financial covenants, requirements and other relevant provisions of this Agreement impacted by such change to preserve the original intent thereof in light of such change. The change from GAAP to IFRS accounting principles shall become effective once this Agreement has been so amended, and thereafter references herein to GAAP shall be construed to mean IFRS (except as otherwise provided herein); provided that any calculation or determination herein that requires the application of GAAP for periods that include fiscal quarters ended prior to the Company's election to apply IFRS shall remain as previously calculated or determined in accordance with GAAP.

"GECAS Financing Proceeds" means cash and/or cash equivalents representing the proceeds of any GECAS

Transaction Financing that are held by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, including pursuant to any escrow arrangements, or are deposited with any other Person pursuant to any escrow arrangements.

"GECAS Transaction" means the acquisition of or subscription for, as applicable, the Equity Interests in the Companies, the Transferred Assets and the New Ireland Company Notes (each such term as defined in the GECAS Transaction Agreement) by one or more direct or indirect Wholly-owned Subsidiaries of the Company, pursuant to the GECAS Transaction Agreement.

<u>"GECAS Transaction Agreement" means the Transaction Agreement dated as of March 9, 2021 (as amended from time to time and including the exhibits, schedules and all related documents), by and among General Electric Company, certain direct or indirect subsidiaries of General Electric Company, the Company and the GECAS Transaction Subsidiaries.</u>

"GECAS Transaction Financing" means any Indebtedness of the Company or any Subsidiary that has been incurred for the purpose of financing, in whole or in part, the GECAS Transaction and any related transactions.

"GECAS Transaction Subsidiaries" means AerCap US Aviation LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, and AerCap Aviation Leasing Limited, a private company limited by shares incorporated under the laws of Ireland with registered number 689205.

"General Electric Company" means General Electric Company, a New York corporation.

"Governmental Authority" means, as and to the extent applicable, the government of the United States of America, the Netherlands or any other nation, or any political subdivision thereof, whether state or local, and any agency, authority, instrumentality, regulatory body, court, central bank or other entity (including any federal or other association of or with which any such nation may be a member or associated) exercising executive, legislative, judicial, taxing, regulatory or administrative powers or functions of or pertaining to government (including any supra-national bodies, such as the European Union or the European Central Bank).

"Granting Lender" has the meaning set forth in Section 12.4.2.

"Guarantee Assumption Agreement" means a Guarantee Assumption Agreement substantially in the form of Exhibit F (or in such other form as may be agreed between the Company and the Administrative Agent) in favor of the Administrative Agent for the benefit of the Lenders and the Administrative Agent.

"Guaranteed Obligations" has the meaning set forth in Section 13.1.

"Guarantees" by any Person means, without duplication, all obligations (other than endorsements in the ordinary course of business of negotiable instruments for deposit or

collection) of such Person guaranteeing or in effect guaranteeing any Indebtedness, dividend or other obligation of any other Person (the "Primary Obligor") in any manner, whether directly or indirectly, including all obligations incurred through an agreement, contingent or otherwise, by such Person: (a) to purchase such Indebtedness or obligation or any property or assets constituting security therefor, (b) to advance or supply funds (i) for the purchase or payment of such Indebtedness or obligation or (ii) to maintain working capital or other balance sheet condition or otherwise to advance or make available funds for the purchase or payment of such Indebtedness or obligation, (c) to lease property or to purchase securities or other property or services primarily for the purpose of assuring the owner of such Indebtedness or obligation of the ability of the Primary Obligor to make payment of the Indebtedness or obligation or (d) otherwise to assure the owner of the Indebtedness or obligation of the Primary Obligor against loss in respect thereof; provided, however, that the obligation described in clause (c) shall not include (i) obligations of a buyer under an agreement with a seller to purchase goods or services entered into in the ordinary course of such buyer's and seller's businesses unless such agreement requires that such buyer make payment whether or not delivery is ever made of such goods or services and (ii) remarketing agreements where the remaining debt on an aircraft does not exceed the aircraft's net book value, determined in accordance with industry standards, except that clause (c) shall apply to the amount of remaining debt under a remarketing agreement that exceeds the net book value of the aircraft. For the purposes of all computations made under this Agreement, a Guarantee in respect of any Indebtedness for borrowed money shall be deemed to be Indebtedness equal to the principal amount of such Indebtedness for borrowed money which has been guaranteed, and a Guarantee in respect of any other obligation or liability or any dividend shall be deemed to be Indebtedness equal to the maximum aggregate amount of such obligation, liability or dividend.

"Guarantor" means the Company and each Subsidiary Guarantor.

"Hybrid Capital Securities" means any hybrid capital securities issued by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries from time to time whose proceeds are accorded a percentage of equity treatment by one or more Rating Organizations.

"<u>Hybrid Capital Securities Percentage</u>" means the greater of (a) 50% and (b) the lowest percentage accorded equity treatment for the Company's or any of its Subsidiaries' Hybrid Capital Securities among the Rating Organizations, as determined by such Rating Organizations from time to time.

"ILFC" means International Lease Finance Corporation, a California corporation.

"Increasing Lender" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.4(a)(i).

"Indebtedness" of any Person means and includes, without duplication, all obligations of such Person which in accordance with GAAP shall be classified upon a balance sheet of such Person as liabilities of such Person, and in any event shall include all:

(a) obligations of such Person for borrowed money or which have been incurred in connection with the acquisition of property or assets (other than security and other deposits on flight equipment),

- (b) Indebtedness of any other Person secured by any Lien or other charge upon property or assets owned by such Person, even though such Person has not assumed or become liable for the payment of such Indebtedness,
- (c) obligations created or arising under any conditional sale, or other title retention agreement with respect to property acquired by such Person, notwithstanding the fact that the rights and remedies of the seller, lender or lessor under such agreement in the event of default are limited to repossession or sale of property,
 - (d) Capitalized Rentals of such Person under any Capitalized Lease,
 - (e) obligations evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes or other similar instruments, and
 - (f) Guarantees by such Person of Indebtedness of any other Person;

<u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that Indebtedness shall in no event include any security deposits, deferred overhaul rental or other customer deposits held by such Person.

"Indemnified Liabilities" has the meaning set forth in Section 12.7.

"Indemnified Taxes" means (a) Taxes, other than Excluded Taxes, imposed on or with respect to any payment made by or on account of any obligation of any Obligor under any Loan Document and (b) to the extent not otherwise described in clause (a), Other Taxes.

"Independent Financial Advisor" means an accounting, appraisal, investment banking firm or consultant to Persons engaged in similar businesses of nationally recognized standing that is, in the good faith judgment of the Company, qualified to perform the task for which it has been engaged.

"Information" has the meaning set forth in Section 12.6.

"Information Memorandum" means the September 2019 Confidential Information Memorandum relating to the credit facility provided for herein.

"Interest Coverage Ratio" means the ratio of (a) EBITDA of the Company and its Subsidiaries, determined on a consolidated basis, to (b) the sum of Consolidated Interest Expense (excluding, for any four consecutive fiscal quarter period ending prior to the consummation of the GECAS Transaction, any Consolidated Interest Expense in respect of GECAS Transaction Financing) and cash dividend payments (excluding items eliminated in consolidation) on any series of preferred stock, for each of the items in clauses (a) and (b) above, of or by the Company and its Subsidiaries during the four consecutive fiscal quarters most recently ended for which financial statements have been delivered pursuant to Section 8.1.

"IRS" means the United States Internal Revenue Service.

"ISDA Definitions" means the 2006 ISDA Definitions published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. or any successor thereto, as amended

or supplemented from time to time, or any successor definitional booklet for interest rate derivatives published from time to time by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. or such successor thereto.

"Lender Appointment Period" has the meaning set forth in Section 11.9.

"Lender Parties" has the meaning set forth in Section 12.7.

"<u>Lenders</u>" means the financial institutions identified as Lenders on the signature pages hereto and their respective successors and permitted assignees.

"LIBOR Rate" means with respect to Committed Loans that are LIBOR Rate Loans, Base LIBOR plus the applicable rate margin set forth for LIBOR Rate Loans in the row entitled "Margins" on Schedule II.

"LIBOR Rate Loan" means any Committed Loan which bears interest at a LIBOR Rate.

"<u>Lien</u>" means any mortgage, pledge, lien, security interest or other charge, encumbrance or preferential arrangement, including the retained security title of a conditional vendor or lessor. For avoidance of doubt, the parties hereto acknowledge that the filing of a financing statement under the Uniform Commercial Code does not, in and of itself, give rise to a Lien.

"<u>Litigation Actions</u>" means all litigation, claims and arbitration proceedings, proceedings before any Governmental Authority or investigations which are pending or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened in writing against or affecting, the Company or any Subsidiary.

"Loan Documents" means this Agreement, the Committed Notes, and any Guarantee Assumption Agreement.

"Loan Period" means with respect to any LIBOR Rate Loan, the period commencing on such LIBOR Rate Loan's Funding Date, the date of the Conversion of any Base Rate Loan into such LIBOR Rate Loan or the date of the Continuation of such LIBOR Rate Loan for a new Loan Period and ending one week or one, two, three or six months thereafter as selected by the Borrower pursuant to Section 2.2(a); provided, however, that:

- (a) if a Loan Period would otherwise end on a day which is not a Business Day, such Loan Period shall end on the next succeeding Business Day (unless, in the case of a LIBOR Rate Loan with a Loan Period of one month or longer, such next succeeding Business Day would fall in the next succeeding calendar month, in which case such Loan Period shall end on the next preceding Business Day),
- (b) in the case of a Loan Period of one month or longer for any LIBOR Rate Loan, if there exists no day numerically corresponding to the day such Committed Loan was made in the month in which the last day of such Loan Period would otherwise fall, such Loan Period shall end on the last Business Day of such month, and

(c) on the date of the making, Conversion or Continuation of any Committed Loan by a Lender, the Loan Period for such Committed Loan shall not extend beyond the then-scheduled Termination Date for such Lender; <u>provided</u>, that a Loan Period may be shortened by the Borrower to end on the then-scheduled Termination Date, regardless of the duration of such Loan Period.

"Management Group" means at any time, the Chairman of the Board of Directors, the Chief Executive Officer, any President, any Executive Vice President or Vice President, any Managing Director, any Treasurer and any Secretary or other executive officer of the Company or any subsidiary of the Company at such time.

"Material Adverse Effect" means (a) any material adverse effect on the business, properties, condition (financial or otherwise) or operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole since any stated reference date or from and after the date of determination, as the case may be, (b) any material adverse effect on the ability of the Borrower or any Guarantor to perform its material obligations hereunder and under the Committed Notes or (c) any material adverse effect on the legality, validity, binding effect or enforceability of any material provision of this Agreement or any Committed Note.

"Multiemployer Plan" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 3(37) of ERISA.

"Non-Defaulting Lender" means, at any time, a Lender that is not a Defaulting Lender.

"Notice of Increase" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.4(a)(i).

"Notice Office" means the office of Citibank which, as of the date hereof, is located at Building #3, 1615 Brett Road1
Penns Way, Ops II, New Castle, DelawareDE 19720; attention of Bank Loan Syndications; telecopytelephone number 302-894-6005201-751-7566; e-mail address GLAgentOfficeOps@citi.comagencyabtfsupport@citi.com.

"Obligors" means the Borrower and each Guarantor, and "Obligor" means any one of them.

"Other Connection Taxes" means, with respect to any Recipient, Taxes imposed as a result of a present or former connection between such Recipient and the jurisdiction imposing such Tax (other than connections arising from such Recipient having executed, delivered, become a party to, performed its obligations under, received payments under, received or perfected a security interest under, engaged in any other transaction pursuant to or enforced any Loan Document, or sold or assigned an interest in any Committed Loan or Loan Document).

"Other Taxes" means all present or future stamp, court or documentary, intangible, recording, filing or similar Taxes that arise from any payment made under, from the execution, delivery, performance, enforcement or registration of, from the receipt or perfection of a security interest under, or otherwise with respect to, any Loan Document, except any such Taxes that are Other Connection Taxes imposed with respect to an assignment other than an assignment made pursuant to Section 12.9(c).

"Participant" has the meaning set forth in Section 12.4.2.

"Participant Register" has the meaning set forth in Section 12.4.2.

"Payment" has the meaning set forth in Section 11.5(c).

"Payment Notice" has the meaning set forth in Section 11.5(d).

"Payment Office" means the office of the Agent which, as of the date hereof, is at Building #3, 1615 Brett Road Penns Way, Ops II, New Castle, DE 19720, account number [REDACTED].

"PBGC" means the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation and any entity succeeding to any or all of its functions under ERISA.

"Percentage" means as to any Lender the ratio, expressed as a percentage, that such Lender's Commitment as set forth opposite such Lender's name on Schedule I, as periodically revised in accordance with Section 12.4 or 12.9 and, as applicable, from time to time in accordance with Section 4.3(ab), bears to the Aggregate Commitment or, if the Commitments have been terminated, the ratio, expressed as a percentage, that the aggregate principal amount of such Lender's outstanding Committed Loans bears to the aggregate principal amount of all outstanding Committed Loans.

"Permitted Holders" means the collective reference to Waha Capital, General Electric Company and its Affiliates and the Management Group; provided that General Electric Company and its Affiliates shall cease to be Permitted Holders during such time as (a) General Electric Company (together with its Affiliates) is the beneficial owner (as defined in Rules 13d-3 and 13d-5 under the Exchange Act), directly or indirectly, of shares representing more than 50% of the voting power of the Company's Voting Stock and (b) the Company has amended, waived or otherwise modified Section 3.2(a)(v), 3.2(a)(vi) or 3.2(a)(viii) of the Shareholders' Agreement (as defined in the GECAS Transaction Agreement).

"Person" means an individual or a corporation, partnership, trust, incorporated or unincorporated association, limited liability company, joint venture, joint stock company, government (or an agency or political subdivision thereof) or other entity of any kind.

"Plan" means, at any date, any employee pension benefit plan (as defined in Section 3(2) of ERISA) which is subject to Title IV of ERISA (other than a Multiemployer Plan) and to which the Company or any ERISA Affiliate may have any liability, including any liability by reason of having been a substantial employer within the meaning of Section 4063 of ERISA at any time during the preceding five years, or by reason of being deemed to be a contributing sponsor under Section 4069 of ERISA.

"Platform" has the meaning set forth in Section 12.2(c).

"<u>Primary Currency</u>" has the meaning set forth in Section 12.15(c).

"Primary Obligor" has the meaning set forth in the definition of "Guarantees".

"Prime Rate" means the rate of interest last quoted by *The Wall Street Journal* as the "Prime Rate" in the U.S. or, if *The Wall Street Journal* ceases to quote such rate, the highest per annum interest rate published by the Federal Reserve Board in Federal Reserve Statistical Release H.15 (519) (Selected Interest Rates) as the "bank prime loan" rate or, if such rate is no longer quoted therein, any similar rate quoted therein (as determined by the Administrative Agent) or any similar release by the Federal Reserve Board (as determined by the Administrative Agent). Each change in the Prime Rate shall be effective from and including the date such change is publicly announced or quoted as being effective.

"Projections" has the meaning set forth in Section 7.9.

"PTE" means a prohibited transaction class exemption issued by the U.S. Department of Labor, as any such exemption may be amended from time to time.

"Public Lender" has the meaning set forth in Section 12.2(d).

"OFC" has the meaning assigned to the term "qualified financial contract" in, and shall be interpreted in accordance with, 12 U.S.C. 5390(c)(8)(D).

"OFC Credit Support" has the meaning set forth in Section 12.20.

"Qualified Securitization Financing" means any Securitization Financing of a Securitization Subsidiary, the financing terms, covenants, termination events and other provisions of which, including any Standard Securitization Undertakings, shall be market terms.

"Qualifying Lender" means a Lender that is beneficially entitled to the receipt of interest payable hereunder and that is

- (a) (i) a body corporate that is, by virtue of the law of a Relevant Territory, resident for the purposes of tax in that Relevant Territory and the Relevant Territory concerned imposes a tax that generally applies to interest receivable in that territory by companies from sources outside the Relevant Territory, or (ii) a body corporate where such interest payable is exempted from the charge to Irish income tax under arrangements for relief from double taxation which have the force of law by virtue of Section 826(1) of the Taxes Consolidation Act 1997 of Ireland, or would be exempted from the charge to Irish income tax if arrangements made, on or before the date of payment of the interest, for relief from double taxation that do not have the force of law by virtue of Section 826(1) of the Taxes Consolidation Act 1997 of Ireland, had the force of law (by virtue of Section 826(1) of the Taxes Consolidation Act 1997 of Ireland) when such interest is paid; provided that, in each case, such interest is not paid to that body corporate in connection with a trade or business carried on in Ireland by that body corporate through a branch or agency;
- (b) a corporation organized under the laws of the U.S. or any state thereof and subject to tax in the U.S. on its worldwide income; provided that such interest is not paid

in connection with a trade or business carried on in Ireland by that corporation through a branch or agency;

- (c) a U.S. limited liability company; <u>provided</u> that the ultimate recipients of such interest would be Qualifying Lenders within paragraph (a) and/or (b) of this definition if they were Lenders and the business conducted through such U.S. limited liability company is so structured for market reasons and not for tax avoidance reasons; <u>provided further</u> that such interest is not paid in connection with a trade or business carried on in Ireland by that limited liability company through a branch or agency;
- (d) a bank within the meaning of Section 246(i246(1)) of the Taxes Consolidation Act 1997 of Ireland whose lending office is located in Ireland and which is carrying on a bona fide banking business in Ireland for the purposes of section 246(3) of the Taxes Consolidation Act 1997 of Ireland, provided that such interest is paid in Ireland;
- (e) a body corporate which advances money in the ordinary course of a trade which includes the lending of money; <u>provided</u> that (i) such interest (ii) is paid in Ireland, (ii) <u>such interest</u> is taken into account in computing the trading income of such Lender, and (iii) such Lender has complied with (and continues to comply with) the notification requirements under section 246(5) of the Taxes Consolidation Act 1997 of Ireland;
- (f) a qualifying company within the meaning of Section 110 of the Taxes Consolidation Act 1997 of Ireland; provided that such interest is paid in Ireland; or
- (g) an investment undertaking within the meaning of section 739B of the Taxes Consolidation Act 1997 of Ireland; <u>provided</u> that such interest is paid in Ireland.

"Rating Organizations" means the following nationally recognized rating organizations: Moody's Investors Service, Inc., S&P Global Ratings, a division of S&P Global Inc., and Fitch Ratings, Inc.

"Recipient" means the Administrative Agent or any Lender.

<u>"Reference Time" with respect to any setting of the then-current Benchmark means (1) if such Benchmark is Base LIBOR, 11:00 a.m. (London, England time) on the day that is two London banking days preceding the date of such setting, and (2) if such Benchmark is not Base LIBOR, the time determined by the Administrative Agent in its reasonable discretion.</u>

"Register" has the meaning set forth in Section 11.11(a).

"Related Parties" means, with respect to any Person, such Person's Affiliates and the partners, directors, officers, employees, agents and advisors of such Person and of such Person's Affiliates.

"Relevant Governmental Body" means the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System or the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or a committee

officially endorsed or convened by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System or the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or any successor thereto.

"Relevant Territory" means a member state of the European Union (other than Ireland), or a territory with the government of which Ireland has made arrangements for relief from double taxation which have the force of law by virtue of Section 826(1) of the Taxes Consolidation Act 1997 of Ireland, or a territory with the government of which Ireland has made arrangements for relief from double taxation which, upon completion of procedures set out in Section 826(1) of the Taxes Consolidation Act 1997 of Ireland will have the force of law.

"Replaced Lender" has the meaning set forth in Section 12.19(b)(iii).

"Reportable Event" means an event described in Section 4043(c) of ERISA with respect to a Plan other than those events as to which the 30-day notice period is waived under subsection .22, .23, .25, .27 or .28 of PBGC Regulation Section 4043.

"Requested Increase Amount" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.4(a)(i).

"Requested Increase Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.4(a)(i).

"Required Lenders" means Non-Defaulting Lenders having an aggregate Percentage of more than 50%; <u>provided</u>, that the Committed Loans and Commitments of any Defaulting Lender shall be excluded from the determination of Required Lenders.

"Resolution Authority" means an EEA Resolution Authority or, with respect to any UK Financial Institution, a UK Resolution Authority.

"Restricted Cash" means "restricted cash" or any line item of similar import and "cash and cash equivalents" or any line item of similar import subject to any Lien (other than (x) Liens arising by operation of law and (y) bankers' Liens arising in the ordinary course of business); provided that, for all purposes of this Agreement, as of any date of determination, any GECAS Financing Proceeds that would otherwise constitute Restricted Cash as of such date of determination, solely because such GECAS Financing Proceeds are subject to any escrow arrangements or are included in or otherwise designated as "restricted cash" or any line item of similar import due to the fact that such GECAS Financing Proceeds are to be used to finance, in whole or in part, the GECAS Transaction or any related transactions, shall, notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, be deemed not to constitute "Restricted Cash" and shall instead be deemed to be included in "cash and cash equivalents" or any line item of similar import reflected on a consolidated balance sheet of the Company prepared as of such date of determination in accordance with GAAP.

"Sanctioned Person" means, at any time, (a) any Person listed in any Sanctions-related list of specially designated nationals or designated Persons maintained by the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the U.S. Department of Treasury, the U.S. State Department, the U.S. Department of Commerce, the U.S. Department of the Treasury, the United Nations Security Council, the European Union or Her Majesty's Treasury of the United Kingdom, or (b) any Person controlled by such a Person.

"Sanctions" means economic or financial sanctions or trade embargoes imposed, administered or enforced from time to time by (a) the United States government, including those administered by the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the U.S. Department of Treasury, the U.S. State Department, the U.S. Department of Commerce or the U.S. Department of the Treasury, or (b) the United Nations Security Council, the European Union or Her Majesty's Treasury of the United Kingdom.

"Screen Rate" has the meaning set forth in the definition of "Base LIBOR".

"Securities Act" means the United States Securities Act of 1933.

"Securitization Assets" means the accounts receivable, lease, royalty or other revenue streams and other rights to payment and all related assets (including contract rights, books and records, all collateral securing any and all of the foregoing, all contracts and all guarantees or other obligations in respect of any and all of the foregoing and other assets that are customarily transferred or in respect of which security interests are customarily granted in connection with asset securitization transactions involving any and all of the foregoing) and the proceeds thereof in each case pursuant to a Securitization Financing.

"Securitization Financing" means one or more transactions or series of transactions that may be entered into by the Company and/or any Subsidiary pursuant to which the Company or any Subsidiary may sell, convey or otherwise transfer Securitization Assets to (a) a Securitization Subsidiary (in the case of a transfer by the Company or any of the Subsidiaries that is not a Securitization Subsidiary) or (b) any other Person (in the case of a transfer by a Securitization Subsidiary), or may grant a security interest in, any Securitization Assets of the Company or any Subsidiary.

"Securitization Subsidiary" means a Subsidiary (or another Person formed for the purposes of engaging in a Qualified Securitization Financing in which the Company or any Subsidiary makes an investment and to which the Company or any Subsidiary transfers Securitization Assets and related assets) that engages in no activities other than in connection with the financing of Securitization Assets of the Company or a Subsidiary, all proceeds thereof and all rights (contingent and other), collateral and other assets relating thereto, and any business or activities incidental or related to such business, and which is designated by the Board of Directors of the Company or such other Person (as provided below) as a Securitization Subsidiary and (a) no portion of the Indebtedness or any other obligations (contingent or otherwise) of which (i) is guaranteed by the Company or any Subsidiary, other than another Securitization Subsidiary (excluding guarantees of obligations pursuant to Standard Securitization Undertakings), (ii) is recourse to or obligates the Company or any Subsidiary, other than another Securitization Subsidiary, other than pursuant to Standard Securitization Undertakings or (iii) subjects any property or asset of the Company or any Subsidiary, other than another Securitization Subsidiary, directly or indirectly, contingently or otherwise, to the satisfaction thereof, other than pursuant to Standard Securitization Undertakings and (b) to which none of the Company or any other Subsidiary, other than another Securitization Subsidiary, has any obligation to maintain or preserve such entity's financial condition or cause such entity to achieve certain levels of operating results. Any such designation by the Board of Directors of the Company or such other Person shall be evidenced

by a resolution of the Board of Directors of the Company or such other Person giving effect to such designation.

"Shareholder's Equity" means, as of any date of determination for the Company and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, (a) shareholders' equity (including (i) capital stock, (ii) additional paid-in capital, (iii) the amount that is (x) the aggregate amount outstanding of Hybrid Capital Securities multiplied by (y) the Hybrid Capital Securities Percentage, and (iv) retained earnings after deducting treasury stock) as of such date determined in accordance with GAAP, plus (b) to the extent not otherwise included in shareholders' equity of the Company, any outstanding market auction preferred stock of ILFC.

"Significant Subsidiary" means (a) any Obligor that is a Subsidiary of the Company and (b) any other Subsidiary which is so defined pursuant to Rule 1-02 of Regulation S-X promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission.

"SOFR" means, with respect to any Business Day, a rate per annum equal to the secured overnight financing rate for such Business Day published by the SOFR Administrator on the SOFR Administrator's Website on the immediately succeeding Business Day.

<u>"SOFR Administrator" means the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (or a successor administrator of the secured overnight financing rate).</u>

"SOFR Administrator's Website" means the website of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, currently at http://www.newyorkfed.org, or any successor source for the secured overnight financing rate identified as such by the SOFR Administrator from time to time.

"SPV" has the meaning set forth in Section 12.4.2.

"Standard Securitization Undertakings" means representations, warranties, covenants and indemnities entered into by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries that are customary for a seller or servicer of assets in a Securitization Financing.

"Subsidiary" means any Person of which or in which the Company and its other Subsidiaries own directly or indirectly 50% or more of:

- (a) the combined voting power of all classes of stock having general voting power under ordinary circumstances to elect a majority of the board of directors of such Person, if it is a corporation,
- (b) the capital interest or profits interest of such Person, if it is a partnership, limited liability company, joint venture or similar entity, or
 - (c) the beneficial interest of such Person, if it is a trust, association or other unincorporated organization.

"Subsidiary Guarantor" means each of the Subsidiaries of the Company identified under the caption "GUARANTORS" on the signature pages hereto and each Subsidiary of the Company that becomes a "Subsidiary Guarantor" after the date hereof pursuant to Section 8.19.

"Successor Lender" has the meaning set forth in Section 12.9(c).

"Supported OFC" has the meaning set forth in Section 12.20.

"<u>Taxes</u>" means all present or future taxes, levies, imposts, duties, deductions, withholdings (including backup withholding), assessments, fees or other charges imposed by any Governmental Authority, including any interest, additions to tax or penalties applicable thereto.

"Term SOFR" means, for the applicable Corresponding Tenor as of the applicable Reference Time, the forward-looking term rate based on SOFR that has been selected or recommended by the Relevant Governmental Body.

"Terminating Lender" has the meaning set forth in Section 12.9(c).

"Termination Date" means, with respect to any Lender, the earliest to occur of (i) February 15, 2024, or such later date as may be agreed to by such Lender pursuant to Section 12.9(a), or if such day is not a Business Day, the next preceding Business Day, (ii) the date on which the Commitments shall terminate pursuant to Section 10.2 or the Commitments shall be reduced to zero pursuant to Section 4.1 and (iii) the date specified as such Lender's Termination Date pursuant to Section 12.9(b), or, if such day is not a Business Day, the next preceding Business Day; in all cases, subject to the provisions of Section 12.9(d).

"Type" has the meaning set forth in the definition of "Committed Loan".

"UK Financial Institution" means any BRRD Undertaking (as such term is defined under the PRA Rulebook (as amended from time to time) promulgated by the United Kingdom Prudential Regulation Authority) or any Person falling within IFPRU 11.6 of the FCA Handbook (as amended from time to time) promulgated by the United Kingdom Financial Conduct Authority, which includes certain credit institutions and investment firms, and certain affiliates of such credit institutions or investment firms.

"UK Resolution Authority" means the Bank of England or any other public administrative authority having responsibility for the resolution of any UK Financial Institution.

"Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement" means the applicable Benchmark Replacement excluding the related Benchmark Replacement Adjustment.

"Unencumbered Assets" means, as of the date of any determination, the sum, without duplication, of (a) the difference between (i) the book value (determined in accordance with GAAP) on such date of determination of the Aircraft Assets owned by the Company and its Subsidiaries and (ii) the aggregate outstanding principal amount on such date of determination of Financial Indebtedness of the Company and its Subsidiaries secured by Liens over such Aircraft Assets or the Equity Interests of the Subsidiary owning such Aircraft Assets, and (b) the lesser of

(i) \$2,000,000,0003.000,000.000 and (ii) the aggregate amount of "cash and cash equivalents" or any line item of similar import (but in any event, excluding "restricted cash" or any line item of similar import and excluding "cash and cash equivalents" or any line item of similar import subject to any Lien (other than (x) Liens arising by operation of law and (y) bankers' Liens arising in the ordinary course of business) Restricted Cash) reflected on a consolidated balance sheet of the Company prepared as of such date of determination in accordance with GAAP; provided that, in the event that the Company or any of its Subsidiaries incurs any GECAS Transaction Financing prior to the consummation of the GECAS Transaction, the limitation in clause (b)(i) above shall not apply to the aggregate amount of GECAS Financing Proceeds as of any date of determination prior to the consummation of the GECAS Transaction.

"Unintended Recipient" has the meaning set forth in Section 11.5(c).

"<u>Unmatured Event of Default</u>" means any event which if it continues uncured will, with lapse of time or notice or lapse of time and notice, constitute an Event of Default.

"U.S. Special Resolution Regimes" has the meaning set forth in Section 12.20.

"<u>USA PATRIOT Act</u>" means the Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate Tools Required to Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism Act of 2001.

"<u>Voting Stock</u>" of any Person as of any date means the Capital Stock of such Person that is at the time entitled to vote in the election of the Board of Directors of such Person.

"Wholly-owned Subsidiary" means any Person of which or in which the Company and its other Wholly-owned Subsidiaries own directly or indirectly 100% of:

- (a) the issued and outstanding shares of stock (except shares required as directors' qualifying shares),
- (b) the capital interest or profits interest of such Person, if it is a partnership, limited liability company, joint venture or similar entity, or
 - (c) the beneficial interest of such Person, if it is a trust, association or other unincorporated organization.

"Withdrawal Liability" means "withdrawal liability" within the meaning of Section 4201 of ERISA.

"Write-Down and Conversion Powers" means, (a) with respect to any EEA Resolution Authority, the write-down and conversion powers of such EEA Resolution Authority from time to time under the Bail-In Legislation for the applicable EEA Member Country, which write-down and conversion powers are described in the EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule, and (b) with respect to the United Kingdom, any powers of the applicable Resolution Authority under the Bail-In Legislation to cancel, reduce, modify or change the form of a liability of any UK Financial Institution or any contract or instrument under which that liability arises, to convert all or part of that liability into shares, securities or obligations of that

Person or any other Person, to provide that any such contract or instrument is to have effect as if a right had been exercised under it or to suspend any obligation in respect of that liability or any of the powers under that Bail-In Legislation that are related to or ancillary to any of those powers.

Section 1.3. <u>Divisions</u>. For all purposes under the Loan Documents, in connection with any division or plan of division under Section 18-217 of the Delaware Limited Liability Company Act: (a) if any asset, right, obligation or liability of any Person becomes the asset, right, obligation or liability of a different Person, then it shall be deemed to have been transferred from the original Person to the subsequent Person, and (b) if any new Person comes into existence, such new Person shall be deemed to have been organized on the first date of its existence by the holders of its Equity Interests at such time.

SECTION 2. COMMITTED LOANS AND COMMITTED NOTES

Section 2.1. Agreement to Make Committed Loans. On the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement, each Lender, severally and for itself alone, agrees to make loans (herein collectively called "Committed Loans" and individually each called a "Committed Loan") on a revolving basis from time to time from the Closing Date until such Lender's Termination Date in such Lender's Percentage of such aggregate amounts as the Borrower may from time to time request as provided in Section 2.2; provided, that, (a) the aggregate principal amount of all outstanding Committed Loans of any Lender shall not at any time exceed the amount set forth opposite such Lender's name on Schedule I (as reduced in accordance with Section 4.1, Section 12.4 or Section 12.9), (b) the aggregate principal amount of all outstanding Committed Loans of all Lenders shall not at any time exceed the then Aggregate Commitment, and (c) at no time shall there be more than 15 Committed Loans outstanding. Within the limits of this Section 2.1, the Borrower may from time to time borrow, prepay and reborrow Committed Loans on the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement.

Section 2.2. Procedure for Committed Loans.

- (a) <u>Committed Loan Requests</u>. The Borrower shall give the Agent irrevocable telephonic notice at the Notice Office (promptly confirmed in writing on the same day), not later than (i) 1:00 p.m., New York City time, at least three Business Days prior to the applicable Funding Date in the case of LIBOR Rate Loans or (ii) 10:00 a.m., New York City time, on the applicable Funding Date in the case of Base Rate Loans, of each requested Committed Loan, and the Agent shall promptly advise each Lender thereof. Each such notice to the Agent (a "<u>Committed Loan Request</u>") shall be substantially in the form of Exhibit A and shall specify (i) the Funding Date (which shall be a Business Day), (ii) the aggregate amount of the Committed Loans requested (in an amount permitted under clause (b) below), (iii) whether each Committed Loan shall be a LIBOR Rate Loan or a Base Rate Loan and (iv) if a LIBOR Rate Loan, the Loan Period therefor (subject to the limitations set forth in the definition of Loan Period). After giving effect to all Committed Loans, all Conversions of Committed Loans from one Type to the other and all Continuations of LIBOR Rate Loans, there shall not be more than ten Loan Periods in effect with respect to Committed Loans.
- (b) <u>Amount and Increments of Committed Loans</u>. Each Committed Loan Request shall contemplate Committed Loans in a minimum aggregate amount of \$10,000,000 or a higher integral multiple of \$1,000,000, not to exceed in the aggregate (for all requested Committed Loans) the excess of the then Aggregate Commitment over the aggregate principal amount of all outstanding Committed Loans, calculated as of the relevant Funding Date.

(c) <u>Funding of Committed Loans</u>.

- (i) Not later than 12:30 p.m., New York City time, on the applicable Funding Date of a Committed Loan, each Lender shall, subject to this Section 2.2(c), provide the Agent at its Notice Office with immediately available funds covering such Lender's Committed Loan and the Agent shall pay over such funds to the Borrower not later than 2:00 p.m., New York City time, on such day if the Agent shall have received the documents required under Section 9 with respect to such Committed Loan and the other conditions precedent to the making of such Committed Loan shall have been satisfied not later than 11:00 a.m., New York City time, on such day. If the Agent does not receive such documents or such other conditions precedent have not been satisfied prior to such time, then (A) the Agent shall not pay over such funds to the Borrower, (B) the Borrower's Committed Loan Request related to such Committed Loan shall be deemed cancelled in its entirety, (C) in the case of Committed Loan Requests relative to LIBOR Rate Loans, the Borrower shall be liable to each Lender in accordance with Section 6.4 and (D) the Agent shall return the amount previously provided to the Agent by each Lender on the next following Business Day.
- (ii) The Borrower agrees, notwithstanding its previous delivery of any documents required under Section 9 with respect to a particular Committed Loan, immediately to notify the Agent immediately of any failure by

it to satisfy the conditions precedent to the making of such Committed Loan. The Agent shall be entitled to assume, after it has received each of the documents required under Section 9 with respect to a particular Committed Loan, that each of the conditions precedent to the making of such Committed Loan has been satisfied absent actual knowledge to the contrary received by the Agent prior to the time of the receipt of such documents. Unless the Agent shall have notified the Lenders prior to 11:30 a.m., New York City time, on the applicable Funding Date of any Committed Loan that the Agent has actual knowledge that the conditions precedent to the making of such Committed Loan have not been satisfied, the Lenders shall be entitled to assume that such conditions precedent have been satisfied.

(d) Repayment of Committed Loans. If any Lender is to make a Committed Loan hereunder on a day on which the Borrower is to repay (or has elected to prepay, pursuant to Section 4.2) all or any part of any outstanding Committed Loan held by such Lender, the proceeds of such new Committed Loan shall be applied to make such repayment and only an amount equal to the positive difference, if any, between the amount being borrowed and the amount being repaid shall be requested by the Agent to be made available by such Lender to the Agent as provided in Section 2.2(c).

Section 2.3. <u>Maturity of Committed Loans</u>. Except for a Base Rate Loan, which shall mature on the Termination Date, a Committed Loan made by a Lender shall

mature on the last day of the Loan Period applicable to such Committed Loan, but in no event later than the Termination Date for such Lender; <u>provided</u>, that, a LIBOR Rate Loan that would otherwise mature at the end of a Loan Period may instead be Converted to a Base Rate Loan or Continued as a LIBOR Rate Loan for a new Loan Period pursuant to Section 2.4 or become a Base Rate Loan at the end of such Loan Period pursuant to Section 3.13.3(b).

Section 2.4. Optional Conversion or Continuation of Committed Loans. The Borrower may on any Business Day, upon notice given to the Agent not later than 1:00 p.m. (New York City time) on the third Business Day prior to the date of the proposed Conversion or Continuation and subject to the provisions of Sections 3.13.3, Convert all Committed Loans of one Type comprising the same borrowing hereunder into Committed Loans of the other Type or Continue all LIBOR Rate Loans comprising the same borrowing hereunder for a new Loan Period; provided, however, that any Conversion of LIBOR Rate Loans into Base Rate Loans and any Continuation of LIBOR Rate Loans for a new Loan Period shall be made only (a) on the last day of a Loan Period for such LIBOR Rate Loans or (b) on any day other than the last day of a Loan Period for such LIBOR Rate Loans so long as the Borrower pays the amounts payable pursuant to Section 6.4(a), any Conversion of Base Rate Loans into LIBOR Rate Loans or Continuation of LIBOR Rate Loans shall be in an amount not less than the minimum amount specified in Section 2.2(b) and no Conversion or Continuation of any Committed Loans shall result in more separate Committed Loans than permitted under Section 2.2(a); provided, further, that upon the occurrence and during the continuance of any Event of Default no Conversion of Base Rate Loans into LIBOR Rate Loans or Continuation of LIBOR Rate Loans for a new Loan Period shall be permitted. Each such notice of a Conversion or Continuation shall, within the restrictions specified above, specify (i) the date of such Conversion or Continuation, (ii) the Committed Loans to be Converted or Continued, and (iii) if such Conversion is into LIBOR Rate Loans or if such notice is of a Continuation of LIBOR Rate Loans, the duration of the initial (or Continued) Loan Period for each such Committed Loan. Each notice of Conversion or Continuation shall be irrevocable and binding on the Borrower. If the Borrower does not deliver a timely notice of Continuation with respect to any LIBOR Rate Loan prior to the end of the Loan Period applicable thereto, (x) unless an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, then such LIBOR Rate Loan shall be Continued as a LIBOR Rate Loan with a Loan Period of one month's duration and (y) if an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, then such LIBOR Rate Loan shall be Converted into a Base Rate Loan, in each case unless such LIBOR Rate Loan is repaid at the end of such Loan Period.

SECTION 3. INTEREST AND FEES

Section 3.1. <u>Interest Rates</u>. The Borrower hereby promises to pay interest on the unpaid principal amount of each Committed Loan for the period

commencing on the applicable Funding Date for such Committed Loan until such Committed Loan is paid in full, as follows:

- (a) if such Committed Loan is a Base Rate Loan, at a rate per annum equal to the Base Rate from time to time in effect; provided, however, that upon the occurrence and during the continuance of any Event of Default, such Committed Loan that is a Base Rate Loan shall bear interest on the unpaid principal amount thereof at a rate per annum (calculated on the basis of a 365-day year for the actual number of days elapsed) equal to the Base Rate from time to time in effect plus 2.00% per annum; and
- (b) if such Committed Loan is a LIBOR Rate Loan, at a rate per annum equal to the LIBOR Rate applicable to the Loan Period for such <u>Committed</u> Loan;

provided, however, that upon the occurrence and during the continuance of all or a portion of the principal amount of any Event of Default, such Committed Loan that is a LIBOR Rate Loan shall, at the end of the applicable Loan Period then in effect, or any interest payable thereon or any fee payable hereunder shall not be paid when due, such overdue amount shall bear interest on the unpaid principal amount thereof at a rate per annum (calculated on the basis of a 360-day year for the actual number of days involved) equal to the Base Rate from time to time in effect (but not less thanthat is equal to (x) in the case of overdue principal, the rate that would otherwise be applicable thereto as set forth above plus 2.00% per annum, (y) in the case of overdue interest rate in effect for such on any Committed Loan-immediately prior, the rate that would otherwise be applicable to maturity of such Committed Loan) as set forth above plus 2.00% per annum or (z) in the case of any overdue fee payable hereunder, the rate described in Section 3.1(a) plus 2.00% per annum, in each case, from the date of occurrence of an Event of Default as a result of such failure to pay to the date on which such amount is paid in full.

Section 3.2. Interest Payment Dates. Except for Base Rate Loans, as to which accrued interest shall be payable on the last day of each calendar quarter and on the Termination Date, accrued interest on each Committed Loan shall be payable in arrears on the last day of the one-week or one, two or, three or six month, as applicable, Loan Period therefor and with respect to each LIBOR Rate Loan with a Loan Period of six months, on the day that is three months after the first day of such Loan Period (or, if there is no day in such third month numerically corresponding to such first day of the Loan Period, on the last Business Day of such month). Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of any Event of Default, accrued interest on any Committed Loan shall be payable on demand. If any interest payment date falls on a day that is not a Business Day, such interest payment date shall be postponed to the next succeeding Business Day and the interest paid shall cover the period of postponement (except that if the Committed Loan is a LIBOR Rate Loan with a Loan Period of one month or longer and the next succeeding Business Day falls in the next succeeding calendar month, such interest payment date shall be the immediately preceding Business Day).

Section 3.3. <u>Setting and Notice of Committed Loan Rates</u>.

- (a) The applicable interest rate for each Committed Loan hereunder shall be determined by the Agent in accordance with this Agreement and notice thereof shall be given by the Agent promptly to the Borrower and to each Lender. Each determination of the applicable interest rate by the Agent shall be conclusive and binding upon the parties hereto in the absence of demonstrable error.
- (b) In the case of LIBOR Rate Loans, if as to any Loan Period the Screen Rate is not available and the substitute or successor pages or screens are also unavailable, then (i) the Agent shall promptly notify the other parties thereof and (ii) at the option of the Borrower the Committed Loan Request delivered by the Borrower pursuant to Section 2.2(a) with respect to such Funding Date shall be cancelled or shall be deemed to have specified a Base Rate Loan. For the avoidance of doubt, in the circumstances described in the immediately preceding sentence, the obligation of the Lenders to make or Continue LIBOR Rate Loans or to Convert Base Rate Loans into LIBOR Rate Loans shall be suspended until the Agent shall notify the Company and the Lenders that the circumstances causing such suspension no longer exist (which notice shall be provided by the Agent promptly upon such circumstances ceasing to exist).
- (c) The Agent shall, upon written request of the Borrower or any Lender, deliver to the Borrower or such Lender a statement showing the computations used by the Agent in determining the interest rate applicable to any LIBOR Rate Loan.
- Section 3.4. <u>Commitment Fee.</u> The Borrower agrees to pay to the Agent for the accounts of the Lenders <u>pro rata</u> in accordance with their respective Percentages an annual commitment fee computed by multiplying the average daily amount of the unused Aggregate Commitment by the applicable percentage determined with respect to such commitment fee in accordance with Schedule II hereto. Such fee shall commence accruing on the Closing Date and shall be payable quarterly in arrears on the last Business Day of March, June, September and December of each year (beginning with the last Business Day of the first full calendar quarter ending after the Closing Date) until the Commitments have expired or have been terminated and on the date of such expiration or termination (and, in the case of any Terminating Lender, such Lender's Termination Date), in each case for the period then ending for which such commitment fee has not previously been paid; <u>provided</u>, that, no Defaulting Lender shall be entitled to receive any commitment fee in respect of its Commitment for any period during which that Lender is a Defaulting Lender (and the Borrower shall not be required to pay such fee that otherwise would have been required to have been paid to that Defaulting Lender).
- Section 3.5. <u>Agent's Fees</u>. The Borrower agrees promptly to pay to the Agent such fees as may be agreed from time to time by the Borrower, the Company and the Agent.

- Section 3.6. <u>Computation of Interest and Fees</u>. All interest and commitment fees hereunder shall be computed for the actual number of days elapsed on the basis of a 360-day year; <u>provided</u> that, for any period when the Base Rate is determined based on clause (b) of the definition of Base Rate, all interest accruing at the Base Rate for such period shall be computed for the actual number of days elapsed on the basis of a 365/366 day year. The interest rate applicable to each LIBOR Rate Loan and Base Rate Loan shall change simultaneously with each change in the LIBOR Rate or the Base Rate, as applicable.
 - SECTION 4. REDUCTION OR TERMINATION OF THE COMMITMENTS; PREPAYMENTS; DEFAULTING LENDERS; INCREASE OF COMMITMENTS
 - Section 4.1. Voluntary Termination or Reduction of the Commitments.
- 3three Business Days' prior notice received by the Agent (which shall promptly on the same day or on the next Business Day advise each Lender thereof) permanently reduce the amount of the Commitments (such reduction to be pro rata among the Lenders according to their respective Percentages) to an amount not less than the aggregate principal amount of all outstanding Committed Loans. Any such reduction shall be in the amount of \$5,000,000 or an integral multiple of \$1,000,000 in excess thereof. Concurrently with any such reduction, the Borrower shall prepay the principal of any Committed Loans outstanding to the extent that the aggregate amount of such Committed Loans outstanding shall then exceed the Aggregate Commitment, as so reduced. The Borrower may from time to time on like notice terminate the Commitments upon payment in full of all Committed Loans, all interest accrued thereon, all fees and all other obligations of the Borrower hereunder. Any notice of reduction or termination in full of the Commitments hereunder may state that such notice is conditioned upon the effectiveness of other credit facilities or capital raising, in which case such notice may be revoked by the Borrower (by notice to the Agent on or prior to the specified effective date) if such condition is not satisfied.
- (b) Termination of Defaulting Lender. The Borrower shall be entitled at any time to (i) terminate the unused Commitment of any Lender that is a Defaulting Lender (the "Defaulted Commitments") upon prior notice of not less than one Business Day to the Agent (which shall promptly notify the Lenders thereof), and/or (ii) replace all of the Commitments or the Defaulted Commitments of any Lender that is a Defaulting Lender with Commitments of a Successor Lender, provided, that, (x) each such assignment shall be either an assignment of all of the rights and obligations of the Defaulting Lender under this Agreement or an assignment of a portion of such rights and obligations made concurrently with another such assignment or other such assignments that together cover all of the rights and obligations of the Defaulting Lender under this Agreement with respect to all of the Commitments or the Defaulted Commitments, as the case may be, and (y) concurrently with such assignment, either the Borrower or one or more Successor Lenders shall pay for the account of such Defaulting Lender an aggregate amount at least equal to the aggregate outstanding principal amount

of the Committed Loans owing to such Defaulting Lender, together with accrued interest thereon to the date of payment of such principal amount and all other amounts payable to such Defaulting Lender under this Agreement. In either such event, the provisions of Section 4.3 shall apply to all amounts thereafter paid by the Borrower or such Successor Lender for the account of such Defaulting Lender under this Agreement (whether on account of principal, interest, commitment fees or other amounts), provided, that, such termination or assignment shall not be deemed to be a waiver or release of any claim the Borrower, the Agent, or any Lender may have against such Defaulting Lender.

Section 4.2. <u>Voluntary Prepayments</u>. The Borrower may voluntarily prepay Committed Loans without premium or penalty, except as may be required pursuant to subsection (d) below, in whole or in part; <u>provided</u>, that, (a) each prepayment shall be in an aggregate principal amount of \$5,000,000 or an integral multiple of \$1,000,000 in excess thereof, (b) the Borrower shall give the Agent at its Notice Office (which shall promptly advise each Lender), not later than (i) 1:00 p.m., New York City time, at least two Business Days' prior notice thereof for prepayments of LIBOR Rate Loans or (ii) 11:00 a.m., New York City time, same day notice thereof for prepayments of Base Rate Loans, specifying the Committed Loans to be prepaid and the date and amount of prepayment, (c) any prepayment of principal of any Committed Loan shall include accrued interest to the date of prepayment on the principal amount being prepaid and (d) any prepayment of a LIBOR Rate Loan shall be subject to the provisions of Section 6.4. Any notice of prepayment in full of all Committed Loans hereunder or reduction of Commitments in full may state that such notice is conditioned upon the effectiveness of other credit facilities or capital raising, in which case such notice may be revoked by the Borrower (by notice to the Agent on or prior to the specified effective date) if such condition is not satisfied.

Section 4.3. <u>Defaulting Lenders</u>.

- (a) No Commitment of any Lender shall be increased or otherwise affected, and, except as otherwise expressly provided in this Section 4.3 or otherwise specifically provided herein, performance by the Borrower of its obligations shall not be excused or otherwise modified as a result of the operation of this Section 4.3. The rights and remedies against a Defaulting Lender under this Section 4.3 are in addition to any other rights and remedies which the Borrower, the Agent or any Lender may have against such Defaulting Lender.
- (b) If the Borrower and the Agent agree in writing in their reasonable determination that a Defaulting Lender should no longer be deemed to be a Defaulting Lender, the Agent will so notify the parties hereto, whereupon as of the effective date specified in such notice and subject to any conditions set forth therein, that Lender will, to the extent applicable, purchase at par that portion of outstanding Committed Loans of the other Lenders, assume Commitments on a pro rata basis or take such other actions as the Agent may determine to be necessary to cause the outstanding borrowings of Committed Loans or Commitments to be held on a pro rata basis by the Lenders in accordance with their respective Percentages, whereupon such Lender will cease to be a Defaulting Lender; provided, that, no adjustments will be made

retroactively or with duplication with respect to fees accrued or payments made by or on behalf of the Borrower while that Lender was a Defaulting Lender; and <u>provided</u>, <u>further</u>, that except to the extent otherwise expressly agreed by the affected parties, no change hereunder from Defaulting Lender to Lender will constitute a waiver or release of any claim of any party hereunder arising from such Lender's having been a Defaulting Lender.

(c) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, any payment of principal, interest, commitment fees or other amounts received by the Agent for the account of any Defaulting Lender under this Agreement (whether voluntary or mandatory, at maturity or otherwise) shall be applied at such time or times as may be determined by the Agent as follows: first, to the payment of any amounts owing by such Defaulting Lender to the Agent hereunder; second, as the Borrower may request (so long as no Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing), to the funding of any Committed Loan in respect of which that Defaulting Lender has failed to fund its portion thereof as required by this Agreement, as determined by the Agent; third, to the payment of any amounts owing to the Lenders as a result of any judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction obtained by any Lender against such Defaulting Lender as a result of such Defaulting Lender's breach of its obligations under this Agreement; fourth, so long as no Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, to the payment of any amounts owing to the Borrower as a result of any iudgment of a court of competent jurisdiction obtained by the Borrower against such Defaulting Lender as a result of such Defaulting Lender's breach of its obligations under this Agreement; and fifth, to such Defaulting Lender or as otherwise directed by a court of competent jurisdiction; provided, that, if (x) such payment is a payment of the principal amount of any Committed Loan in respect of which such Defaulting Lender has not fully funded its appropriate share, and (y) such Committed Loans were made at a time when the applicable conditions set forth in Section 9 were satisfied or waived, such payment shall be applied solely to pay the Committed Loans of all Non-Defaulting Lenders on a pro rata basis prior to being applied to the payment of any Committed Loans of such Defaulting Lender and provided, further, that any amounts held as cash collateral for funding obligations of a Defaulting Lender shall be returned to such Defaulting Lender upon the termination of this Agreement and the satisfaction of such Defaulting Lender's obligations hereunder. Any payments, prepayments or other amounts paid or payable to a Defaulting Lender that are applied (or held) to pay amounts owed by a Defaulting Lender or to post cash collateral pursuant to this Section 4.3 shall be deemed paid to and redirected by such Defaulting Lender, and each Lender irrevocably consents hereto.

Section 4.4. Increase of Commitments.

- (a) The Borrower shall have the right at any time after the Closing Date to increase the aggregate Commitments hereunder in accordance with the following provisions and subject to the following conditions:
 - (i) The Borrower shall give the Administrative Agent, which shall promptly deliver a copy thereof to each of the Lenders, at least three Business Days' (or such lesser period as the Administrative Agent may reasonably agree) prior written notice (a "Notice of Increase") of any such requested increase specifying the aggregate amount by which the

Commitments are to be increased (the "Requested Increase Amount"), which shall be at least \$5,000,000 and in increments of \$1,000,000 thereafter, and the requested date of increase (the "Requested Increase Date"). The Borrower may, but shall not be obligated to, offer to any Lender the right to provide all or any portion of the Requested Increase Amount. No Lender shall have any obligation whatsoever to offer to increase its Commitment by an amount specified by the Borrower or otherwise nor shall the Borrower be obligated to accept any offer by an existing Lender to provide all or any portion of the Requested Increase Amount. Any Lender that so offers to increase its Commitment, which increase is accepted by the Borrower, is herein called an "Increasing Lender".

- (ii) If the aggregate amount of the increases offered and accepted pursuant to clause (i) above, if any, is less than the Requested Increase Amount, the Borrower may, through the Administrative Agent, offer the balance of the Requested Increase Amount to one or more Eligible Assignees; <u>provided</u> that the Commitment to be acquired hereunder by any such Eligible Assignee shall not be less than \$1,000,000. Any such Eligible Assignee that agrees to acquire a Commitment pursuant hereto is herein called an "<u>Additional Lender</u>".
- (iii) Effective on the Requested Increase Date, subject to the terms and conditions hereof, (x) Schedule I shall be deemed amended to reflect the increases contemplated hereby, (y) the Commitment of each Increasing Lender shall be increased by the amount agreed by such Increasing Lender and the Borrower, and (z) each Additional Lender shall enter into an agreement in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent pursuant to which it shall undertake, as of such Requested Increase Date, a new Commitment in the amount determined pursuant to clause (ii) above, and such Additional Lender shall thereupon be deemed to be a Lender for all purposes of this Agreement.
- (iv) If on the Requested Increase Date there are borrowings of Committed Loans outstanding hereunder, appropriate adjustments shall be made (by the making of borrowings of Committed Loans by the Increasing Lenders and the Additional Lenders and/or the prepayment of outstanding borrowings of Committed Loans) as necessary to cause the outstanding borrowings of Committed Loans to be held ratably by all Lenders.
- (b) Anything in this Section 4.4 to the contrary notwithstanding, no increase in the aggregate Commitments hereunder pursuant to this Section shall be effective unless:
 - (i) on the relevant Requested Increase Date and after giving effect to such increase, (x) no Unmatured Event of Default under Section 10.1.1 or 10.1.3 or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing and (y) the representations and warranties contained in Section 7 (other than those contained in Section 7.5) shall be true and correct in all material respects as of the Requested Increase Date and after giving effect thereto, with the same effect as though made on the Requested Increase Date, except to the extent such representations and warranties expressly relate to an earlier date, in which case such representations and warranties shall have been true and correct in all material respects as of such earlier date; and

(ii) after giving effect to any such increase, the aggregate amount of the Commitments shall not exceed \$4,500,000,000.

SECTION 5. MAKING AND PRORATION OF PAYMENTS; SET-OFF; TAXES

Section 5.1. Making of Payments. Except as provided in Section 2.2(d), payments (including those made pursuant to Section 4.1) of principal of, or interest on, the Committed Loans and all payments of fees and any other payments required to be made by the Borrower to the Agent hereunder shall be made by the Borrower to the Agent in immediately available funds, without set-off or counterclaim, at its Payment Office not later than 12:00 Noon, New York City time, on the date due; and funds received after that hour shall be deemed to have been received by the Agent on the next following Business Day. Subject to Sections 3.4 and 4.3, the Agent shall promptly remit to each Lender its share (if any) of each such payment. All payments under Section 6 and all payments required to be made hereunder to any Person other than the Agent shall be made by the Borrower when due directly to the Persons entitled thereto in immediately available funds.

Section 5.2. <u>Pro Rata Treatment; Sharing.</u>

- (a) Except as required pursuant to Section 3.4, Section 4.3, Section 6 or Section 12.9, each payment or prepayment of principal of any Committed Loans, each payment of interest on the Committed Loans and each payment of the commitment fee shall be allocated <u>pro rata</u> among the Lenders in accordance with their respective Percentages.
- (b) If any Lender or other holder of a Committed Loan shall obtain any payment or other recovery (whether voluntary, involuntary, by application of offset or otherwise) on account of principal of, interest on or fees or other amounts with respect to any Committed Loan in excess of the share of payments and other recoveries (exclusive of payments or recoveries under Section 6 or pursuant to Section 12.9) such Lender or other holder would have received if such payment had been distributed pursuant to the provisions of Section 5.2(a), such Lender or other holder shall purchase from the other Lenders or holders, in a manner to be specified by the Agent, such participations in the Committed Loans held by them as shall be necessary so that all such payments of principal and interest with respect to the Committed Loans shall be shared by the Lenders and other holders <u>pro rata</u> in accordance with their respective Percentages; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that if all or any portion of the excess payment or other recovery is thereafter recovered from such purchasing Lender or holder, the purchase shall be rescinded and the purchase price restored to the extent of such recovery, but without interest.

Section 5.3. <u>Set-off.</u> Each Obligor agrees that the Agent, each Lender and any of their respective branches or agencies, to the extent permitted by applicable law, has all rights of set-off and banker's lien provided by applicable law, and each Obligor further agrees that at any time, (i) any amount owing by any Obligor under this Agreement is due to any such Person or (ii) any Event of Default exists, each such Person, to the

extent permitted by applicable law, may apply to the payment of any amount payable hereunder any and all balances, credits, deposits, accounts or moneys of such Obligor then or thereafter with such Person.

- Section 5.4. Taxes. (a) Payments Free of Taxes. Any and all payments by or on account of any obligation of any Obligor under any Loan Document shall be made without deduction or withholding for any Taxes, except as required by applicable law. If any applicable law (as determined in the good faith discretion of an applicable withholding agent) requires the deduction or withholding of any Tax from any such payment by a withholding agent, then the applicable withholding agent shall be entitled to make such deduction or withholding and shall timely pay the full amount deducted or withheld to the relevant Governmental Authority in accordance with applicable law and, if such Tax is an Indemnified Tax, then the sum payable by the applicable Obligor shall be increased as necessary so that after such deduction or withholding has been made (including such deductions and withholdings applicable to additional sums payable under this Section) the applicable Recipient receives an amount equal to the sum it would have received had no such deduction or withholding been made.
- (b) <u>Payment of Other Taxes by the Borrower</u>. The Borrower shall timely pay to the relevant Governmental Authority in accordance with applicable law, or at the option of the Administrative Agent timely reimburse it for the payment of, any Other Taxes.
- (c) <u>Evidence of Payment</u>. As soon as practicable after any payment of Taxes by any Obligor to a Governmental Authority pursuant to this Section, the Borrower shall deliver to the Administrative Agent the original or a certified copy of a receipt issued by such Governmental Authority evidencing such payment, a copy of the return reporting such payment or other evidence of such payment reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent.
- (d) Indemnification by the Borrower. The Borrower shall indemnify each Recipient, within 10 days after demand therefor, for the full amount of any Indemnified Taxes (including Indemnified Taxes imposed or asserted on or attributable to amounts payable under this Section, but without duplication of increased amounts the Borrower has paid in respect of Taxes pursuant to Section 5.4(a)) a payable or paid by such Recipient or required to be withheld or deducted from a payment to such Recipient and any reasonable expenses arising therefrom or with respect thereto, whether or not such Indemnified Taxes were correctly or legally imposed or asserted by the relevant Governmental Authority. A certificate as to the amount of such payment or liability delivered to the Borrower by a Lender (with a copy to the Administrative Agent), or by the Administrative Agent on its own behalf or on behalf of a Lender, shall be conclusive absent manifest error.
- (e) <u>Indemnification by the Lenders</u>. Each Lender shall severally indemnify the Administrative Agent within 10 days after demand therefor, for (i) any Indemnified Taxes attributable to such Lender (but only to the extent that the Borrower has not already indemnified the Administrative Agent for such

Indemnified Taxes and without limiting the obligation of the Borrower to do so) and (ii) any Excluded Taxes attributable to such Lender, in each case, that are payable or paid by the Administrative Agent in connection with any Loan Document, and any reasonable expenses arising therefrom or with respect thereto, whether or not such Taxes were correctly or legally imposed or asserted by the relevant Governmental Authority. A certificate as to the amount of such payment or liability delivered to any Lender by the Administrative Agent shall be conclusive absent manifest error. Each Lender hereby authorizes the Administrative Agent to set off and apply any and all amounts at any time owing to such Lender under any Loan Document or otherwise payable by the Administrative Agent to the Lender from any other source against any amount due to the Administrative Agent under this paragraph.

- Status of Lenders. (i) (A) Each Lender shall certify in writing to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent (f) on or before the date it becomes a Lender that it is a Qualifying Lender (specifying which category of Qualifying Lender it is) and (B) any Lender that is entitled to benefit from an exemption from or reduction of withholding Tax with respect to payments made under this Agreement shall deliver to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent, at the time or times reasonably requested by the Borrower or the Administrative Agent, such properly completed and executed documentation reasonably requested by the Borrower or the Administrative Agent as will permit such payments to be made without withholding or at a reduced rate of withholding. In addition, any Lender, if reasonably requested by the Borrower or the Administrative Agent, shall deliver such other documentation prescribed by applicable law or reasonably requested by the Borrower or the Administrative Agent as will enable the Borrower or the Administrative Agent to determine whether or not such Lender is subject to backup withholding or information reporting requirements. In addition, any Lender, if reasonably requested by the Borrower or the Administrative Agent, shall deliver such other documentation to the Borrower as will enable the Borrower to comply with the provisions of Sections 891A, 891E, 891F and 891G of the Taxes Consolidation Act 1997 of Ireland. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the preceding two sentences, the completion, execution and submission of such documentation (other than such documentation set forth in Section 5.4(f)(ii) below) shall not be required if in the Lender's reasonable judgment such completion, execution or submission would subject such Lender to any material unreimbursed cost or expense or would materially prejudice the legal or commercial position of such Lender.
- (ii) Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, if a payment made to a Lender under this Agreement would be subject to U.S. Federal withholding Tax imposed by FATCA if such Lender were to fail to comply with the applicable reporting requirements of FATCA (including those contained in Section 1471(b) or 1472(b) of the Code, as applicable), such Lender shall deliver to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent at the time or times prescribed by law and at such time or times reasonably requested by the Borrower or the Administrative Agent such documentation prescribed by applicable law (including as prescribed by Section 1471(b)(3)(C)(i) of the Code) and such additional documentation reasonably requested by the Borrower or the Administrative Agent as may be necessary for the Borrower and the Administrative Agent to comply with their obligations under FATCA and to determine that such Lender has complied with such

Lender's obligations under FATCA or to determine the amount to deduct and withhold from such payment. Solely for purposes of this clause (ii), "FATCA" shall include any amendments made to FATCA after the date of this Agreement.

- (iii) Each Lender agrees (A) that if any form, certification or representation it previously delivered expires or becomes obsolete or inaccurate in any respect, it shall update such form, certification or representation or promptly notify the Borrower and the Administrative Agent in writing of its legal inability to do so; and (B) if it no longer qualifies as a Qualifying Lender after the date it becomes a Lender, it will promptly notify the Borrower and the Administrative Agent in writing.
- If any party determines, in its sole discretion exercised in good faith, that it has received a refund of any Taxes as to which it has been indemnified pursuant to this Section (including by the payment of additional amounts pursuant to this Section), it shall pay to the indemnifying party an amount equal to such refund (but only to the extent of indemnity payments made under this Section with respect to the Taxes giving rise to such refund), net of all out-of-pocket expenses (including Taxes) of such indemnified party and without interest (other than any interest paid by the relevant Governmental Authority with respect to such refund). Such indemnifying party, upon the request of such indemnified party, shall repay to such indemnified party the amount paid over pursuant to this paragraph (plus any penalties, interest or other charges imposed by the relevant Governmental Authority) in the event that such indemnified party is required to repay such refund to such Governmental Authority. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this paragraph, in no event will the indemnified party be required to pay any amount to an indemnifying party pursuant to this paragraph the payment of which would place the indemnified party in a less favorable net after-Tax position than the indemnified party would have been in if the Tax subject to indemnification and giving rise to such refund had not been deducted, withheld or otherwise imposed and the indemnification payments or additional amounts with respect to such Tax had never been paid. This paragraph shall not be construed to require any indemnified party to make available its Tax returns (or any other information relating to its Taxes that it deems confidential) to the indemnifying party or any other Person.
- (h) <u>Indemnification of Borrower</u>. Each Lender shall severally indemnify the Borrower within 10 Business Days after written demand with adequate supporting documentation for any Excluded Tax actually paid by the Borrower to a governmental entity solely and directly attributable to such Lender's failure to comply with Section 5.4(f)(i)(A) or Section 5.4(f)(iii)(B) as it relates to the certification provided in Section 5.4(f)(i)(A) to the extent that such amounts were also paid to the Lender in error pursuant to Section 5.4(a).
- (i) <u>Survival</u>. Each party's obligations under this Section 5.4 shall survive the resignation or replacement of the Administrative Agent or any assignment of rights by, or the replacement of, a Lender, the termination of the Commitments and the repayment, satisfaction or discharge of all obligations under any Loan Document.

SECTION 6. INCREASED COSTS AND SPECIAL PROVISIONS FOR LIBOR RATE LOANS

- Section 6.1. <u>Increased Costs.</u> (a) If after the date hereof, the adoption of any applicable law, rule or regulation, or any change therein, or any change in the interpretation or administration thereof by any Governmental Authority, central bank or comparable agency charged with the interpretation or administration thereof, or the making or issuance of any request or directive (whether or not having the force of law) of any such authority, central bank or comparable agency and compliance by any Lender (or any Funding Office of such Lender) therewith, then, subject to the provisions of Section 5.4, which shall provide the sole source of additional amounts payable to any Lender with respect to the matters covered therein,
- (A) shall subject any Lender (or any Funding Office of such Lender) to any Taxes with respect to its LIBOR Rate Loans (except for (i) Indemnified Taxes, (ii) Taxes described in clauses (b) through (d) of the definition of Excluded Taxes and (iii) Connection Income Taxes);
- (B) shall impose, modify or deem applicable any reserve (including any reserve imposed by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, but excluding any reserve included in the determination of interest pursuant to Section 3.1), special deposit, assessment (including any assessment for insurance of deposits) or similar requirement against assets of, deposits with or for the account of, or credit extended by, any Lender (or any Funding Office of such Lender); or
- (C) shall impose on any Lender (or any Funding Office of such Lender) any other condition affecting its LIBOR Rate Loans, its Committed Notes or its obligation to make or maintain LIBOR Rate Loans;

and the result of any of the foregoing is to increase the cost to (or to impose an additional cost on) such Lender (or any Funding Office of such Lender) of making, converting to, continuing or maintaining any LIBOR Rate Loan, or to reduce the amount of any sum received or receivable by such Lender (or such Lender's Funding Office) under this Agreement or under its Committed Notes with respect thereto, then within 10 days after demand by such Lender (which demand shall be accompanied by a statement setting forth the basis of such demand), the Borrower shall pay directly to such Lender such additional amount or amounts as will compensate such Lender for such increased cost or such reduction (without duplication of any amounts which have been paid or reimbursed).

(b) If, after the date hereof, any Lender shall determine that the adoption, effectiveness or phase-in of any applicable law, rule, guideline or regulation regarding capital adequacy or liquidity requirements, or any change therein, or any change in the interpretation or administration thereof by any Governmental Authority, central bank or comparable agency charged with the interpretation or administration thereof, or the making or issuance of any request or directive regarding capital adequacy or liquidity requirements (whether or not having the force of law) of any such authority, central bank or comparable agency and compliance by any Lender (or any Funding Office of such Lender or

such Lender's holding company) therewith, has or would have the effect of reducing the rate of return on the capital of such Lender or such Lender's holding company as a consequence of its obligations hereunder to a level below that which such Lender or such Lender's holding company could have achieved but for such adoption, change or compliance (taking into consideration such Lender's or such Lender's holding company's policies with respect to capital adequacy or liquidity requirements), then, from time to time, within 10 days after demand by such Lender (which demand shall be accompanied by a statement setting forth the basis of such demand), the Borrower shall pay directly to such Lender such additional amount or amounts as will compensate such Lender or such Lender's holding company for such reduction.

- (c) Each Lender shall promptly notify the Borrower and the Agent of any event of which it has knowledge, occurring after the date hereof, which will entitle such Lender to compensation pursuant to this Section 6.1 and will designate a different Funding Office if such designation will avoid the need for, or reduce the amount of, such compensation and will not, in such Lender's sole judgment, be otherwise disadvantageous to such Lender. The Borrower shall not be required to compensate a Lender pursuant to this Section 6.1 for any increased costs incurred or reductions suffered more than nine months prior to the date that such Lender notifies the Borrower of the change in law or other event occurring after the date hereof giving rise to such increased costs or reductions, and of such Lender's intention to claim compensation therefor (except that, if the change in law or other such event is retroactive, then the nine month period referred to above shall be extended to include the period of retroactive effect thereof).
- (d) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, it is understood and agreed that any changes resulting from requests, rules, guidelines or directives (x) issued in connection with the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act or (y) promulgated by the Bank for International Settlements, the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (or any successor or similar authority) or the United States or foreign regulatory authorities, in each case pursuant to Basel III) shall, for the purposes of this Agreement, be deemed to be adopted subsequent to the date hereof; provided, however, that no Lender shall be entitled to receive any compensation or reimbursement hereunder with respect to any such changes unless such requirements are generally applicable to (and for which reimbursement is generally being sought by the applicable Lender in respect of) credit transactions similar to this transaction from borrowers similarly situated to the Borrower; provided, further, that no Lender shall be required to disclose any confidential or proprietary information in connection therewith.

Section 6.2. <u>Basis for Determining Interest Rate Inadequate or Unfair Benchmark Replacement</u>. <u>If with respect to the Loan Period for any LIBOR Rate Loan:</u>

(i) the Screen Rate is not available and the substitute or successor pages or screens are also unavailable for such Loan Period, or the Agent otherwise determines (which determination shall be binding and conclusive on all parties) that, by reason of circumstances affecting the Base LIBOR market, adequate and reasonable means do not exist for ascertaining the applicable LIBOR Rate; or.

Benchmark Replacement. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in any other Loan Document, if a Benchmark Transition Event or an Early Opt-in Election, as applicable, and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred prior to the Reference Time in respect of any setting of the then-current Benchmark, then (x) if a Benchmark Replacement is determined in accordance with clause (1) or (2) of the definition of "Benchmark Replacement" for such Benchmark Replacement Date, such Benchmark Replacement will replace such Benchmark for all purposes hereunder and under any Loan Document in respect of such Benchmark setting and subsequent Benchmark settings without any amendment to, or further action or consent of any other party to, this Agreement or any other Loan Document and (y) if a Benchmark Replacement is determined in accordance with clause (3) of the definition of "Benchmark Replacement" for such Benchmark Replacement Date, such Benchmark Replacement will replace such Benchmark for all purposes hereunder and under any Loan Document in respect of any Benchmark setting at or after 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the fifth Business Day after the date notice of such Benchmark Replacement is provided to the Lenders without any amendment to, or further action or consent of any other party to, this Agreement or any other Loan Document so long as the Administrative Agent has not received, by such time, written notice of objection to such Benchmark Replacement from Lenders comprising the Required Lenders. If (i) a Benchmark Replacement Date has occurred for Base LIBOR and the applicable Benchmark Replacement on such Benchmark Replacement Date for Base LIBOR is a Benchmark Replacement other than the sum of: (a) Term SOFR and (b) the related Benchmark Replacement Adjustment, (ii) subsequently, the Relevant Governmental Body recommends for use a forward-looking term rate based on SOFR for loans denominated in Dollars and the Borrower requests that the Administrative Agent review the administrative feasibility of such recommended forward-looking term rate for purposes of this Agreement and (iii) following such request from the Borrower, the Administrative Agent determines (in its sole discretion after consultation with the Borrower) that such forward looking term rate is administratively feasible for the Administrative Agent, then the Administrative Agent may (in its sole discretion after consultation with the Borrower) provide the Borrower and Lenders with written notice that from and after a date identified in such notice: (i) a Benchmark Replacement Date shall be deemed to have occurred, the Benchmark Replacement on such Benchmark Replacement Date shall be deemed to be a Benchmark Replacement determined in accordance with clause (1) of the definition of "Benchmark Replacement"; provided, however, that if upon such Benchmark Replacement Date the Benchmark Replacement Adjustment is unable to be determined in accordance with clause (1) of the definition of "Benchmark Replacement" and the corresponding definition of "Benchmark Replacement Adjustment", then the Benchmark Replacement Adjustment in effect immediately prior to such new Benchmark Replacement Date shall be utilized for purposes of this Benchmark Replacement (for avoidance of doubt, for purposes of this proviso, such Benchmark Replacement Adjustment shall be the Benchmark Replacement Adjustment which was established in accordance with the definition of "Benchmark Replacement Adjustment" on the date determined in accordance with clause (1) or (2), as applicable, of the definition of "Benchmark Replacement Date" hereunder) and (ii) such forward looking term rate shall be deemed to be the forward looking term rate referenced in the definition of "Term SOFR" for all purposes hereunder or under any Loan **Document in respect of**

any Benchmark setting and any subsequent Benchmark settings, without any amendment to, or further action or consent of any other party to, this Agreement or any other Loan Document. For the avoidance of doubt, if the circumstances described in the immediately preceding sentence shall occur, all applicable provisions set forth in this Section 6.2 shall apply with respect to such election of the Administrative Agent as completely as if such forward-looking term rate was initially determined in accordance with clause (1) of the definition of "Benchmark Replacement", including the provisions set forth in Sections 6.2(b) and 6.2(f).

- (b) Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes. In connection with the implementation of a Benchmark Replacement, the Administrative Agent will have the right to make Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes from time to time and, notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in any other Loan Document, any amendments implementing such Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes will become effective without any further action or consent of any other party to this Agreement or any other Loan Document.
- (c) Notices; Standards for Decisions and Determinations. The Administrative Agent will promptly notify the Borrower and the Lenders of (i) any Benchmark Replacement Date and the related Benchmark Replacement, (ii) the effectiveness of any Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes, (iii) the removal or reinstatement of any tenor of a Benchmark pursuant to clause (d) below and (iv) the commencement of any Benchmark Unavailability Period. For the avoidance of doubt, any notice required to be delivered by the Administrative Agent as set forth in this Section 6.2 may be provided, at the option of the Administrative Agent (in its sole discretion), in one or more notices and may be delivered together with, or as part of any amendment which implements any Benchmark Replacement or Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes. Any determination, decision or election that may be made by the Administrative Agent or, if applicable, any Lender (or group of Lenders) pursuant to this Section 6.2, including any determination with respect to a tenor, rate or adjustment or of the occurrence or non-occurrence of an event, circumstance or date and any decision to take or refrain from taking any action or any selection, will be conclusive and binding absent manifest error and may be made in its or their sole discretion and without consent from any other party to this Agreement or any other Loan Document, except, in each case, as expressly required pursuant to this Section 6.2.
- other Loan Document, at any time (including in connection with the implementation of a Benchmark Replacement), (i) if the then-current Benchmark is a term rate (including Term SOFR or Base LIBOR) and either (A) any tenor for such Benchmark is not displayed on a screen or other information service that publishes such rate from time to time as selected by the Administrative Agent in its reasonable discretion or (B) the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of such Benchmark has provided a public statement or publication of information announcing that any tenor for such Benchmark is or will be no longer representative, then the Administrative Agent may modify the definition of "Loan Period" for any Benchmark settings at or after such time to remove such unavailable or non-representative tenor and (ii) if a tenor that was removed

pursuant to clause (i) above either (A) is subsequently displayed on a screen or information service for a Benchmark (including a Benchmark Replacement) or (B) is not, or is no longer, subject to an announcement that it is or will no longer be representative for a Benchmark (including a Benchmark Replacement), then the Administrative Agent may modify the definition of "Loan Period" for all Benchmark settings at or after such time to reinstate such previously removed tenor.

- (e) Benchmark Unavailability Period. Upon the Borrower's receipt of notice of the commencement of a Benchmark Unavailability Period, the Borrower may revoke any request for a borrowing of LIBOR Rate Loans, or Conversion to or Continuation of LIBOR Rate Loans to be made, Converted or Continued, during any Benchmark Unavailability Period and, failing that, the Borrower will be deemed to have Converted any such request into a request for a borrowing of or Conversion to Base Rate Loans. During any Benchmark Unavailability Period or at any time that a tenor for the then-current Benchmark is not an Available Tenor, the component of Base Rate based upon the then-current Benchmark or such tenor for such Benchmark, as applicable, will not be used in any determination of Base Rate.
- have any liability with respect to (i) the administration, submission or any other matter related to the London interbank offered rate or other rates in the definition of "Base LIBOR" or with respect to any alternative or successor rate thereto, or replacement rate thereof (including any Benchmark Replacement implemented hereunder), (ii) the composition or characteristics of any such Benchmark Replacement, including whether it is similar to, or produces the same value or economic equivalence to, Base LIBOR (or any other Benchmark) or have the same volume or liquidity as did Base LIBOR (or any other Benchmark), (iii) any actions or use of its discretion or other decisions or determinations made with respect to any matters covered by this Section 6.2, including whether or not a Benchmark Transition Event has occurred, the removal or lack thereof of unavailable or non-representative tenors, the implementation or lack thereof of any Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes, the delivery or non-delivery of any notices required by Section 6.2(e) or otherwise in accordance herewith and (iv) the effect of any of the foregoing provisions of this Section 6.2.
- Lenders advise the Agent that the LIBOR Rate as determined by the Agent will not adequately and fairly reflect the cost to such Required Lenders of maintaining or funding LIBOR Rate Loans for such Loan Period, or that the making or funding of LIBOR Rate Loans has become impracticable as a result of an event occurring after the date of this Agreement which in such Required Lenders' opinion materially affects LIBOR Rate Loans, then (A) the Agent shall promptly notify the other parties thereof and (B) so long as such circumstances shall continue, no Lender shall be under any obligation to make or Continue any LIBOR Rate Loan or Convert any Base Rate Loan into a LIBOR Rate Loan.
- (b) If at any time the Agent determines (which determination shall be conclusive absent manifest error) that (i) the circumstances set forth in clause (a)(i) of this Section have arisen and such circumstances are unlikely to be temporary or (ii) the circumstances

set forth in clause (a)(i) of this Section have not arisen but either (A) the supervisor for the administrator of the Screen Rate has made a public statement that the administrator of the Screen Rate is insolvent (and there is no successor administrator that will continue publication of the Screen Rate), (B) the administrator of the Screen Rate has made a public statement identifying a specific date after which the Screen Rate will permanently or indefinitely cease to be published by it (and there is no successor administrator that will continue publication of the Screen Rate), (C) the supervisor of the administrator of the Screen Rate has made a public statement identifying a specific date after which the Screen Rate will permanently or indefinitely cease to be published or (D) the supervisor of the administrator of the Screen Rate or a Governmental Authority having jurisdiction over the Agent has made a public statement identifying a specific date after which the Screen Rate may no longer be used for determining interest rates for loans, then the Agent and the Borrower shall endeavor to establish an alternate rate of interest to the LIBOR Rate that gives due consideration to the then prevailing market convention for determining a rate of interest for syndicated loans in the United States at such time, and shall enter into an amendment to this Agreement to reflect such alternate rate of interest and such other related changes to this Agreement as may be applicable (but for the avoidance of doubt, such related changes shall not include a reduction of the applicable rate margins set forth on Schedule II unless agreed to by all Lenders in accordance with Section 12.1), a copy of which amendment shall be promptly provided by the Agent to the Lenders; provided that, if such alternate rate of interest as so determined would be less than zero, such rate shall be deemed to be zero for the purposes of this Agreement. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in Section 12.1, such amendment shall become effective without any further action or consent of any other party to this Agreement so long as the Agent shall not have received, within five Business Days of the date a copy of such amendment is provided to the Lenders by the Agent, a written notice from the Required Lenders stating that such Required Lenders object to such amendment. Until an alternate rate of interest shall be determined in accordance with this clause (b) (but, in the case of the circumstances described in clause (ii) of the first sentence of this clause (b), only to the extent the Screen Rate for such Loan Period is not available or published at such time on a current basis or is no longer used for determining interest rates for loans), (w) no Lender shall be under any obligation to make or Continue any LIBOR Rate Loan or Convert any Base Rate Loan into a LIBOR Rate Loan, (x) if any Committed Loan Request requests a LIBOR Rate Loan, such Committed Loan shall be made as a Base Rate Loan and (v) if the Borrower shall request the Conversion of a Base Rate Loan into a LIBOR Rate Loan or the Continuation of a LIBOR Rate Loan for a new Loan Period, such Conversion request shall be ineffective and the LIBOR Rate Loan subject to such Continuation request shall be Converted into a Base Rate Loan and (z) the rate of interest set forth in clause (c) of the definition of "Base Rate" contained in Section 1.2 will no longer be utilized in determining the Base Rate.

Section 6.3. <u>Changes in Law Rendering Certain Loans Unlawful</u>. In the event that any change in (including the adoption of any new) applicable laws or regulations, or in the interpretation of applicable laws or regulations by any Governmental Authority or other regulatory body charged with the administration thereof, should make it (or in the good faith judgment of such Lender raise a substantial question as to whether it is) unlawful for a Lender to make, maintain or fund any LIBOR Rate Loan, then (a) such Lender shall promptly notify each of the other parties hereto, (b) upon the effectiveness of such event and so long as such unlawfulness shall continue, the obligation of such Lender to make or Continue LIBOR Rate Loans shall be suspended and any request by the

Borrower for LIBOR Rate Loans shall, as to such Lender, be deemed to be a request for a Base Rate Loan, and (c) on the last day of the current Loan Period for such Lender's LIBOR Rate Loans (or, in any event, if such Lender so requests on such earlier date as may be required by the relevant law, regulation or interpretation) such Lender's Committed Loans which are LIBOR Rate Loans shall cease to be maintained as LIBOR Rate Loans and shall thereafter bear interest at a floating rate per annum equal to the Base Rate. If at any time the event giving rise to such unlawfulness shall no longer exist, then such Lender shall promptly notify the Borrower and the Agent.

Section 6.4. Funding Losses. The Borrower hereby agrees that upon demand by any Lender (which demand shall be accompanied by a statement setting forth the basis for the calculations of the amount being claimed) the Borrower will indemnify such Lender against any net loss or expense which such Lender may sustain or incur (including any net loss or expense incurred by reason of the liquidation or reemployment of deposits or other funds acquired by such Lender to fund or maintain any LIBOR Rate Loan), as reasonably determined by such Lender, as a result of (a) any payment or mandatory or voluntary prepayment (including any payment pursuant to Section 6.3 or 12.9(b) or any payment resulting from acceleration) or Conversion or Continuation of any LIBOR Rate Loan of such Lender on a date other than the last day of the Loan Period for such LIBOR Rate Loan or (b) any failure of the Borrower to borrow any Committed Loans on the originally scheduled Funding Date specified therefor pursuant to this Agreement (including any failure to borrow resulting from any failure to satisfy the conditions precedent to such borrowing) or to Continue any LIBOR Rate Loans on the date specified therefor pursuant to this Agreement. For this purpose, all notices to the Agent pursuant to this Agreement shall be deemed to be irrevocable.

Section 6.5. <u>Discretion of Lenders as to Manner of Funding</u>. Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary (but subject to Section 6.1(c)), each Lender shall be entitled to fund and maintain its funding of all or any part of its Committed Loans in any manner it sees fit, it being understood, however, that for the purposes of this Agreement all determinations hereunder shall be made as if such Lender had actually funded and maintained each LIBOR Rate Loan during the Loan Period for such LIBOR Rate Loan through the purchase of deposits having a maturity corresponding to such Loan Period and bearing an interest rate equal to the rate borne by such LIBOR Rate Loan for such Loan Period.

Section 6.6. <u>Conclusiveness of Statements; Survival of Provisions</u>. Determinations and statements of any Lender pursuant to this Section 6 shall be conclusive absent demonstrable error, and each Lender may use reasonable averaging and attribution methods in determining compensation pursuant to Section 6.1 or 6.4. The provisions of this Section 6 shall survive termination of this Agreement and payment of the Committed Loans.

SECTION 7. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

To induce the Lenders to enter into this Agreement and to make Committed Loans hereunder, each Obligor hereby makes the following representations and warranties to the

Agent and the Lenders (a) as of the Closing Date, and (b) other than the representations and warranties in Section 7.5, as of each applicable Funding Date, which representations and warranties shall survive the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the Committed Notes and the disbursement of the initial Committed Loans hereunder:

Section 7.1. Organization, etc. (a) The Company is duly organized or incorporated, as applicable, validly existing and in good standing, to the extent applicable, under the laws of the jurisdiction of its organization; (b) each corporate Significant Subsidiary is a company or corporation, as applicable, duly organized or incorporated, as applicable, validly existing and in good standing, to the extent applicable, under the laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation; (c) each other Significant Subsidiary (if any) is an entity duly organized and validly existing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its organization; and (d) each of the Company and each Significant Subsidiary has the power to own its property and to carry on its business as now being conducted and is duly qualified and in good standing, to the extent applicable, as a foreign corporation or other entity authorized to do business in each jurisdiction where, because of the nature of its activities or properties, such qualification is required, except, in each of cases (a), (b), (c) and (d) above, where the failure to be so qualified or in good standing could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

Section 7.2. Authorization; Consents; No Conflict. The execution and delivery by (x) each Obligor party hereto of this Agreement and by the Borrower of the Committed Notes, the payment of any fees hereunder, the borrowings hereunder and the performance by each such Obligor of its obligations under this Agreement and by the Borrower of its obligations under the Committed Notes and (y) each Obligor of any Guarantee Assumption Agreement to which it is a party and the performance by each such Obligor of its obligations hereunder and thereunder (a) are within the corporate or similar powers of each such Obligor, (b) have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate or similar action on the part of each such Obligor, (c) have received all necessary approvals, authorizations, consents, registrations, notices, exemptions and licenses (if any shall be required) from Governmental Authorities and other Persons, except for any such approvals, authorizations, consents, registrations, notices, exemptions or licenses non-receipt of which could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, (d) are, where it concerns an Obligor incorporated under the laws of the Netherlands, in such Obligor's corporate interest, (e) do not and will not contravene or conflict with any provision of (i) law, (ii) any judgment, decree or order to which such Obligor or any Significant Subsidiary is a party or by which such Obligor or any Significant Subsidiary is bound, (iii) the charter, by-laws, constitution, memorandum and articles of association or other organizational documents of such Obligor or any Significant Subsidiary or (iv) any provision of any agreement or instrument binding on such Obligor or any Significant Subsidiary, or any agreement or instrument of which such Obligor is aware affecting the properties of such Obligor or any Significant Subsidiary, except with respect to (i), (ii) and (iv) above, for any such contravention or conflict which could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, and (f) do not and will not result in or require the creation or imposition of any Lien on any of such Obligor's or its Significant Subsidiaries' properties.

- Section 7.3. <u>Validity and Binding Nature</u>. (a) This Agreement is, each Guarantee Assumption Agreement when duly executed and delivered will be, and the Committed Notes (if any) when duly executed and delivered will be, legal, valid and binding obligations of each Obligor party thereto, enforceable against each such Obligor in accordance with their respective terms, subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent transfer, reorganization, moratorium, <u>examinership</u> and similar laws of general applicability relating to or affecting creditors' rights and to general equity principles.
- (b) This Agreement is in proper legal form under the law of Ireland and each other jurisdiction under which any Obligor is incorporated or organized for the enforcement thereof against each Obligor under such law. All formalities required in Ireland and each other jurisdiction under which any Obligor is organized or incorporated for the validity and enforceability of this Agreement (including any necessary registration, recording or filing with any court or other authority in Ireland and each other jurisdiction under which any Obligor is organized or incorporated) have been accomplished, and no notarization is required, for the validity and enforceability thereof.
- Section 7.4. <u>Financial Statements</u>. The Company's audited consolidated financial statements as at December 31, 2018, and unaudited consolidated financial statements as at June 30, 2019 2020, a copy of each of which has been furnished to each Lender, have been prepared in conformity with GAAP applied on a basis consistent with that of the preceding fiscal year (other than as required or permitted by GAAP, subject, in the case of unaudited financial statements, to changes resulting from audit and year end adjustments) and fairly present the financial condition of the Company and its Subsidiaries as at such dates date and the results of their operations for the applicable time periods fiscal year then ended.
- Section 7.5. <u>Litigation</u>. (a) As of the Closing Date, all Litigation Actions, taken as a whole, could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
- (b) As of the Closing Date, there is no Litigation Action pending or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened that could reasonably be expected to adversely affect the enforceability of the Loan Documents against the Obligors or the rights and remedies of the Agent or the Lenders thereunder.
- Section 7.6. Employee Benefit Plans. Except as could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, each employee benefit plan (as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA) maintained or sponsored by the Company or any Subsidiary complies in all material respects with all applicable requirements of law and regulations. Except as could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, individually or in the aggregate, during the term of this Agreement, (i) no steps have been taken to terminate any Plan and no contribution failure has occurred with respect to any Plan sufficient to give rise to a lien under Section 303(k) of ERISA, (ii) no Reportable Event has occurred with respect to any Plan, (iii) no determination has been made that any Plan is in "at risk" status (within the meaning of Section 303 of ERISA) and (iv) neither the Company nor any ERISA Affiliate has either withdrawn or instituted steps to withdraw

from any Multiemployer Plan. Except as could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, no condition exists or event or transaction has occurred in connection with any Plan which could reasonably be expected to result in the incurrence by the Company or any Subsidiary of any material liability, fine or penalty (imposed by Section 4975 of the Code or Section 502(i) of ERISA or otherwise). Neither the Company nor any ERISA Affiliate is a member of, or contributes to, any Multiemployer Plan as to which the potential withdrawal Liability Withdrawal Liability based upon the most recent actuarial report could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. Except as could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, neither the Company nor any Subsidiary has any contingent liability with respect to any post retirement benefit under an employee welfare benefit plan (as defined in Section 3(1) of ERISA), other than liability for continuation coverage described in Part 6 of Title I of ERISA.

Section 7.7. <u>Investment Company Act</u>. Neither the Company nor the Borrower is an "investment company" or a company "controlled" by an "investment company", within the meaning of the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended.

Section 7.8. <u>Regulation U</u>. Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary is engaged principally, or as one of its important activities, in the business of extending credit for the purpose of buying or carrying margin stock (within the meaning of Regulation U of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System as amended from time to time). No part of the proceeds of any Committed Loan will be used to buy or carry any margin stock. Following the application of the proceeds of each Committed Loan, not more than 25% of the value of the assets of any of the Company and its Subsidiaries shall consist of margin stock.

Section 7.9. <u>Disclosure.</u> As of the Closing Date, (a) all written information (including the Information Memorandum), other than Projections (as defined below), forward looking information and information of a general economic or industry specific nature that has been made available to the Administrative Agent, any Arranger or any Lender by the Company or any of its officers, directors, employees, accountants or attorneys or, at the direction of the Company, its other advisors, agents or representatives in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, other than independent third-party appraisals of aircraft and independent third party generated industry information and when taken together with all reports, statements, schedules and other information included in filings made by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission, taken as a whole, is complete and correct in all material respects and does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements contained therein not materially misleading in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made (giving effect to any supplements thereto from time to time), (b) all financial projections, if any, that have been prepared by the Company in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby and made available to the Administrative Agent, any Lender or any potential Lender (the "<u>Projections</u>") have been prepared in good faith based upon assumptions believed by the Company to be reasonable as of the date of the preparation of such Projections (it being understood that projections by their nature are inherently uncertain and no assurances are being given that the results

reflected in the Projections will be achieved) and (c) the information included in the Beneficial Ownership Certification (if any) is true and correct in all material respects.

- Section 7.10. Compliance with Applicable Laws, etc. Each Obligor and each of its Subsidiaries is in compliance with the requirements of all applicable laws, rules, regulations and orders of all Governmental Authorities (including ERISA or any laws applicable to a Foreign Plan and all applicable environmental laws), except for noncompliance that could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. None of the Obligors nor any of the Subsidiaries is in default under any agreement or instrument to which such Obligor or such Subsidiary is a party or by which it or any of its properties or assets is bound, which default could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on the business, credit, operations or financial condition of the Obligors and their Subsidiaries taken as a whole. No Event of Default or Unmatured Event of Default has occurred and is continuing.
- Section 7.11. <u>Insurance</u>. Each of the Obligors and each Subsidiary maintains, or, in the case of any property owned by any Obligor or any Subsidiary and leased to lessees, has contractually required such lessees to maintain, insurance with financially sound and reputable insurers to such extent and against such hazards and liabilities as is commonly maintained, or caused to be maintained, as the case may be, by companies similarly situated.
- Section 7.12. <u>Taxes</u>. Each of the Obligors and each Subsidiary has filed all tax returns which are required to have been filed and has paid, or made adequate provisions for the payment of, all of its Taxes which are due and payable, except such other than Taxes, if any, as are being contested in good faith and by appropriate proceedings and as to which such reserves or other appropriate provisions as may be required by GAAP have been established, except where failure to pay such Taxes or file a tax return, individually or in the aggregate, cannot reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
- Section 7.13. <u>Use of Proceeds</u>. The proceeds of the Committed Loans will be used for general corporate purposes of the Company and its Subsidiaries.
- Section 7.14. <u>Pari Passu</u>. All obligations and liabilities of any Obligor hereunder or under any Guarantee Assumption Agreement to which it is a party shall rank at least equally and ratably (<u>pari passu</u>) in priority with all other unsubordinated, unsecured obligations of such Obligor to any other creditor.
- Section 7.15. OFAC, Etc. The Company has implemented and maintains in effect policies and procedures designed to ensure compliance by the Company, its Subsidiaries and their directors, officers, employees and agents with applicable Anti-Corruption Laws and Sanctions, the USA PATRIOT Act and other applicable anti-terrorism and money laundering laws. None of the Company or any Subsidiary, director, officer, employee or, to the knowledge of the Company after due inquiry, any agent of the Company or any Subsidiary that will act in any capacity in connection with or benefit from the credit facility established hereby, is a Sanctioned Person. No borrowing hereunder will

be made for any purpose that would constitute or result in a violation by any party hereto, including the Lenders, of any applicable Anti-Corruption Laws, Sanctions, the USA PATRIOT Act or other anti-terrorism and money laundering laws.

SECTION 8. COVENANTS

Until the expiration or termination of the Commitments, and thereafter until all obligations of the Obligors hereunder and under the Committed Notes are paid in full (other than unasserted contingent indemnification obligations), each Obligor agrees that, commencing on the Closing Date, unless at any time the Required Lenders shall otherwise expressly consent in writing, it will:

- Section 8.1. <u>Reports, Certificates and Other Information</u>. Furnish to the Agent with sufficient copies for each Lender which the Agent shall promptly make available to each Lender:
 - 8.1.1 Audited Financial Statements. As soon as available, and in any event within 95 days after each fiscal year of the Company, a copy of the audited consolidated balance sheet and related statements of operations, stockholders' equity and cash flows and annual audit report of the Company and its subsidiaries for such fiscal year (setting forth in each case in comparative form the figures for the previous fiscal year) prepared on a consolidated basis and in conformity with GAAP and certified by PricewaterhouseCoopers or by another independent certified public accountant of recognized national standing selected by the Company.
 - 8.1.2 Interim Reports. As soon as available, and in any event within 50 days after each quarter (except the last quarter) of each fiscal year of the Company, a copy of the unaudited consolidated balance sheet and related statements of operations, stockholders' equity and cash flows of the Company and its subsidiaries as of the end of and for such quarter and the then elapsed portion of the fiscal year, setting forth in each case in comparative form the figures for (or, in the case of the balance sheet, as of the end of) the corresponding period or periods of the previous fiscal year, all certified by an Authorized Officer of the Company as presenting fairly in all material respects the financial condition and results of operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP, subject to normal year end audit adjustments, the auditors' year-end report and the absence of footnotes.
 - 8.1.3 <u>Certificates</u>. Contemporaneously with the furnishing of a copy of each annual audit report and of each set of quarterly statements provided for in this Section 8.1, deliver a certificate of the Company, in substantially the form of Exhibit C hereto, dated the date of delivery of such annual report or such quarterly statements and signed by an Authorized Officer, to the effect that no Event of Default or Unmatured Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, or, if there is any such event, describing it and the steps, if any, being taken to cure it and containing a computation of, and showing compliance with, each of the financial ratios and restrictions contained in this Section 8.

- 8.1.4 <u>Certain Notices</u>. Forthwith upon learning of the occurrence of any of the following, provide written notice thereof, describing the same and the steps being taken by the Company or the Subsidiary affected with respect thereto:
 - (i) the occurrence of an Event of Default or an Unmatured Event of Default;
- (ii) the institution of any Litigation Action; <u>provided</u>, that, the Company need not give notice of any new Litigation Action unless such Litigation Action, together with all other pending Litigation Actions, could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect;
- (iii) the entry of any judgment or decree against the Company or any Subsidiary if the aggregate amount of all judgments and decrees then outstanding against the Company and all Subsidiaries exceeds \$200,000,000 after deducting (i) the amount with respect to which the Company or any Subsidiary is insured and with respect to which the insurer has not denied coverage in writing and (ii) the amount for which the Company or any Subsidiary is otherwise indemnified if the terms of such indemnification are satisfactory to the Agent and the Required Lenders;
- (iv) the occurrence of a Reportable Event with respect to any Plan; the institution of any steps by the Company, any ERISA Affiliate, the PBGC or any other Person to terminate any Plan; the institution of any steps by the Company or any ERISA Affiliate to withdraw from any Plan; the incurrence of any material increase in the contingent liability of the Company or any Subsidiary with respect to any post-retirement welfare benefits; the failure of the Company or any other Person to make a required contribution to a Plan if such failure is sufficient to give rise to a lien under Section 303(k) of ERISA or a determination is made that any Plan is in "at risk" status (within the meaning of Section 303 of ERISA); provided, however, that no notice shall be required of any of the foregoing unless the circumstance could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect; or
- (v) the occurrence of a material adverse change in the business, credit, operations or financial condition of the Company and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole.
- 8.1.5 Reports. Promptly from time to time after the occurrence of an event required to be therein reported by the Company, such other reports of the Company on Form 6-K, or any successor or comparable form, as the Company shall have filed with the SEC.
- 8.1.6 Other Information. From time to time provide such other information regarding the operations and financial condition of the Company and its Subsidiaries (but in the case of each Securitization Subsidiary, only to the extent it is able to do so after use of commercially reasonable efforts) as any Lender or the Agent may reasonably request (not including reports and other materials to the extent filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission).
- 8.1.7 <u>Beneficial Ownership Certification</u>. To the extent reasonably requested by any Lender or Agent following any change in the information provided in the Beneficial

Ownership Certification (if any) that would result in a change to the list of beneficial owners identified in parts (c) or (d) of such certification, an updated Beneficial Ownership Certification.

Financial and other information required to be delivered pursuant to Sections 8.1.1, 8.1.2 and 8.1.5 above shall be deemed to have been delivered if such information, or one or more annual or quarterly reports containing such information, shall have been posted by the Agent on any Platform (as defined herein) or similar site to which the Lenders have been granted access or such reports shall be available on the website of the Securities and Exchange Commission at http://www.sec.gov or the Company's website at http://www.aercap.com; provided, that the Company shall provide paper copies of such financial information if requested by the Agent or any Lender. Information, reports or certificates required to be delivered pursuant to this Section 8.1 may be delivered by electronic communications pursuant to procedures approved by the Administrative Agent.

Section 8.2. Existence. (a) Maintain and preserve, and, subject to the first proviso in Section 8.9, cause each Subsidiary to maintain and preserve, its respective existence as a corporation or other form of business organization, as the case may be (but in the case of each Securitization Subsidiary, only to the extent it is able to do so after use of commercially reasonable efforts), and (b) take all reasonable action to maintain all rights, privileges, licenses, patents, patent rights, copyrights, trademarks, trade names, franchises and other authority, except in each case (other than with respect to the Company or the Borrower in connection with clause (a) above) to the extent that failure to do so could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect; provided, however, that notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, (a) any Subsidiary may be merged or consolidated with or into (i) any other Subsidiary or (ii) into the Company (with the Company as the surviving corporation), provided that, in the case of clauses (a)(i) and (ii), if the Borrower shall be party to any such merger or consolidation the Borrower shall be the surviving entity of such merger or consolidation and (b) any Subsidiary may be converted from one form of business organization into any other form of business organization.

Section 8.3. <u>Nature of Business</u>. Subject to Section 8.2, engage on a consolidated basis with its Subsidiaries in substantially the same fields of business as it and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis are engaged in on the date hereof (or fields of business related or ancillary thereto).

Section 8.4. Books, Records and Access.

(a) Maintain, and cause each Subsidiary to (but in the case of each Securitization Subsidiary, only to the extent it is able to do so after use of commercially reasonable efforts) maintain in all material respects complete and accurate books and records in which full and correct entries in all material respects and in conformity with GAAP shall be made of all dealings and transactions in relation to its respective business and activities.

- (b) Permit, and cause each Subsidiary to permit (but in the case of each Securitization Subsidiary, only to the extent it is able to do so after use of commercially reasonable efforts), access by the Agent and each Lender to the books and records of the Company and such Subsidiary during normal business hours, and permit, and cause each Subsidiary to permit, the Agent and each Lender to make copies of such books and records upon reasonable notice and as often as may be reasonably requested.
- Section 8.5. <u>Insurance</u>. Maintain, and cause each Subsidiary to maintain, such insurance as is described in Section 7.11 (but in the case of each Securitization Subsidiary, only to the extent it is able to do so after use of commercially reasonable efforts).
- Section 8.6. Repair. Maintain, preserve and keep, and cause each Subsidiary to maintain, preserve and keep, its properties in good repair, working order and condition, ordinary wear and tear excepted, except where the failure to do so could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect (but in the case of each Securitization Subsidiary, only to the extent it is able to do so after use of commercially reasonable efforts). In the case of properties leased by any Obligor or any Subsidiary to lessees, such Obligor may satisfy its obligations related to such properties under the previous sentence by contractually requiring, or by causing each Subsidiary to contractually require, such lessees to perform such obligations (but in the case of each Securitization Subsidiary, only to the extent it is able to do so after use of commercially reasonable efforts).
- Section 8.7. Taxes. Pay or cause to be paid, and cause each Subsidiary to pay, or cause to be paid, prior to the imposition of any penalty or fine, all of its Taxes, unless and only to the extent that such Obligor or such Subsidiary, as the case may be, is contesting any such Taxes in good faith and by appropriate proceedings and the Company, such Obligor or such Subsidiary, as the case may be, has set aside on its books such reserves or other appropriate provisions therefor as may be required by GAAP, except where failure to pay such Taxes, individually or in the aggregate, cannot reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect (but in the case of each Securitization Subsidiary, only to the extent it is able to do so after use of commercially reasonable efforts).
- Section 8.8. <u>Compliance.</u> (a) Comply, and cause each Subsidiary to comply with all statutes (including ERISA) and governmental rules and regulations applicable to it except to the extent noncompliance could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect (but in the case of each Securitization Subsidiary, only to the extent it is able to do so after use of commercially reasonable efforts).
- (b) Maintain in effect and enforce policies and procedures designed to ensure compliance by the Company, its Subsidiaries and their respective directors, officers, employees and agents with Anti-Corruption Laws and applicable Sanctions.

- (c) Use the proceeds of any borrowing hereunder in compliance with any Anti-Corruption Laws, applicable antimoney laundering laws and any Sanctions applicable to any party hereto.
- Section 8.9. <u>Sale of Assets</u>. Not, and not permit any Subsidiary to, transfer, convey, lease (except for in the ordinary course of business) or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of the assets of the Obligors and their Subsidiaries taken as a whole; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that any Wholly-owned Subsidiary may sell, transfer, convey, lease or assign all or a substantial part of its assets to another Obligor or another Wholly-owned Subsidiary if immediately thereafter and after giving effect thereto no Event of Default or Unmatured Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing; <u>provided</u>, <u>further</u> that this Section 8.9 shall not prohibit any transaction otherwise permitted by Section 8.2.
- Section 8.10. <u>Consolidated Indebtedness to Shareholder's Equity</u>. Not permit the ratio of Consolidated Indebtedness to Shareholder's Equity to exceed at any time 3.75:1.00 (such ratio to be calculated in a manner consistent with the calculations set forth on Schedule 1 to Exhibit C).
- Section 8.11. <u>Interest Coverage Ratio</u>. Not permit the Interest Coverage Ratio on the last day of any quarter of any fiscal year of the Company to be less than 150%.
- Section 8.12. <u>Unencumbered Assets</u>. Not permit the ratio of (A) Unencumbered Assets to (B) the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Company's consolidated unsecured Financial Indebtedness minus, to the extent included in Financial Indebtedness, the aggregate amount outstanding of Hybrid Capital Securities, in each case on the last day of any quarter of any fiscal year of the Company to be less than 135%.
- Section 8.13. Restricted Payments. Not declare or pay any dividends whatsoever or make any distribution on any capital stock of the Company (except in shares of, or warrants or rights to subscribe for or purchase shares of, capital stock of the Company), and not permit any Subsidiary to, make any payment to acquire or retire shares of capital stock of the Company, in each case at any time when (i) an Event of Default as described in Section 10.1 has occurred and is continuing and there are Committed Loans outstanding hereunder or (ii) an Event of Default as described in Section 10.1.1 has occurred and is continuing and there are no Committed Loans outstanding hereunder; provided, however, that notwithstanding the foregoing, this Section 8.13 shall not prohibit (x) the payment of dividends on any of ILFC's market auction preferred stock that was sold to the public pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act of 1933 or (y) the payment of dividends within 30 days of the declaration thereof if such declaration was not prohibited by this Section 8.13.

Section 8.14.	Liens. Not, and not permi	t any Subsidiary to, create or pe	rmit to exist any Lien upon or with
respect to any of its properties or ass	sets of any kind, now owned	or hereafter acquired, or on an	y income or profits therefrom, except for

- (a) Liens existing on the Closing Date that are reflected in the consolidated financial statements of the Company dated prior to the Closing Date;
- (b) Liens to secure the payment of all or any part of the purchase price of any property or assets or to secure any Indebtedness incurred by the Company or a Subsidiary to finance the acquisition of any property or asset. For the avoidance of doubt, Liens securing Indebtedness relating to ECA Financings or Eximbank financings shall be permitted hereunder;
 - (c) Liens securing the Indebtedness of a Subsidiary owing to the Company or to a Wholly-owned Subsidiary;
- (d) Liens on property of a Person existing at the time such Person is merged into or consolidated with the Company or a Subsidiary or at the time of a purchase, lease or other acquisition of the properties of a Person as an entirety or substantially as an entirety by the Company or a Subsidiary; <u>provided</u>, that, any such Lien shall not extend to or cover any assets or properties of the Company or such Subsidiary owned by the Company or such Subsidiary prior to such merger, consolidation, purchase, lease or acquisition, unless otherwise permitted under this Section 8.14;
 - (e) leases, subleases or licenses granted to others in the ordinary and usual course of the Company's business;
- (f) easements, rights of way, restrictions and other similar charges or encumbrances not interfering in any material respect with the ordinary conduct of the business of the Company or any Subsidiary;
 - (g) bankers' Liens arising by law or by contract in the ordinary and usual course of the Company's business;
- (h) Liens incurred or deposits made in the ordinary course of business in connection with surety and appeal bonds, leases, government contracts, performance and return-of-money bonds and other similar obligations (exclusive of obligations for the payment of borrowed money); <u>provided, however</u>, that the obligation so secured is not overdue or is being contested in good faith and by appropriate proceedings diligently pursued;
- (i) any replacement or successive replacement in whole or in part of any Lien referred to in the foregoing clauses (a) to (h), inclusive; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that the principal amount of any Indebtedness secured by the Lien shall not be increased and the principal repayment schedule and maturity of such Indebtedness shall not be extended and (i) such replacement shall be limited to all or a part of the property which secured the Lien so replaced (<u>plus</u> improvements and construction on such property) or (ii) if the property which secured the Lien so replaced has been destroyed, condemned or damaged and

pursuant to the terms of the Lien other property has been substituted therefor, then such replacement shall be limited to all or part of such substituted property;

- (j) Liens created by or resulting from any litigation or other proceeding which is being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings, including Liens arising out of judgments or awards against the Company or any Subsidiary with respect to which the Company or such Subsidiary is in good faith prosecuting an appeal or proceedings for review; Liens incurred by the Company or any Subsidiary for the purpose of obtaining a stay or discharge in the course of any litigation or other proceeding to which the Company or such Subsidiary is a party; or Liens created by or resulting from any litigation or other proceeding that would not result in an Event of Default hereunder;
- (k) carrier's, warehouseman's, hangar keeper's, mechanic's, repairer's, landlord's and materialmen's Liens, Liens for Taxes, assessments and other governmental charges and other Liens arising in the ordinary course of business, by operation of law or under customary terms of repair or modification agreements or any engine or parts-pooling arrangements, in each case securing obligations that are not incurred in connection with the obtaining of any advance or credit and which are either not overdue or are being contested in good faith and by appropriate proceedings diligently pursued; and
- (I) other Liens securing Indebtedness of the Company or any Subsidiary; provided that at the time such Indebtedness is incurred (or, in the case of unsecured Indebtedness that is subsequently secured by Liens, at the time such Indebtedness becomes secured) the ratio of (A) Unencumbered Assets as of the end of the most recently ended fiscal period for which financial statements have been delivered pursuant to Section 8.1 (except that (i) "cash and cash equivalents" and Financial Indebtedness shall be measured on the applicable date of determination on a pro forma basis, (ii) any Aircraft Assets acquired subsequent to such date may, at the option of the Company, be included in the determination of Unencumbered Assets valued as of the date of acquisition and as determined by the Company in good faith and (iii) if the outstanding amount of Financial Indebtedness on the applicable date of determination has been reduced since the end of the most recently ended fiscal period for which financial statements have been delivered pursuant to Section 8.1 with the proceeds of any sale or other disposition of Aircraft Assets, the book value of such Aircraft Assets sold or otherwise disposed of shall be excluded) to (B) the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Company's consolidated unsecured Financial Indebtedness on the date of determination on a pro forma basis minus, to the extent included in Financial Indebtedness as of such date, the aggregate amount outstanding of Hybrid Capital Securities, is not less than 135%.

Section 8.15. <u>Use of Proceeds</u>. Not permit any proceeds of the Committed Loans to be used, either directly or indirectly, for the purpose, whether immediate, incidental or ultimate, of buying or carrying any margin stock within the meaning of Regulation U of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, as amended from time to time; or for the purpose, whether immediate, incidental or ultimate, of acquiring directly or indirectly any of the outstanding shares of voting stock of any corporation which (i) has announced that it will oppose such acquisition or (ii) has commenced any litigation which alleges that any such acquisition violates, or will violate, applicable law.

Section 8.16. Transactions with Affiliates.

- (a) Not, and not permit any Subsidiary to, make any payment to, or sell, lease, transfer or otherwise dispose of any of its properties or assets to, or purchase any property or assets from, or enter into or make or amend any transaction, contract, agreement, understanding, loan, advance or guarantee with, or for the benefit of, any Affiliate of the Company (each of the foregoing, an "Affiliate Transaction") involving aggregate payments or consideration in excess of \$5,000,000, unless:
 - (i) such Affiliate Transaction is on terms that are not materially less favorable to the Company or the relevant Subsidiary than those that would have been obtained in a comparable transaction by the Company or such Subsidiary with an unrelated Person; and
 - (ii) the Company delivers to the Administrative Agent with respect to any Affiliate Transaction or series of related Affiliate Transactions involving aggregate payments or consideration in excess of \$50,000,000, a resolution adopted by the disinterested members of the Board of Directors of the Company, if any, approving such Affiliate Transaction and set forth in a certificate of an Authorized Officer of the Company certifying that such Affiliate Transaction complies with Section 8.16(a)(i).
- (b) The following items will not be deemed to be Affiliate Transactions and, therefore, will not be subject to the provisions of Section 8.16(a):
 - (i) transactions between or among the Company and/or any of its Subsidiaries;
 - (ii) declaration or payment of dividends, the making of distributions on any Capital Stock of the Company and the making of payments to acquire or retire shares of Capital Stock of the Company, in each case at any time not prohibited by Section 8.13:
 - (iii) the payment of reasonable and customary fees paid to, and indemnities provided on behalf of, officers, directors, employees or consultants of the Company or any Subsidiary;
 - (iv) transactions in which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, as the case may be, delivers to the Administrative Agent a letter from an Independent Financial Advisor stating that such transaction is fair to the Company or such Subsidiary from a financial point of view or meets the requirements of 8.16(a)(i);
 - (v) payments or loans (or cancellation of loans) to employees or consultants of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries which are approved by a majority of the Board of Directors of the Company in good faith;
 - (vi) any agreement as in effect as of the Closing Date, or any amendment thereto (so long as any such amendment, taken as a whole, is no less favorable to the Company and its Subsidiaries than the agreement in effect on the date hereof (as determined by the Board of Directors of the Company in good faith));

- (vii) the existence of, or the performance by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries of its obligations under the terms of, any limited liability company, limited partnership or other organizational document or joint venture, investors or shareholders agreement (including any registration rights agreement or purchase agreement related thereto) to which it is a party as of the Closing Date and any similar agreements which it may enter into thereafter; provided, however, that the existence of, or the performance by the Company or any Subsidiary of obligations under any future amendment to any such existing agreement or under any similar agreement entered into after the Closing Date shall only be permitted by this clause (vii) to the extent that the terms of any such amendment or new agreement, taken as a whole, is no less favorable to the Company and its Subsidiaries than the agreement in effect on the Closing Date (as determined by the Board of Directors of the Company in good faith);
- (viii) transactions with customers, clients, suppliers, trade creditors, lessors, lessees, joint venture partners or purchasers or sellers of goods or services, in each case in the ordinary course of business and otherwise in compliance with the terms of this Agreement;
- (ix) the issuance of Capital Stock (other than Disqualified Stock) of the Company to any Affiliate of the Company and other customary rights in connection therewith;
- (x) transactions or payments pursuant to any employee, officer or director compensation (including bonuses) or benefit plans, employment agreements, severance agreement, indemnification agreements or any similar arrangements entered into in the ordinary course of business or approved by the Board of Directors of the Company;
- (xi) transactions in the ordinary course with joint ventures in which the Company or a subsidiary of the Company holds or acquires an ownership interest (whether by way of Capital Stock or otherwise) so long as the terms of any such transactions are no less favorable to the Company or subsidiary participating in such joint ventures than they are to other joint venture partners;
- (xii) transactions with a Person that is an Affiliate of the Company solely because the Company owns, directly or through one or more of its Subsidiaries, Capital Stock in, or controls, such Person;
- (xiii) transactions involving Securitization Assets, or participations therein, in connection with any Qualified Securitization Financing;
- (xiv) services provided by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to its Subsidiaries or Affiliates under an agreement in respect of (A) aircraft, airframe and engines, (B) all parts, including replacement parts, of whatever nature, which are from time to time included within the airframes or engines or owned separately by the Company or any of its subsidiaries, (C) aircraft documents, (D) leases to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries is or may from time to time be party with respect to an aircraft engine or part and (E) all asset backed securities or other instruments secured

directly or indirectly by aircraft, airframe, engines or parts all in the ordinary course of business and consistent with past practice; and

- (xv) any transaction with an Affiliate of the Company where the only consideration paid by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is the issuance of Capital Stock (other than Disqualified Stock): and
- (xvi) transactions with General Electric Company or its subsidiaries or Affiliates pursuant to and in accordance with the GECAS Transaction Agreement or any other Transaction Document (as defined in the GECAS Transaction Agreement).
- Section 8.17. <u>Limitation on Issuances of Guarantees of Indebtedness</u>. Not cause or permit any of its Subsidiaries (other than a Securitization Subsidiary, an Excluded Subsidiary or an Obligor), directly or indirectly, to guarantee any Capital Markets Debt or unsecured Credit Facility (other than Standard Securitization Undertakings in connection with a Qualified Securitization Financing) of the Company or any other Obligor (other than the Financing Trust or any of its subsidiaries) unless such Subsidiary, within five Business Days of the date on which it guarantees Capital Markets Debt or an unsecured Credit Facility of the Company or any other Obligor (other than the Financing Trust or any of its subsidiaries), executes and delivers to the Administrative Agent a Guarantee Assumption Agreement.
 - Section 8.18. [Reserved].
- Section 8.19. <u>Subsidiary Guarantors</u>. In each case to the extent such Person is not a party to this Agreement on the date hereof, cause any Subsidiary that is required under Section 8.17 to become a Subsidiary Guarantor to (a) become a "Subsidiary Guarantor" hereunder pursuant to a Guarantee Assumption Agreement and (b) deliver such proof of corporate or similar action, incumbency of officers, opinions of counsel and other documents as is consistent with those delivered by each Obligor pursuant to Section 9 on the Closing Date.

SECTION 9. CONDITIONS TO LENDING

- Section 9.1. <u>Conditions Precedent to All Committed Loans</u>. Each Lender's obligation to make each Committed Loan on the date of original borrowing thereof is subject to the following conditions precedent:
 - 9.1.1 No Default. (a) No Event of Default or Unmatured Event of Default has occurred and is continuing or will result from the making of such Committed Loan and (b) the representations and warranties contained in Section 7 (other than those contained in Section 7.5) are true and correct in all material respects as of the date of such requested Committed Loan, with the same effect as though made on the date of such Committed Loan, except to the extent such representations and warranties expressly relate to an earlier date, in which case such representations and warranties shall have been true and correct in all material respects as of such earlier date (it being understood that each request for a Committed Loan shall automatically constitute a representation and

warranty by the Company that, as at the requested date of such Committed Loan, (x) all conditions under this Section 9.1.1 shall be satisfied and (y) after the making of such Committed Loan the aggregate principal amount of all outstanding Committed Loans will not exceed the Aggregate Commitment).

- 9.1.2 <u>Documents</u>. The Agent shall have received (a) a certificate signed by an Authorized Officer of the Company as to compliance with Section 9.1.1, which requirement shall be deemed satisfied by the submission of a properly completed Committed Loan Request, and (b) a Committed Loan Request substantially in the form of Exhibit A hereto.
- Section 9.2. <u>Conditions to Effectiveness</u>. This Agreement, and the obligations of each Lender hereunder to make Committed Loans pursuant to its Commitment, shall not become effective until the date on which each of the following conditions precedent shall have been satisfied or, to the extent not so satisfied, waived in writing by the Required Lenders (the "<u>Closing Date</u>"):
 - 9.2.1 Revolving Credit Agreement. The Agent shall have received this Agreement duly executed and delivered by each of the Lenders, the Company, the Borrower and each of the Subsidiary Guarantors identified under the caption "GUARANTORS" on the signature pages hereto and each of the Lenders shall have received a fully executed Committed Note, if such Committed Note is requested by any Lender pursuant to Section 11.11.
 - 9.2.2 <u>KYC Documents</u>. (a) The Agent shall have received at least three Business Days prior to the Closing Date all documentation and other information reasonably requested by the Lenders through the Agent in writing at least ten Business Days in advance of the Closing Date, which documentation or other information is required by regulatory authorities under applicable "know your customer" requirements under applicable law, and (b) at least three Business Days prior to the Closing Date, if the Borrower qualifies as a "legal entity customer" under the Beneficial Ownership Regulation, the Borrower shall deliver a Beneficial Ownership Certification in relation to it.
 - 9.2.3 <u>Closing Certificate</u>. The Agent shall have received a certificate of an Authorized Officer (a) confirming that since the date of the audited financial statements identified in Section 7.4 hereof, there shall not have occurred any material adverse change in the business, condition (financial or otherwise) or operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole, (b) as to the absence of any Unmatured Event of Default or Event of Default and (c) confirming that the representations and warranties contained in Section 7 are true and correct in all material respects as of the Closing Date, except to the extent such representations and warranties expressly relate to an earlier date, in which case such representations and warranties shall have been true and correct in all material respects as of such earlier date.
 - 9.2.4 <u>Fees</u>. The Agent shall have received (a) for the account of the Agent the Agent's fees payable on the Closing Date pursuant to Section 3.5 hereof and (b) all

accrued fees and expenses payable on the Closing Date owing to the Agent, the Arrangers and the Lenders from the Company, in each case, pursuant to written agreements as in effect on the Closing Date.

- 9.2.5 <u>Existing Credit Facility</u>. Prior to or substantially contemporaneously with the Closing Date, all outstanding "Committed Loans" of any Replaced Lenders and all accrued but unpaid interest and fees owing to any "Lender", in each case, under the Existing Credit Agreement shall have been paid in full.
- 9.2.6 Evidence of Corporate Action, Incumbency and Signatures. The Agent shall have received a certificate of the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary or a director of each Obligor, in substantially the form of Exhibit G, certifying (a) copies of all corporate or similar actions taken by each Obligor to authorize this Agreement and, as applicable, the Committed Notes and (b) the names of the officer or officers or director or directors or other authorized signatories of such Obligor authorized to sign the Loan Documents to which it is a party and the other documents provided for in this Agreement to be executed by such Obligor, together with a sample of the true signature of each such officer or director or other authorized signatory (it being understood that the Agent and each Lender may conclusively rely on such certificate until formally advised by a like certificate of any changes therein).
- 9.2.7 <u>Good Standing Certificates</u>. To the extent made available in the relevant jurisdiction, the Agent shall have received such good standing certificates of state officials (or analogous documents or certificates relating to valid existence and good standing) with respect to the incorporation or organization of each Obligor.
- 9.2.8 Opinions of Company Counsel. The Agent shall have received favorable written opinions of (i) Cravath, Swaine & Moore LLP, special New York counsel for the Obligors, in substantially the form of Exhibit H-1, (ii) McCann FitzGerald, special Irish counsel to the Company, in substantially the form of Exhibit H-2, (iii) NautaDutilh N.V., special Dutch counsel to the Company, in substantially the form of Exhibit H-3, (iv) Smith, Gambrell & Russell, LLP, special California counsel to ILFC, in substantially the form of Exhibit H-4, and (v) Morris, Nichols, Arsht & Tunnell LLP, special Delaware counsel to the Company, in substantially the form of Exhibit H-5.

The Agent shall promptly notify the Company and the Lenders of the occurrence of the Closing Date, and such notice shall be conclusive and binding.

SECTION 10. EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND THEIR EFFECT

Section 10.1. <u>Events of Default</u>. Each of the following shall constitute an Event of Default under this Agreement:

10.1.1 <u>Non-Payment of the Committed Loans, etc.</u> Default in the payment when due of any principal of any Committed Loan or default and continuance thereof for three Business Days in the payment when due of any interest on any Committed Loan, any fees or any other amounts payable by any Obligor hereunder.

- 10.1.2 Non-Payment of Other Indebtedness for Borrowed Money. (a) Default in the payment when due (subject to any applicable grace period), whether by acceleration or otherwise, of any principal of, interest on or fees incurred in connection with any other Indebtedness of, or Guaranteed by, the Company or any Significant Subsidiary beyond the period of grace, if any, provided in the instrument or agreement pursuant to which such Indebtedness was created (except (i) any such Indebtedness of any Subsidiary to the Company or to any other Subsidiary and (ii) any Indebtedness hereunder) or (b) default in the performance or observance of any obligation or condition with respect to any such other Indebtedness or (other than in respect of any Indebtedness secured by Liens over Aircraft Assets or the Equity Interests of a Subsidiary owning Aircraft Assets) any other event shall occur, the effect of which default or other event is to cause, or to permit the holder or holders of such Indebtedness or beneficiary or beneficiaries of such Guarantee (or a trustee or agent on behalf of such holder or holders or beneficiary or beneficiaries) to cause, (with or without the giving of notice, the lapse of time or both but in each case after any applicable period of grace, if any, shall have lapsed) such Indebtedness to become due prior to its stated maturity or the obligations under such Guarantee to become payable, provided, however, that the aggregate principal amount of all Indebtedness as to which there has occurred any default as described in clause (a) or (b) above shall equal or exceed \$200,000,000; provided further however, that clause (b) above shall not apply to secured Indebtedness that becomes due as a result of the voluntary sale or transfer of the property or assets securing such Indebtedness.
- 10.1.3 Bankruptcy, Insolvency, etc. The Company or any Significant Subsidiary becomes insolvent (which term shall include any form of creditor protection and moratorium, including bankruptcy (faillissement) and suspension of payments (surseance van betaling) under Dutch law and the serving of a notice pursuant to section 36 of the Dutch Tax Collection Act (Invorderingswet)) or generally fails to pay, or admits in writing its inability or refusal to pay, debts as they become due; or the Company or any Significant Subsidiary applies for, consents to, or acquiesces in the appointment of a trustee, liquidator, examiner, receiver or other custodian (including a "curator" in a bankruptcy under Dutch law and a "bewindvoerder" in a suspension of payment (surseance van betaling) under Dutch law) for the Company or such Significant Subsidiary or a material portion of the property thereof, or makes a general assignment for the benefit of creditors; or, in the absence of such application, consent or acquiescence, a trustee, liquidator, examiner, receiver or other custodian is appointed for the Company or any Significant Subsidiary or for a substantial part of the property of any thereof and is not discharged within 60 days; or any warrant of attachment (including a "beslag") or similar legal process is issued against any substantial part of the property of the Company or any of its Significant Subsidiaries which is not released within 60 days of service; or any bankruptcy, examinership, receivership, reorganization, debt arrangement, or other case or proceeding under any bankruptcy or insolvency law, or any dissolution or liquidation proceeding (except the voluntary dissolution, not under any bankruptcy or insolvency law, of a Significant Subsidiary), is commenced in respect of the Company or any Significant Subsidiary, and, if such case or proceeding is not commenced by the Company or such Significant Subsidiary it is consented to or acquiesced in by the Company or such Significant Subsidiary or remains for 60 days

undismissed; or the Company or any Significant Subsidiary takes any corporate action to authorize, or in furtherance of, any of the foregoing.

- 10.1.4 <u>Non-Compliance with this Agreement.</u>
- (a) Failure by any Obligor to comply with or to perform any of the covenants in Sections 8.1.4(i), Sections 8.9 through Section 8.15 and Section 8.17.
- (b) Failure by any Obligor to comply with or to perform any of the covenants herein or any other provision of this Agreement (and not constituting an Event of Default under any of the other provisions of this Section 10.1) and continuance of such failure for 30 days after notice thereof to the Company from the Agent.
- 10.1.5 <u>Representations and Warranties</u>. Any representation or warranty made by the Company herein or by any Guarantor in any Guarantee Assumption Agreement is untrue or misleading in any material respect when made or deemed made; or any schedule, statement, report, notice, or other writing furnished by the Company to the Agent or any Lender is false or misleading in any material respect on the date as of which the facts therein set forth are stated or certified; or any certification made or deemed made by the Company to the Agent or any Lender is untrue or misleading in any material respect on or as of the date made or deemed made.
- 10.1.6 <u>Employee Benefit Plans</u>. Any ERISA Event shall have occurred with respect to any Plan or any Foreign Benefit Event shall have occurred with respect to a Foreign Plan that, in each case, would reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.
- 10.1.7 <u>Judgments</u>. There shall be entered against the Company or any Subsidiary one or more final, non-appealable judgments or decrees for the payment of money in excess of \$200,000,000 in the aggregate at any one time outstanding for the Company or any Subsidiary (excluding any portion thereof that is paid or covered by insurance so long as coverage has not been denied in writing or is otherwise indemnified if the terms of such indemnification are satisfactory to the Required Lenders) and either (i) enforcement proceedings shall have been commenced by any creditor upon such judgments or orders in excess of such aggregate amount on or after the date any payment is due and payable under the terms of such judgments or orders and shall not have been stayed within 60 days after such enforcement proceedings are commenced or (ii) there is a period of 60 consecutive days during which such judgments or orders in excess of such aggregate amount shall not have been paid, vacated, discharged, stayed or bonded.
- 10.1.8 <u>Invalidity of Loan Documents</u>. Any Loan Document shall cease to be, or shall be asserted by any Obligor not to be, in full force and effect, except in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, including, in the case of any guarantee by any Subsidiary Guaranter of the Guaranteed Obligations, as a result of the release of such guarantee as provided in Section 13.9.
 - 10.1.9 Change of Control. A Change of Control shall have occurred.

Section 10.2. Effect of Event of Default. If any Event of Default described in Section 10.1.3 shall occur, the Commitments (if they have not theretofore terminated) shall immediately terminate and all Committed Loans and all interest and other amounts due hereunder shall become immediately due and payable, all without presentment, demand or notice of any kind; and, in the case of any other Event of Default, the Agent may, and upon written request of the Required Lenders shall, declare the Commitments (if they have not theretofore terminated) to be terminated and all Committed Loans and all interest and other amounts due hereunder to be due and payable, whereupon the Commitments (if they have not theretofore terminated) shall immediately terminate and all Committed Loans and all interest and other amounts due hereunder shall become immediately due and payable, all without presentment, demand or notice of any kind. The Agent shall promptly advise the Company and each Lender of any such declaration, but failure to do so shall not impair the effect of such declaration.

SECTION 11. THE AGENT

Section 11.1. <u>Authorization and Authority.</u> Each Lender hereby irrevocably appoints Citibank, N.A. to act on its behalf as the Agent hereunder and under the Committed Notes and authorizes the Agent to take such actions on its behalf and to exercise such powers as are delegated to the Agent by the terms hereof, together with such actions and powers as are reasonably incidental thereto. Subject to the provisions of Section 11.4, the Agent will take such action permitted by any agreement delivered in connection with this Agreement as may be requested in writing by the Required Lenders or if required under Section 12.1, all of the Lenders. Other than as expressly set forth herein, the Agent shall promptly remit in immediately available funds to each Lender its share of all payments received by the Agent for the account of such Lender, and shall promptly transmit to each Lender (or share with each Lender the contents of) each notice it receives from the Company pursuant to this Agreement. Other than Section 11.9, the provisions of this Section 11 are solely for the benefit of the Agent and the Lenders, and the Company shall have no rights as a third party beneficiary of any of such provisions.

Section 11.2. Agent Individually. (a) The Person serving as the Agent, if a Lender hereunder, shall have the same rights and powers in its capacity as a Lender as any other Lender and may exercise the same as though it were not the Agent and the term "Lender" or "Lenders" shall, unless otherwise expressly indicated or unless the context otherwise requires, include the Person serving as the Agent hereunder in its individual capacity. Such Person and its Affiliates may accept deposits from, lend money to, act as the financial advisor or in any other advisory capacity for and generally engage in any kind of business with the Company or any Subsidiary or other Affiliate thereof as if such Person were not the Agent hereunder and without any duty to account therefor to the Lenders.

(b) Each Lender understands that the Person serving as Agent, acting in its individual capacity, and its Affiliates (collectively, the "Agent's Group") are engaged in a wide range of financial services and businesses (including investment management, financing, securities trading, corporate and investment banking and research) (such services and businesses are collectively referred to in this Section 11.2 as "Activities") and may engage in the Activities

with or on behalf of the Company or its Affiliates. Furthermore, the Agent's Group may, in undertaking the Activities, engage in trading in financial products or undertake other investment businesses for its own account or on behalf of others (including the Company and its Affiliates and including holding, for its own account or on behalf of others, equity, debt and similar positions in the Company or its Affiliates), including trading in or holding long, short or derivative positions in securities, loans or other financial products of one or more of the Company and its Affiliates. Each Lender understands and agrees that in engaging in the Activities, the Agent's Group may receive or otherwise obtain information concerning the Company and its Affiliates (including information concerning the ability of the Company to perform its obligations hereunder) which information may not be available to any of the Lenders that are not members of the Agent's Group. None of the Agent nor any member of the Agent's Group shall have any duty to disclose to any Lender or use on behalf of the Lenders, and shall not be liable for the failure to so disclose or use, any information whatsoever about or derived from the Activities or otherwise (including any information concerning the business, prospects, operations, property, financial and other condition or creditworthiness of the Company) or to account for any revenue or profits obtained in connection with the Activities except that the Agent shall deliver or otherwise make available to each Lender such documents as are expressly required by this Agreement to be transmitted by the Agent to the Lenders.

(c) Each Lender further understands that there may be situations where members of the Agent's Group or their respective customers (including the Company and its Affiliates) either now have or may in the future have interests or take actions that may conflict with the interests of any one or more of the Lenders (including the interests of the Lenders hereunder). Each Lender agrees that no member of the Agent's Group is or shall be required to restrict its activities as a result of the Person serving as Agent being a member of the Agent's Group, and that each member of the Agent's Group may undertake any Activities without further consultation with or notification to any Lender. None of (i) this Agreement, (ii) the receipt by the Agent's Group of information (including "Information" as defined in Section 12.6) concerning the Company or its Affiliates (including information concerning the ability of the Company to perform its obligations hereunder) nor (iii) any other matter shall give rise to any fiduciary, equitable or contractual (other than the administrative duties of the Agent expressly provided hereunder) duties (including any duty of trust or confidence) owing by the Agent or any member of the Agent's Group to any Lender including any such duty that would prevent or restrict the Agent's Group from acting on behalf of customers (including the Company or its Affiliates) or for its own account.

Section 11.3. <u>Indemnification.</u> The Lenders agree to indemnify the Agent in its capacity as such (to the extent not reimbursed by the Company and without releasing the Company from its obligation to do so, to the extent applicable), ratably according to their respective Percentages (determined at the time such indemnity is sought), from and against any and all actions, causes of action, suits, losses, liabilities, damages and expenses which may at any time (including at any time following the repayment of the Committed Loans) be imposed on, incurred by or asserted against the Agent in any way relating to or arising out of this Agreement, or any documents contemplated by or referred to herein or the transactions contemplated hereby or any action taken or omitted by the Agent under or in connection with any of the foregoing; <u>provided</u>, that, no Lender shall be liable for the payment to the Agent of any portion of such actions, causes of action, suits, losses,

liabilities, damages and expenses resulting from the Agent's or its employees' or agents' gross negligence or willful misconduct. Without limiting the foregoing, subject to Section 12.5 each Lender agrees to reimburse the Agent promptly upon demand for its ratable share (determined at the time such reimbursement is sought) of any out-of-pocket expenses (including reasonable counsel fees) incurred by the Agent in such capacity in connection with the preparation, execution or enforcement of, or legal advice in respect of rights or responsibilities under, this Agreement or any amendments or supplements hereto or thereto to the extent that the Agent is not reimbursed for such expenses by the Company. All obligations provided for in this Section 11.3 shall survive repayment of the Committed Loans, cancellation of the Committed Notes or any termination of this Agreement. For the purpose of this Section 11.3, Agent shall mean the Administrative Agent and its Affiliates, directors, officers and employees.

Section 11.4. <u>Action on Instructions of the Required Lenders.</u> As to any matters not expressly provided for by this Agreement (including enforcement or collection of the Committed Loans), the Agent shall not be required to exercise any discretion or take any action, but the Agent shall in all cases be fully protected in acting or refraining from acting upon the written instructions from (i) the Required Lenders, except for instructions which under the express provisions hereof must be received by the Agent from all Lenders and (ii) in the case of such instructions, from all Lenders. In no event will the Agent be required to take any action which exposes the Agent to personal liability or which is contrary to this Agreement or applicable law. The relationship between the Agent and the Lenders is and shall be that of agent and principal only and nothing herein contained shall be construed to constitute the Agent a trustee for any holder of a Committed Loan or of a participation therein nor to impose on the Agent duties and obligations other than those expressly provided for herein.

Section 11.5. Payments.(a) The Agent shall be entitled to assume that each Lender has made its Committed Loan available in accordance with Section 2.2(c) unless such Lender notifies the Agent at its Notice Office prior to 11:30 a.m., New York City time, on the Funding Date for such Committed Loan that it does not intend to make such Committed Loan available, it being understood that no such notice shall relieve such Lender of any of its obligations under this Agreement. If the Agent makes any payment to the Borrower on the assumption that a Lender has made the proceeds of such Committed Loan available to the Agent but such Lender has not in fact made the proceeds of such Committed Loan available to the Agent, such Lender shall pay to the Agent on demand an amount equal to the amount of such Lender's Committed Loan, together with interest thereon for each day that elapses from and including such Funding Date to but excluding the Business Day on which the proceeds of such Lender's Committed Loan become immediately available to the Agent at its Payment Office prior to 12:00 Noon, New York City time, at the Federal Funds Rate for each such day, based upon a year of 360 days. A certificate of the Agent submitted to any Lender with respect to any amounts owing under this Section 11.5(a) shall be conclusive absent demonstrable error. If the proceeds of such Lender's Committed Loan are not made available to the Agent at its Payment Office by such Lender within three Business Days of such Funding Date, the Agent shall be entitled to recover such amount upon two Business Days' demand from the Borrower, together with interest thereon for each day that elapses from and including such Funding Date to

but excluding the Business Day on which such proceeds become immediately available to the Agent prior to 12:00 Noon, New York City time, at the rate per annum applicable to Base Rate Loans hereunder, based upon a year of 360 days. Nothing in this paragraph (a) shall relieve any Lender of any obligation it may have hereunder to make any Committed Loan or prejudice any rights which the Borrower may have against any Lender as a result of any default by such Lender hereunder.

- (b) The Agent shall be entitled to assume that the Borrower has made all payments due hereunder from the Borrower on the due date thereof unless it receives notification prior to any such due date from the Borrower that the Borrower does not intend to make any such payment, it being understood that no such notice shall relieve the Borrower of any of its obligations under this Agreement. If the Agent distributes any payment to a Lender hereunder in the belief that the Borrower has paid to the Agent the amount thereof but the Borrower has not in fact paid to the Agent such amount, such Lender shall pay to the Agent on demand (which shall be made by facsimile or personal delivery) an amount equal to the amount of the payment made by the Agent to such Lender, together with interest thereon for each day that elapses from and including the date on which the Agent made such payment to but excluding the Business Day on which the amount of such payment is returned to the Agent at its Payment Office in immediately available funds prior to 12:00 Noon, New York City time, at the Federal Funds Rate for each such day, based upon a year of 360 days. If the amount of such payment is not returned to the Agent in immediately available funds within three Business Days after demand by the Agent, such Lender shall pay to the Agent on demand an amount calculated in the manner specified in the preceding sentence after substituting the term "Base Rate" for the term "Federal Funds Rate". A certificate of the Agent submitted to any Lender with respect to amounts owing under this Section 11.5(b) shall be conclusive absent demonstrable error.
- (c) (i) If the Agent notifies a Lender or other recipient that the Agent has determined in its sole discretion that any funds received by such recipient from the Agent or any of its Affiliates were erroneously transmitted to, or otherwise erroneously or mistakenly received by, such recipient (whether or not known to such recipient) (any such funds whether as a payment, prepayment or repayment of principal, interest, fees or other amounts, a distribution or otherwise, individually and collectively, a "Payment" and any such recipient, an "Unintended Recipient") and demands the return of such Payment (or a portion thereof), such Unintended Recipient shall promptly, but in no event later than two Business Days thereafter, return to the Agent the amount of any such Payment (or portion thereof) as to which such a demand was made, in immediately available funds, together with interest thereon in respect of each day from and including the date such Payment (or portion thereof) was received by such Unintended Recipient to the date such amount is repaid to the Agent in immediately available funds at the greater of the Federal Funds Rate and a rate determined by the Agent in accordance with banking industry rules on interbank compensation from time to time in effect.
- (ii) To the extent permitted by applicable law, each party hereto shall not assert any right or claim to the Payment, and hereby waives, any claim, counterclaim, defense or right of set-off or recoupment with respect to any demand, claim or counterclaim by the Agent for the return of any Payments received,

including waiver of any defense based on "discharge for value" or any similar doctrine.

- (iii) A notice of the Agent to any Unintended Recipient under this clause (c) shall be conclusive, absent manifest error.
- (d) If an Unintended Recipient receives a Payment from the Agent (or any of its Affiliates) (i) that is in a different amount than, or on a different date from, that specified in a notice of payment or calculation statement sent by the Agent (or any of its Affiliates) with respect to such Payment (a "Payment Notice"), (ii) that was not preceded or accompanied by a Payment Notice or (iii) that such Unintended Recipient otherwise becomes aware was transmitted, or received, in error or mistake (in whole or in part) or such Payment is otherwise inconsistent with such recipient's or market expectations, in each case, an error shall be presumed to have been made with respect to such Payment absent written confirmation from the Agent to the contrary. Upon demand from the Agent, such Unintended Recipient shall promptly, but in no event later than two Business Days thereafter, return to the Agent the amount of any such Payment (or portion thereof) as to which such a demand was made.
- (e) The Company, the Borrower and each other Obligor hereby agree that the receipt by Unintended Recipient of a Payment shall not pay, prepay, repay, discharge or otherwise satisfy any obligations owed to such Unintended Recipient by the Company, the Borrower or any other Obligor.
- Section 11.6. <u>Duties of Agent; Exculpatory Provisions.</u>(a) The Agent's duties hereunder are solely ministerial and administrative in nature and the Agent shall not have any duties or obligations except those expressly set forth herein. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Agent shall not have any duty to take any discretionary action or exercise any discretionary powers, but shall be required to act or refrain from acting (and shall be fully protected in so acting or refraining from acting) upon the written direction of the Required Lenders (or such other number or percentage of the Lenders as shall be expressly provided for herein), <u>provided</u>, that, the Agent shall not be required to take any action that, in its opinion or the opinion of its counsel, may expose the Agent or any of its Affiliates to liability or that is contrary to this Agreement or applicable law.
- (b) The Agent shall not be liable for any action taken or not taken by it (i) with the consent or at the request of the Required Lenders (or such other number or percentage of the Lenders as shall be necessary, or as the Agent shall believe in good faith shall be necessary, under the circumstances as provided in Sections 12.1, 11.1 or 10.1) or (ii) in the absence of its own gross negligence, bad faith or willful misconduct. The Agent shall be deemed not to have knowledge of any Unmatured Event of Default or Event of Default or events that give or may give rise to any Unmatured Event of Default or Event of Default unless and until the Company or any Lender shall have given notice to the Agent describing such Event of Default and such event or events.
- (c) Neither the Agent nor any member of the Agent's Group shall be responsible for or have any duty to ascertain or inquire into (i) any statement, warranty,

representation or other information made or supplied by or on behalf of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries in or in connection with this Agreement or the Information Memorandum, (ii) the contents of any certificate, report or other document delivered hereunder or thereunder or in connection herewith or therewith or the adequacy, accuracy and/or completeness of the information contained therein, (iii) the performance or observance of any of the covenants, agreements or other terms or conditions set forth herein or therein or the occurrence of any Unmatured Event of Default or Event of Default, (iv) the validity, enforceability, effectiveness or genuineness of this Agreement or any other agreement, instrument or document or the perfection or priority of any Lien or security interest created or purported to be created hereby or (v) the satisfaction of any condition set forth in Section 9 or elsewhere herein, other than (but subject to the foregoing clause (ii)) to confirm receipt of items expressly required to be delivered to the Agent.

(d) Nothing in this Agreement shall require the Agent or any of its Related Parties to carry out any "know your customer" or other checks in relation to any person on behalf of any Lender and each Lender confirms to the Agent that it is solely responsible for any such checks it is required to carry out and that it may not rely on any statement in relation to such checks made by the Agent or any of its Related Parties.

Section 11.7. Reliance by Agent. The Agent shall be entitled to rely upon, and shall not incur any liability for relying upon, any notice, request, certificate, consent, statement, instrument, document or other writing (including any electronic message, Internet or intranet website posting or other distribution) believed by it to be genuine and correct and to have been signed, sent or otherwise authenticated by the proper Person or Persons. The Agent also may rely upon any statement made to it orally or by telephone and believed by it to have been made by the proper Person, and shall not incur any liability for relying thereon. In determining compliance with any condition hereunder to the making of a Committed Loan, that by its terms must be fulfilled to the satisfaction of a Lender, the Agent may presume that such condition is satisfactory to such Lender unless an officer of the Agent responsible for the transactions contemplated hereby shall have received notice to the contrary from such Lender prior to the making of such Committed Loan, and such Lender shall not have made available to the Agent such Lender's ratable portion of the applicable Committed Loan. The Agent may consult with legal counsel (who may be counsel for the Company), independent accountants and other experts selected by it, and shall not be liable for any action taken or not taken by it in accordance with the advice of any such counsel, accountants or experts.

Section 11.8. <u>Delegation of Duties.</u>The Agent may perform any and all of its duties and exercise its rights and powers hereunder by or through any one or more sub agents appointed by the Agent. The Agent and any such sub agent may perform any and all of its duties and exercise its rights and powers by or through their respective Related Parties. Each such sub agent and the Related Parties of the Agent and each such sub agent shall be entitled to the benefits of all provisions of this Section 11 and Section 12.5 and subject to the duties and obligations of the Agent under the Agreement (as though such sub-agents were the "Agent" hereunder) as if set forth in full herein with respect thereto. The Agent shall not be responsible for the negligence or misconduct of any sub-agent that it selects in the absence of gross negligence, bad faith or willful misconduct.

Section 11.9. Resignation of Agent. The Agent may resign as Agent upon 30 days' notice to the Lenders and the Company. Upon receipt of any such notice of resignation, the Required Lenders shall have the right, in consultation with the Company, to appoint a successor reasonably acceptable to the Company (such consent of the Company not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed and not required if an Event of Default under Section 10.1.1 or 10.1.3 has occurred and is continuing) from among the Lenders, which shall be a commercial bank organized under the laws of the United States of America or any State thereof or the District of Columbia or under the laws of another country which is doing business in the United States of America and having a combined capital, surplus and undivided profits of at least \$1,000,000,000. If no such successor shall have been so appointed by the Required Lenders and shall have accepted such appointment within 30 days after the retiring Agent gives notice of its resignation (such 30-day period, the "Lender Appointment Period"), then the retiring Agent may on behalf of the Lenders, appoint a successor Agent meeting the qualifications set forth above. In addition and without any obligation on the part of the retiring Agent to appoint, on behalf of the Lenders, a successor Agent, the retiring Agent may at any time upon or after the end of the Lender Appointment Period notify the Company and the Lenders that no qualifying Person has accepted appointment as successor Agent and the effective date of such retiring Agent's resignation. Upon the resignation effective date established in such notice and regardless of whether a successor Agent has been appointed and accepted such appointment, the retiring Agent's resignation shall nonetheless become effective and (i) the retiring Agent shall be discharged from its duties and obligations as Agent hereunder (other than with respect to its own gross negligence, bad faith or willful misconduct concerning any actions taken or omitted to be taken by it while it was Agent under this Agreement) and (ii) all payments. communications and determinations provided to be made by, to or through the Agent shall instead be made by or to each Lender directly, until such time as the Required Lenders appoint a successor Agent as provided for above in this paragraph. Upon the acceptance of a successor's appointment as Agent hereunder, such successor shall succeed to and become vested with all of the rights, powers, privileges and duties as Agent of the retiring (or retired) Agent, and the retiring Agent shall be discharged from all of its duties and obligations as Agent hereunder (if not already discharged therefrom as provided above in this paragraph). The fees payable by the Company to a successor Agent shall be the same as those payable to its predecessor unless otherwise agreed between the Company and such successor. After any retiring Agent's resignation hereunder as Agent, the provisions of this Section 11 shall inure to its benefit as to any actions taken or omitted to be taken by it while it was Agent under this Agreement.

Section 11.10. Non-Reliance on Agent and Other Lenders. (a) Each Lender confirms to the Agent, each other Lender and each of their respective Related Parties that it (i) possesses (individually or through its Related Parties) such knowledge and experience in financial and business matters that it is capable, without reliance on the Agent, any other Lender or any of their respective Related Parties, of evaluating the merits and risks (including tax, legal, regulatory, credit, accounting and other financial matters) of (x) entering into this Agreement, (y) making Committed Loans and other extensions of credit hereunder and (z) in taking or not taking actions hereunder and thereunder, (ii) is financially able to bear such risks and (iii) has determined that entering into this

Agreement and making Committed Loans and other extensions of credit hereunder is suitable and appropriate for it.

- (b) Each Lender acknowledges that (i) it is solely responsible for making its own independent appraisal and investigation of all risks arising under or in connection with this Agreement, (ii) that it has, independently and without reliance upon the Agent, any other Lender or any of their respective Related Parties, made its own appraisal and investigation of all risks associated with, and its own credit analysis and decision to enter into, this Agreement based on such documents and information, as it has deemed appropriate and (iii) it will, independently and without reliance upon the Agent, any other Lender or any of their respective Related Parties, continue to be solely responsible for making its own appraisal and investigation of all risks arising under or in connection with, and its own credit analysis and decision to take or not take action under, this Agreement based on such documents and information as it shall from time to time deem appropriate, which may include, in each case:
 - (i) the financial condition, status and capitalization of the Company;
- (ii) the legality, validity, effectiveness, adequacy or enforceability of this Agreement and any other agreement, arrangement or document entered into, made or executed in anticipation of, under or in connection with this Agreement;
- (iii) determining compliance or non-compliance with any condition hereunder to the making of a Committed Loan and the form and substance of all evidence delivered in connection with establishing the satisfaction of each such condition; and
- (iv) the adequacy, accuracy and/or completeness of the Information Memorandum and any other information delivered by the Agent, any other Lender or by any of their respective Related Parties under or in connection with this Agreement, the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby or any other agreement, arrangement or document entered into, made or executed in anticipation of, under or in connection with this Agreement.

Section 11.11. The Register; the Committed Notes.

- (a) The Agent, acting as a non-fiduciary agent on behalf of the Borrower, shall maintain at the Payment Office a register for the inscription of the names and addresses of Lenders and the Commitments and Committed Loans of, and principal amounts and interest owing to, each Lender from time to time (the "Register"). The entries in the Register shall be conclusive absent manifest error, and the Borrower, the Lenders, and the Agent may treat each Person whose name is inscribed in the Register as a Lender hereunder for all purposes of this Agreement. The Register shall be available for inspection by the Company, the Borrower, the Agent, or any Lender at any reasonable time and from time to time upon reasonable prior notice. No assignment shall be effective for purposes of this Agreement unless it has been recorded in the Register as provided in this paragraph.
- (b) The Agent shall inscribe in the Register the Commitments and the Committed Loans from time to time of each Lender, the amount of each Lender's participation in outstanding Committed Loans and each repayment or prepayment in respect of the principal amount of the Committed Loans of each Lender, the principal and other amounts owing from

time to time by the Borrower in respect of each Committed Loan to each Lender of such Committed Loans and the dates on which the Loan Period for each such Committed Loan shall begin and end. Any such inscription shall be conclusive and binding on the Borrower and each Lender, absent manifest or demonstrable error; <u>provided</u>, that, failure to make any such inscription, or any error in such inscription, shall not affect any of the Borrower's obligations in respect of the applicable Committed Loans; and <u>provided further</u>, that, in such case, the Borrower and the Agent shall be entitled to continue to deal solely and directly with the Lender inscribed in the Register with respect to such Committed Loans.

- (c) Each Lender shall record on its internal records the amount of each Committed Loan made by it and each payment in respect thereof; <u>provided</u>, that, in the event of any inconsistency between the Register and any Lender's records, the inscriptions in the Register shall govern, absent manifest or demonstrable error.
- (d) If so requested by any Lender by written notice to the Company (with a copy to Agent) at least two Business Days prior to the Closing Date or at any time thereafter, the Borrower shall execute and deliver to such Lender (and/or, if so specified in such notice, any Person who is an assignee of such Lender pursuant to Section 12.4.1 hereof) promptly after receipt of such notice, a Committed Note substantially in the form of Exhibit B hereto.
- Section 11.12. <u>No Other Duties, etc.</u> Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, no Person acting as "Joint Bookrunner", "Joint Lead Arranger", "Documentation Agent" or "Syndication Agent" listed on the cover page hereof shall have any powers, duties or responsibilities under this Agreement, except in its capacity, as applicable, as the Administrative Agent or as a Lender hereunder.

Section 11.13. Certain ERISA Matters.

- (a) Each Lender (x) represents and warrants, as of the date such Person became a Lender party hereto, to, and (y) covenants, from the date such Person became a Lender party hereto to the date such Person ceases being a Lender party hereto, for the benefit of, the Administrative Agent and not, for the avoidance of doubt, to or for the benefit of the Borrower, that at least one of the following is and will be true:
 - (i) such Lender is not using "plan assets" (within the meaning of Section 3(42) of ERISA or otherwise) of one or more Benefit Plans with respect to such Lender's entrance into, participation in, administration of and performance of the Committed Loans, the Commitments or this Agreement,
 - (ii) the transaction exemption set forth in one or more PTEs, such as PTE 84-14 (a class exemption for certain transactions determined by independent qualified professional asset managers), PTE 95-60 (a class exemption for certain transactions involving insurance company general accounts), PTE 90-1 (a class exemption for certain transactions involving insurance company pooled separate accounts), PTE 91-38 (a class exemption for certain transactions involving bank collective investment funds) or PTE 96-23 (a class exemption for certain transactions determined by in-house asset managers), is applicable with respect to

such Lender's entrance into, participation in, administration of and performance of the Committed Loans, the Commitments and this Agreement,

- (iii) (A) such Lender is an investment fund managed by a "Qualified Professional Asset Manager" (within the meaning of Part VI of PTE 84-14), (B) such Qualified Professional Asset Manager made the investment decision on behalf of such Lender to enter into, participate in, administer and perform the Committed Loans, the Commitments and this Agreement, (C) the entrance into, participation in, administration of and performance of the Committed Loans, the Commitments and this Agreement satisfies the requirements of sub-sections (b) through (g) of Part I of PTE 84-14 and (D) to the best knowledge of such Lender, the requirements of subsection (a) of Part I of PTE 84-14 are satisfied with respect to such Lender's entrance into, participation in, administration of and performance of the Committed Loans, the Commitments and this Agreement, or
- (iv) such other representation, warranty and covenant as may be agreed in writing between the Administrative Agent, in its sole discretion, and such Lender.
- (b) In addition, unless either (1) sub-clause (i) in the immediately preceding clause (a) is true with respect to a Lender or (2) a Lender has provided another representation, warranty and covenant in accordance with sub-clause (iv) in the immediately preceding clause (a), such Lender further (x) represents and warrants, as of the date such Person became a Lender party hereto, to, and (y) covenants, from the date such Person became a Lender party hereto to the date such Person ceases being a Lender party hereto, for the benefit of, the Administrative Agent and not, for the avoidance of doubt, to or for the benefit of the Borrower, that the Administrative Agent is not a fiduciary with respect to the assets of such Lender involved in such Lender's entrance into, participation in, administration of and performance of the Committed Loans, the Commitments and this Agreement (including in connection with the reservation or exercise of any rights by the Administrative Agent under this Agreement, any Loan Document or any documents related hereto or thereto).

SECTION 12. GENERAL

Section 12.1. Waiver; Amendments. No delay on the part of the Agent, any Lender, or the holder of any Committed Loan in the exercise of any right, power or remedy shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise by any of them of any right, power or remedy preclude other or further exercise thereof, or the exercise of any other right, power or remedy. Except as provided in Section 6.2(b), no amendment, modification or waiver of, or consent with respect to, any provision of this Agreement or the Committed Notes shall in any event be effective unless the same shall be in writing and signed and delivered by the Obligors (or, in the case of the Committed Notes, the Borrower), the Agent and by the Non-Defaulting Lenders having an aggregate Percentage of not less than the aggregate Percentage expressly designated herein with respect thereto or, in the absence of such designation as to any provision of this Agreement or the Committed Notes, by the Required Lenders, and then any amendment, modification, waiver or consent shall be effective only in the specific instance and for the specific

purpose for which given. No amendment, modification, waiver or consent (i) shall change the definition of "Required Lenders" or "Percentage" in Section 1, amend, waive, change or otherwise modify the terms of Section 3.6, Section 5.2(a), Section 10.1.1, or this Section 12.1, release all or substantially all of the Guarantors (except the release of any Guarantor pursuant to a transaction otherwise permitted hereunder), or otherwise change the aggregate Percentage required to effect an amendment, modification, waiver or consent without the written consent of the Obligors and all Non-Defaulting Lenders, (ii) shall modify or waive any of the conditions precedent specified in Section 9.1 for the making of any Committed Loan without the written consent of the Obligors and the Lender which is to make such Committed Loan or (iii) shall (other than in accordance with Section 12.9(a)) extend the scheduled maturity, increase the amount of, or reduce the principal amount of, or rate of interest on, reduce or waive any fee hereunder or extend the due date for or waive any amount payable under, any Commitment or Committed Loan without the written consent of the Obligors and the applicable Lender holding the Commitment or Committed Loan adversely affected thereby. No provisions of Section 12 or any provision herein affecting the rights and duties of the Agent in its capacity as such shall be amended, modified or waived without the Agent's written consent.

Section 12.2. Notices.

- (a) Subject to paragraphs (b) through (f) of this Section 12.2, all notices, requests and demands to or upon the respective parties hereto to be effective shall be either (x) in writing (including by telecopy, encrypted or unencrypted) or (y) as and to the extent set forth in Section 12.2(b) and in the proviso to this Section 12.2(a) and, unless otherwise expressly provided herein, shall be deemed to have been duly given or made when delivered or, in the case of telecopy or e-mail notice, when received, addressed to the Borrower, the Agent or such Lender (or other holder) at its address shown across from its name on Schedule III hereto or at such other address as it may, by written notice received by the other parties to this Agreement, have designated as its address for such purpose; provided, that any notice, request or demand to or upon the Agent or the Lenders pursuant to Sections Section 2.2(a) or 4.2 shall not be effective until received.
- (b) Each Obligor hereby agrees that, unless otherwise requested by the Agent, it will provide to the Agent all information, documents and other materials that it is obligated to furnish to the Agent pursuant to this Agreement, including all notices, requests, financial statements, financial and other reports, certificates and other information materials, but excluding any such communication that (i) relates to a request for a new, or a conversion of an existing, borrowing or other extension of credit (including any election of an interest rate or interest period relating thereto), (ii) relates to the payment of any principal or other amount due under this Agreement prior to the scheduled date therefor, (iii) provides notice of any Unmatured Event of Default or Event of Default under this Agreement, (iv) is required to be delivered to satisfy any condition precedent to the effectiveness of this Agreement and/or any borrowing or other extension of credit hereunder or (v) initiates or responds to legal process (all such non-excluded information being referred to herein collectively as the "Communications") by transmitting the Communications in an electronic/soft medium (with such Communications to contain any required signatures) in a format acceptable to the Agent to global.loans.support@citi.com (or such other e-mail address designated by the Agent from time to time); provided, that, if

requested in writing by any Lender, the Company will provide to such Lender a hard copy of its financial statements required to be provided hereunder.

- (c) Each party hereto agrees that the Agent may make the Communications available to the Lenders by posting the Communications on DebtDomain or another relevant website, if any, to which each Lender and the Agent have access (whether a commercial, third-party website or whether sponsored by the Agent) (the "Platform"). Nothing in this Section 12.2 shall prejudice the right of the Agent to make the Communications available to the Lenders in any other manner specified in this Agreement.
- (d) The Company hereby acknowledges that certain of the Lenders may be "public-side" Lenders (i.e., Lenders that do not wish to receive material non-public information with respect to the Company or its securities) (each, a "Public Lender"). The Company hereby agrees that (i) Communications that are to be made available on the Platform to Public Lenders shall be clearly and conspicuously marked "PUBLIC" which, at a minimum, shall mean that the word "PUBLIC" shall appear prominently on the first page thereof, (ii) by marking Communications "PUBLIC," the Company shall be deemed to have authorized the Agent and the Lenders to treat such Communications as either publicly available information or not material information (although it may be sensitive and proprietary) with respect to the Company or its securities for purposes of United States Federal and state securities laws, (iii) all Communications marked "PUBLIC" are permitted to be made available through a portion of the Platform designated "Public Lender," and (iv) the Agent shall be entitled to treat any Communications that are not marked "PUBLIC" as being suitable only for posting on a portion of the Platform not designated "Public Lender."
- (e) Each Lender agrees that e-mail notice to it (at the address provided pursuant to the next sentence and deemed delivered as provided in the next paragraph) specifying that Communications have been posted to the Platform shall constitute effective delivery of such Communications to such Lender for purposes of this Agreement. Each Lender agrees (i) to notify the Agent in writing (including by electronic communication) from time to time to ensure that the Agent has on record an effective e-mail address for such Lender to which the foregoing notice may be sent by electronic transmission and (ii) that the foregoing notice may be sent to such e-mail address.
- (f) Each party hereto acknowledges that (i) the distribution of material through an electronic medium is not necessarily secure and that there are confidentiality and other risks associated with such distribution, (ii) the Platform is provided "as is" and "as available," (iii) none of the Agent, its affiliates nor any of their respective officers, directors, employees, agents, advisors or representatives (collectively, the "Agent Parties") warrants the adequacy, accuracy or completeness of the Communications or the Platform, and each Agent Party expressly disclaims liability for errors or omissions in any Communications or the Platform, and (iv) no warranty of any kind, express, implied or statutory, including any warranty of merchantability, fitness for a particular purpose, non-infringement of third party rights or freedom from viruses or other code defects, is made by any Agent Party in connection with any Communications or the Platform.

Section 12.3. <u>Computations</u>.

- (a) Subject to Section 12.3(b), where the character or amount of any asset or liability or item of income or expense is required to be determined, or any consolidation or other accounting computation is required to be made, for the purpose of this Agreement, such determination or calculation shall, at any time and to the extent applicable and except as otherwise specified in this Agreement, be made in accordance with GAAP. If (i) at any time any material change in GAAP or (ii) on the Closing Date any "End of Lease Assets" are reclassified as goodwill on such date, and in each case the application thereof or such reclassification would affect the computation or interpretation of any financial ratio, requirement or other provision set forth in this Agreement, and either the Company or the Agent shall so request, the Agent and the Company shall negotiate in good faith to amend such ratio, requirement or other provision to preserve the original intent thereof in light of such change in GAAP or the application thereof or such reclassification (it being understood, however, that such ratio, requirement or other provision shall remain in full force and effect in accordance with their existing terms pending the execution by the Company and the Required Lenders of any such amendment); provided that, until so amended, (A) such ratio, requirement or other provision shall continue to be computed or interpreted in accordance with GAAP or the application thereof prior to such change therein or such reclassification and (B) in the case of any relevant calculation, the Company shall provide to the Agent and the Lenders a written unaudited reconciliation in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Agent, between calculations of such ratio, requirement or other provision made before and after giving effect to such change in GAAP or the application thereof or such reclassification.
- (b) Notwithstanding the foregoing or any other provision of this Agreement, the adoption or issuance of any accounting standards after December 31, 2015 will not cause any rental obligation that was not or would not have been Capitalized Rentals prior to such adoption or issuance to be deemed Capitalized Rentals.
- (c) In the event that (i) any accounting standard that is adopted or issued after December 31, 2015 would, but for the provisions of Section 12.3(b), cause any rental obligation that was not or would not have been Capitalized Rentals prior to such adoption or issuance to be deemed Capitalized Rentals and (ii) the effect of Section 12.3(b) shall materially impact the calculation of the financial covenants in this Agreement, then the Company thereafter shall provide, at the time of delivery of financial statements pursuant to Sections 8.1.1 and 8.1.2, to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders financial statements and other documents required or as reasonably requested under this Agreement to, as applicable, provide an unaudited estimated reconciliation of such financial covenant at the close of each quarterly period with respect to the treatment of Capitalized Leases and Capitalized Rentals, calculated using GAAP as in effect before such adoption or issuance.
- Section 12.4. <u>Assignments; Participations</u>. Each Lender may assign, or sell participations in, its Committed Loans and its Commitment to one or more other Persons in accordance with this Section 12.4 (and, subject to compliance by the applicable Lender with Section 12.6, the Company consents to the disclosure of any information obtained by any Lender in connection herewith to any actual or prospective Assignee or Participant).

- 12.4.1 Assignments. Any Lender may with the written consents of the Company and the Agent (which consents will not be unreasonably withheld or delayed) at any time assign and delegate to one or more Eligible Assignees (any Person to whom an assignment and delegation is made being herein called an "Assignee") all or any fraction of such Lender's Committed Loans and Commitment; each such assignment of a Lender's Commitment shall be in the minimum amount of \$10,000,000 or in integral multiples of \$1,000,000 in excess thereof (or such lower minimum amount or lower integral multiple as the Company and the Agent may consent to); provided that, in the case of an assignment of the entire remaining amount of the assigning Lender's Commitment and the Committed Loans at the time owing to it, no minimum amount need be assigned; provided, further, that (a) no such consent from the Company shall be required if, at such time, an Event of Default under Section 10.1.1 or 10.1.3 has occurred and is continuing and (b) no such consent from the Company or the Agent shall be required for any assignment and delegation (i) from or to Goldman Sachs Bank USA to or from Goldman Sachs Lending Partners LLC or (ii) from or to Morgan Stanley Senior Funding, Inc. to or from Morgan Stanley Bank, N.A.; provided, further, that, any such Assignee will comply, if applicable, with the provisions contained in Section 5.4; provided, further, the Company may withhold consent to the assignment of any Lender's Committed Loans and Commitment to an Assignee for whom it is illegal to make a LIBOR Rate Loan described in Section 12.9(b)(iii) or that the Borrower would be required to compensate for any withholding or deductions described in clauses (i) or (ii) of Section 12.9(b) that are in excess of any such withholding or deductions the Borrower would be required to compensate to such assigning Lender, and any such withholding of consent by the Company is and hereby will be deemed to be reasonable; and provided, further, that the Borrower and the Agent shall be entitled to continue to deal solely and directly with such assigning Lender in connection with the interests so assigned and delegated to an Assignee until such assigning Lender and/or such Assignee shall have consummated such assignment:
 - (i) given written notice of such assignment and delegation, together with payment instructions, addresses and related information with respect to such Assignee, substantially in the form of Exhibit D, to the Company and the Agent;
 - (ii) provided evidence satisfactory to the Company and the Agent that, as of the date of such assignment and delegation the Obligors will not be required to pay any costs, fees, taxes or other amounts of any kind or nature (including under Section 12.5) with respect to the interest assigned in excess of those payable by the Obligors with respect to such interest prior to such assignment;
 - (iii) paid to the Agent for the account of the Agent a processing fee of \$3,500; <u>provided</u> that the Administrative Agent may, in its sole discretion, elect to waive such processing and recordation fee in the case of any assignment; and
 - (iv) provided to the Agent evidence reasonably satisfactory to the Agent that the assigning Lender has complied with the provisions of Section 11.10.

Upon receipt of the foregoing items and the consents of the Company and the Agent, and subject to the acceptance and recordation of the assignment by the Agent pursuant to Section 11.11, (x) the Assignee shall be deemed automatically to have become a party hereto and, to the extent that

rights and obligations hereunder have been assigned and delegated to such Assignee, such Assignee shall have the rights and obligations of a Lender hereunder and under the other instruments and documents executed in connection herewith and (y) the assigning Lender, to the extent that rights and obligations hereunder have been assigned and delegated by it, shall be released from its obligations hereunder, except as specified in the last sentence of Section 12.6. The Agent may from time to time (and upon the request of the Company or any Lender after any change therein shall) distribute a revised Schedule I indicating any changes in the Lenders party hereto or the respective Percentages of such Lenders and update the Register. Within five Business Days after the Company's receipt of notice from the Agent of the effectiveness of any such assignment and delegation, if requested by the Assignee in accordance with Section 11.11, the Borrower shall execute and deliver to the Agent (for delivery to the relevant Assignee) new Committed Notes in favor of such Assignee and, if the assigning Lender has retained Committed Loans and a Commitment hereunder and if so requested by such Lender in accordance with Section 11.11, replacement Committed Notes in favor of the assigning Lender (such Committed Notes to be in exchange for, but not in payment of, the Committed Notes previously held by such assigning Lender). Each such Committed Notes shall be dated the date of the predecessor Committed Notes. The assigning Lender shall promptly mark the predecessor Committed Notes, if any, "exchanged" and deliver them to the Borrower. Any attempted assignment and delegation not made in accordance with this Section 12.4.1 shall be null and void.

The foregoing consent requirement shall not be applicable in the case of, and this Section 12.4.1 shall not restrict, any assignment or other transfer by any Lender of all or any portion of such Lender's Committed Loans or Commitment to any Federal Reserve Bank or the European Central Bank (provided, that, such Federal Reserve Bank or European Central Bank shall not be considered a "Lender" for purposes of this Agreement).

Notwithstanding any other provision set forth in this Agreement, any Lender may at any time create a security interest in all or any portion of its rights under this Agreement to secure obligations of such Lender to a Federal Reserve Bank in accordance with Regulation A of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System or other similar central bank; <u>provided</u>, that, no such pledge or assignment of a security interest shall release a Lender from any of its obligations hereunder or substitute any such pledgee or assignee for such Lender party hereto.

The Company, each Lender, and each Assignee acknowledge and agree that after receipt by the Agent of the items and consents required by this Section 12.4.1 each Assignee shall be considered a Lender for all purposes of this Agreement (including Sections 5.4, 6.1, 6.4, 12.5 and 12.6) and by its acceptance of an assignment herein, each Assignee agrees to be bound by the provisions of this Agreement (including Section 5.4).

12.4.2 <u>Participations</u>. Any Lender may at any time without the consent of the Company or the Agent sell to one or more Eligible Assignees or any Affiliate thereof which is not a Disqualified Lender and is engaged in making, purchasing or otherwise investing in commercial loans in the ordinary course of its business (any such Eligible Assignee or Affiliate being herein called a "<u>Participant</u>") participating interests in any of its Committed Loans, its Commitment or any other interest of such Lender hereunder; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that

- (a) no participation contemplated in this Section 12.4.2 shall relieve such Lender from its Commitment or its other obligations hereunder;
- (b) such Lender shall remain solely responsible for the performance of its Commitment and such other obligations hereunder and such Lender shall retain the sole right and responsibility to enforce the obligations of the Obligors hereunder, including the right to approve any amendment, modification or waiver of any provision of this Agreement (subject to Section 12.4.2(d) below);
- (c) the Borrower and the Agent shall continue to deal solely and directly with such Lender in connection with such Lender's rights and obligations under this Agreement;
- (d) no Participant, unless such Participant is an Affiliate of such Lender, or is itself a Lender, shall be entitled to require such Lender to take or refrain from taking any action hereunder, except that such Lender may agree with any Participant that such Lender will not, without such Participant's consent, take any actions of the type described in the third sentence of Section 12.1;
- (e) no Obligor shall be required to pay any amount under Sections 3.1, 5.4 or 6.1 that is greater than the amount which such Obligor would have been required to pay had no participating interest been sold;
- (f) no Participant may further participate any interest in any Committed Loan (and each participation agreement shall contain a restriction to such effect);
- (g) to the extent permitted by applicable law, each Participant shall be considered a Lender for purposes of Section 5.4, Section 6.1, Section 6.4, Section 12.5 and Section 12.6 and by its acceptance of a participating interest in any Committed Loan, Commitment or any other interest of a Lender hereunder, each Participant agrees that it is bound by, and agrees to deliver all documentation required under, the provisions of Section 5.2(b) and Section 5.4 as if such Participant were a Lender (it being understood that the documentation required under Section 5.4 shall be delivered to the participating Lender);
- (h) such Lender shall have provided to the Agent evidence reasonably satisfactory to the Agent that such Lender has complied with the provisions of the last sentence of Section 11.6; and
- (i) each Lender that sells a participation shall, acting solely for this purpose as a non-fiduciary agent of the Borrower, maintain a register on which it enters the name and address of each Participant and the principal amounts (and stated interest) of each Participant's interest in the Committed Loans or other obligations under the Loan Documents (the "Participant Register"); provided that no Lender shall have any obligation to disclose all or any portion of the Participant Register (including the identity of any Participant or any information relating to a Participant's interest in any commitments, loans or other obligations under any Loan Document) to any Person except to the extent that such disclosure is necessary to establish that such commitment, loan or other obligation is in registered form under Section 5f.103-1(c) of the United States Treasury Regulations. The entries in the Participant Register

shall be conclusive absent manifest error, and such Lender shall treat each Person whose name is recorded in the Participant Register as the owner of such participation for all purposes of this Agreement notwithstanding any notice to the contrary. For the avoidance of doubt, the Agent (in its capacity as Agent) shall have no responsibility for maintaining a Participant Register.

Any Lender (a "Granting Lender") may grant to a special purpose funding vehicle organized under the laws of the United States of America or any State thereof (a "SPV") of such Granting Lender, identified as such in writing from time to time by the Granting Lender to the Agent, the Company and the Borrower, the option to provide to the Borrower all or any part of its Committed Loans that such Granting Lender would otherwise be obligated to make to the Borrower pursuant to this Agreement; provided, that, (i) such SPV shall be deemed to be a Participant for purposes of this Section 12.4.2, (ii) nothing herein shall constitute a commitment by any SPV to make any Committed Loan, (iii) if a SPV elects not to exercise such option or otherwise fails to provide all or any part of such Committed Loan, the Granting Lender shall be obligated to make such Committed Loan pursuant to the terms hereof and (iv) the Company shall not be required to pay any amount under Sections 12.5 or 12.7 that is greater than the amount which the Company would have been required to pay had such SPV not provided the Borrower with any part of any Committed Loan of such Granting Lender. The making of a Committed Loan by a SPV hereunder shall utilize the Commitment of the Granting Lender to the same extent, and as if, such Committed Loan were made by such Granting Lender. Each party hereto hereby agrees that no SPV shall be liable for any indemnity or similar payment obligation under this Agreement (any indemnity, liability or other payment obligation, including but not limited to any tax liabilities that occur by reason of such funding by the SPV, shall remain the obligation of the Granting Lender). In furtherance of the foregoing, each party hereto agrees (which agreement shall survive the termination of this Agreement) that, prior to the date that is one year and one day after the payment in full of all outstanding commercial paper or other senior indebtedness of any SPV, it will not institute against, or join any other Person in instituting against, such SPV any bankruptcy, reorganization, arrangement, insolvency or liquidation proceedings under the laws of the United States or any State thereof. In addition, notwithstanding anything contrary contained in this Section 12.4.2, any SPV may (i) with notice to, but without the prior written consent of, the Company and the Agent and without paying any processing fee therefor, assign all or a portion of its interests in any Committed Loans to the Granting Lender providing liquidity and/or credit support to or for the account of such SPV to support the funding or maintenance of Committed Loans and (ii) disclose on a confidential basis any non-public information relating to its Committed Loans to any rating agency, commercial paper dealer or provider of any surety, guarantee or credit or liquidity enhancement to such SPV. This paragraph may not be amended without the written consent of any SPV at the time holding all or any part of any Committed Loans under this Agreement (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed).

Section 12.5. <u>Costs, Expenses and Taxes</u>. The Company agrees to pay <u>onwithin 30 days of written</u> demand (a) all reasonable <u>and documented</u> out-of-pocket costs and expenses of the Agent (<u>including limited</u>, in the case of counsel, to the reasonable <u>and documented</u> fees and out-of-pocket expenses of a single <u>outside</u> counsel for the Agent (and, <u>if reasonably required</u>, of <u>a single</u> local counsel, <u>if any, who may be retained by said counsel for the Agent in each appropriate jurisdiction</u>)), in connection with the preparation, execution, delivery and administration of, and any amendment to,

this Agreement, the Committed Notes and all other instruments or documents provided for herein or delivered or to be delivered hereunder or in connection herewith and (b) all reasonable and documented out-of-pocket costs and expenses (including limited, in the case of counsel, to the reasonable attorneys' and documented fees and legalout-of-pocket expenses and allocated costs of a single outside counsel for the Agent and the Lenders (and, if reasonably required, of staffa single local counsel) for the Agent and the Lenders in each appropriate jurisdiction)) and, in the case of an actual or perceived conflict of interest, a single additional firm of outside counsel (or, if reasonably required, a single additional local counsel in each appropriate jurisdiction), incurred by the Agent and each Lender in connection with the enforcement of this Agreement, the Committed Notes or any such other instruments or documents. Each Lender agrees to reimburse the Agent for such Lender's pro rata share (based upon its respective Percentage determined at the time such reimbursement is sought) of any such costs or expenses incurred by the Agent on behalf of all the Lenders and not paid by the Obligors other than any fees and out-of-pocket expenses of counsel for the Agent which exceed the amount which the Company or the Borrower has agreed with the Agent to reimburse. In addition, without duplication of the provisions of Section 5.4, each Obligor agrees to pay, and to hold the Agent and the Lenders harmless from all liability for, any stamp, court or documentary, intangible, recording, filing or similar Taxes which may be payable in connection with the execution, delivery and enforcement of this Agreement, the borrowings hereunder, the issuance of the Committed Notes (if any) or the execution, delivery and enforcement of any other instruments or documents provided for herein or delivered or to be delivered hereunder or in connection herewith, except, in each case, any such Taxes that are Other Connection Taxes imposed with respect to an assignment or participation other than an assignment made pursuant to Section 12.9(c). All obligations provided for in this Section 12.5 shall survive repayment of the Committed Loans, cancellation of the Committed Notes or any termination of this Agreement.

Section 12.6. Confidentiality. Each of the Agent and the Lenders agrees to maintain the confidentiality of the Information (as defined below), except that Information may be disclosed (a) to its Affiliates and to its and its Affiliates' respective managers, administrators, trustees, partners, directors, officers, employees, agents, advisors and other representatives (it being understood that (i) no disclosure of Information shall be made by the Agent or any Lender to an Affiliate and such Affiliate's respective managers, administrators, trustees, partners, directors, officers, employees, agents, advisors and other representatives if such Affiliate is a Disqualified Lender and (ii) the Persons to whom such disclosure is made will be informed of the confidential nature of such Information and instructed to keep such Information confidential), (b) to the extent requested by any regulatory authority purporting to have jurisdiction over it (including any self-regulatory authority, such as the National Association of Insurance Commissioners), (c) to the extent required by applicable laws or regulations or by any subpoena or similar legal process, (d) to any other party hereto, (e) in connection with the exercise of any remedies hereunder or under any Committed Note or any action or proceeding relating to this Agreement or any Committed Note or the enforcement of rights hereunder or thereunder, (f) subject to a confidentiality agreement with or other contractual, legal, or fiduciary obligation of confidentiality to the Company containing provisions substantially the same as those of this Section 12.6, to (i) any assignee of or participant in, or any

prospective assignee of or participant in, any of its rights or obligations under this Agreement or (ii) any actual or prospective party (or its managers, administrators, trustees, partners, directors, officers, employees, agents, advisors and other representatives) to any swap or derivative or similar transaction under which payments are to be made by reference to the Company and its obligations, this Agreement or payments hereunder, (iii) any rating agency, or (iv) the CUSIP Service Bureau or any similar organization, (g) with the prior written consent of the Company or (h) to the extent such Information (x) becomes publicly available other than as a result of a breach of this Section 12.6 or (y) becomes available to the Agent, any Lender or any of their respective Affiliates on a nonconfidential basis from a source other than the Company. With respect to any disclosure under Section 12.6(c), each of the Agent and the Lenders, as applicable, shall use commercially reasonable efforts to promptly notify the Company, to the extent legally permissible and practicable under the circumstances, so as to permit the Company to obtain a protective order as to such disclosure, and each of the Agent and the Lenders will reasonably cooperate (to the extent practicable and permitted by their respective then existing policies) with the Company for such purpose.

For purposes of this Section, "<u>Information</u>" means all information received from the Company or any of its Subsidiaries relating to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any of their respective businesses, other than any such information that is available to the Agent or any Lender on a nonconfidential basis prior to disclosure by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, <u>provided</u>, that, in the case of information received from the Company or any of its Subsidiaries after the date hereof, such information is clearly identified at the time of delivery as confidential. Any Person required to maintain the confidentiality of Information as provided in this Section shall be considered to have complied with its obligation to do so if such Person has exercised the same degree of care to maintain the confidentiality of such Information as such Person would accord to its own confidential information. With respect to any Lender or Agent, the obligations of such Lender or Agent pursuant to this Section 12.6 shall terminate on the first anniversary of the earlier of the Termination Date and the date on which such Lender or Agent ceases to be a party hereto.

Section 12.7. <u>Indemnification</u>. In consideration of the execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Agent and the Lenders, but without duplication of the provisions of Section 5.4, each Obligor hereby agrees to indemnify, exonerate and hold each of the Lenders, the Agent, the Agent, the Arrangers, the Affiliates of each of the Lenders, the Arrangers and the Agent, and each of the officers, directors, employees, agents and advisors of the Lenders, the Arrangers, the Agent and the Affiliates of each of the Lenders, the Arrangers and the Agent (collectively herein called the "<u>Lender Parties</u>" and individually called a "<u>Lender Party</u>") free and harmless from and against any and all actions, causes of action, suits, losses, liabilities, damages and expenses, including reasonable and documented out-of-pocket expenses (limited, in the case of counsel, to the reasonable attorneys and documented fees and disbursements out-of-pocket expenses of a single outside counsel for all Lender Parties, taken together (and, if reasonably required, of a single local counsel for all Lender Parties, taken together, in each appropriate jurisdiction), and, in the case of an actual or perceived conflict of interest, a single additional firm of outside counsel (or, if reasonably required, a single additional local counsel in each appropriate jurisdiction) for each

group of similarly situated Lender Parties) (collectively herein called the "Indemnified Liabilities"), incurred by the Lender Parties or any of them as a result of, or arising out of, or relating to (i) this Agreement, the Committed Notes (if any) or the Committed Loans or (ii) the direct or indirect use of proceeds of any of the Committed Loans or any credit extended hereunder, except (x) for any such Indemnified Liabilities arising on account of such Lender Party's (or any of its Related Parties') gross negligence, bad faith or willful misconduct as determined by a court of competent jurisdiction in a final and nonappealable judgment-and, (v) for any such Indemnified Liabilities resulting from a material breach of the obligations of such Lender Party (or any of its Related Parties) under the Loan Documents as determined by a court of competent jurisdiction in a final and nonappealable judgment or (z) to the extent such Indemnified Liabilities result from any dispute solely among Indemnified Lender Parties other than any claims against the Agent or any Arranger in its capacity or in fulfilling its role as Agent or Arranger under this Agreement and other than any claims arising out of any act or omission on the part of the Company or any Obligor, and if and to the extent that the foregoing undertaking may be unenforceable for any reason, the Obligors hereby agree to make the maximum contribution to the payment and satisfaction of each of the Indemnified Liabilities which is permissible under applicable law. Each Obligor agrees not to assert any claim against the Lender Parties on any theory of liability, for consequential, indirect, special or punitive damages arising out of or otherwise relating to this Agreement and the Committed Notes (if any) or any of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby or the actual or proposed use of the proceeds of the Committed Loans. All obligations provided for in this Section 12.7 shall survive repayment of the Committed Loans, cancellation of the Committed Notes (if any) or any termination of this Agreement. This Section 12.7 shall not apply with respect to Taxes other than Taxes that represent losses, claims, damages or similar items arising from any non-Tax claim.

Section 12.8. Acknowledgement and Consent to Bail-In of EEAAffected Financial Institutions.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in any Loan Document or in any other agreement, arrangement or understanding among the parties hereto, each party hereto acknowledges that any liability of any EEAAffected Financial Institution arising under any Loan Document, to the extent such liability is unsecured, may be subject to the Write-Down and Conversion Powers of an EEAthe applicable Resolution Authority and agrees and consents to, and acknowledges and agrees to be bound by:

- (a) The application of any Write-Down and Conversion Powers by an EEA the applicable Resolution Authority to any such liabilities arising hereunder which may be payable to it by any party hereto that is an EEA Affected Financial Institution; and
 - (b) The effects of any Bail-in Action on any such liability, including, if applicable:
 - (i) a reduction in full or in part or cancellation of any such liability;
- (ii) a conversion of all, or a portion of, such liability into shares or other instruments of ownership in such EEA Affected Financial Institution, its parent entity undertaking, or a bridge institution that may be issued to it or otherwise conferred

on it, and that such shares or other instruments of ownership will be accepted by it in lieu of any rights with respect to any such liability under this Agreement or any other Loan Document; or

(iii) the variation of the terms of such liability in connection with the exercise of the Write-Down and Conversion Powers of any EEAthe applicable Resolution Authority.

Extension of Termination Dates; Removal of Lenders; Substitution of Lenders. (a) At any time and from time to time after the Closing Date, the Borrower may, at its option, request all the Lenders then party to this Agreement to extend their scheduled Termination Dates by an additional one year period, or such shorter period as agreed upon by the Borrower and the Agent, by means of a letter substantially in the form of Exhibit E hereto (each, an "Extension Request"), addressed to the Agent (who shall promptly deliver such Extension Request to each Lender). Each Lender electing (in its sole discretion) to extend its scheduled Termination Date shall execute and deliver not later than the 10th Business Day after delivery of the Extension Request to Lenders, counterparts of such Extension Request to the Borrower and the Agent, who shall notify the Borrower, in writing, of the Lenders' decisions no later than the 15th Business Day after delivery of the Extension Request to the Lenders, whereupon (unless Lenders with an aggregate Percentage of 50% or more decline to extend their respective scheduled Termination Dates, in which event the Agent shall notify all the Lenders and the Borrower thereof and no such extension shall occur) such Lender's scheduled Termination Date shall be extended, effective only as of the date that is such Lender's then-current scheduled Termination Date, to the date that is one year, or such shorter period as agreed as provided above, after such Lender's then-current scheduled Termination Date. Any Lender that declines or fails to respond to the Borrower's request for such extension shall be deemed to have not extended its scheduled Termination Date. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the Borrower shall not effectuate any such extension of the Termination Date (i) more than two times during the term of this Agreement, (ii) more than once in any consecutive 12-month period and (iii) that would result in a scheduled Termination Date, after giving effect to such extension, that is greater than five years.

(b) In addition to its rights to remove any Defaulting Lender under Section 4.1(b), with respect to any Lender (i) on account of which the Borrower is required to make any deductions or withholdings or pay any additional amounts, as contemplated by Section 5.4, (ii) on account of which the Borrower is required to pay any additional amounts, as contemplated by Section 6.1, (iii) for which it is illegal to make a LIBOR Rate Loan, as contemplated by Section 6.3, (iv) which has declined to (A) extend such Lender's scheduled Termination Date pursuant to subsection (a) above, or (B) consent to an amendment, modification or waiver and, in each case, Lenders with an aggregate Percentage in excess of 50% have elected to extend their respective Termination Dates or consent to such amendment, modification or waiver or (v) from which the Agent has received a written notice of objection pursuant to Section 6.2(ba)(y) or clause (3) of the definition of "Benchmark Replacement Date", the Borrower may, in its discretion, upon not less than 30 five days' prior written notice to the Agent and each Lender, remove such Lender as a party hereto. Each such notice shall specify the date of such removal (which

shall be a Business Day), which shall thereupon become the scheduled Termination Date for such Lender.

- In the event that any Lender does not extend its scheduled Termination Date pursuant to subsection (a) above or is the subject of a notice of removal pursuant to subsection (b) above, then, at any time prior to the Termination Date for such Lender (a "Terminating Lender"), the Borrower may, at its option, arrange to have one or more other Eligible Assignees (which may be a Lender or Lenders, or if not a Lender, shall be reasonably acceptable to the Agent (such acceptance not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed), and each of which shall herein be called a "Successor Lender") with the approval of the Agent (such approval not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed) succeed to all or a percentage of the Terminating Lender's outstanding Committed Loans, if any, and rights under this Agreement and assume all or a like percentage (as the case may be) of such Terminating Lender's undertaking to make Committed Loans pursuant hereto and other obligations hereunder (as if (i) in the case of any Lender electing not to extend its scheduled Termination Date pursuant to subsection (a) above, such Successor Lender had extended its scheduled Termination Date pursuant to such subsection (a) and (ii) in the case of any Lender that is the subject of a notice of removal pursuant to subsection (b) above, no such notice of removal had been given by the Borrower). Such succession and assumption shall be effected by means of one or more agreements supplemental to this Agreement among the Terminating Lender, the Successor Lender, the Borrower and the Agent. On and as of the effective date of each such supplemental agreement (i) each Successor Lender party thereto shall be and become a Lender for all purposes of this Agreement and to the same extent as any other Lender hereunder and shall be bound by and entitled to the benefits of this Agreement in the same manner as any other Lender and (ii) the Borrower agrees to pay to the Agent for the account of the Agent a processing fee of \$3,500 for each such Successor Lender which is not a Lender.
- (d) On the Termination Date for any Terminating Lender, such Terminating Lender's Commitment shall terminate and the Borrower shall pay in full all of such Terminating Lender's Committed Loans (except to the extent assigned pursuant to subsection (c) above) and all other amounts payable to such Lender hereunder (including any amounts payable pursuant to Section 5.4 on account of such payment); provided, that, if an Event of Default or Unmatured Event of Default exists on the date scheduled as any Terminating Lender's Termination Date, payment of such Terminating Lender's Committed Loans shall be postponed to (and, for purposes of calculating commitment fees under Section 3.4 and determining the Required Lenders (except as provided below), but for no other purpose, such Terminating Lender's Commitment shall continue until) the first Business Day thereafter on which (i) no Event of Default or Unmatured Event of Default exists (without regard to any waiver or amendment that makes this Agreement less restrictive for the Borrower, other than as described in clause (ii) below) or (ii) the Required Lenders (which for purposes of this subsection (d) shall be determined based upon the respective Percentages and aggregate Commitments of all Lenders other than any Terminating Lender whose scheduled Termination Date has been extended pursuant to this proviso) waive or amend the provisions of this Agreement to cure all existing Events of Default or Unmatured Events of Default or agree to permit any borrowing hereunder notwithstanding the existence of any such event. In the event that Citibank or its Affiliates

shall become a Terminating Lender, the provisions of Section 11.9 shall apply with respect to Citibank in its capacity as Agent.

(e) To the extent that all or a portion of any Terminating Lender's obligations are not assumed pursuant to subsection (c) above, the Aggregate Commitment shall be reduced on the applicable Termination Date and each Lender's percentage of the reduced Aggregate Commitment shall be revised pro rata to reflect such Terminating Lender's absence. The Agent shall distribute a revised Schedule I indicating such revisions promptly after the applicable Termination Date and update the Register accordingly. Such revised Schedule I shall be deemed conclusive in the absence of demonstrable error.

Section 12.10. <u>Captions</u>. Section captions used in this Agreement are for convenience only and shall not affect the construction of this Agreement.

Governing Law; Jurisdiction; Severability. THIS AGREEMENT AND EACH NOTE SHALL Section 12.11. BE A CONTRACT MADE UNDER, GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAW OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK. EACH OBLIGOR IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY SUBMITS, FOR ITSELF AND ITS PROPERTY, TO THE EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION OF THE COURTS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK SITTING IN NEW YORK COUNTY AND OF THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT OF THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK, AND ANY APPELLATE COURT FROM ANY THEREOF SITTING IN NEW YORK COUNTY, IN ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY OTHER LOAN DOCUMENT, OR FOR RECOGNITION OR ENFORCEMENT OF ANY JUDGMENT, AND EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY AGREES THAT ALL CLAIMS IN RESPECT OF ANY SUCH ACTION OR PROCEEDING MAY BE HEARD AND DETERMINED IN SUCH NEW YORK STATE COURT OR, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, IN SUCH FEDERAL COURT. EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO AGREES THAT A FINAL JUDGMENT IN ANY SUCH ACTION OR PROCEEDING SHALL BE CONCLUSIVE AND MAY BE ENFORCED IN OTHER JURISDICTIONS BY SUIT ON THE JUDGMENT OR IN ANY OTHER MANNER PROVIDED BY LAW. NOTHING IN THIS AGREEMENT OR IN ANY OTHER LOAN DOCUMENT SHALL AFFECT ANY RIGHT TO BRING ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY OTHER LOAN DOCUMENT AGAINST ANY OBLIGOR OR ITS PROPERTIES IN THE COURTS OF ANY JURISDICTION. All obligations of the Obligors and the rights of the Agent, the Lenders and any other holders of the Committed Loans expressed herein or in the Committed Notes (if any) shall be in addition to and not in limitation of those provided by applicable law. Whenever possible each provision of this Agreement shall be interpreted in such manner as to be effective and valid under applicable law, but if any provision of this Agreement shall be prohibited by or invalid under applicable law, such provision shall be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition or invalidity, without invalidating the remainder of such provision or the remaining provisions of this Agreement.

Each Obligor agrees that service of all writs, process and summonses in any such action or proceeding brought in the courts of the State of New York sitting in New York County and of the United States District Court of the Southern District of New York, and any appellate court from any thereof sitting in New York County, may be made upon AerCap, Inc., presently located in the United States located at 10250 Constellation Blvd. Suite 1500, Los Angeles, CA 90067 (the "Process Agent"), and each Obligor confirms and agrees that the Process Agent has been duly and irrevocably appointed as its agent and true and lawful attorney in fact in its name, place and stead to accept such service of any and all such writs, process and summonses, and agrees that the failure of the Process Agent to give any notice of any such service of process to any Obligor shall not impair or affect the validity of such service or of any judgment based thereon.

A party may appoint an attorney to represent it for purposes of signing this Agreement or any agreement or document it enters into in connection with this Agreement. If the power of attorney is expressed to be governed by Dutch law, each other party hereby accepts that choice of law, in accordance with Article 14 of the Hague Convention on the Law Applicable to Agency of 14 March 1978.

Section 12.12. Counterparts; Effectiveness. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and by the different parties on separate counterparts and each such counterpart shall be deemed to be an original, but all such counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same Agreement. Delivery of an executed counterpart viaof a signature page of this Agreement by facsimile transmission or electronic transmission will be effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart hereof. Any signature to this Agreement may be delivered by facsimile, electronic mail, (including by email with a ".pdf" copy hereof attached, shall constitute delivery of an original counterpartpdf) or any electronic signature complying with the U.S. federal ESIGN Act of 2000 or the New York Electronic Signature and Records Act or other transmission method and any counterpart so delivered shall be deemed to have been duly and validly delivered and be valid and effective for all purposes to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law. For the avoidance of doubt, the foregoing also applies to any amendment, extension or renewal of this Agreement. When counterparts of this Agreement executed by each party shall have been lodged with the Agent (or, in the case of any Lender as to which an executed counterpart shall not have been so lodged, the Agent shall have received facsimile, electronic mail or other written confirmation of execution of a counterpart hereof by such Lender), this Agreement shall become effective as of the date hereof and the Agent shall so inform all of the parties hereto.

Section 12.13. <u>Further Assurances</u>. Each Obligor agrees to do such other acts and things, and to deliver to the Agent and each Lender such additional agreements, powers and instruments, as the Agent or any Lender may reasonably require or deem advisable to carry into effect the purposes of this Agreement or to better assure and confirm unto the Agent and each Lender their respective rights, powers and remedies hereunder.

- Section 12.14. <u>Successors and Assigns</u>. This Agreement shall be binding upon the Obligors, the Lenders and the Agent and their respective successors and assigns, and shall inure to the benefit of the Obligors, the Lenders and the Agent and the respective successors and assigns of the Lenders and the Agent. Except as expressly provided herein, the Borrower may not assign any of its rights or delegate any of its duties under this Agreement without the prior written consent of all of the Lenders.
- Section 12.15. <u>Judgment</u>. (a) If for the purposes of obtaining judgment in any court it is necessary to convert a sum due hereunder in Dollars into another currency, the parties hereto agree, to the fullest extent that they may effectively do so, that the rate of exchange used shall be that at which in accordance with normal banking procedures the Agent could purchase Dollars with such other currency at the Agent's principal office in New York at 11:00 a.m. (New York City time) on the Business Day preceding that on which final judgment is given.
- (b) If for the purposes of obtaining judgment in any court it is necessary to convert a sum due hereunder in another currency into Dollars, the parties agree to the fullest extent that they may effectively do so, that the rate of exchange used shall be that at which in accordance with normal banking procedures the Agent could purchase such currency with Dollars at the Agent's principal office in New York at 11:00 a.m. (New York City time) on the Business Day preceding that on which final judgment is given.
- (c) The obligation of each Obligor in respect of any sum due from it in any currency (the "Primary Currency") to any Lender or the Agent hereunder shall, notwithstanding any judgment in any other currency, be discharged only to the extent that on the Business Day following receipt by such Lender or the Agent (as the case may be), of any sum adjudged to be so due in such other currency, such Lender or the Agent (as the case may be) may in accordance with normal banking procedures purchase the applicable Primary Currency with such other currency; if the amount of the applicable Primary Currency so purchased is less than such sum due to such Lender or the Agent (as the case may be) in the applicable Primary Currency, each Obligor agrees, as a separate obligation and notwithstanding any such judgment, to indemnify such Lender or the Agent (as the case may be) against such loss, and if the amount of the applicable Primary Currency so purchased exceeds such sum due to any Lender or the Agent (as the case may be) in the applicable Primary Currency, such Lender or the Agent (as the case may be) agrees to remit to such Obligor such excess.
- Section 12.16. <u>Waiver of Jury Trial</u>. EACH OBLIGOR, THE AGENT AND EACH LENDER HEREBY WAIVE ANY RIGHT TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING TO ENFORCE OR DEFEND ANY RIGHTS UNDER THIS AGREEMENT, ANY COMMITTED NOTE OR ANY AMENDMENT, INSTRUMENT, DOCUMENT OR AGREEMENT DELIVERED OR WHICH MAY IN THE FUTURE BE DELIVERED IN CONNECTION HEREWITH OR ARISING FROM ANY BANKING RELATIONSHIP EXISTING IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT, AND AGREE THAT ANY SUCH ACTION OR PROCEEDING SHALL BE TRIED BEFORE A COURT AND NOT BEFORE A JURY.

Section 12.17. No Fiduciary Relationship. Each Obligor acknowledges that neither the Agent nor any Lender has any fiduciary relationship with, or fiduciary duty to, such Obligor arising out of or in connection with this Agreement, the Committed Notes (if any) or the transactions contemplated hereby, and the relationship between the Agent and the Lenders, on the one hand, and such Obligor, on the other, in connection herewith or therewith is solely that of creditor and debtor. This Agreement does not create a joint venture among the parties. Each Obligor understands that each Lender and its Affiliates (collectively referred to in this Section 12.17 as a "group") is engaged in a wide range of financial services and businesses (including investment management, financing, securities trading, corporate and investment banking and research) and that members of each group generally act independently of each other, both for their own account and for the account of clients. Accordingly, there may be situations where parts of a group and/or their clients either now have or may in the future have interests, or take actions, that may conflict with the interests of the Obligors. For example, a group may, in the ordinary course of business, engage in trading in financial products or undertake other investment businesses for their own account or on behalf of other clients, including without limitation, trading in or holding long, short or derivative positions in securities, loans or other financial products of the Obligors or their Affiliates or other entities connected with the credit facility provided for herein or the transactions contemplated hereby. In recognition of the foregoing, each Obligor agrees that no group is required to restrict its activities as a result of this Agreement and that each group may undertake any business activity, including acts in relation to any matter for any other Person whose interests may be adverse to an Obligor or any of its Affiliates, without further consultation with or notification to any Obligor.

Section 12.18. <u>USA Patriot Act</u>. Each Lender and the Agent (for itself in such capacity and not on behalf of any Lender) hereby notifies each Obligor that pursuant to the requirements of the USA Patriot Act (Title III of Pub. L. 107-56 (signed into law October 26, 2001)) (the "<u>Act</u>"), it is required to obtain, verify and record information that identifies each Obligor, which information includes the name and address of such Obligor and other information that will allow such Lender or the Agent, as applicable, to identify each Obligor in accordance with the Act. Each Obligor shall provide, to the extent commercially reasonable, such information and take such actions as are reasonably requested by the Agent or any Lenders in order to assist the Agent and the Lenders in maintaining compliance with the Act.

Section 12.19. <u>Existing Credit Agreement; Effect of Amendment and Restatement;</u>.

(a) Prior to the Closing Date, the Existing Credit Agreement shall remain in full force and effect and nothing in this Agreement or the other Loan Documents shall be deemed to amend, modify or otherwise affect the Existing Credit Agreement and the other "Loan Documents" under in the Existing Credit Agreement. On and after the Closing Date, (i) the Existing Credit Agreement and the other "Loan Documents" under the Existing Credit Agreement shall terminate and have no further force and effect, (ii) without limiting the generality of clause (i) above, the guarantee by AerCap Aviation Solutions B.V. of the Guaranteed Obligations (as defined in the Existing Credit Agreement) under the Existing Credit Agreement, and all obligations of AerCap Aviation

Solutions B.V. thereunder, shall be terminated, released and discharged and shall have no further force and effect and (iii) the Existing Credit Agreement shall be amended and restated in the form of this Agreement and the Existing Credit Agreement and the other "Loan Documents" thereunder shall be replaced in full by this Agreement and the other Loan Documents.

- (b) Each of (v) Citibank, in its capacity as the "Agent" under the Existing Credit Agreement, (w) the Lenders party hereto, in their capacities as "Lenders" under the Existing Credit Agreement, (x) the Company, in its capacity as the "Company" under the Existing Credit Agreement, (y) the Borrower, in its capacity as the "Borrower" under the Existing Credit Agreement, and (z) each Subsidiary Guarantor, in its capacity as a "Subsidiary Guarantor" under the Existing Credit Agreement, hereby:
 - (i) consents, on the Closing Date, to (A) the termination of the Existing Credit Agreement and the other "Loan Documents" thereunder, (B) without limiting the generality of clause (A) above, the termination, release and discharge of the guarantee by AerCap Aviation Solutions B.V. of the Guaranteed Obligations (as defined in the Existing Credit Agreement) under the Existing Credit Agreement and of all obligations of AerCap Aviation Solutions B.V. thereunder and (C) the replacement in full of the Existing Credit Agreement and the other "Loan Documents" thereunder with this Agreement and the other Loan Documents on the Closing Date;
 - (ii) waives any requirement of prior notice in respect of the termination of commitments under the Existing Credit Agreement on the Closing Date; and
 - (iii) agrees that, with respect to each "Lender" under the Existing Credit Agreement that declines or fails to enter into this Agreement as a Lender hereunder on the Closing Date (other than any such "Lender" under the Existing Credit Agreement that becomes a Lender hereunder on or prior to the Closing Date pursuant to Section 4.4) (each, a "Replaced Lender"), effective as of the Closing Date, each such Replaced Lender's "Commitment" under the Existing Credit Agreement shall terminate, each such Replaced Lender shall be released from all obligations under the Existing Credit Agreement and the Borrower shall be required to prepay all of such Replaced Lender's "Committed Loans" outstanding under the Existing Credit Agreement and pay all interest, fees and other amounts owing, as of the Closing Date, to such Replaced Lender under the Existing Credit Agreement.

Section 12.20. Acknowledgment Regarding Any Supported OFCs. To the extent that the Loan Documents provide support, through a guarantee or otherwise, for hedging agreements or any other agreement or instrument that is a OFC (such support, "OFC Credit Support" and each such OFC, a "Supported OFC"), the parties acknowledge and agree as follows with respect to the resolution power of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation under the Federal Deposit Insurance Act and Title II of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (together with the regulations promulgated thereunder, the "U.S. Special Resolution Regimes") in respect of such Supported OFC and

OFC Credit Support (with the provisions below applicable notwithstanding that the Loan Documents and any Supported OFC may in fact be stated to be governed by the laws of the State of New York and/or of the United States or any other state of the United States):

In the event a Covered Entity that is party to a Supported OFC (each, a "Covered Party") becomes subject to a proceeding under a U.S. Special Resolution Regime, the transfer of such Supported OFC and the benefit of such OFC Credit Support (and any interest and obligation in or under such Supported OFC and such OFC Credit Support, and any rights in property securing such Supported OFC or such OFC Credit Support) from such Covered Party will be effective to the same extent as the transfer would be effective under the U.S. Special Resolution Regime if the Supported OFC and such OFC Credit Support (and any such interest, obligation and rights in property) were governed by the laws of the United States or a state of the United States. In the event a Covered Party or a BHC Act Affiliate of a Covered Party becomes subject to a proceeding under a U.S. Special Resolution Regime, Default Rights under the Loan Documents that might otherwise apply to such Supported OFC or any OFC Credit Support that may be exercised against such Covered Party are permitted to be exercised to no greater extent than such Default Rights could be exercised under the U.S. Special Resolution Regime if the Supported OFC and the Loan Documents were governed by the laws of the United States or a state of the United States. Without limitation of the foregoing, it is understood and agreed that rights and remedies of the parties with respect to a Defaulting Lender shall in no event affect the rights of any Covered Party with respect to a Supported OFC or any OFC Credit Support.

SECTION 13. GUARANTEE

Section 13.1. The Guarantee. The Guarantors hereby jointly and severally guarantee to each Lender and the Administrative Agent and their respective successors and assigns the prompt payment in full when due upon the expiration of any applicable remedial period (whether at stated maturity, by acceleration or otherwise) of the obligations, whether direct or indirect, absolute or contingent, now or hereafter from time to time owing to the Lenders or the Administrative Agent by the Borrower or any other Obligor under this Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents, in each case strictly in accordance with the terms hereof and thereof and including all monetary obligations incurred during the pendency of any bankruptcy, insolvency, examinership, receivership or other similar proceeding of the Borrower, regardless of whether allowed or allowable in such proceeding (such obligations being herein collectively called the "Guaranteed Obligations"). The Guarantors hereby further jointly and severally agree that if the Borrower shall fail to pay in full when due upon the expiration of any applicable remedial period (whether at stated maturity, by acceleration or otherwise) any of the Guaranteed Obligations, the Guarantors will promptly pay the same, without any demand or notice whatsoever, and that in the case of any extension of time of payment or renewal of any of the Guaranteed Obligations, the same will be promptly paid in full when due (whether at extended maturity, by acceleration or otherwise) in accordance with the terms of such extension or renewal.

Section 13.2. <u>Obligations Unconditional</u>. The obligations of the Guarantors under Section 13.1 are absolute and unconditional, joint and several,

irrespective of the value, genuineness, validity, regularity or enforceability of the obligations of the Borrower under this Agreement or any other agreement or instrument referred to herein, or any substitution, release or exchange of any other guarantee of or security for any of the Guaranteed Obligations, and, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, irrespective of any other circumstance whatsoever that might otherwise constitute a legal or equitable discharge or defense of a surety or guarantor, it being the intent of this Section 13 that the obligations of the Guarantors hereunder shall be primary obligations of payment and not of collection, absolute and unconditional, joint and several, under any and all circumstances (and any defenses thereto are hereby waived by the Guarantors). Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, it is agreed that the occurrence of any one or more of the following shall not alter or impair the liability of the Guarantors hereunder (and any such defense are hereby waived), which shall remain absolute and unconditional as described above:

- (i) at any time or from time to time, without notice to the Guarantors, the time for any performance of or compliance with any of the Guaranteed Obligations shall be extended, or such performance or compliance shall be waived;
- (ii) any of the acts mentioned in any of the provisions of this Agreement or any other agreement or instrument referred to herein shall be done or omitted;
- (iii) the maturity of any of the Guaranteed Obligations shall be accelerated, or any of the Guaranteed Obligations shall be modified, supplemented or amended in any respect, or any right under this Agreement or any other agreement or instrument referred to herein shall be waived or any other guarantee of any of the Guaranteed Obligations or any security therefor shall be released or exchanged in whole or in part or otherwise dealt with;
- (iv) any law or regulation of any jurisdiction or any other event affecting any term of a Guaranteed Obligation; or
- (v) any lien or security interest granted to, or in favor of, the Administrative Agent or any Lender or Lenders as security for any of the Guaranteed Obligations shall fail to be perfected.

The Guarantors hereby expressly waive diligence, presentment, demand of payment, protest and all notices whatsoever, and any requirement that the Administrative Agent or any Lender exhaust any right, power or remedy or proceed against the Borrower under this Agreement or any other agreement or instrument referred to herein, or against any other Person under any other guarantee of, or security for, any of the Guaranteed Obligations. The Guarantors expressly confirm that they shall obtain substantial direct and indirect benefit from the giving of the Guarantee pursuant to this Agreement.

Section 13.3. Reinstatement. The obligations of the Guarantors under this Section shall be automatically reinstated if and to the extent that for any reason any payment by or on behalf of the Borrower in respect of the Guaranteed Obligations is rescinded or must be otherwise restored by any holder of any of the Guaranteed Obligations, whether as a result of any proceedings in bankruptcy, liquidation,

examinership or reorganization or otherwise, and the Guarantors jointly and severally agree that they will indemnify the Administrative Agent and each Lender on demand for all reasonable costs and expenses (including fees of counsel) incurred by the Administrative Agent or such Lender in connection with such rescission or restoration, including any such costs and expenses incurred in defending against any claim alleging that such payment constituted a preference, fraudulent transfer or similar payment under any bankruptcy, liquidation, examinership, insolvency or similar law.

Section 13.4. <u>Subrogation</u>. The Guarantors hereby jointly and severally agree that until the payment and satisfaction in full of all Guaranteed Obligations and the expiration and termination of the Commitments of the Lenders under this Agreement they shall not exercise any right or remedy arising by reason of any performance by them of their guarantee in Section 13.1, whether by subrogation or otherwise, against the Borrower or any other guarantor of any of the Guaranteed Obligations or any security for any of the Guaranteed Obligations.

Section 13.5. Remedies. The Guarantors jointly and severally agree that, as between the Guarantors and the Lenders, the obligations of the Borrower under this Agreement may be declared to be forthwith due and payable as provided in Section 10 (and shall be deemed to have become automatically due and payable in the circumstances provided in Section 10) for purposes of Section 13.1 notwithstanding any stay, injunction or other prohibition preventing such declaration (or such obligations from becoming automatically due and payable) as against the Borrower and that, in the event of such declaration (or such obligations being deemed to have become automatically due and payable), such obligations (whether or not due and payable by the Borrower) shall forthwith become due and payable by the Guarantors for purposes of Section 13.1.

Section 13.6. <u>Continuing Guarantee</u>. The guarantee in this Section 13 is a continuing guarantee, and shall apply to all Guaranteed Obligations whenever arising. Each Guarantor agrees that the guarantee in this Section 13 is a guarantee of payment and not of collection.

Section 13.7. <u>Indemnity and Rights of Contribution</u>. The Borrower and the Guarantors hereby agree, as between themselves, that (a) if a payment of any Guaranteed Obligations shall be made by any Subsidiary Guarantor under this Agreement, the Borrower and the Company shall indemnify such Subsidiary Guarantor for the full amount of such payment and (b) if any Subsidiary Guarantor shall become an Excess Funding Guarantor (as defined below) by reason of the payment by such Subsidiary Guarantor of any Guaranteed Obligations that shall not have been fully indemnified by the Borrower or the Company, then the other Subsidiary Guarantors shall, on demand of such Excess Funding Guarantor (but subject to the next sentence), pay to such Excess Funding Guarantor an amount equal to such Subsidiary Guarantor's Pro Rata Share (as defined below and determined, for this purpose, without reference to the properties, debts and liabilities of such Excess Funding Guarantor) of the Excess Payment (as defined below) in respect of such Guaranteed Obligations. The payment obligation of the Borrower or the Company to any Subsidiary Guarantor or of a Subsidiary Guarantor to any Excess Funding Guarantor under this Section shall be subordinate and subject in right of payment to the

prior payment in full of the obligations of such Obligor under the other provisions of this Agreements, including this Section 13, and such Subsidiary Guarantor or Excess Funding Guarantor, as the case may be, shall not exercise any right or remedy with respect to such excess until payment and satisfaction in full of all of such obligations.

For purposes of this Section, (i) "Excess Funding Guarantor" means, in respect of any Guaranteed Obligations, a Subsidiary Guarantor that has paid an amount in excess of its Pro Rata Share of such Guaranteed Obligations, (ii) "Excess Payment" means, in respect of any Guaranteed Obligations, the amount paid by an Excess Funding Guarantor in excess of its Pro Rata Share of such Guaranteed Obligations and (iii) "Pro Rata Share" means, for any Subsidiary Guarantor, the ratio (expressed as a percentage) of (x) the amount by which the aggregate present fair saleable value of all properties of such Subsidiary Guarantor (excluding any shares of stock or other equity interest of any other Subsidiary Guarantor) exceeds the amount of all the debts and liabilities of such Subsidiary Guarantor (including contingent, subordinated, unmatured and unliquidated liabilities, but excluding the obligations of such Subsidiary Guarantor) to (y) the amount by which the aggregate fair saleable value of all properties of all of the Subsidiary Guarantors exceeds the amount of all the debts and liabilities (including contingent, subordinated, unmatured and unliquidated liabilities, but excluding the obligations of the Subsidiary Guarantors hereunder) of all of the Subsidiary Guarantors, determined (A) with respect to any Subsidiary Guarantor that is a party hereto on the Closing Date, as of the Closing Date, and (B) with respect to any other Subsidiary Guarantor, as of the date such Subsidiary Guarantor becomes a Subsidiary Guarantor hereunder.

Section 13.8. General Limitation on Guarantee Obligations. In any action or proceeding involving any state corporate law, or any state or Federal bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or other law affecting the rights of creditors generally, if the obligations of any Guarantor under Section 13.1 would otherwise, taking into account the provisions of Section 13.7, be held or determined to be void, invalid or unenforceable, or subordinated to the claims of any other creditors, on account of the amount of its liability under Section 13.1, then, notwithstanding any other provision hereof to the contrary, the amount of such liability shall, without any further action by such Guarantor, any Lender, the Administrative Agent or any other Person, be automatically limited and reduced to the highest amount that is valid and enforceable and not subordinated to the claims of other creditors as determined in such action or proceeding.

Section 13.9. Releases.

(a) In the event of (i) a sale or other transfer or disposition of all of the Capital Stock in any Subsidiary Guarantor to any Person that is not an Affiliate of the Company in compliance with Section 8.9 or (ii) the sale or other transfer or disposition, by way of merger, consolidation or otherwise, of assets or Capital Stock of a Subsidiary Guarantor substantially as an entirety to a Person that is not an Affiliate of the Company in compliance with the terms of Section 8.9, then, without any further action on the part of the Administrative Agent or any Lender, such Subsidiary Guarantor (or the Person concurrently acquiring such assets of such Subsidiary Guarantor) shall be deemed automatically and unconditionally released and discharged of any obligations under the guarantee of such Subsidiary Guarantor of the

Guaranteed Obligations, as evidenced by a written instrument or confirmation executed by the Administrative Agent, upon the request and at the expense of the Company. Upon delivery by the Company to the Administrative Agent of an officers' certificate stating that such sale or other disposition was made by the Company in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement, including Section 8.9, the Administrative Agent will execute any documents required in order to evidence the release of any Subsidiary Guarantor from its obligations under its guarantee of the Guaranteed Obligations.

- (b) In addition, the guarantee of a Subsidiary Guaranter of the Guaranteed Obligations will be released:
- (i) if the Subsidiary Guarantor (other than ILFC or any Subsidiary that is or becomes a Subsidiary Guarantor on the Closing Date) ceases to be a guarantor under any Capital Markets Debt or unsecured Credit Facilities, including the guarantee that resulted in the obligation of such Subsidiary Guarantor to guarantee the Guaranteed Obligations, and is released or discharged from all obligations thereunder; or
- (ii) upon the expiration or termination of the Commitments and the payment in full of all obligations of the Obligors under this Agreement and under the Committed Notes (other than unasserted contingent indemnification and expense reimbursement obligations).
- (c) Any Subsidiary Guarantor not released from its obligations under its guarantee of the Guaranteed Obligations as provided in this Section 13.9 will remain liable for the full amount of the Guaranteed Obligations as provided in this Section 13.

Form of Compliance Certificate

[OMITTED]

AerCap – Amendment to the Revolving Credit Agreement Exhibit C Revolving Credit Agreement

dated as of

March 30, 2021

among

AERCAP HOLDINGS N.V.,

AERCAP IRELAND CAPITAL DESIGNATED ACTIVITY COMPANY, as Borrower,

the SUBSIDIARY GUARANTORS party hereto,

the LENDERS party hereto

and

CITIBANK, N.A., as Administrative Agent

CITIBANK, N.A., GOLDMAN SACHS BANK USA,
BANCO SANTANDER, S.A., BOFA SECURITIES, INC.,
BARCLAYS BANK PLC, CREDIT AGRICOLE CORPORATE AND INVESTMENT BANK,
DEUTSCHE BANK SECURITIES INC., JP MORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A.,
MIZUHO BANK, LTD., MORGAN STANLEY SENIOR FUNDING, INC.,
RBC CAPITAL MARKETS¹, WELLS FARGO SECURITIES, LLC AND
BNP PARIBAS.

as Joint Lead Arrangers and Joint Bookrunners,

GOLDMAN SACHS BANK USA, as Syndication Agent,

and

BANCO SANTANDER, S.A., BOFA SECURITIES, INC.,
BARCLAYS BANK PLC, CREDIT AGRICOLE CORPORATE AND INVESTMENT BANK,
DEUTSCHE BANK SECURITIES INC., JP MORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A.,
MIZUHO BANK, LTD., MORGAN STANLEY SENIOR FUNDING, INC.,
ROYAL BANK OF CANADA, WELLS FARGO SECURITIES, LLC
BNP PARIBAS, MUFG BANK (EUROPE) N.V. AND TRUIST BANK,
as Documentation Agents

Copyright © 2022 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved. Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document

¹ RBC Capital Markets is a brand name for the capital markets activities of Royal Bank of Canada and its affiliates.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

			Page
SECT:	ION	CERTAIN DEFINITIONS	1
	Section 1.1.	Terms Generally	1
	Section 1.2.	Specific Terms	1
	Section 1.3.	Divisions	32
SECT:	ION	COMMITTED LOANS AND COMMITTED NOTES	32
	Section 2.1.	Agreement to Make Committed Loans	32
	Section 2.2.	Procedure for Committed Loans	32
	Section 2.3.	Maturity of Committed Loans	33
	Section 2.4.	Optional Conversion or Continuation of Committed Loans	34
SECT:	ION	INTEREST AND FEES	34
	Section 3.1.	Interest Rates	34
	Section 3.2.	Interest Payment Dates	35
	Section 3.3.	Setting and Notice of Committed Loan Rates	35
	Section 3.4.	Commitment Fee	35
	Section 3.5.	Agent's Fees	36
	Section 3.6.	Computation of Interest and Fees	36
SECT:	ION	REDUCTION OR TERMINATION OF THE COMMITMENTS; PREPAYMENTS; DEFAULTING LENDERS; INCREASE OF COMMITMENTS	36
	Section 4.1.	Termination or Reduction of the Commitments	36
	Section 4.2.	Voluntary Prepayments	37
	Section 4.3.	Defaulting Lenders	37
	Section 4.4.	Increase of Commitments	39
SECT:	ION	MAKING AND PRORATION OF PAYMENTS; SET-OFF; TAXES	40
J.	Section 5.1.	Making of Payments	40
	Section 5.2.	Pro Rata Treatment; Sharing	40

	Section 5.3.	Set-off	41
	Section 5.4.	Taxes	41
SECTI 6.	ON	INCREASED COSTS AND SPECIAL PROVISIONS FOR LIBOR RATE LOANS	44
	Section 6.1.	Increased Costs	44
	Section 6.2.	Benchmark Replacement	45
	Section 6.3.	Changes in Law Rendering Certain Loans Unlawful	48
	Section 6.4.	Funding Losses	48
	Section 6.5.	Discretion of Lenders as to Manner of Funding	49
	Section 6.6.	Conclusiveness of Statements; Survival of Provisions	49
SECTI 7.	ON	REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES	49
	Section 7.1.	Organization, etc	49

	Section 7.2.	Authorization; Consents; No Conflict	50
	Section 7.3.	Validity and Binding Nature	50
	Section 7.4.	Financial Statements	50
	Section 7.5.	Litigation	51
	Section 7.6.	Employee Benefit Plans	51
	Section 7.7.	Investment Company Act	51
	Section 7.8.	Regulation U	51
	Section 7.9.	Disclosure	52
	Section 7.10.	Compliance with Applicable Laws, etc	52
	Section 7.11.	Insurance	52
	Section 7.12.	Taxes	52
	Section 7.13.	Use of Proceeds	53
	Section 7.14.	Pari Passu	53
	Section 7.15.	OFAC, Etc	53
SECTION 8.	ON	COVENANTS	53
0.	Section 8 1	Reports, Certificates and Other Information	53
0.	8.1. Section	Reports, Certificates and Other Information Existence	
0.	8.1. Section 8.2. Section		53
δ.	8.1. Section 8.2.	Existence	53 55
٥.	8.1. Section 8.2. Section 8.3. Section	Existence Nature of Business	53 55 56
٥.	8.1. Section 8.2. Section 8.3. Section 8.4. Section	Existence Nature of Business Books, Records and Access	53 55 56 56
٥.	8.1. Section 8.2. Section 8.3. Section 8.4. Section 8.5. Section	Existence Nature of Business Books, Records and Access Insurance	53 55 56 56
٥.	8.1. Section 8.2. Section 8.3. Section 8.4. Section 8.5. Section 8.6. Section	Existence Nature of Business Books, Records and Access Insurance Repair	53 55 56 56 56
٥.	8.1. Section 8.2. Section 8.3. Section 8.4. Section 8.5. Section 8.6. Section 8.7. Section	Existence Nature of Business Books, Records and Access Insurance Repair Taxes	53 55 56 56 56 56
δ.	8.1. Section 8.2. Section 8.3. Section 8.4. Section 8.5. Section 8.6. Section 8.7. Section 8.8. Section	Existence Nature of Business Books, Records and Access Insurance Repair Taxes Compliance	53 55 56 56 56 56
δ.	8.1. Section 8.2. Section 8.3. Section 8.4. Section 8.5. Section 8.6. Section 8.7. Section 8.8. Section 8.9. Section	Existence Nature of Business Books, Records and Access Insurance Repair Taxes Compliance Sale of Assets	53 55 56 56 56 56 56 56
δ.	8.1. Section 8.2. Section 8.3. Section 8.4. Section 8.5. Section 8.6. Section 8.7. Section 8.8. Section 8.9. Section 8.10. Section	Existence Nature of Business Books, Records and Access Insurance Repair Taxes Compliance Sale of Assets Consolidated Indebtedness to Shareholder's Equity	53 55 56 56 56 56 56 57 57

	Section 8.14.	Liens	58
	Section 8.15.	Use of Proceeds	59
	Section 8.16.	Transactions with Affiliates	60
	Section 8.17.	Limitation on Issuances of Guarantees of Indebtedness	62
	Section 8.18.	[Reserved]	62
	Section 8.19.	Subsidiary Guarantors	62
SECTION 9.		CONDITIONS TO LENDING	62
	Section 9.1.	Conditions Precedent to All Committed Loans	62
	Section 9.2.	Conditions to Effective Date	63
	Section 9.3.	Conditions to Closing Date	64
SECTION 10.		EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND THEIR EFFECT	66
	Section 10.1.	Events of Default	66
	Section 10.2.	Effect of Event of Default	68
SECTION 11.		THE AGENT	68
	Section 11.1.	Authorization and Authority	68

	Section 11.2.	Agent Individually	69
	Section 11.3.	Indemnification	70
	Section 11.4.	Action on Instructions of the Required Lenders	70
	Section 11.5.	Payments	70
	Section 11.6.	Duties of Agent; Exculpatory Provisions	72
	Section 11.7.	Reliance by Agent	73
	Section 11.8.	Delegation of Duties	74
	Section 11.9.	Resignation of Agent	74
	Section 11.10.	Non-Reliance on Agent and Other Lenders	75
	Section 11.11.	The Register; the Committed Notes	75
	Section 11.12.	No Other Duties, etc	76
	Section 11.13.	Certain ERISA Matters	76
SECTI 12.	ON	GENERAL	77
	Section 12.1.	Waiver; Amendments	77
	Section 12.2.	Notices	78
	Section 12.3.	Computations	80
	Section 12.4.	Assignments; Participations	81
	Section 12.5.	Costs, Expenses and Taxes	85
	Section 12.6.	Confidentiality	85
	Section 12.7.	Indemnification	86
	Section 12.8.	Acknowledgement and Consent to Bail-In of Affected Financial Institutions	87
	Section 12.9.	Extension of Termination Dates; Removal of Lenders; Substitution of Lenders	88
	Section 12.10.	Captions	90
	Section 12.11.	Governing Law; Jurisdiction; Severability	90
	Section 12.12.	Counterparts; Effectiveness	91
	Section 12.13.	Further Assurances	92
	Section 12.14.	Successors and Assigns	92
	Section 12.15.	Judgment	92

	Section 12.16.	Waiver of Jury Trial	92
	Section 12.17.	No Fiduciary Relationship	93
	Section 12.18.	USA Patriot Act	93
	Section 12.19.	Acknowledgment Regarding Any Supported QFCs	93
SECTION 13.	ON	GUARANTEE	94
	Section 13.1.	The Guarantee	94
	Section 13.2.	Obligations Unconditional	94
	Section 13.3.	Reinstatement	95
	Section 13.4	Subrogation	96
	Section 13.5.	Remedies	96
	Section 13.6.	Continuing Guarantee	96
	Section 13.7.	Indemnity and Rights of Contribution	96
	Section 13.8.	General Limitation on Guarantee Obligations	97
	Section 13.9.	Releases	97

iii

SCHEDULES AND EXHIBITS

Schedule of Lenders

Schedule I

Exhibit J

Schedule II	Fees and Margins
Schedule III	Address for Notices
Exhibit A	Form of Committed Loan Request
Exhibit B	Form of Committed Note
Exhibit C	Form of Compliance Certificate
Exhibit D	Form of Assignment and Assumption Agreement
Exhibit E	Form of Request for Extension of Termination Date
Exhibit F	Form of Guarantee Assumption Agreement
Exhibit G	Form of Secretary's Certificate
Exhibit H-1	Form of Opinion of Special New York Counsel
Exhibit H-2	Form of Opinion of Special Irish Counsel
Exhibit H-3	Form of Opinion of Special Dutch Counsel
Exhibit H-4	Form of Opinion of Special California Counsel
Exhibit H-5	Form of Opinion of Special Delaware Counsel
Exhibit I	Form of Officer's Certificate

Form of Solvency Certificate

REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT

REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT (this "Agreement"), dated as of March 30, 2021, among AERCAP HOLDINGS N.V., a public limited liability company (*naamloze vennootschap*) organized under the laws of the Netherlands with its corporate seat in Amsterdam, the Netherlands and registered in the Dutch Trade Register (*Handelsregister*) under number 34251954 (herein called the "Company"), AERCAP IRELAND CAPITAL DESIGNATED ACTIVITY COMPANY, a designated activity company incorporated under the laws of Ireland with limited liability with registered number 535682 (herein called the "Borrower"), the SUBSIDIARY GUARANTORS party hereto from time to time, the LENDERS (as defined herein) party hereto from time to time and CITIBANK, N.A. (herein, in its individual corporate capacity, together with its successors and permitted assigns, called "Citibank"), as administrative agent for the Lenders (herein, in such capacity, together with its successors and permitted assigns in such capacity, called the "Agent" or "Administrative Agent").

The parties hereto agree as follows:

SECTION 1. CERTAIN DEFINITIONS

Section 1.1. Terms Generally. The definitions ascribed to terms in this Section 1 and elsewhere in this Agreement shall apply equally to both the singular and plural forms of the terms defined. Whenever the context may require, any pronoun shall include the corresponding masculine, feminine and neuter forms. The words "include", "includes" and "including" shall be deemed to be followed by the phrase "without limitation". Unless expressly provided for herein or the context requires otherwise, (a) any definition of or reference to any agreement, instrument or other document herein shall be construed as referring to such agreement, instrument or other document as from time to time amended, supplemented or otherwise modified, in each case in accordance with its terms and (b) any reference herein to any Person shall be construed to include such Person's successors and permitted assigns. The words "hereby", "herein", "hereof", "hereunder" and words of similar import refer to this Agreement as a whole (including any exhibits and schedules hereto) and not merely to the specific Section, paragraph or clause in which such word appears. All references herein to Sections, Exhibits and Schedules shall be deemed references to Sections of and Exhibits and Schedules to this Agreement unless the context shall otherwise require.

Section 1.2. Specific Terms. When used herein, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

"Acquisition" means any transaction, or any series of related transactions, consummated on or after the date of this Agreement, by which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (a) acquires all or substantially all of the assets of any firm, corporation, limited liability company or other Person, or business unit or division thereof, whether through purchase of assets, merger or otherwise or (b) directly or indirectly acquires (in one transaction or as the most recent transaction in a series of transactions) at least a majority (in number of votes for the members of the board of directors) of the capital stock of a Person.

"Act" has the meaning set forth in Section 12.18.

- "Activities" has the meaning set forth in Section 11.2(b).
- "Additional Lender" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.4(a)(ii).
- "Administrative Agent" has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.
- "Affected Financial Institution" means (a) any EEA Financial Institution or (b) any UK Financial Institution.
- "Affiliate" means, with respect to any Person, any other Person directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by, or under direct or indirect common control with such Person. A Person shall be deemed to control another Person if such first Person possesses, directly or indirectly, the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of such other Person, whether through ownership of stock, by contract or otherwise.
 - "Affiliate Transaction" has the meaning set forth in Section 8.16.
 - "Agent" has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.
 - "Agent's Group" has the meaning set forth in Section 11.2(b).
 - "Agent Parties" has the meaning set forth in Section 12.2(f).
- "Aggregate Commitment" means \$4,350,000,000, as reduced by any reduction in the Commitments made from time to time pursuant to Section 4.1 or Section 12.9 or increased by any increase in the Commitments made from time to time pursuant to Section 4.4.
 - "Agreement" has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.
- "Aircraft Assets" means "Flight Equipment held for Operating Lease, net," plus "Net Investment in Direct Finance Leases," plus "Inventory" plus "Lease Premium" plus "End of Lease Assets", plus "Prepayments on Flight Equipment" (or such substantially similar terms for such substantially similar assets as may be used from time to time).
- "Anti-Corruption Laws" means (a) the United States Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977 and all other United States laws, rules and regulations applicable to the Company and its Subsidiaries concerning or relating to bribery or corruption and (b) the UK Bribery Act of 2010.
- "Arranger" means each of Citibank, N.A., Goldman Sachs Bank USA, Banco Santander, S.A., BofA Securities, Inc., Barclays Bank PLC, Credit Agricole Corporate and Investment Bank, Deutsche Bank Securities Inc., JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., Mizuho Bank, Ltd., Morgan Stanley Senior Funding, Inc., RBC Capital Markets, Wells Fargo Securities, LLC and BNP Paribas in their respective capacities as joint lead arrangers and joint bookrunners.
 - "Assignee" has the meaning set forth in Section 12.4.1.

"Authorized Officer" of the Company means any of the following: any director, any attorney-in-fact, the Chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer, the Vice Chairman, the President, any Executive Vice President, any Senior Vice President, any Vice President, the Chief Financial Officer, the Treasurer, any Assistant Treasurer, the Controller, the Chief Accounting Officer and the Secretary of the Company; provided that, for purposes of any certification of financial statements of the Company required to be delivered hereunder, the term "Authorized Officer" shall mean any of the Chief Financial Officer, the Treasurer, any Assistant Treasurer, the Controller and the Chief Accounting Officer of the Company.

"Available Tenor" means, as of any date of determination and with respect to the then-current Benchmark, as applicable, any tenor for such Benchmark or payment period for interest calculated with reference to such Benchmark, as applicable, that is or may be used for determining the length of a Loan Period pursuant to this Agreement as of such date and not including, for the avoidance of doubt, any tenor for such Benchmark that is then-removed from the definition of "Loan Period" pursuant to Section 6.2(d).

"<u>Bail-In Action</u>" means the exercise of any Write-Down and Conversion Powers by the applicable Resolution Authority in respect of any liability of an Affected Financial Institution.

"Bail-In Legislation" means (a) with respect to any EEA Member Country implementing Article 55 of Directive 2014/59/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of the European Union, the implementing law, regulation rule or requirement for such EEA Member Country from time to time which is described in the EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule and (b) with respect to the United Kingdom, Part I of the United Kingdom Banking Act 2009 (as amended from time to time) and any other law, regulation or rule applicable in the United Kingdom relating to the resolution of unsound or failing banks, investment firms or other financial institutions or their affiliates (other than through liquidation, administration or other insolvency proceedings).

"Base LIBOR" means, with respect to any Loan Period for a LIBOR Rate Loan, an interest rate per annum equal to the rate per annum obtained by dividing (a) the rate per annum (rounded upward to the nearest whole multiple of 1/100 of 1.00% per annum) equal to (i) the rate determined by the Administrative Agent (and notified to the Borrower) to be the offered rate which appears on the page of the Bloomberg Screen which displays an average ICE Benchmark Administration Interest Settlement Rate (or successor thereto if such rate is no longer displayed) (such page currently being the LIBOR01 page) for deposits (for delivery on the first day of such Loan Period) with a term equivalent to such Loan Period in Dollars, determined as of approximately 11:00 a.m. (London, England time) two Business Days prior to the first day of such Loan Period, or (ii) in the event the rate referenced in the preceding sub-clause (i) does not appear on such page or service or if such page or service shall cease to be available, the rate determined by the Administrative Agent (and notified to the Borrower) to be the offered rate on such other page or other service which displays an average ICE Benchmark Administration Interest Settlement Rate (or successor thereto if such rate is no longer displayed) for deposits (for delivery on the first day of such Loan Period) with a term equivalent to such Loan Period in Dollars, determined as of approximately 11:00 a.m. (London, England time) two Business Days prior to the first day of such Loan Period or a rate determined through the use of straight-line

interpolation by reference to two such rates, one of which shall be determined as if the period of time for which the rate for such deposits is available is the period next shorter than the length of such Loan Period and the other of which shall be determined as if the period of time for which the rate for such deposits are available is the period next longer than the length of such Loan Period as determined by the Administrative Agent (and notified to the Borrower) (such rate referred to in clauses (i) and (ii), the "Screen Rate") by (b) a percentage equal to 100% minus the Eurodollar Reserve Percentage for such Loan Period; provided that at no time shall "Base LIBOR" in respect of Committed Loans for any purposes hereunder be deemed to be less than 0.00% per annum.

"Base Rate" means for any day a fluctuating interest rate per annum equal to the applicable rate margin set forth for Base Rate Loans in the row entitled "Margins" on Schedule II <u>plus</u> the highest of (a) the Federal Funds Rate for such day <u>plus</u> 1/2 of 1.00%, (b) the Prime Rate and (c) the LIBOR Rate that would be payable on such day for a LIBOR Rate Loan with a one-month Loan Period <u>plus</u> 1.00% <u>less</u> the applicable rate margin set forth for LIBOR Rate Loans in the row entitled "Margins" on Schedule II, <u>provided</u> that at no time shall "Base Rate" for any purposes hereunder (including in respect of Committed Loans) be deemed to be less than 0.00% per annum.

"Base Rate Loan" means any Committed Loan which bears interest at the Base Rate.

"Benchmark" means, initially, Base LIBOR; provided that if a Benchmark Transition Event or an Early Opt-in Election, as applicable, and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred with respect to the then-current Benchmark, then "Benchmark" means the applicable Benchmark Replacement to the extent that such Benchmark Replacement has replaced such prior benchmark rate pursuant to Section 6.2(a).

"Benchmark Replacement" means, for any Available Tenor, the first alternative set forth below and in the order set forth below that can be determined by the Administrative Agent for the applicable Benchmark Replacement Date:

- (1) the sum of: (a) Term SOFR and (b) the related Benchmark Replacement Adjustment;
- (2) the sum of: (a) Daily Simple SOFR and (b) the related Benchmark Replacement Adjustment; and
- (3) the sum of: (a) the alternate benchmark rate that has been selected by the Administrative Agent and the Borrower as the replacement for the then-current Benchmark for the applicable Corresponding Tenor giving due consideration to (i) any selection or recommendation of a replacement benchmark rate or the mechanism for determining such a rate by the Relevant Governmental Body or (ii) any evolving or then-prevailing market convention for determining a benchmark rate as a replacement for the then-current Benchmark for Dollar-denominated syndicated credit facilities at such time and (b) the related Benchmark Replacement Adjustment; <u>provided</u> that, in the case of clause (1), such Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement is displayed on a screen or other

information service that publishes such rate from time to time as selected by the Administrative Agent in its reasonable discretion.

If the Benchmark Replacement as determined pursuant to clause (1), (2) or (3) above would be less than the Floor, the Benchmark Replacement will be deemed to be the Floor for the purposes of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents.

"Benchmark Replacement Adjustment" means, with respect to any replacement of the then current Benchmark with an Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement for any applicable Loan Period and Available Tenor for any setting of such Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement:

- (1) for purposes of clauses (1) and (2) of the definition of "Benchmark Replacement," the first alternative set forth in the order below that can be determined by the Administrative Agent: (a) the spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) as of the Reference Time such Benchmark Replacement is first set for such Loan Period that has been selected or recommended by the Relevant Governmental Body for the replacement of such Benchmark with the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement for the applicable Corresponding Tenor; and (b) the spread adjustment (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) as of the Reference Time such Benchmark Replacement is first set for such Loan Period that would apply to the fallback rate for a derivative transaction referencing the ISDA Definitions to be effective upon an index cessation event with respect to such Benchmark for the applicable Corresponding Tenor; and
- (2) for purposes of clause (3) of the definition of "Benchmark Replacement", the spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that has been selected by the Administrative Agent and the Borrower for the applicable Corresponding Tenor giving due consideration to (i) any selection or recommendation of a spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, for the replacement of such Benchmark with the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement by the Relevant Governmental Body on the applicable Benchmark Replacement Date or (ii) any evolving or then-prevailing market convention for determining a spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, for the replacement of such Benchmark with the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement for Dollar-denominated syndicated credit facilities; provided that, in the case of clause (1) above, such adjustment is displayed on a screen or other information service that publishes such Benchmark Replacement Adjustment from time to time as selected by the Administrative Agent in its reasonable discretion.

"Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes" means, with respect to any Benchmark Replacement, any technical, administrative or operational changes (including changes to the definition of "Base Rate", the definition of "Business Day", the definition of "Loan Period", the timing and frequency of determining rates and making payments of interest, the timing of borrowing requests or prepayment, conversion or continuation notices, the length of lookback periods, the applicability of breakage provisions, the formula for calculating any

successor rates identified pursuant to the definition of "Benchmark Replacement", the formula, methodology or convention for applying the successor Floor to the successor Benchmark Replacement and other technical, administrative or operational matters) that the Administrative Agent decides may be appropriate to reflect the adoption and implementation of such Benchmark Replacement and to permit the administration thereof by the Administrative Agent in a manner substantially consistent with market practice (or, if the Administrative Agent decides that adoption of any portion of such market practice is not administratively feasible or if the Administrative Agent determines that no market practice for the administration of such Benchmark Replacement exists, in such other manner of administration as the Administrative Agent decides is reasonably necessary in connection with the administration of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents).

"Benchmark Replacement Date" means the earliest to occur of the following events with respect to the then-current Benchmark:

- (1) in the case of clause (1) or (2) of the definition of "Benchmark Transition Event", the later of (a) the date of the public statement or publication of information referenced therein and (b) the date on which the administrator of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof) permanently or indefinitely ceases to provide all Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or such component thereof);
- (2) in the case of clause (3) of the definition of "Benchmark Transition Event," the date of the public statement or publication of information referenced therein; or
- (3) in the case of an Early Opt-in Election, the sixth Business Day after the date notice of such Early Opt-in Election is provided to the Lenders, so long as the Administrative Agent has not received, by 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the fifth Business Day after the date notice of such Early Opt-in Election is provided to the Lenders, written notice of objection to such Early Opt-in Election from Lenders comprising the Required Lenders.

For the avoidance of doubt, (i) if the event giving rise to the Benchmark Replacement Date occurs on the same day as, but earlier than, the Reference Time in respect of any determination, the Benchmark Replacement Date will be deemed to have occurred prior to the Reference Time for such determination and (ii) the "Benchmark Replacement Date" will be deemed to have occurred in the case of clause (1) or (2) with respect to any Benchmark upon the occurrence of the applicable event or events set forth therein with respect to all then-current Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof).

"Benchmark Transition Event" means the occurrence of one or more of the following events with respect to the thencurrent Benchmark:

(1) a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf of the administrator of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof) announcing that such administrator has ceased or will cease to provide all Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or such component thereof), permanently or

indefinitely, <u>provided</u> that, at the time of such statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to provide any Available Tenor of such Benchmark (or such component thereof);

- (or the published component used in the calculation thereof), the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, an insolvency official with jurisdiction over the administrator for such Benchmark (or such component), a resolution authority with jurisdiction over the administrator for such Benchmark (or such component) or a court or an entity with similar insolvency or resolution authority over the administrator for such Benchmark (or such component), which states that the administrator of such Benchmark (or such component) has ceased or will cease to provide all Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or such component thereof) permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at the time of such statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to provide any Available Tenor of such Benchmark (or such component thereof); or
- (3) a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof) announcing that all Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or such component thereof) are no longer representative.

For the avoidance of doubt, a "Benchmark Transition Event" will be deemed to have occurred with respect to any Benchmark if a public statement or publication of information set forth above has occurred with respect to each then-current Available Tenor of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof).

"Benchmark Unavailability Period" means the period (if any) (x) beginning at the time that a Benchmark Replacement Date pursuant to clause (1) or (2) of the definition of such term has occurred if, at such time, no Benchmark Replacement has replaced the then-current Benchmark for all purposes hereunder and under any Loan Document in accordance with Section 6.2 and (y) ending at the time that a Benchmark Replacement has replaced the then-current Benchmark for all purposes hereunder and under any Loan Document in accordance with Section 6.2.

"Beneficial Ownership Certification" means a certification regarding beneficial ownership as required by the Beneficial Ownership Regulation.

"Beneficial Ownership Regulation" means 31 C.F.R. § 1010.230.

"Benefit Plan" means any of (a) an "employee benefit plan" (as defined in ERISA) that is subject to Title I of ERISA, (b) a "plan" as defined in and subject to Section 4975 of the Code or (c) any Person whose assets include (for purposes of ERISA Section 3(42) or otherwise for purposes of Title I of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code) the assets of any such "employee benefit plan" or "plan".

"BHC Act Affiliate" of a party means an "affiliate" (as such term is defined under, and interpreted in accordance with, 12 U.S.C. 1841(k)) of such party.

"Board of Directors" means (a) with respect to a corporation or company, as applicable, the board of directors of the corporation or company, as applicable, or any committee thereof duly authorized to act on behalf of such board, (b) with respect to a partnership, the board of directors of the general partner of the partnership, (c) with respect to a limited liability company, the managing member or members or any controlling committee of managing members thereof, and (d) with respect to any other Person, the board or committee of such Person serving a similar function.

"Business Day" means any day of the year on which banks are not required or authorized by law to close in New York City, Dublin or Amsterdam and, if the applicable Business Day relates to notices, determinations, fundings and payments in connection with any LIBOR Rate Loan, a day on which dealings are carried on in the London interbank market.

"Capital Markets Debt" means any debt securities (other than (a) a Qualified Securitization Financing or (b) a debt issuance guaranteed by an export credit agency (including the Eximbank)) issued in the capital markets by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, whether issued in a public offering or private placement, including pursuant to Section 4(2) of the Securities Act or Rule 144A, Regulation S or Regulation D under the Securities Act.

"Capital Stock" means (a) in the case of a corporation, corporate stock, (b) in the case of an association or business entity, any and all shares, interests, participations, rights or other equivalents (however designated) of corporate stock, (c) in the case of a partnership or limited liability company, partnership, membership interests (whether general or limited) or shares in the capital of the company, and (d) any other interest or participation that confers on a Person the right to receive a share of the profits and losses of, or distributions of assets of, the issuing Person.

"Capitalized Lease" means any lease under which any obligations of the lessee are, or are required to be, capitalized on a balance sheet of the lessee in accordance with GAAP; provided, however, that notwithstanding the foregoing, the treatment of Capitalized Leases shall be evaluated, and the amount of Capitalized Rentals shall be determined, in accordance with Sections 12.3(b) and (c) and without giving effect to any change to GAAP occurring after December 31, 2015 as a result of the adoption of any proposals set forth in the *Proposed Accounting Standards Update, Leases (Topic 840)*, issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board on August 17, 2010, or any other proposals issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board in connection therewith, in each case if such change would require treating any lease (or similar arrangement conveying the right to use) as a capital lease where such lease (or similar arrangement) was not required to be so treated under GAAP as in effect on December 31, 2015.

"Capitalized Rentals" means, as of the date of any determination, the amount at which the obligations of the lessee, due and to become due under all Capitalized Leases under which the Company or any Subsidiary is a lessee, are reflected as a liability on a consolidated balance sheet of the Company and its Subsidiaries.

"Change of Control" means (a) any "person" or "group" (as such terms are used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Exchange Act), other than one or more Permitted Holders, is or becomes the beneficial owner (as defined in Rules 13d-3 and 13d-5 under the Exchange Act), directly or indirectly, of shares representing more than 50% of the voting power of the Company's Voting Stock, (b) (i) all or substantially all of the assets of the Company and the Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, are sold or otherwise transferred to any Person other than a Wholly-owned Subsidiary of the Company or one or more Permitted Holders or (ii) the Company amalgamates, consolidates or merges with or into another Person or any Person consolidates, amalgamates or merges with or into the Company, in either case under this clause (b), in one transaction or a series of related transactions in which immediately after the consummation thereof Persons beneficially owning (as defined in Rules 13d-3 and 13d-5 under the Exchange Act) Voting Stock representing in the aggregate a majority of the total voting power of the Voting Stock of the Company, immediately prior to such consummation do not beneficially own (as defined in Rules 13d-3 and 13d-5 under the Exchange Act) Voting Stock representing a majority of the total voting power of the Voting Stock of the Company, or the applicable surviving or transferee Person; provided that this clause shall not apply (A) in the case where, immediately after the consummation of the transactions, Permitted Holders beneficially own Voting Stock representing in the aggregate a majority of the total voting power of the Company, or the applicable surviving or transferee Person or (B) to an amalgamation or a merger of the Company with or into (x) a corporation, limited liability company or partnership or (y) a wholly-owned subsidiary of a corporation, limited liability company or partnership that, in either case, immediately following the transaction or series of transactions, has no Person or group (other than Permitted Holders), which beneficially owns Voting Stock representing 50% or more of the voting power of the total outstanding Voting Stock of such entity and, in the case of clause (y), the parent of such Wholly-owned Subsidiary guarantees the Borrower's obligations under this Agreement, (c) the Company shall adopt a plan of liquidation or dissolution or any such plan shall be approved by the shareholders of the Company or (d) the Borrower ceases to be a direct or indirect Wholly-owned Subsidiary of the Company.

"Citibank" has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

"Closing Date" means the date, on or after the Effective Date, on which the conditions specified in Section 9.3 are satisfied or, to the extent not so satisfied, waived in writing by the Required Lenders.

"Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

"Commitment Termination Date" means the date that is the first to occur of (a) the termination of the Company's (and each GECAS Transaction Subsidiary's) obligation to consummate the GECAS Transaction pursuant to the GECAS Transaction Agreement and (b) the Long-Stop Date (as defined in the GECAS Transaction Agreement as in effect on March 9, 2021), as such Long-Stop Date may be extended pursuant to the terms of Section 7.5(b) of the GECAS Transaction Agreement as in effect on March 9, 2021.

"Commitments" means the Lenders' commitments to make Committed Loans hereunder; and "Commitment" as to any Lender means the amount set forth opposite such Lender's name on Schedule I (as reduced or increased, as applicable, in accordance with

Section 4.1 or Section 4.4, or as periodically revised in accordance with Section 12.4 or Section 12.9).

"Committed Loan" means a loan in Dollars that is a Base Rate Loan or LIBOR Rate Loan made pursuant to Section 2 (each of which shall be a "Type" of Committed Loan).

"Committed Loan Request" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(a).

"Committed Note" means a promissory note of the Borrower, substantially in the form of Exhibit B, duly completed, evidencing Committed Loans to the Borrower, as such note may be amended, modified or supplemented or supplanted pursuant to Section 12.4.1 from time to time.

"Communications" has the meaning set forth in Section 12.2(b).

"Company" has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

"Connection Income Taxes" means Other Connection Taxes that are imposed on or measured by net income (however denominated) or that are franchise Taxes or branch profits Taxes.

"Consolidated Indebtedness" means, as of the date of any determination, (a) the total amount of Indebtedness less the amount of current and deferred income taxes and rentals received in advance of the Company and its Subsidiaries (to the extent constituting Indebtedness) determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP (but without giving effect to any election to value any Indebtedness at "fair value", or any other accounting principle, including purchase accounting, that results in the amount of any such Indebtedness (other than zero coupon Indebtedness) as reflected on a consolidated balance sheet of the Company to be reflected thereon in any amount other than the stated principal amount of such Indebtedness), and excluding (i) the amount that is (A) the aggregate amount outstanding of Hybrid Capital Securities multiplied by (B) the Hybrid Capital Securities Percentage, (ii) adjustments in relation to Indebtedness denominated in any currency other than Dollars and any related derivative liability, in each case to the extent arising from currency fluctuations (such exclusions to apply only to the extent the resulting liability is hedged by the Company or such Subsidiary), (iii) net obligations of any Person under any swap contracts that are not yet due and payable, and (iv) trade payables outstanding in the ordinary course of business, but not overdue by more than 90 days less (b) the lesser of (x) \$3,000,000,000 and (y) the aggregate amount of "cash and cash equivalents" or any line item of similar import (but in any event, excluding Restricted Cash) reflected on a consolidated balance sheet of the Company prepared as of such date of determination in accordance with GAAP; provided that, in the event that the Company or any of its Subsidiaries incurs any GECAS Transaction Financing prior to the consummation of the GECAS Transaction, the limitation in clause (b)(x) above shall not apply to the aggregate amount of GECAS Financing Proceeds as of any date of determination prior to the consummation of the GECAS Transaction.

"Consolidated Interest Expense" means for any measurement period, and without duplication, interest expense in respect of all Indebtedness for borrowed money accrued during such measurement period by the Company and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, as

determined under GAAP (but without giving effect to any adjustment to such interest expense resulting from any election to value any Indebtedness at "fair value", or any other accounting principle, including purchase accounting, that results in the amount of any such Indebtedness (other than zero coupon Indebtedness) as reflected on a consolidated balance sheet of the Company to be reflected thereon in any amount other than the stated principal amount of such Indebtedness).

"Continue", "Continuation" and "Continued" each refers to a continuation of LIBOR Rate Loans as LIBOR Rate Loans for a new Loan Period pursuant to Section 2.4.

"Convert", "Conversion" and "Converted" each refers to a conversion of Committed Loans of one Type into Committed Loans of the other Type pursuant to Section 2.4.

"Corresponding Tenor" with respect to any Available Tenor means, as applicable, either a tenor (including overnight) or an interest payment period having approximately the same length (disregarding business day adjustment) as such Available Tenor.

"Covered Entity" means any of the following: (a) a "covered entity" as that term is defined in, and interpreted in accordance with, 12 C.F.R. § 252.82(b), (b) a "covered bank" as that term is defined in, and interpreted in accordance with, 12 C.F.R. § 47.3(b) or (c) a "covered FSI" as that term is defined in, and interpreted in accordance with, 12 C.F.R. § 382.2(b).

"Covered Party" has the meaning set forth in Section 12.19.

"Credit Facilities" means one or more debt facilities, or commercial paper facilities with banks or other institutional lenders or investors or indentures providing for revolving credit loans, term loans, receivables financing, including through the sale of receivables to such lenders or to special purpose entities formed to borrow from such lenders against receivables, letters of credit or other long-term indebtedness, including any guarantees, collateral documents, instruments and agreements executed in connection therewith, and any amendments, supplements, modifications, extensions, renewals, restatements or refundings thereof and any indentures or credit facilities or commercial paper facilities with banks or other institutional lenders or investors that replace, refund or refinance any part of the loans, notes, other credit facilities or commitments thereunder, including any such replacement, refunding or refinancing facility or indenture that increases the amount borrowable thereunder or alters the maturity thereof.

"<u>Daily Simple SOFR</u>" means, for any day, SOFR, with the conventions for this rate (which will include a lookback) being established by the Administrative Agent in accordance with the conventions for this rate selected or recommended by the Relevant Governmental Body for determining "Daily Simple SOFR" for syndicated business loans; <u>provided</u>, that if the Administrative Agent decides that any such convention is not administratively feasible for the Administrative Agent, then the Administrative Agent may establish another convention in its reasonable discretion.

"<u>Debtor Relief Law</u>" means title 11 of the United States Code, as in effect from time to time, and all other liquidation, conservatorship, bankruptcy, assignment for the benefit of creditors, moratorium, rearrangement, receivership, insolvency, reorganization, examinership or

similar debtor relief laws of the United States or other applicable jurisdictions from time to time in effect and affecting the rights of creditors generally.

"<u>Default Right</u>" has the meaning assigned to that term in, and shall be interpreted in accordance with, 12 C.F.R. §§ 252.81, 47.2 or 382.1, as applicable.

"<u>Defaulted Commitments</u>" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.1(b).

"Defaulting Lender" means, at any time, any Lender that at such time (a) has failed to perform any of its funding obligations hereunder, including in respect of its Committed Loans within two Business Days of the date required to be funded by it hereunder unless such Lender notifies the Agent and the Borrower in writing that such failure is the result of such Lender's determination that one or more conditions precedent to funding (each of which conditions precedent, together with any applicable default, shall be specifically identified in such writing) has not been satisfied, (b) has notified the Borrower or the Agent that it does not intend to comply with its funding obligations or has made a public statement to that effect with respect to its funding obligations hereunder or generally under other agreements in which it commits to extend credit (unless such notice or public statement relates to such Lender's obligation to fund a Committed Loan hereunder and states that such position is based on such Lender's determination that a condition precedent to funding (which condition precedent, together with any applicable default, shall be specifically identified in such notice or public statement) cannot be satisfied), (c) has failed, within three Business Days after written request by the Agent or the Borrower (based on its reasonable belief that such Lender may not fulfill its funding obligations hereunder), to confirm in writing or a manner satisfactory to the Agent and the Borrower that it will comply with its funding obligations hereunder (provided that such Lender shall cease to be a Defaulting Lender pursuant to this clause (c) upon receipt of such written confirmation by the Agent and the Borrower), or (d) has, or has a direct or indirect parent company that has, (i) become the subject of a proceeding under any Debtor Relief Law, (ii) had a receiver, conservator, trustee, administrator, intervenor, sequestrator, assignee for the benefit of creditors or similar Person under any applicable Debtor Relief Law charged with reorganization or liquidation of its business or a custodian appointed for it, (iii) taken any action in furtherance of, or indicated its consent to, approval of or acquiescence in any such proceeding or appointment, or (iv) become the subject of a Bail-In Action; provided, that, a Lender shall not be a Defaulting Lender solely by virtue of the control, ownership or acquisition of any equity interest in that Lender or any direct or indirect parent company thereof by a Governmental Authority, so long as such ownership interest does not result in or provide such Lender with immunity from the jurisdiction of courts within the United States or from the enforcement of judgments or writs of attachment on its assets or permit such Lender (or such Governmental Authority) to reject, repudiate, disavow or disaffirm any contracts or agreements made with such Lender. Any determination that a Lender is a Defaulting Lender under clauses (a) through (d) above will be made by the Agent in its reasonable discretion acting in good faith. If the Borrower believes in good faith that a Lender should be determined by the Agent to be a Defaulting Lender and so notifies Agent, citing the reasons therefor, the Agent shall determine in its reasonable discretion acting in good faith whether or not such Lender is a Defaulting Lender. The Agent will promptly send to all parties hereto a copy of any notice to the Borrower provided for in this definition.

"Disqualified Lender" means (a) any Person that (i) is an operating lessor of aircraft assets or an Affiliate of an operating lessor of aircraft assets if the business of leasing aircraft assets is a principal line of business of such Person or the Affiliates of such Person taken as a whole, (ii) has a business unit or an Affiliate that is an operating lessor of aircraft assets (regardless of whether the business of leasing aircraft assets is a principal line of business of such Person or the Affiliates of such Person taken as a whole) if such Person has not affirmed to the Borrower that such Person has in place procedures not to transmit or permit the transmission to such operating lessor of any information concerning the Company or any of its Subsidiaries obtained in connection with this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby, (iii) is a Defaulting Lender or, upon becoming a Lender under this Agreement, would be a Defaulting Lender or (iv) based on the law and circumstances existing at the time of any proposed transfer, would be entitled to claim additional amounts from the Borrower under Section 5.4 or 6.1 (as compared to any amounts able to be claimed by the proposed assignor) or whose acquisition of any Committed Loan or Commitments would conflict with applicable law or would impose on the Borrower any withholding obligation not applicable to the assignor at the time of the assignment; (b) such other Persons identified in writing by the Company to the Arrangers prior to March 9, 2021; and (c) Affiliates of the Persons identified pursuant to clause (a) or (b) that are either clearly identifiable as Affiliates solely on the basis of their name or identified in writing by the Company to the Arrangers (or, after the Effective Date, to the Administrative Agent) (it being understood that, notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, in no event shall any such identification apply retroactively to disqualify any parties that have previously acquired or have agreed to acquire an assignment or participation interest hereunder that is otherwise permitted hereunder, but upon the effectiveness of such designation, any such party may not acquire or agree to acquire any additional Commitments, Committed Loans or participations hereunder).

"Disqualified Stock" means with respect to any Person, any Capital Stock of such Person which, by its terms, or by the terms of any security into which it is convertible or for which it is putable or exchangeable, or upon the happening of any event, matures or is mandatorily redeemable, other than as a result of a change of control or asset sale, pursuant to a sinking fund obligation or otherwise, or is redeemable at the option of the holder thereof, other than as a result of a change of control or asset sale, in whole or in part, in each case prior to the date 91 days after the earlier of (a) the latest scheduled Termination Date in effect on the date of issuance of such Capital Stock and (b) the date which no Committed Loans or Commitments are then outstanding hereunder; provided, however, that if such Capital Stock is issued to any plan for the benefit of employees of the Company or its Subsidiaries or by any such plan to such employees, such Capital Stock shall not constitute Disqualified Stock solely because it may be required to be repurchased by the Company or its Subsidiaries in order to satisfy applicable statutory or regulatory obligations.

"Dollar" and "\$" refer to the lawful money of the United States of America.

"Early Opt-in Election" means if the then-current Benchmark is Base LIBOR:

(1) a notification by the Administrative Agent to (or the request by the Borrower to the Administrative Agent to notify) each of the other parties hereto that at least five currently outstanding Dollar-denominated syndicated credit facilities in the U.S.

syndicated loan market at such time contain (as a result of amendment or as originally executed) a SOFR-based rate (including SOFR, a term SOFR or any other rate based upon SOFR) as a benchmark rate (and such syndicated credit facilities are identified in such notice and are publicly available for review); and

(2) the joint election by the Administrative Agent and the Borrower to trigger a fallback from Base LIBOR and the provision by the Administrative Agent of written notice of such election to the Lenders.

"EBITDA" means for any period, (a) the sum, without duplication, of (i) net income (or net loss), (ii) Consolidated Interest Expense, (iii) income tax expense, (iv) depreciation and depletion expense, (v) amortization expense, (vi) extraordinary, unusual or nonrecurring losses to the extent the foregoing have been deducted in determining such net income, (vii) any non-cash items (including write-downs and impairment of property, plant, equipment and intangibles and other long-lived assets, including aircraft, and the impact of purchase accounting, including stock based compensation expense, derivative expense and fair value adjustments) to the extent deducted in determining net income, and (viii) the amount of any extraordinary, unusual or nonrecurring non-cash restructuring charges, less (b) the sum, without duplication, of (i) extraordinary, unusual or nonrecurring gains to the extent added in determining net income, and (ii) all non-cash items to the extent included in determining net income. For the purposes of calculating EBITDA for any four quarter period, such calculation shall be made (i) after giving effect to any Acquisition consummated during such period and (ii) assuming that such Acquisition occurred at the beginning of such period; provided, that any pro forma calculation made by the Company either (i) based on Regulation S-X or (ii) as calculated in good faith and set forth in an officer's certificate of the Company, in reasonable detail, (and in the case of this clause (ii), based on audited financials of the target company) shall be acceptable.

"ECA Financing" means any financing provided or supported by one or more government export credit agencies.

"EEA Financial Institution" means (a) any credit institution or investment firm established in any EEA Member Country which is subject to the supervision of an EEA Resolution Authority, (b) any entity established in an EEA Member Country that is a parent of an institution described in clause (a) above or (c) any financial institution established in an EEA Member Country that is a subsidiary of an institution described in clause (a) or (b) above and is subject to consolidated supervision with its parent.

"EEA Member Country" means any of the member states of the European Union, Iceland, Liechtenstein and Norway.

"EEA Resolution Authority" means any public administrative authority or any Person entrusted with public administrative authority of any EEA Member Country (including any delegee) having responsibility for the resolution of any EEA Financial Institution.

"Effective Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 9.2.

"Eligible Assignee" means any financial institution; provided, however, that (a) neither the Borrower nor any Affiliate of the Borrower shall qualify as an Eligible Assignee, and (b) no natural person or Disqualified Lender shall qualify as an Eligible Assignee, whether or not an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing (unless otherwise agreed by the Borrower in its sole discretion).

"Equity Interests" means Capital Stock and all warrants, options or other rights to acquire Capital Stock, but excluding any debt security that is convertible into, or exchangeable for, Capital Stock.

"ERISA" means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

"ERISA Affiliate" means any corporation, trade or business that is, along with the Company or any Subsidiary, a member of a controlled group of corporations or a controlled group of trades or businesses, as described in Sections 414(b) and 414(c), respectively, of the Code or Section 4001 of ERISA (and Sections 414(m) and 414(o) of the Code for purposes of provisions relating to Section 412 of the Code).

"ERISA Event" means (a) any "reportable event", as defined in Section 4043 of ERISA or the regulations issued thereunder with respect to a Plan (other than an event for which the 30-day notice period is waived); (b) any failure by any Plan to satisfy the minimum funding standard (as defined in Section 412 of the Code or Section 302 of ERISA), applicable to such Plan; (c) the incurrence by the Company or any of its ERISA Affiliates of any liability under Title IV of ERISA with respect to the termination of any Plan; (d) the receipt by the Company or any ERISA Affiliate from the PBGC or a plan administrator of any notice having the effect of terminating any Plan or Plans or appointing a trustee to administer any Plan; (e) the incurrence by the Company or any of its ERISA Affiliates of any liability with respect to the withdrawal or partial withdrawal from any Plan or Multiemployer Plan; or (f) the receipt by the Company or any ERISA Affiliate of any notice, or the receipt by any Multiemployer Plan from the Company or any ERISA Affiliate of any notice, concerning the imposition of Withdrawal Liability or a determination that a Multiemployer Plan is, or is expected to be, insolvent, within the meaning of Title IV of ERISA or in "endangered" or "critical" status, within the meaning of Section 305 of ERISA or Section 432 of the Code.

"<u>EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule</u>" means the EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule published by the Loan Market Association (or any successor Person), as in effect from time to time.

"Eurodollar Reserve Percentage" means for any day in any Loan Period for any LIBOR Rate Loan that percentage in effect on such day as prescribed by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (or any successor thereto) or other U.S. government agency for determining the reserve requirement (including any marginal, basic, supplemental or emergency reserves) for a member bank of the Federal Reserve System in New York City with deposits exceeding one billion dollars in respect of eurocurrency funding liabilities.

"Event of Default" means any of the events described in Section 10.1.

"Exchange Act" means the United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

"Excluded Subsidiary" means (a) any dormant Subsidiary (it being understood and agreed that the provision by such Subsidiary of any Guarantees under any indenture, credit agreement or other agreement or instrument existing on the date hereof (or under any amendments, supplements (including in respect of supplemental issuances), modifications, upsizings, extensions, renewals, restatements, refundings or refinancings of any such indenture, credit agreement or other agreement or instrument from time to time) shall not cause such Subsidiary to be deemed not to be dormant) or (b) any other Subsidiary that (i) is not engaged in any material business activities (it being understood and agreed that the provision by such Subsidiary of any Guarantees under any indenture, credit agreement or other agreement or instrument existing on the date hereof (or under any amendments, supplements (including in respect of supplemental issuances), modifications, upsizings, extensions, renewals, restatements, refundings or refinancings of any such indenture, credit agreement or other agreement or instrument from time to time), shall be deemed not to be a material business activity) and (ii) does not hold any material assets. For the avoidance of doubt, no Significant Subsidiary shall be an "Excluded Subsidiary" for purposes of Section 8.17 of this Agreement.

"Excluded Taxes" means any of the following Taxes imposed on or with respect to a Recipient or required to be withheld or deducted from a payment to a Recipient, (a) Taxes imposed on or measured by net income (however denominated), franchise Taxes, and branch profits Taxes, in each case, (i) imposed as a result of such Recipient being organized under the laws of, or having its principal office or, in the case of any Lender, its applicable lending office located in, the jurisdiction imposing such Tax (or any political subdivision thereof) or (ii) that are Other Connection Taxes, (b) in the case of a Lender, U.S. Federal, Netherlands or Irish withholding Taxes imposed on amounts payable to or for the account of such Lender with respect to an applicable interest in a Committed Loan or Commitment pursuant to a law in effect on the date on which (i) such Lender acquires such interest in the Committed Loan or Commitment (other than pursuant to an assignment request by the Borrower under Section 12.9(c)) or (ii) such Lender changes its lending office (other than pursuant to Section 6.1(c)), its place of incorporation or its place of tax residence, except in each case to the extent that, (x) pursuant to Section 5.4, amounts with respect to such Taxes were payable either to such Lender's assignor immediately before such Lender acquired the applicable interest in such Committed Loan or Commitment or to such Lender immediately before it changed its lending office, its place of incorporation or its place of tax residence or (y) in the case of Irish withholding Taxes, such Taxes are imposed on Lenders that are Qualifying Lenders, (c) Taxes attributable to such Recipient's failure to comply with Section 5.4(f), and (d) any withholding Taxes imposed under FATCA.

"Eximbank" means the Export-Import Bank of the United States.

"Existing Revolving Credit Agreement" means that certain Third Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of October 22, 2019, among the Company, the Borrower, the subsidiary guarantors party thereto from time to time, the lenders party thereto from time to time and Citibank, as administrative agent, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.

"Extension Request" has the meaning set forth in Section 12.9(a).

"FATCA" means Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code, as of the date of this Agreement (or any amended or successor version that is substantively comparable and not materially more onerous to comply with), together in each case with any current or future regulations or official IRS interpretations thereof, any official agreements entered into pursuant to Section 1471(b)(1) of the Code and any fiscal or regulatory legislation, rules or practices adopted pursuant to any intergovernmental agreement, treaty, or convention among Governmental Authorities and implementing such Sections of the Code.

"Federal Funds Rate" means, for any period, the greater of (a) a fluctuating interest rate per annum equal for each day during such period to the weighted average of the rates on overnight Federal funds transactions with members of the Federal Reserve System, as published for such day (or, if such day is not a Business Day, for the next preceding Business Day) by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or, if such rate is not so published for any day which is a Business Day, the average of the quotations for such day on such transactions received by the Agent from three Federal funds brokers of recognized standing selected by it and (b) 0%.

"Fee Letter" means the Senior Unsecured Revolving Credit Facility Fee Letter dated March 9, 2021, among Citigroup Global Markets Inc., Goldman Sachs Bank USA, the Company and the Borrower.

"Financial Indebtedness" of any Person means Indebtedness of the type that appears as "debt" upon a consolidated balance sheet (excluding the footnotes thereto) of such Person and its Subsidiaries prepared in accordance with GAAP (but without giving effect to any election to value any such Indebtedness at "fair value", or any other accounting principle, including purchase accounting, that results in the amount of any such Indebtedness (other than zero coupon Indebtedness) as reflected on a consolidated balance sheet of such Person to be reflected thereon in any amount other than the stated principal amount of such Indebtedness), excluding, however, any such "debt" that is issued to any holder (or Affiliate of any such holder) of Equity Interests in such Person and is fully subordinated (including as to payment and liquidity preference) to the Committed Loans.

"Financing Trust" means AerCap Global Aviation Trust, a Delaware statutory trust.

"Floor" means the benchmark rate floor, if any, provided in this Agreement initially (as of the execution of this Agreement, the modification, amendment or renewal of this Agreement or otherwise) with respect to Base LIBOR.

"Foreign Benefit Event" means, with respect to any Foreign Plan, (a) the existence of unfunded liabilities in excess of the amount permitted under any applicable law, (b) the failure to make the required contributions or payments, under any applicable law, on or before the due date for such contributions or payments, (c) the receipt of a notice by a Governmental Authority relating to the termination of any such Foreign Plan or the appointment of a trustee or similar official to administer any such Foreign Plan, (d) the incurrence of any

liability by the Company or any Subsidiary under any applicable law on account of the complete or partial termination of such Foreign Plan or the complete or partial withdrawal of any participating employer therein or (e) the occurrence of any transaction that is prohibited under any applicable law and that could reasonably be expected to result in the incurrence of any material liability by the Company or any Subsidiary.

"Foreign Plan" means each "employee benefit plan" (as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA) maintained or contributed to by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries outside the United States with respect to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries could have any actual or contingent liability, other than a Plan.

"Funding Date" means the date on which any Committed Loan is scheduled to be disbursed.

"<u>Funding Office</u>" means, with respect to any Lender, any office or offices of such Lender or Affiliate or Affiliates of such Lender through which such Lender shall fund or shall have funded any Committed Loan. A Funding Office may be, at such Lender's option, either a domestic or foreign office of such Lender.

"GAAP" means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States which are in effect from time to time. At any time after the Effective Date, the Company may elect to apply IFRS accounting principles in lieu of GAAP for reporting purposes and for purposes of calculations hereunder. The Company shall give notice of any such election made in accordance with this definition to the Agent. Upon receipt of such notice, the Agent and the Company shall negotiate in good faith to amend the financial covenants, requirements and other relevant provisions of this Agreement impacted by such change to preserve the original intent thereof in light of such change. The change from GAAP to IFRS accounting principles shall become effective once this Agreement has been so amended, and thereafter references herein to GAAP shall be construed to mean IFRS (except as otherwise provided herein); provided that any calculation or determination herein that requires the application of GAAP for periods that include fiscal quarters ended prior to the Company's election to apply IFRS shall remain as previously calculated or determined in accordance with GAAP.

"GECAS Business" means the Companies (as defined in the GECAS Transaction Agreement), and their respective Subsidiaries and businesses and the Transferred Assets (as defined in the GECAS Transaction Agreement).

"GECAS Financing Proceeds" means cash and/or cash equivalents representing the proceeds of any GECAS Transaction Financing that are held by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, including pursuant to any escrow arrangements, or are deposited with any other Person pursuant to any escrow arrangements.

"GECAS Specified Representations" means the representations and warranties with respect to the Company or the Borrower, as applicable, set forth in (a) Sections 7.1 (solely with respect to due organization or incorporation and valid existence), 7.2(a), 7.2(b), 7.2(e)(i),

7.2(e)(iii), 7.3, 7.7 and 7.8 and the last sentence of Section 7.15 and (b) the certification delivered pursuant to Section 9.3.5 on the Closing Date.

"GECAS Transaction" means the acquisition of or subscription for, as applicable, the Equity Interests in the Companies, the Transferred Assets and the New Ireland Company Notes (each such term as defined in the GECAS Transaction Agreement) by one or more direct or indirect Wholly-owned Subsidiaries of the Company, pursuant to the GECAS Transaction Agreement.

"GECAS Transaction Agreement" means the Transaction Agreement dated as of March 9, 2021 (as amended from time to time and including the exhibits, schedules and all related documents), by and among General Electric Company, certain direct or indirect subsidiaries of General Electric Company, the Company and the GECAS Transaction Subsidiaries.

"GECAS Transaction Bridge Facility" means the senior unsecured 364-day bridge loan facility under the Bridge Credit Agreement dated as of March 30, 2021, among the Company, the Borrower, the subsidiary guarantors party thereto from time to time, the lenders party thereto from time to time and Citibank, as administrative agent.

"GECAS Transaction Financing" means any Indebtedness of the Company or any Subsidiary that has been incurred for the purpose of financing, in whole or in part, the GECAS Transaction and any related transactions.

"GECAS Transaction Subsidiaries" means AerCap US Aviation LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, and AerCap Aviation Leasing Limited, a private company limited by shares incorporated under the laws of Ireland with registered number 689205.

"GECAS Transaction Representations" means the representations made by General Electric Company, GE Ireland USD Holdings ULC, GE Financial Holdings ULC and/or GE Capital US Holdings, Inc. with respect to the GECAS Business in the GECAS Transaction Agreement as are material to the interests of the Lenders (in their capacities as such) (but only to the extent that the Company and the GECAS Transaction Subsidiaries have the right to terminate its and their respective obligations to consummate the GECAS Transaction (or otherwise do not have an obligation to close) under the GECAS Transaction Agreement as a result of a failure of such representations in the GECAS Transaction Agreement to be accurate).

"General Electric Company" means General Electric Company, a New York corporation.

"Governmental Authority" means, as and to the extent applicable, the government of the United States of America, the Netherlands or any other nation, or any political subdivision thereof, whether state or local, and any agency, authority, instrumentality, regulatory body, court, central bank or other entity (including any federal or other association of or with which any such nation may be a member or associated) exercising executive, legislative, judicial, taxing, regulatory or administrative powers or functions of or pertaining to government (including any supra-national bodies, such as the European Union or the European Central Bank).

"Granting Lender" has the meaning set forth in Section 12.4.2.

"Guarantee Assumption Agreement" means a Guarantee Assumption Agreement substantially in the form of Exhibit F (or in such other form as may be agreed between the Company and the Administrative Agent) in favor of the Administrative Agent for the benefit of the Lenders and the Administrative Agent.

"Guaranteed Obligations" has the meaning set forth in Section 13.1.

"Guarantees" by any Person means, without duplication, all obligations (other than endorsements in the ordinary course of business of negotiable instruments for deposit or collection) of such Person guaranteeing or in effect guaranteeing any Indebtedness, dividend or other obligation of any other Person (the "Primary Obligor") in any manner, whether directly or indirectly, including all obligations incurred through an agreement, contingent or otherwise, by such Person: (a) to purchase such Indebtedness or obligation or any property or assets constituting security therefor, (b) to advance or supply funds (i) for the purchase or payment of such Indebtedness or obligation or (ii) to maintain working capital or other balance sheet condition or otherwise to advance or make available funds for the purchase or payment of such Indebtedness or obligation, (c) to lease property or to purchase securities or other property or services primarily for the purpose of assuring the owner of such Indebtedness or obligation of the ability of the Primary Obligor to make payment of the Indebtedness or obligation or (d) otherwise to assure the owner of the Indebtedness or obligation of the Primary Obligor against loss in respect thereof; provided, however, that the obligation described in clause (c) shall not include (i) obligations of a buyer under an agreement with a seller to purchase goods or services entered into in the ordinary course of such buyer's and seller's businesses unless such agreement requires that such buyer make payment whether or not delivery is ever made of such goods or services and (ii) remarketing agreements where the remaining debt on an aircraft does not exceed the aircraft's net book value, determined in accordance with industry standards, except that clause (c) shall apply to the amount of remaining debt under a remarketing agreement that exceeds the net book value of the aircraft. For the purposes of all computations made under this Agreement, a Guarantee in respect of any Indebtedness for borrowed money shall be deemed to be Indebtedness equal to the principal amount of such Indebtedness for borrowed money which has been guaranteed, and a Guarantee in respect of any other obligation or liability or any dividend shall be deemed to be Indebtedness equal to the maximum aggregate amount of such obligation, liability or dividend.

"Guarantor" means the Company and each Subsidiary Guarantor.

"Hybrid Capital Securities" means any hybrid capital securities issued by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries from time to time whose proceeds are accorded a percentage of equity treatment by one or more Rating Organizations.

"Hybrid Capital Securities Percentage" means the greater of (a) 50% and (b) the lowest percentage accorded equity treatment for the Company's or any of its Subsidiaries' Hybrid Capital Securities among the Rating Organizations, as determined by such Rating Organizations from time to time.

"ILFC" means International Lease Finance Corporation, a California corporation.

"Increasing Lender" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.4(a)(i).

"Indebtedness" of any Person means and includes, without duplication, all obligations of such Person which in accordance with GAAP shall be classified upon a balance sheet of such Person as liabilities of such Person, and in any event shall include all:

- (a) obligations of such Person for borrowed money or which have been incurred in connection with the acquisition of property or assets (other than security and other deposits on flight equipment),
- (b) Indebtedness of any other Person secured by any Lien or other charge upon property or assets owned by such Person, even though such Person has not assumed or become liable for the payment of such Indebtedness,
- (c) obligations created or arising under any conditional sale, or other title retention agreement with respect to property acquired by such Person, notwithstanding the fact that the rights and remedies of the seller, lender or lessor under such agreement in the event of default are limited to repossession or sale of property,
 - (d) Capitalized Rentals of such Person under any Capitalized Lease,
 - (e) obligations evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes or other similar instruments, and
 - (f) Guarantees by such Person of Indebtedness of any other Person;

<u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that Indebtedness shall in no event include any security deposits, deferred overhaul rental or other customer deposits held by such Person.

"Indemnified Liabilities" has the meaning set forth in Section 12.7.

"Indemnified Taxes" means (a) Taxes, other than Excluded Taxes, imposed on or with respect to any payment made by or on account of any obligation of any Obligor under any Loan Document and (b) to the extent not otherwise described in clause (a), Other Taxes.

"Independent Financial Advisor" means an accounting, appraisal, investment banking firm or consultant to Persons engaged in similar businesses of nationally recognized standing that is, in the good faith judgment of the Company, qualified to perform the task for which it has been engaged.

"Information" has the meaning set forth in Section 12.6.

"Information Memorandum" means the March 2021 Confidential Information Memorandum relating to the credit facility provided for herein.

"Interest Coverage Ratio" means the ratio of (a) EBITDA of the Company and its Subsidiaries, determined on a consolidated basis, to (b) the sum of Consolidated Interest Expense (excluding, for any four consecutive fiscal quarter period ending prior to the consummation of the GECAS Transaction, any Consolidated Interest Expense in respect of GECAS Transaction Financing) and cash dividend payments (excluding items eliminated in consolidation) on any series of preferred stock, for each of the items in clauses (a) and (b) above, of or by the Company and its Subsidiaries during the four consecutive fiscal quarters most recently ended for which financial statements have been delivered pursuant to Section 8.1.

"IRS" means the United States Internal Revenue Service.

"ISDA Definitions" means the 2006 ISDA Definitions published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. or any successor thereto, as amended or supplemented from time to time, or any successor definitional booklet for interest rate derivatives published from time to time by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. or such successor thereto.

"Lender Appointment Period" has the meaning set forth in Section 11.9.

"Lender Parties" has the meaning set forth in Section 12.7.

"<u>Lenders</u>" means the financial institutions identified as Lenders on the signature pages hereto and their respective successors and permitted assignees.

"LIBOR Rate" means with respect to Committed Loans that are LIBOR Rate Loans, Base LIBOR plus the applicable rate margin set forth for LIBOR Rate Loans in the row entitled "Margins" on Schedule II.

"LIBOR Rate Loan" means any Committed Loan which bears interest at a LIBOR Rate.

"<u>Lien</u>" means any mortgage, pledge, lien, security interest or other charge, encumbrance or preferential arrangement, including the retained security title of a conditional vendor or lessor. For avoidance of doubt, the parties hereto acknowledge that the filing of a financing statement under the Uniform Commercial Code does not, in and of itself, give rise to a Lien.

"<u>Litigation Actions</u>" means all litigation, claims and arbitration proceedings, proceedings before any Governmental Authority or investigations which are pending or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened in writing against or affecting, the Company or any Subsidiary.

"Loan Documents" means this Agreement, the Committed Notes, and any Guarantee Assumption Agreement.

"Loan Period" means with respect to any LIBOR Rate Loan, the period commencing on such LIBOR Rate Loan's Funding Date, the date of the Conversion of any Base Rate Loan into such LIBOR Rate Loan or the date of the Continuation of such LIBOR Rate Loan

for a new Loan Period and ending one, three or six months thereafter as selected by the Borrower pursuant to Section 2.2(a); <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that:

- (a) if a Loan Period would otherwise end on a day which is not a Business Day, such Loan Period shall end on the next succeeding Business Day (unless, in the case of a LIBOR Rate Loan with a Loan Period of one month or longer, such next succeeding Business Day would fall in the next succeeding calendar month, in which case such Loan Period shall end on the next preceding Business Day),
- (b) in the case of a Loan Period of one month or longer for any LIBOR Rate Loan, if there exists no day numerically corresponding to the day such Committed Loan was made in the month in which the last day of such Loan Period would otherwise fall, such Loan Period shall end on the last Business Day of such month, and
- (c) on the date of the making, Conversion or Continuation of any Committed Loan by a Lender, the Loan Period for such Committed Loan shall not extend beyond the then-scheduled Termination Date for such Lender; <u>provided</u>, that a Loan Period may be shortened by the Borrower to end on the then-scheduled Termination Date, regardless of the duration of such Loan Period.

"Management Group" means at any time, the Chairman of the Board of Directors, the Chief Executive Officer, any President, any Executive Vice President or Vice President, any Managing Director, any Treasurer and any Secretary or other executive officer of the Company or any subsidiary of the Company at such time.

"Material Adverse Effect" means (a) any material adverse effect on the business, properties, condition (financial or otherwise) or operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole since any stated reference date or from and after the date of determination, as the case may be, (b) any material adverse effect on the ability of the Borrower or any Guarantor to perform its material obligations hereunder and under the Committed Notes or (c) any material adverse effect on the legality, validity, binding effect or enforceability of any material provision of this Agreement or any Committed Note.

"Multiemployer Plan" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 3(37) of ERISA.

"Non-Defaulting Lender" means, at any time, a Lender that is not a Defaulting Lender.

"Notice of Increase" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.4(a)(i).

"Notice Office" means the office of Citibank which, as of the date hereof, is located at 1 Penns Way, Ops II, New Castle, DE 19720; attention of Bank Loan Syndications; telephone number 201-751-7566; e-mail address agencyabtfsupport@citi.com.

"Obligors" means the Borrower and each Guarantor, and "Obligor" means any one of them.

"Other Connection Taxes" means, with respect to any Recipient, Taxes imposed as a result of a present or former connection between such Recipient and the jurisdiction imposing such Tax (other than connections arising from such Recipient having executed, delivered, become a party to, performed its obligations under, received payments under, received or perfected a security interest under, engaged in any other transaction pursuant to or enforced any Loan Document, or sold or assigned an interest in any Committed Loan or Loan Document).

"Other Taxes" means all present or future stamp, court or documentary, intangible, recording, filing or similar Taxes that arise from any payment made under, from the execution, delivery, performance, enforcement or registration of, from the receipt or perfection of a security interest under, or otherwise with respect to, any Loan Document, except any such Taxes that are Other Connection Taxes imposed with respect to an assignment other than an assignment made pursuant to Section 12.9(c).

"Participant" has the meaning set forth in Section 12.4.2.

"Participant Register" has the meaning set forth in Section 12.4.2.

"Payment" has the meaning set forth in Section 11.5(c).

"Payment Notice" has the meaning set forth in Section 11.5(d).

"Payment Office" means the office of the Agent which, as of the date hereof, is at 1 Penns Way, Ops II, New Castle, DE 19720, account number [REDACTED].

"PBGC" means the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation and any entity succeeding to any or all of its functions under ERISA.

"Percentage" means as to any Lender the ratio, expressed as a percentage, that such Lender's Commitment as set forth opposite such Lender's name on Schedule I, as periodically revised in accordance with Section 12.4 or 12.9 and, as applicable, from time to time in accordance with Section 4.3(b), bears to the Aggregate Commitment or, if the Commitments have been terminated, the ratio, expressed as a percentage, that the aggregate principal amount of such Lender's outstanding Committed Loans bears to the aggregate principal amount of all outstanding Committed Loans.

"Permitted Holders" means the collective reference to General Electric Company and its Affiliates and the Management Group; provided that General Electric Company and its Affiliates shall cease to be Permitted Holders during such time as (a) General Electric Company (together with its Affiliates) is the beneficial owner (as defined in Rules 13d-3 and 13d-5 under the Exchange Act), directly or indirectly, of shares representing more than 50% of the voting power of the Company's Voting Stock and (b) the Company has amended, waived or otherwise modified Section 3.2(a)(v), 3.2(a)(vi) or 3.2(a)(viii) of the Shareholders' Agreement (as defined in the GECAS Transaction Agreement).

"Person" means an individual or a corporation, partnership, trust, incorporated or unincorporated association, limited liability company, joint venture, joint stock company, government (or an agency or political subdivision thereof) or other entity of any kind.

"Plan" means, at any date, any employee pension benefit plan (as defined in Section 3(2) of ERISA) which is subject to Title IV of ERISA (other than a Multiemployer Plan) and to which the Company or any ERISA Affiliate may have any liability, including any liability by reason of having been a substantial employer within the meaning of Section 4063 of ERISA at any time during the preceding five years, or by reason of being deemed to be a contributing sponsor under Section 4069 of ERISA.

"Platform" has the meaning set forth in Section 12.2(c).

"Primary Currency" has the meaning set forth in Section 12.15(c).

"Primary Obligor" has the meaning set forth in the definition of "Guarantees".

"Prime Rate" means the rate of interest last quoted by *The Wall Street Journal* as the "Prime Rate" in the U.S. or, if *The Wall Street Journal* ceases to quote such rate, the highest per annum interest rate published by the Federal Reserve Board in Federal Reserve Statistical Release H.15 (519) (Selected Interest Rates) as the "bank prime loan" rate or, if such rate is no longer quoted therein, any similar rate quoted therein (as determined by the Administrative Agent) or any similar release by the Federal Reserve Board (as determined by the Administrative Agent). Each change in the Prime Rate shall be effective from and including the date such change is publicly announced or quoted as being effective.

"Projections" has the meaning set forth in Section 7.9.

"PTE" means a prohibited transaction class exemption issued by the U.S. Department of Labor, as any such exemption may be amended from time to time.

"Public Lender" has the meaning set forth in Section 12.2(d).

"QFC" has the meaning assigned to the term "qualified financial contract" in, and shall be interpreted in accordance with, 12 U.S.C. 5390(c)(8)(D).

"QFC Credit Support" has the meaning set forth in Section 12.19.

"Qualified Securitization Financing" means any Securitization Financing of a Securitization Subsidiary, the financing terms, covenants, termination events and other provisions of which, including any Standard Securitization Undertakings, shall be market terms.

"Qualifying Lender" means a Lender that is beneficially entitled to the receipt of interest payable hereunder and that is

(a) (i) a body corporate that is, by virtue of the law of a Relevant Territory, resident for the purposes of tax in that Relevant Territory and the Relevant Territory concerned imposes a tax that generally applies to interest receivable in that territory by companies from sources outside the Relevant Territory, or (ii) a body corporate where such interest payable is exempted from the charge to Irish income tax under arrangements for relief from double taxation which have the force of law by virtue of Section 826(1) of the Taxes Consolidation Act 1997 of Ireland, or would be exempted from the charge to

Irish income tax if arrangements made, on or before the date of payment of the interest, for relief from double taxation that do not have the force of law by virtue of Section 826(1) of the Taxes Consolidation Act 1997 of Ireland, had the force of law (by virtue of Section 826(1) of the Taxes Consolidation Act 1997 of Ireland) when such interest is paid; <u>provided</u> that, in each case, such interest is not paid to that body corporate in connection with a trade or business carried on in Ireland by that body corporate through a branch or agency;

- (b) a corporation organized under the laws of the U.S. or any state thereof and subject to tax in the U.S. on its worldwide income; <u>provided</u> that such interest is not paid in connection with a trade or business carried on in Ireland by that corporation through a branch or agency;
- (c) a U.S. limited liability company; <u>provided</u> that the ultimate recipients of such interest would be Qualifying Lenders within paragraph (a) and/or (b) of this definition if they were Lenders and the business conducted through such U.S. limited liability company is so structured for market reasons and not for tax avoidance reasons; <u>provided further</u> that such interest is not paid in connection with a trade or business carried on in Ireland by that limited liability company through a branch or agency;
- (d) a bank within the meaning of Section 246(1) of the Taxes Consolidation Act 1997 of Ireland whose lending office is located in Ireland and which is carrying on a bona fide banking business in Ireland for the purposes of section 246(3) of the Taxes Consolidation Act 1997 of Ireland, <u>provided</u> that such interest is paid in Ireland;
- (e) a body corporate which advances money in the ordinary course of a trade which includes the lending of money; <u>provided</u> that (i) such interest is paid in Ireland, (ii) such interest is taken into account in computing the trading income of such Lender, and (iii) such Lender has complied with (and continues to comply with) the notification requirements under section 246(5) of the Taxes Consolidation Act 1997 of Ireland;
- (f) a qualifying company within the meaning of Section 110 of the Taxes Consolidation Act 1997 of Ireland; provided that such interest is paid in Ireland; or
- (g) an investment undertaking within the meaning of section 739B of the Taxes Consolidation Act 1997 of Ireland; <u>provided</u> that such interest is paid in Ireland.

"Rating Organizations" means the following nationally recognized rating organizations: Moody's Investors Service, Inc., S&P Global Ratings, a division of S&P Global Inc., and Fitch Ratings, Inc.

"Recipient" means the Administrative Agent or any Lender.

"Reference Time" with respect to any setting of the then-current Benchmark means (1) if such Benchmark is Base LIBOR, 11:00 a.m. (London, England time) on the day that is two London banking days preceding the date of such setting, and (2) if such Benchmark is not Base LIBOR, the time determined by the Administrative Agent in its reasonable discretion.

"Register" has the meaning set forth in Section 11.11(a).

"Related Parties" means, with respect to any Person, such Person's Affiliates and the partners, directors, officers, employees, agents and advisors of such Person and of such Person's Affiliates.

"Relevant Governmental Body" means the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System or the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or a committee officially endorsed or convened by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System or the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or any successor thereto.

"Relevant Territory" means a member state of the European Union (other than Ireland), or a territory with the government of which Ireland has made arrangements for relief from double taxation which have the force of law by virtue of Section 826(1) of the Taxes Consolidation Act 1997 of Ireland, or a territory with the government of which Ireland has made arrangements for relief from double taxation which, upon completion of procedures set out in Section 826(1) of the Taxes Consolidation Act 1997 of Ireland will have the force of law.

"Reportable Event" means an event described in Section 4043(c) of ERISA with respect to a Plan other than those events as to which the 30-day notice period is waived under subsection .22, .23, .25, .27 or .28 of PBGC Regulation Section 4043.

"Requested Increase Amount" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.4(a)(i).

"Requested Increase Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.4(a)(i).

"Required Lenders" means Non-Defaulting Lenders having an aggregate Percentage of more than 50%; <u>provided</u>, that the Committed Loans and Commitments of any Defaulting Lender shall be excluded from the determination of Required Lenders.

"Resolution Authority" means an EEA Resolution Authority or, with respect to any UK Financial Institution, a UK Resolution Authority.

"Restricted Cash" means "restricted cash" or any line item of similar import and "cash and cash equivalents" or any line item of similar import subject to any Lien (other than (x) Liens arising by operation of law and (y) bankers' Liens arising in the ordinary course of business); provided that, for all purposes of this Agreement, as of any date of determination, any GECAS Financing Proceeds that would otherwise constitute Restricted Cash as of such date of determination, solely because such GECAS Financing Proceeds are subject to any escrow arrangements or are included in or otherwise designated as "restricted cash" or any line item of similar import due to the fact that such GECAS Financing Proceeds are to be used to finance, in whole or in part, the GECAS Transaction or any related transactions, shall, notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, be deemed not to constitute "Restricted Cash" and shall instead be deemed to be included in "cash and cash equivalents" or any line item of similar import reflected on a consolidated balance sheet of the Company prepared as of such date of determination in accordance with GAAP.

"Sanctioned Person" means, at any time, (a) any Person listed in any Sanctions-related list of specially designated nationals or designated Persons maintained by the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the U.S. Department of Treasury, the U.S. State Department, the U.S. Department of Commerce, the U.S. Department of the Treasury, the United Nations Security Council, the European Union or Her Majesty's Treasury of the United Kingdom, or (b) any Person controlled by such a Person.

"Sanctions" means economic or financial sanctions or trade embargoes imposed, administered or enforced from time to time by (a) the United States government, including those administered by the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the U.S. Department of Treasury, the U.S. State Department, the U.S. Department of Commerce or the U.S. Department of the Treasury, or (b) the United Nations Security Council, the European Union or Her Majesty's Treasury of the United Kingdom.

"Screen Rate" has the meaning set forth in the definition of "Base LIBOR".

"Securities Act" means the United States Securities Act of 1933.

"Securitization Assets" means the accounts receivable, lease, royalty or other revenue streams and other rights to payment and all related assets (including contract rights, books and records, all collateral securing any and all of the foregoing, all contracts and all guarantees or other obligations in respect of any and all of the foregoing and other assets that are customarily transferred or in respect of which security interests are customarily granted in connection with asset securitization transactions involving any and all of the foregoing) and the proceeds thereof in each case pursuant to a Securitization Financing.

"Securitization Financing" means one or more transactions or series of transactions that may be entered into by the Company and/or any Subsidiary pursuant to which the Company or any Subsidiary may sell, convey or otherwise transfer Securitization Assets to (a) a Securitization Subsidiary (in the case of a transfer by the Company or any of the Subsidiaries that is not a Securitization Subsidiary) or (b) any other Person (in the case of a transfer by a Securitization Subsidiary), or may grant a security interest in, any Securitization Assets of the Company or any Subsidiary.

"Securitization Subsidiary" means a Subsidiary (or another Person formed for the purposes of engaging in a Qualified Securitization Financing in which the Company or any Subsidiary makes an investment and to which the Company or any Subsidiary transfers Securitization Assets and related assets) that engages in no activities other than in connection with the financing of Securitization Assets of the Company or a Subsidiary, all proceeds thereof and all rights (contingent and other), collateral and other assets relating thereto, and any business or activities incidental or related to such business, and which is designated by the Board of Directors of the Company or such other Person (as provided below) as a Securitization Subsidiary and (a) no portion of the Indebtedness or any other obligations (contingent or otherwise) of which (i) is guaranteed by the Company or any Subsidiary, other than another Securitization Subsidiary (excluding guarantees of obligations pursuant to Standard

Securitization Undertakings), (ii) is recourse to or obligates the Company or any Subsidiary, other than another Securitization Subsidiary, in any way other than pursuant to Standard Securitization Undertakings or (iii) subjects any property or asset of the Company or any Subsidiary, other than another Securitization Subsidiary, directly or indirectly, contingently or otherwise, to the satisfaction thereof, other than pursuant to Standard Securitization Undertakings and (b) to which none of the Company or any other Subsidiary, other than another Securitization Subsidiary, has any obligation to maintain or preserve such entity's financial condition or cause such entity to achieve certain levels of operating results. Any such designation by the Board of Directors of the Company or such other Person giving effect to such designation.

"Shareholder's Equity" means, as of any date of determination for the Company and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, (a) shareholders' equity (including (i) capital stock, (ii) additional paid-in capital, (iii) the amount that is (x) the aggregate amount outstanding of Hybrid Capital Securities multiplied by (y) the Hybrid Capital Securities Percentage, and (iv) retained earnings after deducting treasury stock) as of such date determined in accordance with GAAP, plus (b) to the extent not otherwise included in shareholders' equity of the Company, any outstanding market auction preferred stock of ILFC.

"Significant Subsidiary" means (a) any Obligor that is a Subsidiary of the Company and (b) any other Subsidiary which is so defined pursuant to Rule 1-02 of Regulation S-X promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission.

"SOFR" means, with respect to any Business Day, a rate per annum equal to the secured overnight financing rate for such Business Day published by the SOFR Administrator on the SOFR Administrator's Website on the immediately succeeding Business Day.

"SOFR Administrator" means the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (or a successor administrator of the secured overnight financing rate).

"SOFR Administrator's Website" means the website of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, currently at http://www.newyorkfed.org, or any successor source for the secured overnight financing rate identified as such by the SOFR Administrator from time to time.

"SPV" has the meaning set forth in Section 12.4.2.

"Standard Securitization Undertakings" means representations, warranties, covenants and indemnities entered into by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries that are customary for a seller or servicer of assets in a Securitization Financing.

"Subsidiary" means any Person of which or in which the Company and its other Subsidiaries own directly or indirectly 50% or more of:

- (a) the combined voting power of all classes of stock having general voting power under ordinary circumstances to elect a majority of the board of directors of such Person, if it is a corporation,
- (b) the capital interest or profits interest of such Person, if it is a partnership, limited liability company, joint venture or similar entity, or

(c) the beneficial interest of such Person, if it is a trust, association or other unincorporated organization.

"Subsidiary Guarantor" means each of the Subsidiaries of the Company identified under the caption "GUARANTORS" on the signature pages hereto and each Subsidiary of the Company that becomes a "Subsidiary Guarantor" after the date hereof pursuant to Section 8.19.

"Successor Lender" has the meaning set forth in Section 12.9(c).

"Supported QFC" has the meaning set forth in Section 12.19.

"<u>Taxes</u>" means all present or future taxes, levies, imposts, duties, deductions, withholdings (including backup withholding), assessments, fees or other charges imposed by any Governmental Authority, including any interest, additions to tax or penalties applicable thereto.

"<u>Term SOFR</u>" means, for the applicable Corresponding Tenor as of the applicable Reference Time, the forward-looking term rate based on SOFR that has been selected or recommended by the Relevant Governmental Body.

"Terminating Lender" has the meaning set forth in Section 12.9(c).

"Termination Date" means, with respect to any Lender, the earliest to occur of (i) the earlier of (A) September 30, 2025 and (B) the date that is four years after the Closing Date, or such later date as may be agreed to by such Lender pursuant to Section 12.9(a), or if such day is not a Business Day, the next preceding Business Day, (ii) the date on which the Commitments shall terminate pursuant to Section 4.1(c) or 10.2 or the Commitments shall be reduced to zero pursuant to Section 4.1 and (iii) the date specified as such Lender's Termination Date pursuant to Section 12.9(b), or, if such day is not a Business Day, the next preceding Business Day; in all cases, subject to the provisions of Section 12.9(d).

"Type" has the meaning set forth in the definition of "Committed Loan".

"<u>UK Financial Institution</u>" means any BRRD Undertaking (as such term is defined under the PRA Rulebook (as amended from time to time) promulgated by the United Kingdom Prudential Regulation Authority) or any Person falling within IFPRU 11.6 of the FCA Handbook (as amended from time to time) promulgated by the United Kingdom Financial Conduct Authority, which includes certain credit institutions and investment firms, and certain affiliates of such credit institutions or investment firms.

"<u>UK Resolution Authority</u>" means the Bank of England or any other public administrative authority having responsibility for the resolution of any UK Financial Institution.

"<u>Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement</u>" means the applicable Benchmark Replacement excluding the related Benchmark Replacement Adjustment.

"<u>Unencumbered Assets</u>" means, as of the date of any determination, the sum, without duplication, of (a) the difference between (i) the book value (determined in accordance with GAAP) on such date of determination of the Aircraft Assets owned by the Company and its

Subsidiaries and (ii) the aggregate outstanding principal amount on such date of determination of Financial Indebtedness of the Company and its Subsidiaries secured by Liens over such Aircraft Assets or the Equity Interests of the Subsidiary owning such Aircraft Assets, and (b) the lesser of (i) \$3,000,000,000 and (ii) the aggregate amount of "cash and cash equivalents" or any line item of similar import (but in any event, excluding Restricted Cash) reflected on a consolidated balance sheet of the Company prepared as of such date of determination in accordance with GAAP; provided that, in the event that the Company or any of its Subsidiaries incurs any GECAS Transaction Financing prior to the consummation of the GECAS Transaction, the limitation in clause (b)(i) above shall not apply to the aggregate amount of GECAS Financing Proceeds as of any date of determination prior to the consummation of the GECAS Transaction.

"Unintended Recipient" has the meaning set forth in Section 11.5(c).

"<u>Unmatured Event of Default</u>" means any event which if it continues uncured will, with lapse of time or notice or lapse of time and notice, constitute an Event of Default.

"<u>U.S. Special Resolution Regimes</u>" has the meaning set forth in Section 12.19.

"<u>USA PATRIOT Act</u>" means the Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate Tools Required to Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism Act of 2001.

"<u>Voting Stock</u>" of any Person as of any date means the Capital Stock of such Person that is at the time entitled to vote in the election of the Board of Directors of such Person.

"Wholly-owned Subsidiary" means any Person of which or in which the Company and its other Wholly-owned Subsidiaries own directly or indirectly 100% of:

- (a) the issued and outstanding shares of stock (except shares required as directors' qualifying shares),
- (b) the capital interest or profits interest of such Person, if it is a partnership, limited liability company, joint venture or similar entity, or
 - (c) the beneficial interest of such Person, if it is a trust, association or other unincorporated organization.

"Withdrawal Liability" means "withdrawal liability" within the meaning of Section 4201 of ERISA.

"Write-Down and Conversion Powers" means, (a) with respect to any EEA Resolution Authority, the write-down and conversion powers of such EEA Resolution Authority from time to time under the Bail-In Legislation for the applicable EEA Member Country, which write-down and conversion powers are described in the EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule, and (b) with respect to the United Kingdom, any powers of the applicable Resolution Authority under the Bail-In Legislation to cancel, reduce, modify or change the form of a liability of any UK Financial Institution or any contract or instrument under which that liability arises, to convert all or part of that liability into shares, securities or obligations of that Person or any other Person, to provide that any such contract or instrument is to have effect as if a right had been

exercised under it or to suspend any obligation in respect of that liability or any of the powers under that Bail-In Legislation that are related to or ancillary to any of those powers.

Section 1.3. <u>Divisions</u>. For all purposes under the Loan Documents, in connection with any division or plan of division under Section 18-217 of the Delaware Limited Liability Company Act: (a) if any asset, right, obligation or liability of any Person becomes the asset, right, obligation or liability of a different Person, then it shall be deemed to have been transferred from the original Person to the subsequent Person, and (b) if any new Person comes into existence, such new Person shall be deemed to have been organized on the first date of its existence by the holders of its Equity Interests at such time.

SECTION 2. COMMITTED LOANS AND COMMITTED NOTES

Section 2.1. Agreement to Make Committed Loans. On the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement, each Lender, severally and for itself alone, agrees to make loans (herein collectively called "Committed Loans" and individually each called a "Committed Loan") on a revolving basis from time to time from the Closing Date until such Lender's Termination Date in such Lender's Percentage of such aggregate amounts as the Borrower may from time to time request as provided in Section 2.2; provided, that, (a) the aggregate principal amount of all outstanding Committed Loans of any Lender shall not at any time exceed the amount set forth opposite such Lender's name on Schedule I (as reduced in accordance with Section 4.1, Section 12.4 or Section 12.9), (b) the aggregate principal amount of all outstanding Committed Loans of all Lenders shall not at any time exceed the then Aggregate Commitment, and (c) at no time shall there be more than 15 Committed Loans outstanding. Within the limits of this Section 2.1, the Borrower may from time to time borrow, prepay and reborrow Committed Loans on the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement.

Section 2.2. Procedure for Committed Loans.

- (a) <u>Committed Loan Requests</u>. The Borrower shall give the Agent irrevocable telephonic notice at the Notice Office (promptly confirmed in writing on the same day), not later than (i) 1:00 p.m., New York City time, at least three Business Days prior to the applicable Funding Date in the case of LIBOR Rate Loans or (ii) 10:00 a.m., New York City time, on the applicable Funding Date in the case of Base Rate Loans, of each requested Committed Loan, and the Agent shall promptly advise each Lender thereof. Each such notice to the Agent (a "<u>Committed Loan Request</u>") shall be substantially in the form of Exhibit A and shall specify (i) the Funding Date (which shall be a Business Day), (ii) the aggregate amount of the Committed Loans requested (in an amount permitted under clause (b) below), (iii) whether each Committed Loan shall be a LIBOR Rate Loan or a Base Rate Loan and (iv) if a LIBOR Rate Loan, the Loan Period therefor (subject to the limitations set forth in the definition of Loan Period). After giving effect to all Committed Loans, all Conversions of Committed Loans from one Type to the other and all Continuations of LIBOR Rate Loans, there shall not be more than ten Loan Periods in effect with respect to Committed Loans.
- (b) <u>Amount and Increments of Committed Loans</u>. Each Committed Loan Request shall contemplate Committed Loans in a minimum aggregate amount of \$10,000,000 or a higher integral multiple of \$1,000,000, not to exceed in the aggregate (for all requested

Committed Loans) the excess of the then Aggregate Commitment over the aggregate principal amount of all outstanding Committed Loans, calculated as of the relevant Funding Date.

(c) Funding of Committed Loans.

- (i) Not later than 12:30 p.m., New York City time, on the applicable Funding Date of a Committed Loan, each Lender shall, subject to this Section 2.2(c), provide the Agent at its Notice Office with immediately available funds covering such Lender's Committed Loan and the Agent shall pay over such funds to the Borrower not later than 2:00 p.m., New York City time, on such day if the Agent shall have received the documents required under Section 9 with respect to such Committed Loan and the other conditions precedent to the making of such Committed Loan shall have been satisfied not later than 11:00 a.m., New York City time, on such day. If the Agent does not receive such documents or such other conditions precedent have not been satisfied prior to such time, then (A) the Agent shall not pay over such funds to the Borrower, (B) the Borrower's Committed Loan Request related to such Committed Loan shall be deemed cancelled in its entirety, (C) in the case of Committed Loan Requests relative to LIBOR Rate Loans, the Borrower shall be liable to each Lender in accordance with Section 6.4 and (D) the Agent shall return the amount previously provided to the Agent by each Lender on the next following Business Day.
- (ii) The Borrower agrees, notwithstanding its previous delivery of any documents required under Section 9 with respect to a particular Committed Loan, to notify the Agent immediately of any failure by it to satisfy the conditions precedent to the making of such Committed Loan. The Agent shall be entitled to assume, after it has received each of the documents required under Section 9 with respect to a particular Committed Loan, that each of the conditions precedent to the making of such Committed Loan has been satisfied absent actual knowledge to the contrary received by the Agent prior to the time of the receipt of such documents. Unless the Agent shall have notified the Lenders prior to 11:30 a.m., New York City time, on the applicable Funding Date of any Committed Loan that the Agent has actual knowledge that the conditions precedent to the making of such Committed Loan have not been satisfied, the Lenders shall be entitled to assume that such conditions precedent have been satisfied.
- (d) Repayment of Committed Loans. If any Lender is to make a Committed Loan hereunder on a day on which the Borrower is to repay (or has elected to prepay, pursuant to Section 4.2) all or any part of any outstanding Committed Loan held by such Lender, the proceeds of such new Committed Loan shall be applied to make such repayment and only an amount equal to the positive difference, if any, between the amount being borrowed and the amount being repaid shall be requested by the Agent to be made available by such Lender to the Agent as provided in Section 2.2(c).
- Section 2.3. <u>Maturity of Committed Loans</u>. Except for a Base Rate Loan, which shall mature on the Termination Date, a Committed Loan made by a Lender shall mature on the last day of the Loan Period applicable to such Committed Loan, but in no event later than the Termination Date for such Lender; <u>provided</u>, that, a LIBOR Rate Loan that would otherwise mature at the end of a Loan Period may instead be Converted to a Base Rate Loan or Continued

as a LIBOR Rate Loan for a new Loan Period pursuant to Section 2.4 or become a Base Rate Loan at the end of such Loan Period pursuant to Section 3.3(b).

Optional Conversion or Continuation of Committed Loans. The Borrower may on any Business Section 2.4. Day, upon notice given to the Agent not later than 1:00 p.m. (New York City time) on the third Business Day prior to the date of the proposed Conversion or Continuation and subject to the provisions of Sections 3.3, Convert all Committed Loans of one Type comprising the same borrowing hereunder into Committed Loans of the other Type or Continue all LIBOR Rate Loans comprising the same borrowing hereunder for a new Loan Period; provided, however, that any Conversion of LIBOR Rate Loans into Base Rate Loans and any Continuation of LIBOR Rate Loans for a new Loan Period shall be made only (a) on the last day of a Loan Period for such LIBOR Rate Loans or (b) on any day other than the last day of a Loan Period for such LIBOR Rate Loans so long as the Borrower pays the amounts payable pursuant to Section 6.4(a), any Conversion of Base Rate Loans into LIBOR Rate Loans or Continuation of LIBOR Rate Loans shall be in an amount not less than the minimum amount specified in Section 2.2(b) and no Conversion or Continuation of any Committed Loans shall result in more separate Committed Loans than permitted under Section 2.2(a); provided, further, that upon the occurrence and during the continuance of any Event of Default no Conversion of Base Rate Loans into LIBOR Rate Loans or Continuation of LIBOR Rate Loans for a new Loan Period shall be permitted. Each such notice of a Conversion or Continuation shall, within the restrictions specified above, specify (i) the date of such Conversion or Continuation, (ii) the Committed Loans to be Converted or Continued, and (iii) if such Conversion is into LIBOR Rate Loans or if such notice is of a Continuation of LIBOR Rate Loans, the duration of the initial (or Continued) Loan Period for each such Committed Loan. Each notice of Conversion or Continuation shall be irrevocable and binding on the Borrower. If the Borrower does not deliver a timely notice of Continuation with respect to any LIBOR Rate Loan prior to the end of the Loan Period applicable thereto, (x) unless an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, then such LIBOR Rate Loan shall be Continued as a LIBOR Rate Loan with a Loan Period of one month's duration and (y) if an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, then such LIBOR Rate Loan shall be Converted into a Base Rate Loan, in each case unless such LIBOR Rate Loan is repaid at the end of such Loan Period.

SECTION 3. INTEREST AND FEES

Section 3.1. <u>Interest Rates</u>. The Borrower hereby promises to pay interest on the unpaid principal amount of each Committed Loan for the period commencing on the applicable Funding Date for such Committed Loan until such Committed Loan is paid in full, as follows:

- if such Committed Loan is a Base Rate Loan, at a rate per annum equal to the Base Rate from time to time in effect; and
- (b) if such Committed Loan is a LIBOR Rate Loan, at a rate per annum equal to the LIBOR Rate applicable to the Loan Period for such Committed Loan:

<u>provided</u> that if all or a portion of the principal amount of any Committed Loan or any interest payable thereon or any fee payable hereunder shall not be paid when due, such overdue amount

shall bear interest at a rate per annum that is equal to (x) in the case of overdue principal, the rate that would otherwise be applicable thereto as set forth above <u>plus</u> 2.00% per annum, (y) in the case of overdue interest on any Committed Loan, the rate that would otherwise be applicable to such Committed Loan as set forth above <u>plus</u> 2.00% per annum or (z) in the case of any overdue fee payable hereunder, the rate described in Section 3.1(a) <u>plus</u> 2.00% per annum, in each case, from the date of occurrence of an Event of Default as a result of such failure to pay to the date on which such amount is paid in full.

Section 3.2. <u>Interest Payment Dates</u>. Except for Base Rate Loans, as to which accrued interest shall be payable on the last day of each calendar quarter and on the Termination Date, accrued interest on each Committed Loan shall be payable in arrears on the last day of the one, three or six month, as applicable, Loan Period therefor and with respect to each LIBOR Rate Loan with a Loan Period of six months, on the day that is three months after the first day of such Loan Period (or, if there is no day in such third month numerically corresponding to such first day of the Loan Period, on the last Business Day of such month). Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of any Event of Default, accrued interest on any Committed Loan shall be payable on demand. If any interest payment date falls on a day that is not a Business Day, such interest payment date shall be postponed to the next succeeding Business Day and the interest paid shall cover the period of postponement (except that if the Committed Loan is a LIBOR Rate Loan and the next succeeding Business Day falls in the next succeeding calendar month, such interest payment date shall be the immediately preceding Business Day).

Section 3.3. <u>Setting and Notice of Committed Loan Rates</u>.

- (a) The applicable interest rate for each Committed Loan hereunder shall be determined by the Agent in accordance with this Agreement and notice thereof shall be given by the Agent promptly to the Borrower and to each Lender. Each determination of the applicable interest rate by the Agent shall be conclusive and binding upon the parties hereto in the absence of demonstrable error.
- (b) In the case of LIBOR Rate Loans, if as to any Loan Period the Screen Rate is not available and the substitute or successor pages or screens are also unavailable, then (i) the Agent shall promptly notify the other parties thereof and (ii) at the option of the Borrower the Committed Loan Request delivered by the Borrower pursuant to Section 2.2(a) with respect to such Funding Date shall be cancelled or shall be deemed to have specified a Base Rate Loan. For the avoidance of doubt, in the circumstances described in the immediately preceding sentence, the obligation of the Lenders to make or Continue LIBOR Rate Loans or to Convert Base Rate Loans into LIBOR Rate Loans shall be suspended until the Agent shall notify the Company and the Lenders that the circumstances causing such suspension no longer exist (which notice shall be provided by the Agent promptly upon such circumstances ceasing to exist).
- (c) The Agent shall, upon written request of the Borrower or any Lender, deliver to the Borrower or such Lender a statement showing the computations used by the Agent in determining the interest rate applicable to any LIBOR Rate Loan.
- Section 3.4. <u>Commitment Fee</u>. The Borrower agrees to pay to the Agent for the accounts of the Lenders <u>pro</u> <u>rata</u> in accordance with their respective Percentages an annual

commitment fee computed by multiplying the average daily amount of the unused Aggregate Commitment by the applicable percentage determined with respect to such commitment fee in accordance with Schedule II hereto. Such fee shall commence accruing from and including the date that is 90 days after the Effective Date and shall be payable quarterly in arrears on the last Business Day of March, June, September and December of each year (beginning with the last Business Day of the first full calendar quarter ending after such commencement) until the Commitments have expired or have been terminated and on the date of such expiration or termination (and, in the case of any Terminating Lender, such Lender's Termination Date), in each case for the period then ending for which such commitment fee has not previously been paid; <u>provided</u>, that, no Defaulting Lender shall be entitled to receive any commitment fee in respect of its Commitment for any period during which that Lender is a Defaulting Lender (and the Borrower shall not be required to pay such fee that otherwise would have been required to have been paid to that Defaulting Lender).

- Section 3.5. <u>Agent's Fees</u>. The Borrower agrees promptly to pay to the Agent such fees as may be agreed from time to time by the Borrower, the Company and the Agent.
- Section 3.6. <u>Computation of Interest and Fees</u>. All interest and commitment fees hereunder shall be computed for the actual number of days elapsed on the basis of a 360-day year; <u>provided</u> that, for any period when the Base Rate is determined based on clause (b) of the definition of Base Rate, all interest accruing at the Base Rate for such period shall be computed for the actual number of days elapsed on the basis of a 365/366 day year. The interest rate applicable to each LIBOR Rate Loan and Base Rate Loan shall change simultaneously with each change in the LIBOR Rate or the Base Rate, as applicable.
 - SECTION 4. REDUCTION OR TERMINATION OF THE COMMITMENTS; PREPAYMENTS; DEFAULTING LENDERS; INCREASE OF COMMITMENTS
 - Section 4.1. Termination or Reduction of the Commitments.
- (a) Voluntary Termination or Reduction of the Commitments. The Borrower may at any time on at least three Business Days' prior notice received by the Agent (which shall promptly on the same day or on the next Business Day advise each Lender thereof) permanently reduce the amount of the Commitments (such reduction to be pro rata among the Lenders according to their respective Percentages) to an amount not less than the aggregate principal amount of all outstanding Committed Loans. Any such reduction shall be in the amount of \$5,000,000 or an integral multiple of \$1,000,000 in excess thereof. Concurrently with any such reduction, the Borrower shall prepay the principal of any Committed Loans outstanding to the extent that the aggregate amount of such Committed Loans outstanding shall then exceed the Aggregate Commitment, as so reduced. The Borrower may from time to time on like notice terminate the Commitments upon payment in full of all Committed Loans, all interest accrued thereon, all fees and all other obligations of the Borrower hereunder. Any notice of reduction or termination in full of the Commitments hereunder may state that such notice is conditioned upon the effectiveness of other credit facilities or capital raising, in which case such notice may be revoked by the Borrower (by notice to the Agent on or prior to the specified effective date) if such condition is not satisfied.

- (b) Termination of Defaulting Lender. The Borrower shall be entitled at any time to (i) terminate the unused Commitment of any Lender that is a Defaulting Lender (the "Defaulted Commitments") upon prior notice of not less than one Business Day to the Agent (which shall promptly notify the Lenders thereof), and/or (ii) replace all of the Commitments or the Defaulted Commitments of any Lender that is a Defaulting Lender with Commitments of a Successor Lender, provided, that, (x) each such assignment shall be either an assignment of all of the rights and obligations of the Defaulting Lender under this Agreement or an assignment of a portion of such rights and obligations made concurrently with another such assignment or other such assignments that together cover all of the rights and obligations of the Defaulting Lender under this Agreement with respect to all of the Commitments or the Defaulted Commitments, as the case may be, and (y) concurrently with such assignment, either the Borrower or one or more Successor Lenders shall pay for the account of such Defaulting Lender an aggregate amount at least equal to the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Committed Loans owing to such Defaulting Lender, together with accrued interest thereon to the date of payment of such principal amount and all other amounts payable to such Defaulting Lender under this Agreement. In either such event, the provisions of Section 4.3 shall apply to all amounts thereafter paid by the Borrower or such Successor Lender for the account of such Defaulting Lender under this Agreement (whether on account of principal, interest, commitment fees or other amounts), provided, that, such termination or assignment shall not be deemed to be a waiver or release of any claim the Borrower, the Agent, or any Lender may have against such Defaulting Lender.
- (c) <u>Commitment Termination Date</u>. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, if the Closing Date shall not have occurred on or prior to the Commitment Termination Date, the Commitments shall terminate on the Commitment Termination Date.
- Section 4.2. <u>Voluntary Prepayments</u>. The Borrower may voluntarily prepay Committed Loans without premium or penalty, except as may be required pursuant to subsection (d) below, in whole or in part; <u>provided</u>, that, (a) each prepayment shall be in an aggregate principal amount of \$5,000,000 or an integral multiple of \$1,000,000 in excess thereof, (b) the Borrower shall give the Agent at its Notice Office (which shall promptly advise each Lender), not later than (i) 1:00 p.m., New York City time, at least two Business Days' prior notice thereof for prepayments of LIBOR Rate Loans or (ii) 11:00 a.m., New York City time, same day notice thereof for prepayments of Base Rate Loans, specifying the Committed Loans to be prepaid and the date and amount of prepayment, (c) any prepayment of principal of any Committed Loan shall include accrued interest to the date of prepayment on the principal amount being prepaid and (d) any prepayment of a LIBOR Rate Loan shall be subject to the provisions of Section 6.4. Any notice of prepayment in full of all Committed Loans hereunder or reduction of Commitments in full may state that such notice is conditioned upon the effectiveness of other credit facilities or capital raising, in which case such notice may be revoked by the Borrower (by notice to the Agent on or prior to the specified effective date) if such condition is not satisfied.

Section 4.3. <u>Defaulting Lenders.</u>

(a) No Commitment of any Lender shall be increased or otherwise affected, and, except as otherwise expressly provided in this Section 4.3 or otherwise specifically provided herein, performance by the Borrower of its obligations shall not be excused or otherwise modified as a result of the operation of this Section 4.3. The rights and remedies against a

Defaulting Lender under this Section 4.3 are in addition to any other rights and remedies which the Borrower, the Agent or any Lender may have against such Defaulting Lender.

- (b) If the Borrower and the Agent agree in writing in their reasonable determination that a Defaulting Lender should no longer be deemed to be a Defaulting Lender, the Agent will so notify the parties hereto, whereupon as of the effective date specified in such notice and subject to any conditions set forth therein, that Lender will, to the extent applicable, purchase at par that portion of outstanding Committed Loans of the other Lenders, assume Commitments on a pro rata basis or take such other actions as the Agent may determine to be necessary to cause the outstanding borrowings of Committed Loans or Commitments to be held on a pro rata basis by the Lenders in accordance with their respective Percentages, whereupon such Lender will cease to be a Defaulting Lender; provided, that, no adjustments will be made retroactively or with duplication with respect to fees accrued or payments made by or on behalf of the Borrower while that Lender was a Defaulting Lender; and provided, further, that except to the extent otherwise expressly agreed by the affected parties, no change hereunder from Defaulting Lender to Lender will constitute a waiver or release of any claim of any party hereunder arising from such Lender's having been a Defaulting Lender.
- Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, any payment of principal, interest, (c) commitment fees or other amounts received by the Agent for the account of any Defaulting Lender under this Agreement (whether voluntary or mandatory, at maturity or otherwise) shall be applied at such time or times as may be determined by the Agent as follows: first, to the payment of any amounts owing by such Defaulting Lender to the Agent hereunder; second, as the Borrower may request (so long as no Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing), to the funding of any Committed Loan in respect of which that Defaulting Lender has failed to fund its portion thereof as required by this Agreement, as determined by the Agent; third, to the payment of any amounts owing to the Lenders as a result of any judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction obtained by any Lender against such Defaulting Lender as a result of such Defaulting Lender's breach of its obligations under this Agreement; fourth, so long as no Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, to the payment of any amounts owing to the Borrower as a result of any judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction obtained by the Borrower against such Defaulting Lender as a result of such Defaulting Lender's breach of its obligations under this Agreement; and fifth, to such Defaulting Lender or as otherwise directed by a court of competent jurisdiction; provided, that, if (x) such payment is a payment of the principal amount of any Committed Loan in respect of which such Defaulting Lender has not fully funded its appropriate share, and (y) such Committed Loans were made at a time when the applicable conditions set forth in Section 9 were satisfied or waived, such payment shall be applied solely to pay the Committed Loans of all Non-Defaulting Lenders on a pro rata basis prior to being applied to the payment of any Committed Loans of such Defaulting Lender and provided, further, that any amounts held as cash collateral for funding obligations of a Defaulting Lender shall be returned to such Defaulting Lender upon the termination of this Agreement and the satisfaction of such Defaulting Lender's obligations hereunder. Any payments, prepayments or other amounts paid or payable to a Defaulting Lender that are applied (or held) to pay amounts owed by a Defaulting Lender or to post cash collateral pursuant to this Section 4.3 shall be deemed paid to and redirected by such Defaulting Lender, and each Lender irrevocably consents hereto.

Section 4.4. Increase of Commitments.

- (a) The Borrower shall have the right at any time after the Effective Date to increase the aggregate Commitments hereunder in accordance with the following provisions and subject to the following conditions:
 - (i) The Borrower shall give the Administrative Agent, which shall promptly deliver a copy thereof to each of the Lenders, at least three Business Days' (or such lesser period as the Administrative Agent may reasonably agree) prior written notice (a "Notice of Increase") of any such requested increase specifying the aggregate amount by which the Commitments are to be increased (the "Requested Increase Amount"), which shall be at least \$5,000,000 and in increments of \$1,000,000 thereafter, and the requested date of increase (the "Requested Increase Date"). The Borrower may, but shall not be obligated to, offer to any Lender the right to provide all or any portion of the Requested Increase Amount. No Lender shall have any obligation whatsoever to offer to increase its Commitment by an amount specified by the Borrower or otherwise nor shall the Borrower be obligated to accept any offer by an existing Lender to provide all or any portion of the Requested Increase Amount. Any Lender that so offers to increase its Commitment, which increase is accepted by the Borrower, is herein called an "Increasing Lender".
 - (ii) If the aggregate amount of the increases offered and accepted pursuant to clause (i) above, if any, is less than the Requested Increase Amount, the Borrower may, through the Administrative Agent, offer the balance of the Requested Increase Amount to one or more Eligible Assignees; <u>provided</u> that the Commitment to be acquired hereunder by any such Eligible Assignee shall not be less than \$1,000,000. Any such Eligible Assignee that agrees to acquire a Commitment pursuant hereto is herein called an "Additional Lender".
 - (iii) Effective on the Requested Increase Date, subject to the terms and conditions hereof, (x) Schedule I shall be deemed amended to reflect the increases contemplated hereby, (y) the Commitment of each Increasing Lender shall be increased by the amount agreed by such Increasing Lender and the Borrower, and (z) each Additional Lender shall enter into an agreement in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent pursuant to which it shall undertake, as of such Requested Increase Date, a new Commitment in the amount determined pursuant to clause (ii) above, and such Additional Lender shall thereupon be deemed to be a Lender for all purposes of this Agreement.
 - (iv) If on the Requested Increase Date there are borrowings of Committed Loans outstanding hereunder, appropriate adjustments shall be made (by the making of borrowings of Committed Loans by the Increasing Lenders and the Additional Lenders and/or the prepayment of outstanding borrowings of Committed Loans) as necessary to cause the outstanding borrowings of Committed Loans to be held ratably by all Lenders.

- (b) Anything in this Section 4.4 to the contrary notwithstanding, no increase in the aggregate Commitments hereunder pursuant to this Section shall be effective unless:
 - (i) in the case of any such increase occurring on or after the Closing Date, on the relevant Requested Increase Date and after giving effect to such increase, (x) no Unmatured Event of Default under Section 10.1.1 or 10.1.3 or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing and (y) the representations and warranties contained in Section 7 (other than those contained in Section 7.5) shall be true and correct in all material respects as of the Requested Increase Date and after giving effect thereto, with the same effect as though made on the Requested Increase Date, except to the extent such representations and warranties expressly relate to an earlier date, in which case such representations and warranties shall have been true and correct in all material respects as of such earlier date; and
 - (ii) after giving effect to any such increase, the aggregate amount of the Commitments shall not exceed \$4,500,000,000.

SECTION 5. MAKING AND PRORATION OF PAYMENTS; SET-OFF; TAXES

Section 5.1. Making of Payments. Except as provided in Section 2.2(d), payments (including those made pursuant to Section 4.1) of principal of, or interest on, the Committed Loans and all payments of fees and any other payments required to be made by the Borrower to the Agent hereunder shall be made by the Borrower to the Agent in immediately available funds, without set-off or counterclaim, at its Payment Office not later than 12:00 Noon, New York City time, on the date due; and funds received after that hour shall be deemed to have been received by the Agent on the next following Business Day. Subject to Sections 3.4 and 4.3, the Agent shall promptly remit to each Lender its share (if any) of each such payment. All payments under Section 6 and all payments required to be made hereunder to any Person other than the Agent shall be made by the Borrower when due directly to the Persons entitled thereto in immediately available funds.

Section 5.2. <u>Pro Rata Treatment; Sharing.</u>

- (a) Except as required pursuant to Section 3.4, Section 4.3, Section 6 or Section 12.9, each payment or prepayment of principal of any Committed Loans, each payment of interest on the Committed Loans and each payment of the commitment fee shall be allocated <u>pro rata</u> among the Lenders in accordance with their respective Percentages.
- (b) If any Lender or other holder of a Committed Loan shall obtain any payment or other recovery (whether voluntary, involuntary, by application of offset or otherwise) on account of principal of, interest on or fees or other amounts with respect to any Committed Loan in excess of the share of payments and other recoveries (exclusive of payments or recoveries under Section 6 or pursuant to Section 12.9) such Lender or other holder would have received if such payment had been distributed pursuant to the provisions of Section 5.2(a), such Lender or other holder shall purchase from the other Lenders or holders, in a manner to be specified by the Agent, such participations in the Committed Loans held by them as shall be

necessary so that all such payments of principal and interest with respect to the Committed Loans shall be shared by the Lenders and other holders <u>pro rata</u> in accordance with their respective Percentages; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that if all or any portion of the excess payment or other recovery is thereafter recovered from such purchasing Lender or holder, the purchase shall be rescinded and the purchase price restored to the extent of such recovery, but without interest.

- Section 5.3. <u>Set-off.</u> Each Obligor agrees that the Agent, each Lender and any of their respective branches or agencies, to the extent permitted by applicable law, has all rights of set-off and banker's lien provided by applicable law, and each Obligor further agrees that at any time, (i) any amount owing by any Obligor under this Agreement is due to any such Person or (ii) any Event of Default exists, each such Person, to the extent permitted by applicable law, may apply to the payment of any amount payable hereunder any and all balances, credits, deposits, accounts or moneys of such Obligor then or thereafter with such Person.
- Section 5.4. Taxes. (a) Payments Free of Taxes. Any and all payments by or on account of any obligation of any Obligor under any Loan Document shall be made without deduction or withholding for any Taxes, except as required by applicable law. If any applicable law (as determined in the good faith discretion of an applicable withholding agent) requires the deduction or withholding of any Tax from any such payment by a withholding agent, then the applicable withholding agent shall be entitled to make such deduction or withholding and shall timely pay the full amount deducted or withheld to the relevant Governmental Authority in accordance with applicable law and, if such Tax is an Indemnified Tax, then the sum payable by the applicable Obligor shall be increased as necessary so that after such deduction or withholding has been made (including such deductions and withholdings applicable to additional sums payable under this Section) the applicable Recipient receives an amount equal to the sum it would have received had no such deduction or withholding been made.
- (b) <u>Payment of Other Taxes by the Borrower</u>. The Borrower shall timely pay to the relevant Governmental Authority in accordance with applicable law, or at the option of the Administrative Agent timely reimburse it for the payment of, any Other Taxes.
- (c) Evidence of Payment. As soon as practicable after any payment of Taxes by any Obligor to a Governmental Authority pursuant to this Section, the Borrower shall deliver to the Administrative Agent the original or a certified copy of a receipt issued by such Governmental Authority evidencing such payment, a copy of the return reporting such payment or other evidence of such payment reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent.
- (d) Indemnification by the Borrower. The Borrower shall indemnify each Recipient, within 10 days after demand therefor, for the full amount of any Indemnified Taxes (including Indemnified Taxes imposed or asserted on or attributable to amounts payable under this Section, but without duplication of increased amounts the Borrower has paid in respect of Taxes pursuant to Section 5.4(a)), payable or paid by such Recipient or required to be withheld or deducted from a payment to such Recipient and any reasonable expenses arising therefrom or with respect thereto, whether or not such Indemnified Taxes were correctly or legally imposed or asserted by the relevant Governmental Authority. A certificate as to the amount of such payment or liability delivered to the Borrower by a Lender (with a copy to the Administrative Agent), or

by the Administrative Agent on its own behalf or on behalf of a Lender, shall be conclusive absent manifest error.

- (e) Indemnification by the Lenders. Each Lender shall severally indemnify the Administrative Agent within 10 days after demand therefor, for (i) any Indemnified Taxes attributable to such Lender (but only to the extent that the Borrower has not already indemnified the Administrative Agent for such Indemnified Taxes and without limiting the obligation of the Borrower to do so) and (ii) any Excluded Taxes attributable to such Lender, in each case, that are payable or paid by the Administrative Agent in connection with any Loan Document, and any reasonable expenses arising therefrom or with respect thereto, whether or not such Taxes were correctly or legally imposed or asserted by the relevant Governmental Authority. A certificate as to the amount of such payment or liability delivered to any Lender by the Administrative Agent shall be conclusive absent manifest error. Each Lender hereby authorizes the Administrative Agent to set off and apply any and all amounts at any time owing to such Lender under any Loan Document or otherwise payable by the Administrative Agent to the Lender from any other source against any amount due to the Administrative Agent under this paragraph.
- on or before the date it becomes a Lender that it is a Qualifying Lender (specifying which category of Qualifying Lender it is) and (B) any Lender that is entitled to benefit from an exemption from or reduction of withholding Tax with respect to payments made under this Agreement shall deliver to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent, at the time or times reasonably requested by the Borrower or the Administrative Agent, such properly completed and executed documentation reasonably requested by the Borrower or the Administrative Agent as will permit such payments to be made without withholding or at a reduced rate of withholding. In addition, any Lender, if reasonably requested by the Borrower or the Administrative Agent, shall deliver such other documentation prescribed by applicable law or reasonably requested by the Borrower or the Administrative Agent as will enable the Borrower or the Administrative Agent to determine whether or not such Lender is subject to backup withholding or information reporting requirements. In addition, any Lender, if reasonably requested by the Borrower or the Administrative Agent, shall deliver such other documentation to the Borrower as will enable the Borrower to comply with the provisions of Sections 891A, 891E, 891F and 891G of the Taxes Consolidation Act 1997 of Ireland. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the preceding two sentences, the completion, execution and submission of such documentation (other than such documentation set forth in Section 5.4(f)(ii) below) shall not be required if in the Lender's reasonable judgment such completion, execution or submission would subject such Lender to any material unreimbursed cost or expense or would materially prejudice the legal or commercial position of such Lender.
- (ii) Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, if a payment made to a Lender under this Agreement would be subject to U.S. Federal withholding Tax imposed by FATCA if such Lender were to fail to comply with the applicable reporting requirements of FATCA (including those contained in Section 1471(b) or 1472(b) of the Code, as applicable), such Lender shall deliver to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent at the time or times prescribed by law and at such time or times reasonably requested by the Borrower or the Administrative Agent such documentation prescribed by applicable law (including as prescribed by Section 1471(b)(3)(C)(i) of the Code) and such additional documentation reasonably

requested by the Borrower or the Administrative Agent as may be necessary for the Borrower and the Administrative Agent to comply with their obligations under FATCA and to determine that such Lender has complied with such Lender's obligations under FATCA or to determine the amount to deduct and withhold from such payment. Solely for purposes of this clause (ii), "FATCA" shall include any amendments made to FATCA after the date of this Agreement.

- (iii) Each Lender agrees (A) that if any form, certification or representation it previously delivered expires or becomes obsolete or inaccurate in any respect, it shall update such form, certification or representation or promptly notify the Borrower and the Administrative Agent in writing of its legal inability to do so; and (B) if it no longer qualifies as a Qualifying Lender after the date it becomes a Lender, it will promptly notify the Borrower and the Administrative Agent in writing.
- (g) Treatment of Certain Refunds. If any party determines, in its sole discretion exercised in good faith, that it has received a refund of any Taxes as to which it has been indemnified pursuant to this Section (including by the payment of additional amounts pursuant to this Section), it shall pay to the indemnifying party an amount equal to such refund (but only to the extent of indemnity payments made under this Section with respect to the Taxes giving rise to such refund), net of all out-of-pocket expenses (including Taxes) of such indemnified party and without interest (other than any interest paid by the relevant Governmental Authority with respect to such refund). Such indemnifying party, upon the request of such indemnified party, shall repay to such indemnified party the amount paid over pursuant to this paragraph (plus any penalties, interest or other charges imposed by the relevant Governmental Authority) in the event that such indemnified party is required to repay such refund to such Governmental Authority. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this paragraph, in no event will the indemnified party be required to pay any amount to an indemnifying party pursuant to this paragraph the payment of which would place the indemnified party in a less favorable net after-Tax position than the indemnified party would have been in if the Tax subject to indemnification and giving rise to such refund had not been deducted, withheld or otherwise imposed and the indemnification payments or additional amounts with respect to such Tax had never been paid. This paragraph shall not be construed to require any indemnified party to make available its Tax returns (or any other information relating to its Taxes that it deems confidential) to the indemnifying party or any other Person.
- (h) <u>Indemnification of Borrower</u>. Each Lender shall severally indemnify the Borrower within 10 Business Days after written demand with adequate supporting documentation for any Excluded Tax actually paid by the Borrower to a governmental entity solely and directly attributable to such Lender's failure to comply with Section 5.4(f)(i)(A) or Section 5.4(f)(iii)(B) as it relates to the certification provided in Section 5.4(f)(i)(A) to the extent that such amounts were also paid to the Lender in error pursuant to Section 5.4(a).
- (i) <u>Survival</u>. Each party's obligations under this Section 5.4 shall survive the resignation or replacement of the Administrative Agent or any assignment of rights by, or the replacement of, a Lender, the termination of the Commitments and the repayment, satisfaction or discharge of all obligations under any Loan Document.

SECTION 6. INCREASED COSTS AND SPECIAL PROVISIONS FOR LIBOR RATE LOANS

- Section 6.1. <u>Increased Costs</u>. (a) If after the date hereof, the adoption of any applicable law, rule or regulation, or any change therein, or any change in the interpretation or administration thereof by any Governmental Authority, central bank or comparable agency charged with the interpretation or administration thereof, or the making or issuance of any request or directive (whether or not having the force of law) of any such authority, central bank or comparable agency and compliance by any Lender (or any Funding Office of such Lender) therewith, then, subject to the provisions of Section 5.4, which shall provide the sole source of additional amounts payable to any Lender with respect to the matters covered therein,
 - (A) shall subject any Lender (or any Funding Office of such Lender) to any Taxes with respect to its LIBOR Rate Loans (except for (i) Indemnified Taxes, (ii) Taxes described in clauses (b) through (d) of the definition of Excluded Taxes and (iii) Connection Income Taxes);
 - (B) shall impose, modify or deem applicable any reserve (including any reserve imposed by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, but excluding any reserve included in the determination of interest pursuant to Section 3.1), special deposit, assessment (including any assessment for insurance of deposits) or similar requirement against assets of, deposits with or for the account of, or credit extended by, any Lender (or any Funding Office of such Lender); or
 - (C) shall impose on any Lender (or any Funding Office of such Lender) any other condition affecting its LIBOR Rate Loans, its Committed Notes or its obligation to make or maintain LIBOR Rate Loans;

and the result of any of the foregoing is to increase the cost to (or to impose an additional cost on) such Lender (or any Funding Office of such Lender) of making, converting to, continuing or maintaining any LIBOR Rate Loan, or to reduce the amount of any sum received or receivable by such Lender (or such Lender's Funding Office) under this Agreement or under its Committed Notes with respect thereto, then within 10 days after demand by such Lender (which demand shall be accompanied by a statement setting forth the basis of such demand), the Borrower shall pay directly to such Lender such additional amount or amounts as will compensate such Lender for such increased cost or such reduction (without duplication of any amounts which have been paid or reimbursed).

(b) If, after the date hereof, any Lender shall determine that the adoption, effectiveness or phase-in of any applicable law, rule, guideline or regulation regarding capital adequacy or liquidity requirements, or any change therein, or any change in the interpretation or administration thereof by any Governmental Authority, central bank or comparable agency charged with the interpretation or administration thereof, or the making or issuance of any request or directive regarding capital adequacy or liquidity requirements (whether or not having the force of law) of any such authority, central bank or comparable agency and compliance by any Lender (or any Funding Office of such Lender or such Lender's holding company) therewith, has or would have the effect of reducing the rate of return on the capital of such

Lender or such Lender's holding company as a consequence of its obligations hereunder to a level below that which such Lender or such Lender's holding company could have achieved but for such adoption, change or compliance (taking into consideration such Lender's or such Lender's holding company's policies with respect to capital adequacy or liquidity requirements), then, from time to time, within 10 days after demand by such Lender (which demand shall be accompanied by a statement setting forth the basis of such demand), the Borrower shall pay directly to such Lender such additional amount or amounts as will compensate such Lender or such Lender's holding company for such reduction.

- (c) Each Lender shall promptly notify the Borrower and the Agent of any event of which it has knowledge, occurring after the date hereof, which will entitle such Lender to compensation pursuant to this Section 6.1 and will designate a different Funding Office if such designation will avoid the need for, or reduce the amount of, such compensation and will not, in such Lender's sole judgment, be otherwise disadvantageous to such Lender. The Borrower shall not be required to compensate a Lender pursuant to this Section 6.1 for any increased costs incurred or reductions suffered more than nine months prior to the date that such Lender notifies the Borrower of the change in law or other event occurring after the date hereof giving rise to such increased costs or reductions, and of such Lender's intention to claim compensation therefor (except that, if the change in law or other such event is retroactive, then the nine month period referred to above shall be extended to include the period of retroactive effect thereof).
- (d) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, it is understood and agreed that any changes resulting from requests, rules, guidelines or directives (x) issued in connection with the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act or (y) promulgated by the Bank for International Settlements, the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (or any successor or similar authority) or the United States or foreign regulatory authorities, in each case pursuant to Basel III, shall, for the purposes of this Agreement, be deemed to be adopted subsequent to the date hereof; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that no Lender shall be entitled to receive any compensation or reimbursement hereunder with respect to any such changes unless such requirements are generally applicable to (and for which reimbursement is generally being sought by the applicable Lender in respect of) credit transactions similar to this transaction from borrowers similarly situated to the Borrower; <u>provided</u>, <u>further</u>, that no Lender shall be required to disclose any confidential or proprietary information in connection therewith.

Section 6.2. Benchmark Replacement.

(a) Benchmark Replacement. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in any other Loan Document, if a Benchmark Transition Event or an Early Opt-in Election, as applicable, and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred prior to the Reference Time in respect of any setting of the then-current Benchmark, then (x) if a Benchmark Replacement is determined in accordance with clause (1) or (2) of the definition of "Benchmark Replacement" for such Benchmark Replacement Date, such Benchmark Replacement will replace such Benchmark for all purposes hereunder and under any Loan Document in respect of such Benchmark setting and subsequent Benchmark settings without any amendment to, or further action or consent of any other party to, this Agreement or any other Loan Document and (y) if a Benchmark Replacement is determined in accordance with clause (3) of the definition of "Benchmark Replacement" for such Benchmark Replacement Date, such Benchmark

Replacement will replace such Benchmark for all purposes hereunder and under any Loan Document in respect of any Benchmark setting at or after 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the fifth Business Day after the date notice of such Benchmark Replacement is provided to the Lenders without any amendment to, or further action or consent of any other party to, this Agreement or any other Loan Document so long as the Administrative Agent has not received, by such time, written notice of objection to such Benchmark Replacement from Lenders comprising the Required Lenders. If (i) a Benchmark Replacement Date has occurred for Base LIBOR and the applicable Benchmark Replacement on such Benchmark Replacement Date for Base LIBOR is a Benchmark Replacement other than the sum of: (a) Term SOFR and (b) the related Benchmark Replacement Adjustment, (ii) subsequently, the Relevant Governmental Body recommends for use a forward-looking term rate based on SOFR for loans denominated in Dollars and the Borrower requests that the Administrative Agent review the administrative feasibility of such recommended forward-looking term rate for purposes of this Agreement and (iii) following such request from the Borrower, the Administrative Agent determines (in its sole discretion after consultation with the Borrower) that such forward looking term rate is administratively feasible for the Administrative Agent, then the Administrative Agent may (in its sole discretion after consultation with the Borrower) provide the Borrower and Lenders with written notice that from and after a date identified in such notice: (i) a Benchmark Replacement Date shall be deemed to have occurred, the Benchmark Replacement on such Benchmark Replacement Date shall be deemed to be a Benchmark Replacement determined in accordance with clause (1) of the definition of "Benchmark Replacement"; provided, however, that if upon such Benchmark Replacement Date the Benchmark Replacement Adjustment is unable to be determined in accordance with clause (1) of the definition of "Benchmark Replacement" and the corresponding definition of "Benchmark Replacement Adjustment", then the Benchmark Replacement Adjustment in effect immediately prior to such new Benchmark Replacement Date shall be utilized for purposes of this Benchmark Replacement (for avoidance of doubt, for purposes of this proviso, such Benchmark Replacement Adjustment shall be the Benchmark Replacement Adjustment which was established in accordance with the definition of "Benchmark Replacement Adjustment" on the date determined in accordance with clause (1) or (2), as applicable, of the definition of "Benchmark Replacement Date" hereunder) and (ii) such forward looking term rate shall be deemed to be the forward looking term rate referenced in the definition of "Term SOFR" for all purposes hereunder or under any Loan Document in respect of any Benchmark setting and any subsequent Benchmark settings, without any amendment to, or further action or consent of any other party to, this Agreement or any other Loan Document. For the avoidance of doubt, if the circumstances described in the immediately preceding sentence shall occur, all applicable provisions set forth in this Section 6.2 shall apply with respect to such election of the Administrative Agent as completely as if such forward-looking term rate was initially determined in accordance with clause (1) of the definition of "Benchmark Replacement", including the provisions set forth in Sections 6.2(b) and 6.2(f).

(b) <u>Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes</u>. In connection with the implementation of a Benchmark Replacement, the Administrative Agent will have the right to make Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes from time to time and, notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in any other Loan Document, any amendments implementing such Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes will become effective without any further action or consent of any other party to this Agreement or any other Loan Document.

- (c) Notices; Standards for Decisions and Determinations. The Administrative Agent will promptly notify the Borrower and the Lenders of (i) any Benchmark Replacement Date and the related Benchmark Replacement, (ii) the effectiveness of any Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes, (iii) the removal or reinstatement of any tenor of a Benchmark pursuant to clause (d) below and (iv) the commencement of any Benchmark Unavailability Period. For the avoidance of doubt, any notice required to be delivered by the Administrative Agent as set forth in this Section 6.2 may be provided, at the option of the Administrative Agent (in its sole discretion), in one or more notices and may be delivered together with, or as part of any amendment which implements any Benchmark Replacement or Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes. Any determination, decision or election that may be made by the Administrative Agent or, if applicable, any Lender (or group of Lenders) pursuant to this Section 6.2, including any determination with respect to a tenor, rate or adjustment or of the occurrence or non-occurrence of an event, circumstance or date and any decision to take or refrain from taking any action or any selection, will be conclusive and binding absent manifest error and may be made in its or their sole discretion and without consent from any other party to this Agreement or any other Loan Document, except, in each case, as expressly required pursuant to this Section 6.2.
- Unavailability of Tenor of Benchmark. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in any other Loan Document, at any time (including in connection with the implementation of a Benchmark Replacement), (i) if the then-current Benchmark is a term rate (including Term SOFR or Base LIBOR) and either (A) any tenor for such Benchmark is not displayed on a screen or other information service that publishes such rate from time to time as selected by the Administrative Agent in its reasonable discretion or (B) the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of such Benchmark has provided a public statement or publication of information announcing that any tenor for such Benchmark is or will be no longer representative, then the Administrative Agent may modify the definition of "Loan Period" for any Benchmark settings at or after such time to remove such unavailable or non-representative tenor and (ii) if a tenor that was removed pursuant to clause (i) above either (A) is subsequently displayed on a screen or information service for a Benchmark (including a Benchmark Replacement) or (B) is not, or is no longer, subject to an announcement that it is or will no longer be representative for a Benchmark (including a Benchmark Replacement), then the Administrative Agent may modify the definition of "Loan Period" for all Benchmark settings at or after such time to reinstate such previously removed tenor.
- (e) <u>Benchmark Unavailability Period</u>. Upon the Borrower's receipt of notice of the commencement of a Benchmark Unavailability Period, the Borrower may revoke any request for a borrowing of LIBOR Rate Loans, or Conversion to or Continuation of LIBOR Rate Loans to be made, Converted or Continued, during any Benchmark Unavailability Period and, failing that, the Borrower will be deemed to have Converted any such request into a request for a borrowing of or Conversion to Base Rate Loans. During any Benchmark Unavailability Period or at any time that a tenor for the then-current Benchmark is not an Available Tenor, the component of Base Rate based upon the then-current Benchmark or such tenor for such Benchmark, as applicable, will not be used in any determination of Base Rate.
- (f) <u>Disclaimer</u>. The Administrative Agent does not warrant or accept any responsibility for, and shall not have any liability with respect to (i) the administration,

submission or any other matter related to the London interbank offered rate or other rates in the definition of "Base LIBOR" or with respect to any alternative or successor rate thereto, or replacement rate thereof (including any Benchmark Replacement implemented hereunder), (ii) the composition or characteristics of any such Benchmark Replacement, including whether it is similar to, or produces the same value or economic equivalence to, Base LIBOR (or any other Benchmark) or have the same volume or liquidity as did Base LIBOR (or any other Benchmark), (iii) any actions or use of its discretion or other decisions or determinations made with respect to any matters covered by this Section 6.2, including whether or not a Benchmark Transition Event has occurred, the removal or lack thereof of unavailable or non-representative tenors, the implementation or lack thereof of any Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes, the delivery or non-delivery of any notices required by Section 6.2(e) or otherwise in accordance herewith and (iv) the effect of any of the foregoing provisions of this Section 6.2.

(g) Market Disruption. If with respect to the Loan Period for any LIBOR Rate Loan, the Required Lenders advise the Agent that the LIBOR Rate as determined by the Agent will not adequately and fairly reflect the cost to such Required Lenders of maintaining or funding LIBOR Rate Loans for such Loan Period, or that the making or funding of LIBOR Rate Loans has become impracticable as a result of an event occurring after the date of this Agreement which in such Required Lenders' opinion materially affects LIBOR Rate Loans, then (A) the Agent shall promptly notify the other parties thereof and (B) so long as such circumstances shall continue, no Lender shall be under any obligation to make or Continue any LIBOR Rate Loan or Convert any Base Rate Loan into a LIBOR Rate Loan.

Section 6.3. Changes in Law Rendering Certain Loans Unlawful. In the event that any change in (including the adoption of any new) applicable laws or regulations, or in the interpretation of applicable laws or regulations by any Governmental Authority or other regulatory body charged with the administration thereof, should make it (or in the good faith judgment of such Lender raise a substantial question as to whether it is) unlawful for a Lender to make, maintain or fund any LIBOR Rate Loan, then (a) such Lender shall promptly notify each of the other parties hereto, (b) upon the effectiveness of such event and so long as such unlawfulness shall continue, the obligation of such Lender to make or Continue LIBOR Rate Loans shall be suspended and any request by the Borrower for LIBOR Rate Loans shall, as to such Lender, be deemed to be a request for a Base Rate Loan, and (c) on the last day of the current Loan Period for such Lender's LIBOR Rate Loans (or, in any event, if such Lender so requests on such earlier date as may be required by the relevant law, regulation or interpretation) such Lender's Committed Loans which are LIBOR Rate Loans shall cease to be maintained as LIBOR Rate Loans and shall thereafter bear interest at a floating rate per annum equal to the Base Rate. If at any time the event giving rise to such unlawfulness shall no longer exist, then such Lender shall promptly notify the Borrower and the Agent.

Section 6.4. <u>Funding Losses</u>. The Borrower hereby agrees that upon demand by any Lender (which demand shall be accompanied by a statement setting forth the basis for the calculations of the amount being claimed) the Borrower will indemnify such Lender against any net loss or expense which such Lender may sustain or incur (including any net loss or expense incurred by reason of the liquidation or reemployment of deposits or other funds acquired by such Lender to fund or maintain any LIBOR Rate Loan), as reasonably determined by such Lender, as a result of (a) any payment or mandatory or voluntary prepayment (including any

payment pursuant to Section 6.3 or 12.9(b) or any payment resulting from acceleration) or Conversion or Continuation of any LIBOR Rate Loan of such Lender on a date other than the last day of the Loan Period for such LIBOR Rate Loan or (b) any failure of the Borrower to borrow any Committed Loans on the originally scheduled Funding Date specified therefor pursuant to this Agreement (including any failure to borrow resulting from any failure to satisfy the conditions precedent to such borrowing) or to Continue any LIBOR Rate Loans on the date specified therefor pursuant to this Agreement. For this purpose, all notices to the Agent pursuant to this Agreement shall be deemed to be irrevocable.

Section 6.5. <u>Discretion of Lenders as to Manner of Funding</u>. Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary (but subject to Section 6.1(c)), each Lender shall be entitled to fund and maintain its funding of all or any part of its Committed Loans in any manner it sees fit, it being understood, however, that for the purposes of this Agreement all determinations hereunder shall be made as if such Lender had actually funded and maintained each LIBOR Rate Loan during the Loan Period for such LIBOR Rate Loan through the purchase of deposits having a maturity corresponding to such Loan Period and bearing an interest rate equal to the rate borne by such LIBOR Rate Loan for such Loan Period.

Section 6.6. <u>Conclusiveness of Statements; Survival of Provisions</u>. Determinations and statements of any Lender pursuant to this Section 6 shall be conclusive absent demonstrable error, and each Lender may use reasonable averaging and attribution methods in determining compensation pursuant to Section 6.1 or 6.4. The provisions of this Section 6 shall survive termination of this Agreement and payment of the Committed Loans.

SECTION 7. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

To induce the Lenders to enter into this Agreement and to make Committed Loans hereunder, each Obligor hereby makes the following representations and warranties to the Agent and the Lenders (a) as of the Closing Date, and (b) other than the representations and warranties in Section 7.5, as of each applicable Funding Date, which representations and warranties shall survive the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the Committed Notes and the disbursement of the initial Committed Loans hereunder:

Section 7.1. Organization, etc. (a) The Company is duly organized or incorporated, as applicable, validly existing and in good standing, to the extent applicable, under the laws of the jurisdiction of its organization; (b) each corporate Significant Subsidiary is a company or corporation, as applicable, duly organized or incorporated, as applicable, validly existing and in good standing, to the extent applicable, under the laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation; (c) each other Significant Subsidiary (if any) is an entity duly organized and validly existing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its organization; and (d) each of the Company and each Significant Subsidiary has the power to own its property and to carry on its business as now being conducted and is duly qualified and in good standing, to the extent applicable, as a foreign corporation or other entity authorized to do business in each jurisdiction where, because of the nature of its activities or properties, such qualification is required, except, in each of cases (a), (b), (c) and (d) above, where the failure to be so qualified or in good standing could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

- Section 7.2. Authorization; Consents; No Conflict. The execution and delivery by (x) each Obligor party hereto of this Agreement and by the Borrower of the Committed Notes, the payment of any fees hereunder, the borrowings hereunder and the performance by each such Obligor of its obligations under this Agreement and by the Borrower of its obligations under the Committed Notes and (y) each Obligor of any Guarantee Assumption Agreement to which it is a party and the performance by each such Obligor of its obligations hereunder and thereunder (a) are within the corporate or similar powers of each such Obligor, (b) have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate or similar action on the part of each such Obligor, (c) have received all necessary approvals, authorizations, consents, registrations, notices, exemptions and licenses (if any shall be required) from Governmental Authorities and other Persons, except for any such approvals, authorizations, consents, registrations, notices, exemptions or licenses non-receipt of which could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, (d) are, where it concerns an Obligor incorporated under the laws of the Netherlands, in such Obligor's corporate interest, (e) do not and will not contravene or conflict with any provision of (i) law, (ii) any judgment, decree or order to which such Obligor or any Significant Subsidiary is a party or by which such Obligor or any Significant Subsidiary is bound, (iii) the charter, by-laws, constitution, memorandum and articles of association or other organizational documents of such Obligor or any Significant Subsidiary or (iv) any provision of any agreement or instrument binding on such Obligor or any Significant Subsidiary, or any agreement or instrument of which such Obligor is aware affecting the properties of such Obligor or any Significant Subsidiary, except with respect to (i), (ii) and (iv) above, for any such contravention or conflict which could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, and (f) do not and will not result in or require the creation or imposition of any Lien on any of such Obligor's or its Significant Subsidiaries' properties.
- Section 7.3. <u>Validity and Binding Nature</u>. (a) This Agreement is, each Guarantee Assumption Agreement when duly executed and delivered will be, and the Committed Notes (if any) when duly executed and delivered will be, legal, valid and binding obligations of each Obligor party thereto, enforceable against each such Obligor in accordance with their respective terms, subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent transfer, reorganization, moratorium, examinership and similar laws of general applicability relating to or affecting creditors' rights and to general equity principles.
- (b) This Agreement is in proper legal form under the law of Ireland and each other jurisdiction under which any Obligor is incorporated or organized for the enforcement thereof against each Obligor under such law. All formalities required in Ireland and each other jurisdiction under which any Obligor is organized or incorporated for the validity and enforceability of this Agreement (including any necessary registration, recording or filing with any court or other authority in Ireland and each other jurisdiction under which any Obligor is organized or incorporated) have been accomplished, and no notarization is required, for the validity and enforceability thereof.
- Section 7.4. <u>Financial Statements</u>. The Company's audited consolidated financial statements as at December 31, 2020, a copy of which has been furnished to each Lender, have been prepared in conformity with GAAP applied on a basis consistent with that of the preceding fiscal year (other than as required or permitted by GAAP) and fairly present the

financial condition of the Company and its Subsidiaries as at such date and the results of their operations for the fiscal year then ended.

- Section 7.5. <u>Litigation</u>. (a) As of the Effective Date, all Litigation Actions, taken as a whole, could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
- (b) As of the Effective Date, there is no Litigation Action pending or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened that could reasonably be expected to adversely affect the enforceability of the Loan Documents against the Obligors or the rights and remedies of the Agent or the Lenders thereunder.
- Section 7.6. Employee Benefit Plans. Except as could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, each employee benefit plan (as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA) maintained or sponsored by the Company or any Subsidiary complies in all material respects with all applicable requirements of law and regulations. Except as could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, individually or in the aggregate, during the term of this Agreement, (i) no steps have been taken to terminate any Plan and no contribution failure has occurred with respect to any Plan sufficient to give rise to a lien under Section 303(k) of ERISA, (ii) no Reportable Event has occurred with respect to any Plan, (iii) no determination has been made that any Plan is in "at risk" status (within the meaning of Section 303 of ERISA) and (iv) neither the Company nor any ERISA Affiliate has either withdrawn or instituted steps to withdraw from any Multiemployer Plan. Except as could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, no condition exists or event or transaction has occurred in connection with any Plan which could reasonably be expected to result in the incurrence by the Company or any Subsidiary of any material liability, fine or penalty (imposed by Section 4975 of the Code or Section 502(i) of ERISA or otherwise). Neither the Company nor any ERISA Affiliate is a member of, or contributes to, any Multiemployer Plan as to which the potential Withdrawal Liability based upon the most recent actuarial report could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. Except as could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, neither the Company nor any Subsidiary has any contingent liability with respect to any post retirement benefit under an employee welfare benefit plan (as defined in Section 3(1) of ERISA), other than liability for continuation coverage described in Part 6 of Title I of ERISA.
- Section 7.7. <u>Investment Company Act</u>. Neither the Company nor the Borrower is an "investment company" or a company "controlled" by an "investment company", within the meaning of the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended.
- Section 7.8. <u>Regulation U</u>. Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary is engaged principally, or as one of its important activities, in the business of extending credit for the purpose of buying or carrying margin stock (within the meaning of Regulation U of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System as amended from time to time). No part of the proceeds of any Committed Loan will be used to buy or carry any margin stock. Following the application of the proceeds of each Committed Loan, not more than 25% of the value of the assets of any of the Company and its Subsidiaries shall consist of margin stock.

- Section 7.9. Disclosure. As of the Effective Date, (a) all written information (including the Information Memorandum), other than Projections (as defined below), forward looking information and information of a general economic or industry specific nature that has been made available to the Administrative Agent, any Arranger or any Lender by the Company or any of its officers, directors, employees, accountants or attorneys or, at the direction of the Company, its other advisors, agents or representatives in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, other than independent third-party appraisals of aircraft and independent third party generated industry information and when taken together with all reports, statements, schedules and other information included in filings made by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission, taken as a whole, is complete and correct in all material respects and does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements contained therein not materially misleading in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made (giving effect to any supplements thereto from time to time), (b) all financial projections, if any, that have been prepared by the Company in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby and made available to the Administrative Agent, any Lender or any potential Lender (the "Projections") have been prepared in good faith based upon assumptions believed by the Company to be reasonable as of the date of the preparation of such Projections (it being understood that projections by their nature are inherently uncertain and no assurances are being given that the results reflected in the Projections will be achieved) and (c) the information included in the Beneficial Ownership Certification (if any) is true and correct in all material respects.
- Section 7.10. Compliance with Applicable Laws, etc. Each Obligor and each of its Subsidiaries is in compliance with the requirements of all applicable laws, rules, regulations and orders of all Governmental Authorities (including ERISA or any laws applicable to a Foreign Plan and all applicable environmental laws), except for noncompliance that could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. None of the Obligors nor any of the Subsidiaries is in default under any agreement or instrument to which such Obligor or such Subsidiary is a party or by which it or any of its properties or assets is bound, which default could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on the business, credit, operations or financial condition of the Obligors and their Subsidiaries taken as a whole. No Event of Default or Unmatured Event of Default has occurred and is continuing.
- Section 7.11. <u>Insurance</u>. Each of the Obligors and each Subsidiary maintains, or, in the case of any property owned by any Obligor or any Subsidiary and leased to lessees, has contractually required such lessees to maintain, insurance with financially sound and reputable insurers to such extent and against such hazards and liabilities as is commonly maintained, or caused to be maintained, as the case may be, by companies similarly situated.
- Section 7.12. <u>Taxes</u>. Each of the Obligors and each Subsidiary has filed all tax returns which are required to have been filed and has paid, or made adequate provisions for the payment of, all of its Taxes which are due and payable, other than Taxes, if any, as are being contested in good faith and by appropriate proceedings and as to which such reserves or other appropriate provisions as may be required by GAAP have been established, except where failure to pay such Taxes or file a tax return, individually or in the aggregate, cannot reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

- Section 7.13. <u>Use of Proceeds</u>. The proceeds of the Committed Loans will be used for general corporate purposes of the Company and its Subsidiaries.
- Section 7.14. <u>Pari Passu</u>. All obligations and liabilities of any Obligor hereunder or under any Guarantee Assumption Agreement to which it is a party shall rank at least equally and ratably (<u>pari passu</u>) in priority with all other unsubordinated, unsecured obligations of such Obligor to any other creditor.
- Section 7.15. OFAC, Etc. The Company has implemented and maintains in effect policies and procedures designed to ensure compliance by the Company, its Subsidiaries and their directors, officers, employees and agents with applicable Anti-Corruption Laws and Sanctions, the USA PATRIOT Act and other applicable anti-terrorism and money laundering laws. None of the Company or any Subsidiary, director, officer, employee or, to the knowledge of the Company after due inquiry, any agent of the Company or any Subsidiary that will act in any capacity in connection with or benefit from the credit facility established hereby, is a Sanctioned Person. No borrowing hereunder will be made for any purpose that would constitute or result in a violation by any party hereto, including the Lenders, of any applicable Anti-Corruption Laws, Sanctions, the USA PATRIOT Act or other anti-terrorism and money laundering laws.

SECTION 8. COVENANTS

Until the expiration or termination of the Commitments, and thereafter until all obligations of the Obligors hereunder and under the Committed Notes are paid in full (other than unasserted contingent indemnification obligations), each Obligor agrees that, commencing on the Closing Date, unless at any time the Required Lenders shall otherwise expressly consent in writing, it will:

- Section 8.1. <u>Reports, Certificates and Other Information</u>. Furnish to the Agent with sufficient copies for each Lender which the Agent shall promptly make available to each Lender:
 - 8.1.1 <u>Audited Financial Statements</u>. As soon as available, and in any event within 95 days after each fiscal year of the Company, a copy of the audited consolidated balance sheet and related statements of operations, stockholders' equity and cash flows and annual audit report of the Company and its subsidiaries for such fiscal year (setting forth in each case in comparative form the figures for the previous fiscal year) prepared on a consolidated basis and in conformity with GAAP and certified by PricewaterhouseCoopers or by another independent certified public accountant of recognized national standing selected by the Company.
 - 8.1.2 <u>Interim Reports.</u> As soon as available, and in any event within 50 days after each quarter (except the last quarter) of each fiscal year of the Company, a copy of the unaudited consolidated balance sheet and related statements of operations, stockholders' equity and cash flows of the Company and its subsidiaries as of the end of and for such quarter and the then elapsed portion of the fiscal year, setting forth in each case in comparative form the figures for (or, in the case of the balance sheet, as of the end

of) the corresponding period or periods of the previous fiscal year, all certified by an Authorized Officer of the Company as presenting fairly in all material respects the financial condition and results of operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP, subject to normal year end audit adjustments, the auditors' year-end report and the absence of footnotes.

- 8.1.3 <u>Certificates.</u> Contemporaneously with the furnishing of a copy of each annual audit report and of each set of quarterly statements provided for in this Section 8.1, deliver a certificate of the Company, in substantially the form of Exhibit C hereto, dated the date of delivery of such annual report or such quarterly statements and signed by an Authorized Officer, to the effect that no Event of Default or Unmatured Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, or, if there is any such event, describing it and the steps, if any, being taken to cure it and containing a computation of, and showing compliance with, each of the financial ratios and restrictions contained in this Section 8.
- 8.1.4 <u>Certain Notices</u>. Forthwith upon learning of the occurrence of any of the following, provide written notice thereof, describing the same and the steps being taken by the Company or the Subsidiary affected with respect thereto:
 - (i) the occurrence of an Event of Default or an Unmatured Event of Default;
- (ii) the institution of any Litigation Action; <u>provided</u>, that, the Company need not give notice of any new Litigation Action unless such Litigation Action, together with all other pending Litigation Actions, could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect;
- (iii) the entry of any judgment or decree against the Company or any Subsidiary if the aggregate amount of all judgments and decrees then outstanding against the Company and all Subsidiaries exceeds \$200,000,000 after deducting (i) the amount with respect to which the Company or any Subsidiary is insured and with respect to which the insurer has not denied coverage in writing and (ii) the amount for which the Company or any Subsidiary is otherwise indemnified if the terms of such indemnification are satisfactory to the Agent and the Required Lenders;
- (iv) the occurrence of a Reportable Event with respect to any Plan; the institution of any steps by the Company, any ERISA Affiliate, the PBGC or any other Person to terminate any Plan; the institution of any steps by the Company or any ERISA Affiliate to withdraw from any Plan; the incurrence of any material increase in the contingent liability of the Company or any Subsidiary with respect to any post-retirement welfare benefits; the failure of the Company or any other Person to make a required contribution to a Plan if such failure is sufficient to give rise to a lien under Section 303(k) of ERISA or a determination is made that any Plan is in "at risk" status (within the meaning of Section 303 of ERISA); provided, however, that no notice shall be required of any of the foregoing unless the circumstance could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect; or

- (v) the occurrence of a material adverse change in the business, credit, operations or financial condition of the Company and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole.
- 8.1.5 Reports. Promptly from time to time after the occurrence of an event required to be therein reported by the Company, such other reports of the Company on Form 6-K, or any successor or comparable form, as the Company shall have filed with the SEC.
- 8.1.6 Other Information. From time to time provide such other information regarding the operations and financial condition of the Company and its Subsidiaries (but in the case of each Securitization Subsidiary, only to the extent it is able to do so after use of commercially reasonable efforts) as any Lender or the Agent may reasonably request (not including reports and other materials to the extent filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission).
- 8.1.7 <u>Beneficial Ownership Certification</u>. To the extent reasonably requested by any Lender or Agent following any change in the information provided in the Beneficial Ownership Certification (if any) that would result in a change to the list of beneficial owners identified in parts (c) or (d) of such certification, an updated Beneficial Ownership Certification.

Financial and other information required to be delivered pursuant to Sections 8.1.1, 8.1.2 and 8.1.5 above shall be deemed to have been delivered if such information, or one or more annual or quarterly reports containing such information, shall have been posted by the Agent on any Platform (as defined herein) or similar site to which the Lenders have been granted access or such reports shall be available on the website of the Securities and Exchange Commission at http://www.sec.gov or the Company's website at http://www.aercap.com; provided, that the Company shall provide paper copies of such financial information if requested by the Agent or any Lender. Information, reports or certificates required to be delivered pursuant to this Section 8.1 may be delivered by electronic communications pursuant to procedures approved by the Administrative Agent.

Section 8.2. Existence. (a) Maintain and preserve, and, subject to the first proviso in Section 8.9, cause each Subsidiary to maintain and preserve, its respective existence as a corporation or other form of business organization, as the case may be (but in the case of each Securitization Subsidiary, only to the extent it is able to do so after use of commercially reasonable efforts), and (b) take all reasonable action to maintain all rights, privileges, licenses, patents, patent rights, copyrights, trademarks, trade names, franchises and other authority, except in each case (other than with respect to the Company or the Borrower in connection with clause (a) above) to the extent that failure to do so could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect; provided, however, that notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, (a) any Subsidiary may be merged or consolidated with or into (i) any other Subsidiary or (ii) into the Company (with the Company as the surviving corporation), provided that, in the case of clauses (a)(i) and (ii), if the Borrower shall be party to any such merger or consolidation the Borrower shall be the surviving entity of such merger or consolidation and (b) any Subsidiary may be converted from one form of business organization into any other form of business organization.

Section 8.3. <u>Nature of Business</u>. Subject to Section 8.2, engage on a consolidated basis with its Subsidiaries in substantially the same fields of business as it and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis are engaged in on the date hereof (or fields of business related or ancillary thereto).

Section 8.4. Books, Records and Access.

- (a) Maintain, and cause each Subsidiary to (but in the case of each Securitization Subsidiary, only to the extent it is able to do so after use of commercially reasonable efforts) maintain in all material respects complete and accurate books and records in which full and correct entries in all material respects and in conformity with GAAP shall be made of all dealings and transactions in relation to its respective business and activities.
- (b) Permit, and cause each Subsidiary to permit (but in the case of each Securitization Subsidiary, only to the extent it is able to do so after use of commercially reasonable efforts), access by the Agent and each Lender to the books and records of the Company and such Subsidiary during normal business hours, and permit, and cause each Subsidiary to permit, the Agent and each Lender to make copies of such books and records upon reasonable notice and as often as may be reasonably requested.
- Section 8.5. <u>Insurance</u>. Maintain, and cause each Subsidiary to maintain, such insurance as is described in Section 7.11 (but in the case of each Securitization Subsidiary, only to the extent it is able to do so after use of commercially reasonable efforts).
- Section 8.6. Repair. Maintain, preserve and keep, and cause each Subsidiary to maintain, preserve and keep, its properties in good repair, working order and condition, ordinary wear and tear excepted, except where the failure to do so could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect (but in the case of each Securitization Subsidiary, only to the extent it is able to do so after use of commercially reasonable efforts). In the case of properties leased by any Obligor or any Subsidiary to lessees, such Obligor may satisfy its obligations related to such properties under the previous sentence by contractually requiring, or by causing each Subsidiary to contractually require, such lessees to perform such obligations (but in the case of each Securitization Subsidiary, only to the extent it is able to do so after use of commercially reasonable efforts).
- Section 8.7. <u>Taxes</u>. Pay or cause to be paid, and cause each Subsidiary to pay, or cause to be paid, prior to the imposition of any penalty or fine, all of its Taxes, unless and only to the extent that such Obligor or such Subsidiary, as the case may be, is contesting any such Taxes in good faith and by appropriate proceedings and the Company, such Obligor or such Subsidiary, as the case may be, has set aside on its books such reserves or other appropriate provisions therefor as may be required by GAAP, except where failure to pay such Taxes, individually or in the aggregate, cannot reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect (but in the case of each Securitization Subsidiary, only to the extent it is able to do so after use of commercially reasonable efforts).
- Section 8.8. <u>Compliance</u>. (a) Comply, and cause each Subsidiary to comply with all statutes (including ERISA) and governmental rules and regulations applicable to it

except to the extent noncompliance could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect (but in the case of each Securitization Subsidiary, only to the extent it is able to do so after use of commercially reasonable efforts).

- (b) Maintain in effect and enforce policies and procedures designed to ensure compliance by the Company, its Subsidiaries and their respective directors, officers, employees and agents with Anti-Corruption Laws and applicable Sanctions.
- (c) Use the proceeds of any borrowing hereunder in compliance with any Anti-Corruption Laws, applicable antimoney laundering laws and any Sanctions applicable to any party hereto.
- Section 8.9. <u>Sale of Assets</u>. Not, and not permit any Subsidiary to, transfer, convey, lease (except for in the ordinary course of business) or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of the assets of the Obligors and their Subsidiaries taken as a whole; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that any Wholly-owned Subsidiary may sell, transfer, convey, lease or assign all or a substantial part of its assets to another Obligor or another Wholly-owned Subsidiary if immediately thereafter and after giving effect thereto no Event of Default or Unmatured Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing; <u>provided</u>, <u>further</u> that this Section 8.9 shall not prohibit any transaction otherwise permitted by Section 8.2.
- Section 8.10. <u>Consolidated Indebtedness to Shareholder's Equity</u>. Not permit the ratio of Consolidated Indebtedness to Shareholder's Equity to exceed at any time 3.75:1.00 (such ratio to be calculated in a manner consistent with the calculations set forth on Schedule 1 to Exhibit C).
- Section 8.11. <u>Interest Coverage Ratio</u>. Not permit the Interest Coverage Ratio on the last day of any quarter of any fiscal year of the Company to be less than 150%.
- Section 8.12. <u>Unencumbered Assets</u>. Not permit the ratio of (A) Unencumbered Assets to (B) the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Company's consolidated unsecured Financial Indebtedness minus, to the extent included in Financial Indebtedness, the aggregate amount outstanding of Hybrid Capital Securities, in each case on the last day of any quarter of any fiscal year of the Company to be less than 135%.
- Section 8.13. Restricted Payments. Not declare or pay any dividends whatsoever or make any distribution on any capital stock of the Company (except in shares of, or warrants or rights to subscribe for or purchase shares of, capital stock of the Company), and not permit any Subsidiary to, make any payment to acquire or retire shares of capital stock of the Company, in each case at any time when (i) an Event of Default as described in Section 10.1 has occurred and is continuing and there are Committed Loans outstanding hereunder or (ii) an Event of Default as described in Section 10.1.1 has occurred and is continuing and there are no Committed Loans outstanding hereunder; provided, however, that notwithstanding the foregoing, this Section 8.13 shall not prohibit (x) the payment of dividends on any of ILFC's market auction preferred stock that was sold to the public pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act of 1933 or (y) the payment of dividends within 30 days of the declaration thereof if such declaration was not prohibited by this Section 8.13.

Section 8.	14. <u>Liens</u> .	Not, and not permit	any Subsidiary to,	create or peri	nit to exist a	ny Lien upon or	with
respect to any of its properti	es or assets of an	y kind, now owned	or hereafter acquire	ed, or on any	income or p	rofits therefrom,	except for

- (a) Liens existing on the Effective Date that are reflected in the consolidated financial statements of the Company dated prior to the Effective Date;
- (b) Liens to secure the payment of all or any part of the purchase price of any property or assets or to secure any Indebtedness incurred by the Company or a Subsidiary to finance the acquisition of any property or asset. For the avoidance of doubt, Liens securing Indebtedness relating to ECA Financings or Eximbank financings shall be permitted hereunder;
 - (c) Liens securing the Indebtedness of a Subsidiary owing to the Company or to a Wholly-owned Subsidiary;
- (d) Liens on property of a Person existing at the time such Person is merged into or consolidated with the Company or a Subsidiary or at the time of a purchase, lease or other acquisition of the properties of a Person as an entirety or substantially as an entirety by the Company or a Subsidiary; <u>provided</u>, that, any such Lien shall not extend to or cover any assets or properties of the Company or such Subsidiary owned by the Company or such Subsidiary prior to such merger, consolidation, purchase, lease or acquisition, unless otherwise permitted under this Section 8.14;
 - (e) leases, subleases or licenses granted to others in the ordinary and usual course of the Company's business;
- (f) easements, rights of way, restrictions and other similar charges or encumbrances not interfering in any material respect with the ordinary conduct of the business of the Company or any Subsidiary;
 - (g) bankers' Liens arising by law or by contract in the ordinary and usual course of the Company's business;
- (h) Liens incurred or deposits made in the ordinary course of business in connection with surety and appeal bonds, leases, government contracts, performance and return-of-money bonds and other similar obligations (exclusive of obligations for the payment of borrowed money); <u>provided, however</u>, that the obligation so secured is not overdue or is being contested in good faith and by appropriate proceedings diligently pursued;
- (i) any replacement or successive replacement in whole or in part of any Lien referred to in the foregoing clauses (a) to (h), inclusive; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that the principal amount of any Indebtedness secured by the Lien shall not be increased and the principal repayment schedule and maturity of such Indebtedness shall not be extended and (i) such replacement shall be limited to all or a part of the property which secured the Lien so replaced (<u>plus</u> improvements and construction on such property) or (ii) if the property which secured the Lien so replaced has been destroyed, condemned or damaged

and pursuant to the terms of the Lien other property has been substituted therefor, then such replacement shall be limited to all or part of such substituted property;

- (j) Liens created by or resulting from any litigation or other proceeding which is being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings, including Liens arising out of judgments or awards against the Company or any Subsidiary with respect to which the Company or such Subsidiary is in good faith prosecuting an appeal or proceedings for review; Liens incurred by the Company or any Subsidiary for the purpose of obtaining a stay or discharge in the course of any litigation or other proceeding to which the Company or such Subsidiary is a party; or Liens created by or resulting from any litigation or other proceeding that would not result in an Event of Default hereunder;
- (k) carrier's, warehouseman's, hangar keeper's, mechanic's, repairer's, landlord's and materialmen's Liens, Liens for Taxes, assessments and other governmental charges and other Liens arising in the ordinary course of business, by operation of law or under customary terms of repair or modification agreements or any engine or parts-pooling arrangements, in each case securing obligations that are not incurred in connection with the obtaining of any advance or credit and which are either not overdue or are being contested in good faith and by appropriate proceedings diligently pursued; and
- (I) other Liens securing Indebtedness of the Company or any Subsidiary; provided that at the time such Indebtedness is incurred (or, in the case of unsecured Indebtedness that is subsequently secured by Liens, at the time such Indebtedness becomes secured) the ratio of (A) Unencumbered Assets as of the end of the most recently ended fiscal period for which financial statements have been delivered pursuant to Section 8.1 (except that (i) "cash and cash equivalents" and Financial Indebtedness shall be measured on the applicable date of determination on a pro forma basis, (ii) any Aircraft Assets acquired subsequent to such date may, at the option of the Company, be included in the determination of Unencumbered Assets valued as of the date of acquisition and as determined by the Company in good faith and (iii) if the outstanding amount of Financial Indebtedness on the applicable date of determination has been reduced since the end of the most recently ended fiscal period for which financial statements have been delivered pursuant to Section 8.1 with the proceeds of any sale or other disposition of Aircraft Assets, the book value of such Aircraft Assets sold or otherwise disposed of shall be excluded) to (B) the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Company's consolidated unsecured Financial Indebtedness on the date of determination on a pro forma basis minus, to the extent included in Financial Indebtedness as of such date, the aggregate amount outstanding of Hybrid Capital Securities, is not less than 135%.

Section 8.15. <u>Use of Proceeds</u>. Not permit any proceeds of the Committed Loans to be used, either directly or indirectly, for the purpose, whether immediate, incidental or ultimate, of buying or carrying any margin stock within the meaning of Regulation U of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, as amended from time to time; or for the purpose, whether immediate, incidental or ultimate, of acquiring directly or indirectly any of the outstanding shares of voting stock of any corporation which (i) has announced that it will oppose

such acquisition or (ii) has commenced any litigation which alleges that any such acquisition violates, or will violate, applicable law.

Section 8.16. Transactions with Affiliates.

- (a) Not, and not permit any Subsidiary to, make any payment to, or sell, lease, transfer or otherwise dispose of any of its properties or assets to, or purchase any property or assets from, or enter into or make or amend any transaction, contract, agreement, understanding, loan, advance or guarantee with, or for the benefit of, any Affiliate of the Company (each of the foregoing, an "Affiliate Transaction") involving aggregate payments or consideration in excess of \$5,000,000, unless:
 - (i) such Affiliate Transaction is on terms that are not materially less favorable to the Company or the relevant Subsidiary than those that would have been obtained in a comparable transaction by the Company or such Subsidiary with an unrelated Person; and
 - (ii) the Company delivers to the Administrative Agent with respect to any Affiliate Transaction or series of related Affiliate Transactions involving aggregate payments or consideration in excess of \$50,000,000, a resolution adopted by the disinterested members of the Board of Directors of the Company, if any, approving such Affiliate Transaction and set forth in a certificate of an Authorized Officer of the Company certifying that such Affiliate Transaction complies with Section 8.16(a)(i).
- (b) The following items will not be deemed to be Affiliate Transactions and, therefore, will not be subject to the provisions of Section 8.16(a):
 - (i) transactions between or among the Company and/or any of its Subsidiaries;
 - (ii) declaration or payment of dividends, the making of distributions on any Capital Stock of the Company and the making of payments to acquire or retire shares of Capital Stock of the Company, in each case at any time not prohibited by Section 8.13;
 - (iii) the payment of reasonable and customary fees paid to, and indemnities provided on behalf of, officers, directors, employees or consultants of the Company or any Subsidiary;
 - (iv) transactions in which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, as the case may be, delivers to the Administrative Agent a letter from an Independent Financial Advisor stating that such transaction is fair to the Company or such Subsidiary from a financial point of view or meets the requirements of 8.16(a)(i);
 - (v) payments or loans (or cancellation of loans) to employees or consultants of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries which are approved by a majority of the Board of Directors of the Company in good faith;
 - (vi) any agreement as in effect as of the Effective Date, or any amendment thereto (so long as any such amendment, taken as a whole, is no less favorable to the

Company and its Subsidiaries than the agreement in effect on the date hereof (as determined by the Board of Directors of the Company in good faith));

- (vii) the existence of, or the performance by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries of its obligations under the terms of, any limited liability company, limited partnership or other organizational document or joint venture, investors or shareholders agreement (including any registration rights agreement or purchase agreement related thereto) to which it is a party as of the Effective Date and any similar agreements which it may enter into thereafter; provided, however, that the existence of, or the performance by the Company or any Subsidiary of obligations under any future amendment to any such existing agreement or under any similar agreement entered into after the Effective Date shall only be permitted by this clause (vii) to the extent that the terms of any such amendment or new agreement, taken as a whole, is no less favorable to the Company and its Subsidiaries than the agreement in effect on the Effective Date (as determined by the Board of Directors of the Company in good faith);
- (viii) transactions with customers, clients, suppliers, trade creditors, lessors, lessees, joint venture partners or purchasers or sellers of goods or services, in each case in the ordinary course of business and otherwise in compliance with the terms of this Agreement;
- (ix) the issuance of Capital Stock (other than Disqualified Stock) of the Company to any Affiliate of the Company and other customary rights in connection therewith;
- (x) transactions or payments pursuant to any employee, officer or director compensation (including bonuses) or benefit plans, employment agreements, severance agreement, indemnification agreements or any similar arrangements entered into in the ordinary course of business or approved by the Board of Directors of the Company;
- (xi) transactions in the ordinary course with joint ventures in which the Company or a subsidiary of the Company holds or acquires an ownership interest (whether by way of Capital Stock or otherwise) so long as the terms of any such transactions are no less favorable to the Company or subsidiary participating in such joint ventures than they are to other joint venture partners;
- (xii) transactions with a Person that is an Affiliate of the Company solely because the Company owns, directly or through one or more of its Subsidiaries, Capital Stock in, or controls, such Person;
- (xiii) transactions involving Securitization Assets, or participations therein, in connection with any Qualified Securitization Financing;
- (xiv) services provided by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to its Subsidiaries or Affiliates under an agreement in respect of (A) aircraft, airframe and engines, (B) all parts, including replacement parts, of whatever nature, which are from time to time included within the airframes or engines or owned separately by the Company or any of its subsidiaries, (C) aircraft documents, (D) leases to which the

Company or any of its subsidiaries is or may from time to time be party with respect to an aircraft engine or part and (E) all asset backed securities or other instruments secured directly or indirectly by aircraft, airframe, engines or parts all in the ordinary course of business and consistent with past practice;

- (xv) any transaction with an Affiliate of the Company where the only consideration paid by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is the issuance of Capital Stock (other than Disqualified Stock); and
- (xvi) transactions with General Electric Company or its subsidiaries or Affiliates pursuant to and in accordance with the GECAS Transaction Agreement or any other Transaction Document (as defined in the GECAS Transaction Agreement).
- Section 8.17. <u>Limitation on Issuances of Guarantees of Indebtedness</u>. Not cause or permit any of its Subsidiaries (other than a Securitization Subsidiary, an Excluded Subsidiary or an Obligor), directly or indirectly, to guarantee any Capital Markets Debt or unsecured Credit Facility (other than Standard Securitization Undertakings in connection with a Qualified Securitization Financing) of the Company or any other Obligor (other than the Financing Trust or any of its subsidiaries) unless such Subsidiary, within five Business Days of the date on which it guarantees Capital Markets Debt or an unsecured Credit Facility of the Company or any other Obligor (other than the Financing Trust or any of its subsidiaries), executes and delivers to the Administrative Agent a Guarantee Assumption Agreement.

Section 8.18. [Reserved].

Section 8.19. <u>Subsidiary Guarantors</u>. In each case to the extent such Person is not a party to this Agreement on the date hereof, cause any Subsidiary that is required under Section 8.17 to become a Subsidiary Guarantor to (a) become a "Subsidiary Guarantor" hereunder pursuant to a Guarantee Assumption Agreement and (b) deliver such proof of corporate or similar action, incumbency of officers, opinions of counsel and other documents as is consistent with those delivered by each Obligor pursuant to Section 9 on the Effective Date.

SECTION 9. CONDITIONS TO LENDING

- Section 9.1. <u>Conditions Precedent to All Committed Loans</u>. Each Lender's obligation to make each Committed Loan on the date of original borrowing thereof is subject to the following conditions precedent:
 - 9.1.1 No Default. (a) No Event of Default or Unmatured Event of Default has occurred and is continuing or will result from the making of such Committed Loan and (b) the representations and warranties contained in Section 7 (other than those contained in Section 7.5) are true and correct in all material respects as of the date of such requested Committed Loan, with the same effect as though made on the date of such Committed Loan, except to the extent such representations and warranties expressly relate to an earlier date, in which case such representations and warranties shall have been true and correct in all material respects as of such earlier date (it being understood that each request for a Committed Loan shall automatically constitute a representation and warranty by the Company that, as at the requested date of such Committed Loan,

- (x) all conditions under this Section 9.1.1 shall be satisfied and (y) after the making of such Committed Loan the aggregate principal amount of all outstanding Committed Loans will not exceed the Aggregate Commitment).
- 9.1.2 <u>Documents</u>. The Agent shall have received (a) a certificate signed by an Authorized Officer of the Company as to compliance with Section 9.1.1, which requirement shall be deemed satisfied by the submission of a properly completed Committed Loan Request, and (b) a Committed Loan Request substantially in the form of Exhibit A hereto.
- Section 9.2. <u>Conditions to Effective Date</u>. This Agreement shall not become effective until the date on which each of the following conditions precedent shall have been satisfied or, to the extent not so satisfied, waived in writing by the Required Lenders (the "<u>Effective Date</u>"); <u>provided</u> that the obligations of each Lender hereunder to make Committed Loans pursuant to its Commitment are subject to the occurrence of the Closing Date and the satisfaction (or waiver by the Required Lenders) of the conditions set forth in Section 9.1:
 - 9.2.1 <u>Revolving Credit Agreement</u>. The Agent shall have received this Agreement duly executed and delivered by each of the Agent, the Lenders, the Company, the Borrower and each of the Subsidiary Guarantors identified under the caption "GUARANTORS" on the signature pages hereto.
 - 9.2.2 <u>KYC Documents</u>. (a) The Agent shall have received at least three Business Days prior to the Effective Date all documentation and other information reasonably requested by the Lenders through the Agent in writing at least ten Business Days in advance of the Effective Date, which documentation or other information is required by regulatory authorities under applicable "know your customer" requirements under applicable law, and (b) at least three Business Days prior to the Effective Date, to the extent requested by any Lender through the Agent in writing at least ten Business Days in advance of the Effective Date, if the Borrower qualifies as a "legal entity customer" under the Beneficial Ownership Regulation, the Borrower shall deliver a Beneficial Ownership Certification in relation to it.
 - 9.2.3 [Reserved].
 - 9.2.4 <u>Fees.</u> All costs, fees, expenses (including legal fees and expenses) to the extent invoiced at least two Business Days prior to the Effective Date and the fees contemplated by the Fee Letter payable to the Arrangers, the Administrative Agent or the Lenders shall have been paid on or prior to the Effective Date, in each case, to the extent required by the Fee Letter or this Agreement to be paid on or prior to the Effective Date.
 - 9.2.5 [Reserved].
 - 9.2.6 Evidence of Corporate Action, Incumbency and Signatures. The Agent shall have received a certificate of the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary or a director of each Obligor, in substantially the form of Exhibit G, certifying (a) copies of all corporate or similar actions taken by each Obligor to authorize this Agreement and, as applicable, the Committed Notes and (b) the names of the officer or officers or director or

directors or other authorized signatories of such Obligor authorized to sign the Loan Documents to which it is a party and the other documents provided for in this Agreement to be executed by such Obligor, together with a sample of the true signature of each such officer or director or other authorized signatory (it being understood that the Agent and each Lender may conclusively rely on such certificate until formally advised by a like certificate of any changes therein).

- 9.2.7 <u>Good Standing Certificates</u>. To the extent made available in the relevant jurisdiction, the Agent shall have received such good standing certificates of state officials (or analogous documents or certificates relating to valid existence and good standing) with respect to the incorporation or organization of each Obligor.
- 9.2.8 Opinions of Company Counsel. The Agent shall have received favorable written opinions of (i) Cravath, Swaine & Moore LLP, special New York counsel for the Obligors, in substantially the form of Exhibit H-1, (ii) McCann FitzGerald, special Irish counsel to the Company, in substantially the form of Exhibit H-2, (iii) NautaDutilh N.V., special Dutch counsel to the Company, in substantially the form of Exhibit H-3, (iv) Smith, Gambrell & Russell, LLP, special California counsel to ILFC, in substantially the form of Exhibit H-4, and (v) Morris, Nichols, Arsht & Tunnell LLP, special Delaware counsel to the Company, in substantially the form of Exhibit H-5.

The Agent shall promptly notify the Company and the Lenders of the occurrence of the Effective Date, and such notice shall be conclusive and binding.

- Section 9.3. <u>Conditions to Closing Date</u>. The obligations of each Lender hereunder to make Committed Loans pursuant to its Commitment shall not become effective until the date on which each of the following conditions precedent shall have been satisfied or, to the extent not so satisfied, waived in writing by the Required Lenders, on or after the Effective Date and on or before the Commitment Termination Date:
 - 9.3.1 GECAS Transaction. Prior to or substantially concurrently with the occurrence of the Closing Date, all of the conditions precedent to the consummation of the GECAS Transaction as set forth in the GECAS Transaction Agreement shall have been satisfied or waived in accordance with the terms thereof and hereof, without giving effect to any amendments, modifications, supplements or waivers by the Company or the GECAS Transaction Subsidiaries (or any of their respective Affiliates) thereto or consents by the Company or the GECAS Transaction Subsidiaries (or any of their respective Affiliates) thereunder that are materially adverse to the Arrangers or the Lenders in their capacities as such without each Arranger's prior written consent (not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed) (it being understood and agreed that, without prejudice to any of the other conditions set forth in this Section 9.3, any modification, amendment or express waiver or consents by the Company or the GECAS Transaction Subsidiaries (or any of their respective Affiliates) that results in (i) an increase to the purchase price shall be deemed not to be materially adverse to the Arrangers and the Lenders so long as such increase is not funded with proceeds of Indebtedness or (ii) a decrease to the purchase price shall be deemed not to be materially adverse to the Arrangers and the Lenders so long as (x) the Company shall have received

confirmation that its indicative credit ratings (after giving effect to such purchase price decrease and the terms thereof (including the allocation between cash and equity consideration)) from each of Moody's Investors Service, Inc., S&P Global Ratings, a division of S&P Global Inc., and Fitch Ratings, Inc. (or, in the event that no more than one such rating agency ceases to be in the business of issuing credit ratings to the Company (and no longer issues a credit rating to the Company) and other similarly situated issuers, or otherwise independently chooses to cease rating the Company, the applicable indicative credit ratings from each of the rating agencies that continue to issue ratings to the Company) are not lower than Baa3, BBB- and BBB-, respectively (in each case, without regard to outlook), and (y) such decrease (to the extent such purchase price decrease results in a decrease to the Cash Consideration (as defined in the GECAS Transaction Agreement) required to consummate the GECAS Transaction) shall reduce dollar-for-dollar the commitments under the GECAS Transaction Bridge Facility).

- 9.3.2 <u>No Material Adverse Effect</u>. No Material Adverse Effect (as defined in the GECAS Transaction Agreement as in effect on March 9, 2021) shall have occurred between the Signing Date (as defined in the GECAS Transaction Agreement as in effect on March 9, 2021) and the Completion Date (as defined in the GECAS Transaction Agreement as in effect on March 9, 2021).
- 9.3.3 <u>Payment of Fees and Expenses</u>. All costs, fees, expenses (including legal fees and expenses) to the extent invoiced at least two Business Days prior to the Closing Date and the fees contemplated by the Fee Letter payable to the Arrangers, the Administrative Agent or the Lenders shall have been paid on or prior to the Closing Date, in each case, to the extent required by the Fee Letter or this Agreement to be paid on or prior to the Closing Date.
- 9.3.4 <u>Officer's Certificate</u>. The Borrower shall have delivered an officer's certificate substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit I with respect to the satisfaction of the conditions set forth Sections 9.3.1, 9.3.2 and 9.3.6.
- 9.3.5 <u>Solvency Certificate</u>. The Borrower shall have delivered a solvency certificate from the Chief Financial Officer or Treasurer of the Company substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit J certifying as to pro forma solvency (on a consolidated basis) of the Company and its Subsidiaries after giving effect to the GECAS Transaction and any GECAS Transaction Financing incurred and Committed Loans borrowed on the Closing Date.
- 9.3.6 Accuracy of Representations/No Event of Default. At the time of and upon giving effect to the initial availability of the Committed Loans on the Closing Date (i) each GECAS Transaction Representation shall be true and correct (but only to the extent that the Company and the GECAS Transaction Subsidiaries have the right to terminate its and their respective obligations to consummate the GECAS Transaction (or otherwise do not have an obligation to close) under the GECAS Transaction Agreement as a result of a failure of such representations in the GECAS Transaction Agreement to be accurate), (ii) the GECAS Specified Representations shall be true and correct in all material respects (except to the extent already qualified by materiality or Material

Adverse Effect) and (iii) there shall not exist any Event of Default pursuant to Section 10.1.1 or 10.1.3 with respect to the Borrower.

9.3.7 Each of the Lenders shall have received a fully executed Committed Note, if such Committed Note is requested by any Lender pursuant to Section 11.11.

The Agent shall promptly notify the Company and the Lenders of the occurrence of the Closing Date, and such notice shall be conclusive and binding.

SECTION 10. EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND THEIR EFFECT

- Section 10.1. <u>Events of Default</u>. Each of the following shall constitute an Event of Default under this Agreement (<u>provided</u> that, prior to the occurrence of the Closing Date, only the events described in Section 10.1.3 (solely as to the Borrower) shall constitute an "Event of Default" for purposes of this Agreement):
 - 10.1.1 Non-Payment of the Committed Loans, etc. Default in the payment when due of any principal of any Committed Loan or default and continuance thereof for three Business Days in the payment when due of any interest on any Committed Loan, any fees or any other amounts payable by any Obligor hereunder.
 - Non-Payment of Other Indebtedness for Borrowed Money. (a) Default in the payment when due (subject 10.1.2 to any applicable grace period), whether by acceleration or otherwise, of any principal of, interest on or fees incurred in connection with any other Indebtedness of, or Guaranteed by, the Company or any Significant Subsidiary beyond the period of grace, if any, provided in the instrument or agreement pursuant to which such Indebtedness was created (except (i) any such Indebtedness of any Subsidiary to the Company or to any other Subsidiary and (ii) any Indebtedness hereunder) or (b) default in the performance or observance of any obligation or condition with respect to any such other Indebtedness or (other than in respect of any Indebtedness secured by Liens over Aircraft Assets or the Equity Interests of a Subsidiary owning Aircraft Assets) any other event shall occur, the effect of which default or other event is to cause, or to permit the holder or holders of such Indebtedness or beneficiary or beneficiaries of such Guarantee (or a trustee or agent on behalf of such holder or holders or beneficiary or beneficiaries) to cause, (with or without the giving of notice, the lapse of time or both but in each case after any applicable period of grace, if any, shall have lapsed) such Indebtedness to become due prior to its stated maturity or the obligations under such Guarantee to become payable, provided, however, that the aggregate principal amount of all Indebtedness as to which there has occurred any default as described in clause (a) or (b) above shall equal or exceed \$200,000,000; provided further however, that clause (b) above shall not apply to secured Indebtedness that becomes due as a result of the voluntary sale or transfer of the property or assets securing such Indebtedness.
 - 10.1.3 <u>Bankruptcy, Insolvency, etc.</u> The Company or any Significant Subsidiary becomes insolvent (which term shall include any form of creditor protection and moratorium, including bankruptcy (*faillissement*) and suspension of payments (*surseance van betaling*) under Dutch law and the serving of a notice pursuant to section

36 of the Dutch Tax Collection Act (*Invorderingswet*)) or generally fails to pay, or admits in writing its inability or refusal to pay, debts as they become due; or the Company or any Significant Subsidiary applies for, consents to, or acquiesces in the appointment of a trustee, liquidator, examiner, receiver or other custodian (including a "*curator*" in a bankruptcy under Dutch law and a "*bewindvoerder*" in a suspension of payment (*surseance van betaling*) under Dutch law) for the Company or such Significant Subsidiary or a material portion of the property thereof, or makes a general assignment for the benefit of creditors; or, in the absence of such application, consent or acquiescence, a trustee, liquidator, examiner, receiver or other custodian is appointed for the Company or any Significant Subsidiary or for a substantial part of the property of any thereof and is not discharged within 60 days; or any warrant of attachment (including a "*beslag*") or similar legal process is issued against any substantial part of the property of the Company or any of its Significant Subsidiaries which is not released within 60 days of service; or any bankruptcy, examinership, receivership, reorganization, debt arrangement, or other case or proceeding under any bankruptcy or insolvency law, or any dissolution or liquidation proceeding (except the voluntary dissolution, not under any bankruptcy or insolvency law, of a Significant Subsidiary), is commenced in respect of the Company or any Significant Subsidiary it is consented to or acquiesced in by the Company or such Significant Subsidiary or remains for 60 days undismissed; or the Company or any Significant Subsidiary takes any corporate action to authorize, or in furtherance of, any of the foregoing.

- 10.1.4 Non-Compliance with this Agreement.
- (a) Failure by any Obligor to comply with or to perform any of the covenants in Sections 8.1.4(i), Sections 8.9 through Section 8.15 and Section 8.17.
- (b) Failure by any Obligor to comply with or to perform any of the covenants herein or any other provision of this Agreement (and not constituting an Event of Default under any of the other provisions of this Section 10.1) and continuance of such failure for 30 days after notice thereof to the Company from the Agent.
- 10.1.5 <u>Representations and Warranties</u>. Any representation or warranty made by the Company herein or by any Guarantor in any Guarantee Assumption Agreement is untrue or misleading in any material respect when made or deemed made; or any schedule, statement, report, notice, or other writing furnished by the Company to the Agent or any Lender is false or misleading in any material respect on the date as of which the facts therein set forth are stated or certified; or any certification made or deemed made by the Company to the Agent or any Lender is untrue or misleading in any material respect on or as of the date made or deemed made.
- 10.1.6 <u>Employee Benefit Plans</u>. Any ERISA Event shall have occurred with respect to any Plan or any Foreign Benefit Event shall have occurred with respect to a Foreign Plan that, in each case, would reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

- 10.1.7 <u>Judgments</u>. There shall be entered against the Company or any Subsidiary one or more final, non-appealable judgments or decrees for the payment of money in excess of \$200,000,000 in the aggregate at any one time outstanding for the Company or any Subsidiary (excluding any portion thereof that is paid or covered by insurance so long as coverage has not been denied in writing or is otherwise indemnified if the terms of such indemnification are satisfactory to the Required Lenders) and either (i) enforcement proceedings shall have been commenced by any creditor upon such judgments or orders in excess of such aggregate amount on or after the date any payment is due and payable under the terms of such judgments or orders and shall not have been stayed within 60 days after such enforcement proceedings are commenced or (ii) there is a period of 60 consecutive days during which such judgments or orders in excess of such aggregate amount shall not have been paid, vacated, discharged, stayed or bonded.
- 10.1.8 <u>Invalidity of Loan Documents</u>. Any Loan Document shall cease to be, or shall be asserted by any Obligor not to be, in full force and effect, except in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, including, in the case of any guarantee by any Subsidiary Guarantor of the Guaranteed Obligations, as a result of the release of such guarantee as provided in Section 13.9.
 - 10.1.9 <u>Change of Control</u>. A Change of Control shall have occurred.

Section 10.2. Effect of Event of Default. If any Event of Default described in Section 10.1.3 shall occur, the Commitments (if they have not theretofore terminated) shall immediately terminate and all Committed Loans and all interest and other amounts due hereunder shall become immediately due and payable, all without presentment, demand or notice of any kind; and, in the case of any other Event of Default, the Agent may, and upon written request of the Required Lenders shall, declare the Commitments (if they have not theretofore terminated) to be terminated and all Committed Loans and all interest and other amounts due hereunder to be due and payable, whereupon the Commitments (if they have not theretofore terminated) shall immediately terminate and all Committed Loans and all interest and other amounts due hereunder shall become immediately due and payable, all without presentment, demand or notice of any kind. The Agent shall promptly advise the Company and each Lender of any such declaration, but failure to do so shall not impair the effect of such declaration.

SECTION 11. THE AGENT

Section 11.1. <u>Authorization and Authority</u>. Each Lender hereby irrevocably appoints Citibank, N.A. to act on its behalf as the Agent hereunder and under the Committed Notes and authorizes the Agent to take such actions on its behalf and to exercise such powers as are delegated to the Agent by the terms hereof, together with such actions and powers as are reasonably incidental thereto. Subject to the provisions of Section 11.4, the Agent will take such action permitted by any agreement delivered in connection with this Agreement as may be requested in writing by the Required Lenders or if required under Section 12.1, all of the Lenders. Other than as expressly set forth herein, the Agent shall promptly remit in immediately available funds to each Lender its share of all payments received by the Agent for the account of such Lender, and shall promptly transmit to each Lender (or share with each Lender the contents of) each notice it receives from the Company pursuant to this Agreement. Other than Section

11.9, the provisions of this Section 11 are solely for the benefit of the Agent and the Lenders, and the Company shall have no rights as a third party beneficiary of any of such provisions.

- Section 11.2. Agent Individually. (a) The Person serving as the Agent, if a Lender hereunder, shall have the same rights and powers in its capacity as a Lender as any other Lender and may exercise the same as though it were not the Agent and the term "Lender" or "Lenders" shall, unless otherwise expressly indicated or unless the context otherwise requires, include the Person serving as the Agent hereunder in its individual capacity. Such Person and its Affiliates may accept deposits from, lend money to, act as the financial advisor or in any other advisory capacity for and generally engage in any kind of business with the Company or any Subsidiary or other Affiliate thereof as if such Person were not the Agent hereunder and without any duty to account therefor to the Lenders.
- (b) Each Lender understands that the Person serving as Agent, acting in its individual capacity, and its Affiliates (collectively, the "Agent's Group") are engaged in a wide range of financial services and businesses (including investment management, financing, securities trading, corporate and investment banking and research) (such services and businesses are collectively referred to in this Section 11.2 as "Activities") and may engage in the Activities with or on behalf of the Company or its Affiliates. Furthermore, the Agent's Group may, in undertaking the Activities, engage in trading in financial products or undertake other investment businesses for its own account or on behalf of others (including the Company and its Affiliates and including holding, for its own account or on behalf of others, equity, debt and similar positions in the Company or its Affiliates), including trading in or holding long, short or derivative positions in securities, loans or other financial products of one or more of the Company and its Affiliates. Each Lender understands and agrees that in engaging in the Activities, the Agent's Group may receive or otherwise obtain information concerning the Company and its Affiliates (including information concerning the ability of the Company to perform its obligations hereunder) which information may not be available to any of the Lenders that are not members of the Agent's Group. None of the Agent nor any member of the Agent's Group shall have any duty to disclose to any Lender or use on behalf of the Lenders, and shall not be liable for the failure to so disclose or use, any information whatsoever about or derived from the Activities or otherwise (including any information concerning the business, prospects, operations, property, financial and other condition or creditworthiness of the Company) or to account for any revenue or profits obtained in connection with the Activities except that the Agent shall deliver or otherwise make available to each Lender such documents as are expressly required by this Agreement to be transmitted by the Agent to the Lenders.
- (c) Each Lender further understands that there may be situations where members of the Agent's Group or their respective customers (including the Company and its Affiliates) either now have or may in the future have interests or take actions that may conflict with the interests of any one or more of the Lenders (including the interests of the Lenders hereunder). Each Lender agrees that no member of the Agent's Group is or shall be required to restrict its activities as a result of the Person serving as Agent being a member of the Agent's Group, and that each member of the Agent's Group may undertake any Activities without further consultation with or notification to any Lender. None of (i) this Agreement, (ii) the receipt by the Agent's Group of information (including "Information" as defined in Section 12.6) concerning the Company or its Affiliates (including information concerning the ability of the

Company to perform its obligations hereunder) nor (iii) any other matter shall give rise to any fiduciary, equitable or contractual (other than the administrative duties of the Agent expressly provided hereunder) duties (including any duty of trust or confidence) owing by the Agent or any member of the Agent's Group to any Lender including any such duty that would prevent or restrict the Agent's Group from acting on behalf of customers (including the Company or its Affiliates) or for its own account.

Indemnification. The Lenders agree to indemnify the Agent in its capacity as such (to the extent Section 11.3. not reimbursed by the Company and without releasing the Company from its obligation to do so, to the extent applicable), ratably according to their respective Percentages (determined at the time such indemnity is sought), from and against any and all actions, causes of action, suits, losses, liabilities, damages and expenses which may at any time (including at any time following the repayment of the Committed Loans) be imposed on, incurred by or asserted against the Agent in any way relating to or arising out of this Agreement, or any documents contemplated by or referred to herein or the transactions contemplated hereby or any action taken or omitted by the Agent under or in connection with any of the foregoing; provided, that, no Lender shall be liable for the payment to the Agent of any portion of such actions, causes of action, suits, losses, liabilities, damages and expenses resulting from the Agent's or its employees' or agents' gross negligence or willful misconduct. Without limiting the foregoing, subject to Section 12.5 each Lender agrees to reimburse the Agent promptly upon demand for its ratable share (determined at the time such reimbursement is sought) of any out-of-pocket expenses (including reasonable counsel fees) incurred by the Agent in such capacity in connection with the preparation, execution or enforcement of, or legal advice in respect of rights or responsibilities under, this Agreement or any amendments or supplements hereto or thereto to the extent that the Agent is not reimbursed for such expenses by the Company. All obligations provided for in this Section 11.3 shall survive repayment of the Committed Loans, cancellation of the Committed Notes or any termination of this Agreement. For the purpose of this Section 11.3, Agent shall mean the Administrative Agent and its Affiliates, directors, officers and employees.

Section 11.4. <u>Action on Instructions of the Required Lenders</u>. As to any matters not expressly provided for by this Agreement (including enforcement or collection of the Committed Loans), the Agent shall not be required to exercise any discretion or take any action, but the Agent shall in all cases be fully protected in acting or refraining from acting upon the written instructions from (i) the Required Lenders, except for instructions which under the express provisions hereof must be received by the Agent from all Lenders and (ii) in the case of such instructions, from all Lenders. In no event will the Agent be required to take any action which exposes the Agent to personal liability or which is contrary to this Agreement or applicable law. The relationship between the Agent and the Lenders is and shall be that of agent and principal only and nothing herein contained shall be construed to constitute the Agent a trustee for any holder of a Committed Loan or of a participation therein nor to impose on the Agent duties and obligations other than those expressly provided for herein.

Section 11.5. <u>Payments.</u> (a) The Agent shall be entitled to assume that each Lender has made its Committed Loan available in accordance with Section 2.2(c) unless such Lender notifies the Agent at its Notice Office prior to 11:30 a.m., New York City time, on the Funding Date for such Committed Loan that it does not intend to make such Committed Loan

available, it being understood that no such notice shall relieve such Lender of any of its obligations under this Agreement. If the Agent makes any payment to the Borrower on the assumption that a Lender has made the proceeds of such Committed Loan available to the Agent but such Lender has not in fact made the proceeds of such Committed Loan available to the Agent, such Lender shall pay to the Agent on demand an amount equal to the amount of such Lender's Committed Loan, together with interest thereon for each day that elapses from and including such Funding Date to but excluding the Business Day on which the proceeds of such Lender's Committed Loan become immediately available to the Agent at its Payment Office prior to 12:00 Noon, New York City time, at the Federal Funds Rate for each such day, based upon a year of 360 days. A certificate of the Agent submitted to any Lender with respect to any amounts owing under this Section 11.5(a) shall be conclusive absent demonstrable error. If the proceeds of such Lender's Committed Loan are not made available to the Agent at its Payment Office by such Lender within three Business Days of such Funding Date, the Agent shall be entitled to recover such amount upon two Business Days' demand from the Borrower, together with interest thereon for each day that elapses from and including such Funding Date to but excluding the Business Day on which such proceeds become immediately available to the Agent prior to 12:00 Noon, New York City time, at the rate per annum applicable to Base Rate Loans hereunder, based upon a year of 360 days. Nothing in this paragraph (a) shall relieve any Lender of any obligation it may have hereunder to make any Committed Loan or prejudice any rights which the Borrower may have against any Lender as a result of any default by such Lender hereunder.

- (b) The Agent shall be entitled to assume that the Borrower has made all payments due hereunder from the Borrower on the due date thereof unless it receives notification prior to any such due date from the Borrower that the Borrower does not intend to make any such payment, it being understood that no such notice shall relieve the Borrower of any of its obligations under this Agreement. If the Agent distributes any payment to a Lender hereunder in the belief that the Borrower has paid to the Agent the amount thereof but the Borrower has not in fact paid to the Agent such amount, such Lender shall pay to the Agent on demand (which shall be made by facsimile or personal delivery) an amount equal to the amount of the payment made by the Agent to such Lender, together with interest thereon for each day that elapses from and including the date on which the Agent made such payment to but excluding the Business Day on which the amount of such payment is returned to the Agent at its Payment Office in immediately available funds prior to 12:00 Noon, New York City time, at the Federal Funds Rate for each such day, based upon a year of 360 days. If the amount of such payment is not returned to the Agent in immediately available funds within three Business Days after demand by the Agent, such Lender shall pay to the Agent on demand an amount calculated in the manner specified in the preceding sentence after substituting the term "Base Rate" for the term "Federal Funds Rate". A certificate of the Agent submitted to any Lender with respect to amounts owing under this Section 11.5(b) shall be conclusive absent demonstrable error.
- (c) (i) If the Agent notifies a Lender or other recipient that the Agent has determined in its sole discretion that any funds received by such recipient from the Agent or any of its Affiliates were erroneously transmitted to, or otherwise erroneously or mistakenly received by, such recipient (whether or not known to such recipient) (any such funds whether as a payment, prepayment or repayment of principal, interest, fees or other amounts, a distribution or otherwise, individually and collectively, a "Payment" and any such recipient, an "Unintended

Recipient") and demands the return of such Payment (or a portion thereof), such Unintended Recipient shall promptly, but in no event later than two Business Days thereafter, return to the Agent the amount of any such Payment (or portion thereof) as to which such a demand was made, in immediately available funds, together with interest thereon in respect of each day from and including the date such Payment (or portion thereof) was received by such Unintended Recipient to the date such amount is repaid to the Agent in immediately available funds at the greater of the Federal Funds Rate and a rate determined by the Agent in accordance with banking industry rules on interbank compensation from time to time in effect.

- (ii) To the extent permitted by applicable law, each party hereto shall not assert any right or claim to the Payment, and hereby waives, any claim, counterclaim, defense or right of set-off or recoupment with respect to any demand, claim or counterclaim by the Agent for the return of any Payments received, including waiver of any defense based on "discharge for value" or any similar doctrine.
- (iii) A notice of the Agent to any Unintended Recipient under this clause (c) shall be conclusive, absent manifest error.
- (d) If an Unintended Recipient receives a Payment from the Agent (or any of its Affiliates) (i) that is in a different amount than, or on a different date from, that specified in a notice of payment or calculation statement sent by the Agent (or any of its Affiliates) with respect to such Payment (a "Payment Notice"), (ii) that was not preceded or accompanied by a Payment Notice or (iii) that such Unintended Recipient otherwise becomes aware was transmitted, or received, in error or mistake (in whole or in part) or such Payment is otherwise inconsistent with such recipient's or market expectations, in each case, an error shall be presumed to have been made with respect to such Payment absent written confirmation from the Agent to the contrary. Upon demand from the Agent, such Unintended Recipient shall promptly, but in no event later than two Business Days thereafter, return to the Agent the amount of any such Payment (or portion thereof) as to which such a demand was made.
- (e) The Company, the Borrower and each other Obligor hereby agree that the receipt by Unintended Recipient of a Payment shall not pay, prepay, repay, discharge or otherwise satisfy any obligations owed to such Unintended Recipient by the Company, the Borrower or any other Obligor.
- Section 11.6. <u>Duties of Agent; Exculpatory Provisions</u>. (a) The Agent's duties hereunder are solely ministerial and administrative in nature and the Agent shall not have any duties or obligations except those expressly set forth herein. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Agent shall not have any duty to take any discretionary action or exercise any discretionary powers, but shall be required to act or refrain from acting (and shall be fully protected in so acting or refraining from acting) upon the written direction of the Required Lenders (or such other number or percentage of the Lenders as shall be expressly provided for herein), <u>provided</u>, that, the Agent shall not be required to take any action that, in its opinion or the opinion of its counsel, may expose the Agent or any of its Affiliates to liability or that is contrary to this Agreement or applicable law.

- (b) The Agent shall not be liable for any action taken or not taken by it (i) with the consent or at the request of the Required Lenders (or such other number or percentage of the Lenders as shall be necessary, or as the Agent shall believe in good faith shall be necessary, under the circumstances as provided in Sections 12.1, 11.1 or 10.1) or (ii) in the absence of its own gross negligence, bad faith or willful misconduct. The Agent shall be deemed not to have knowledge of any Unmatured Event of Default or Event of Default or Event of Default unless and until the Company or any Lender shall have given notice to the Agent describing such Event of Default and such event or events.
- (c) Neither the Agent nor any member of the Agent's Group shall be responsible for or have any duty to ascertain or inquire into (i) any statement, warranty, representation or other information made or supplied by or on behalf of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries in or in connection with this Agreement or the Information Memorandum, (ii) the contents of any certificate, report or other document delivered hereunder or thereunder or in connection herewith or therewith or the adequacy, accuracy and/or completeness of the information contained therein, (iii) the performance or observance of any of the covenants, agreements or other terms or conditions set forth herein or therein or the occurrence of any Unmatured Event of Default or Event of Default, (iv) the validity, enforceability, effectiveness or genuineness of this Agreement or any other agreement, instrument or document or the perfection or priority of any Lien or security interest created or purported to be created hereby or (v) the satisfaction of any condition set forth in Section 9 or elsewhere herein, other than (but subject to the foregoing clause (ii)) to confirm receipt of items expressly required to be delivered to the Agent.
- (d) Nothing in this Agreement shall require the Agent or any of its Related Parties to carry out any "know your customer" or other checks in relation to any person on behalf of any Lender and each Lender confirms to the Agent that it is solely responsible for any such checks it is required to carry out and that it may not rely on any statement in relation to such checks made by the Agent or any of its Related Parties.
- Section 11.7. Reliance by Agent. The Agent shall be entitled to rely upon, and shall not incur any liability for relying upon, any notice, request, certificate, consent, statement, instrument, document or other writing (including any electronic message, Internet or intranet website posting or other distribution) believed by it to be genuine and correct and to have been signed, sent or otherwise authenticated by the proper Person or Persons. The Agent also may rely upon any statement made to it orally or by telephone and believed by it to have been made by the proper Person, and shall not incur any liability for relying thereon. In determining compliance with any condition hereunder to the making of a Committed Loan, that by its terms must be fulfilled to the satisfaction of a Lender, the Agent may presume that such condition is satisfactory to such Lender unless an officer of the Agent responsible for the transactions contemplated hereby shall have received notice to the contrary from such Lender prior to the making of such Committed Loan, and such Lender shall not have made available to the Agent such Lender's ratable portion of the applicable Committed Loan. The Agent may consult with legal counsel (who may be counsel for the Company), independent accountants and other experts selected by it, and shall not be liable for any action taken or not taken by it in accordance with the advice of any such counsel, accountants or experts.

Section 11.8. Delegation of Duties. The Agent may perform any and all of its duties and exercise its rights and powers hereunder by or through any one or more sub agents appointed by the Agent. The Agent and any such sub agent may perform any and all of its duties and exercise its rights and powers by or through their respective Related Parties. Each such sub agent and the Related Parties of the Agent and each such sub agent shall be entitled to the benefits of all provisions of this Section 11 and Section 12.5 and subject to the duties and obligations of the Agent under the Agreement (as though such sub-agents were the "Agent" hereunder) as if set forth in full herein with respect thereto. The Agent shall not be responsible for the negligence or misconduct of any sub-agent that it selects in the absence of gross negligence, bad faith or willful misconduct.

Resignation of Agent. The Agent may resign as Agent upon 30 days' notice to the Lenders and the Company. Upon receipt of any such notice of resignation, the Required Lenders shall have the right, in consultation with the Company, to appoint a successor reasonably acceptable to the Company (such consent of the Company not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed and not required if an Event of Default under Section 10.1.1 or 10.1.3 has occurred and is continuing) from among the Lenders, which shall be a commercial bank organized under the laws of the United States of America or any State thereof or the District of Columbia or under the laws of another country which is doing business in the United States of America and having a combined capital, surplus and undivided profits of at least \$1,000,000,000. If no such successor shall have been so appointed by the Required Lenders and shall have accepted such appointment within 30 days after the retiring Agent gives notice of its resignation (such 30-day period, the "Lender Appointment Period"), then the retiring Agent may on behalf of the Lenders, appoint a successor Agent meeting the qualifications set forth above. In addition and without any obligation on the part of the retiring Agent to appoint, on behalf of the Lenders, a successor Agent, the retiring Agent may at any time upon or after the end of the Lender Appointment Period notify the Company and the Lenders that no qualifying Person has accepted appointment as successor Agent and the effective date of such retiring Agent's resignation. Upon the resignation effective date established in such notice and regardless of whether a successor Agent has been appointed and accepted such appointment, the retiring Agent's resignation shall nonetheless become effective and (i) the retiring Agent shall be discharged from its duties and obligations as Agent hereunder (other than with respect to its own gross negligence, bad faith or willful misconduct concerning any actions taken or omitted to be taken by it while it was Agent under this Agreement) and (ii) all payments, communications and determinations provided to be made by, to or through the Agent shall instead be made by or to each Lender directly, until such time as the Required Lenders appoint a successor Agent as provided for above in this paragraph. Upon the acceptance of a successor's appointment as Agent hereunder, such successor shall succeed to and become vested with all of the rights, powers, privileges and duties as Agent of the retiring (or retired) Agent, and the retiring Agent shall be discharged from all of its duties and obligations as Agent hereunder (if not already discharged therefrom as provided above in this paragraph). The fees payable by the Company to a successor Agent shall be the same as those payable to its predecessor unless otherwise agreed between the Company and such successor. After any retiring Agent's resignation hereunder as Agent, the provisions of this Section 11 shall inure to its benefit as to any actions taken or omitted to be taken by it while it was Agent under this Agreement.

- Section 11.10. Non-Reliance on Agent and Other Lenders. (a) Each Lender confirms to the Agent, each other Lender and each of their respective Related Parties that it (i) possesses (individually or through its Related Parties) such knowledge and experience in financial and business matters that it is capable, without reliance on the Agent, any other Lender or any of their respective Related Parties, of evaluating the merits and risks (including tax, legal, regulatory, credit, accounting and other financial matters) of (x) entering into this Agreement, (y) making Committed Loans and other extensions of credit hereunder and (z) in taking or not taking actions hereunder and thereunder, (ii) is financially able to bear such risks and (iii) has determined that entering into this Agreement and making Committed Loans and other extensions of credit hereunder is suitable and appropriate for it.
- (b) Each Lender acknowledges that (i) it is solely responsible for making its own independent appraisal and investigation of all risks arising under or in connection with this Agreement, (ii) that it has, independently and without reliance upon the Agent, any other Lender or any of their respective Related Parties, made its own appraisal and investigation of all risks associated with, and its own credit analysis and decision to enter into, this Agreement based on such documents and information, as it has deemed appropriate and (iii) it will, independently and without reliance upon the Agent, any other Lender or any of their respective Related Parties, continue to be solely responsible for making its own appraisal and investigation of all risks arising under or in connection with, and its own credit analysis and decision to take or not take action under, this Agreement based on such documents and information as it shall from time to time deem appropriate, which may include, in each case:
 - (i) the financial condition, status and capitalization of the Company;
 - (ii) the legality, validity, effectiveness, adequacy or enforceability of this Agreement and any other agreement, arrangement or document entered into, made or executed in anticipation of, under or in connection with this Agreement;
 - (iii) determining compliance or non-compliance with any condition hereunder to the making of a Committed Loan and the form and substance of all evidence delivered in connection with establishing the satisfaction of each such condition; and
 - (iv) the adequacy, accuracy and/or completeness of the Information Memorandum and any other information delivered by the Agent, any other Lender or by any of their respective Related Parties under or in connection with this Agreement, the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby or any other agreement, arrangement or document entered into, made or executed in anticipation of, under or in connection with this Agreement.

Section 11.11. The Register; the Committed Notes.

(a) The Agent, acting as a non-fiduciary agent on behalf of the Borrower, shall maintain at the Payment Office a register for the inscription of the names and addresses of Lenders and the Commitments and Committed Loans of, and principal amounts and interest owing to, each Lender from time to time (the "Register"). The entries in the Register shall be conclusive absent manifest error, and the Borrower, the Lenders, and the Agent may treat each

Person whose name is inscribed in the Register as a Lender hereunder for all purposes of this Agreement. The Register shall be available for inspection by the Company, the Borrower, the Agent, or any Lender at any reasonable time and from time to time upon reasonable prior notice. No assignment shall be effective for purposes of this Agreement unless it has been recorded in the Register as provided in this paragraph.

- (b) The Agent shall inscribe in the Register the Commitments and the Committed Loans from time to time of each Lender, the amount of each Lender's participation in outstanding Committed Loans and each repayment or prepayment in respect of the principal amount of the Committed Loans of each Lender, the principal and other amounts owing from time to time by the Borrower in respect of each Committed Loan to each Lender of such Committed Loans and the dates on which the Loan Period for each such Committed Loan shall begin and end. Any such inscription shall be conclusive and binding on the Borrower and each Lender, absent manifest or demonstrable error; provided, that, failure to make any such inscription, or any error in such inscription, shall not affect any of the Borrower's obligations in respect of the applicable Committed Loans; and provided further, that, in such case, the Borrower and the Agent shall be entitled to continue to deal solely and directly with the Lender inscribed in the Register with respect to such Committed Loans.
- (c) Each Lender shall record on its internal records the amount of each Committed Loan made by it and each payment in respect thereof; <u>provided</u>, that, in the event of any inconsistency between the Register and any Lender's records, the inscriptions in the Register shall govern, absent manifest or demonstrable error.
- (d) If so requested by any Lender by written notice to the Company (with a copy to Agent) at least two Business Days prior to the Closing Date or at any time thereafter, the Borrower shall execute and deliver to such Lender (and/or, if so specified in such notice, any Person who is an assignee of such Lender pursuant to Section 12.4.1 hereof) promptly after receipt of such notice, a Committed Note substantially in the form of Exhibit B hereto.
- Section 11.12. <u>No Other Duties, etc.</u> Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, no Person acting as "Joint Bookrunner", "Joint Lead Arranger", "Documentation Agent" or "Syndication Agent" listed on the cover page hereof shall have any powers, duties or responsibilities under this Agreement, except in its capacity, as applicable, as the Administrative Agent or as a Lender hereunder.

Section 11.13. Certain ERISA Matters.

- (a) Each Lender (x) represents and warrants, as of the date such Person became a Lender party hereto, to, and (y) covenants, from the date such Person became a Lender party hereto to the date such Person ceases being a Lender party hereto, for the benefit of, the Administrative Agent and not, for the avoidance of doubt, to or for the benefit of the Borrower, that at least one of the following is and will be true:
 - (i) such Lender is not using "plan assets" (within the meaning of Section 3(42) of ERISA or otherwise) of one or more Benefit Plans with respect to such Lender's

entrance into, participation in, administration of and performance of the Committed Loans, the Commitments or this Agreement,

- (ii) the transaction exemption set forth in one or more PTEs, such as PTE 84-14 (a class exemption for certain transactions determined by independent qualified professional asset managers), PTE 95-60 (a class exemption for certain transactions involving insurance company general accounts), PTE 90-1 (a class exemption for certain transactions involving insurance company pooled separate accounts), PTE 91-38 (a class exemption for certain transactions involving bank collective investment funds) or PTE 96-23 (a class exemption for certain transactions determined by in-house asset managers), is applicable with respect to such Lender's entrance into, participation in, administration of and performance of the Committed Loans, the Commitments and this Agreement,
- (iii) (A) such Lender is an investment fund managed by a "Qualified Professional Asset Manager" (within the meaning of Part VI of PTE 84-14), (B) such Qualified Professional Asset Manager made the investment decision on behalf of such Lender to enter into, participate in, administer and perform the Committed Loans, the Commitments and this Agreement, (C) the entrance into, participation in, administration of and performance of the Committed Loans, the Commitments and this Agreement satisfies the requirements of sub-sections (b) through (g) of Part I of PTE 84-14 and (D) to the best knowledge of such Lender, the requirements of subsection (a) of Part I of PTE 84-14 are satisfied with respect to such Lender's entrance into, participation in, administration of and performance of the Committed Loans, the Commitments and this Agreement, or
- (iv) such other representation, warranty and covenant as may be agreed in writing between the Administrative Agent, in its sole discretion, and such Lender.
- (b) In addition, unless either (1) sub-clause (i) in the immediately preceding clause (a) is true with respect to a Lender or (2) a Lender has provided another representation, warranty and covenant in accordance with sub-clause (iv) in the immediately preceding clause (a), such Lender further (x) represents and warrants, as of the date such Person became a Lender party hereto, to, and (y) covenants, from the date such Person became a Lender party hereto to the date such Person ceases being a Lender party hereto, for the benefit of, the Administrative Agent and not, for the avoidance of doubt, to or for the benefit of the Borrower, that the Administrative Agent is not a fiduciary with respect to the assets of such Lender involved in such Lender's entrance into, participation in, administration of and performance of the Committed Loans, the Commitments and this Agreement (including in connection with the reservation or exercise of any rights by the Administrative Agent under this Agreement, any Loan Document or any documents related hereto or thereto).

SECTION 12. GENERAL

Section 12.1. <u>Waiver; Amendments</u>. No delay on the part of the Agent, any Lender, or the holder of any Committed Loan in the exercise of any right, power or remedy shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise by any of them of any right,

power or remedy preclude other or further exercise thereof, or the exercise of any other right, power or remedy. Except as provided in Section 6.2(b), no amendment, modification or waiver of, or consent with respect to, any provision of this Agreement or the Committed Notes shall in any event be effective unless the same shall be in writing and signed and delivered by the Obligors (or, in the case of the Committed Notes, the Borrower), the Agent and by the Non-Defaulting Lenders having an aggregate Percentage of not less than the aggregate Percentage expressly designated herein with respect thereto or, in the absence of such designation as to any provision of this Agreement or the Committed Notes, by the Required Lenders, and then any amendment, modification, waiver or consent shall be effective only in the specific instance and for the specific purpose for which given. No amendment, modification, waiver or consent (i) shall change the definition of "Required Lenders" or "Percentage" in Section 1, amend, waive, change or otherwise modify the terms of Section 3.6, Section 5.2(a), Section 10.1.1, or this Section 12.1, release all or substantially all of the Guarantors (except the release of any Guarantor pursuant to a transaction otherwise permitted hereunder), or otherwise change the aggregate Percentage required to effect an amendment, modification, waiver or consent without the written consent of the Obligors and all Non-Defaulting Lenders, (ii) shall modify or waive any of the conditions precedent specified in Section 9.1 for the making of any Committed Loan without the written consent of the Obligors and the Lender which is to make such Committed Loan or (iii) shall (other than in accordance with Section 12.9(a)) extend the scheduled maturity, increase the amount of, or reduce the principal amount of, or rate of interest on, reduce or waive any fee hereunder or extend the due date for or waive any amount payable under, any Commitment or Committed Loan without the written consent of the Obligors and the applicable Lender holding the Commitment or Committed Loan adversely affected thereby. No provisions of Section 12 or any provision herein affecting the rights and duties of the Agent in its capacity as such shall be amended, modified or waived without the Agent's written consent.

Section 12.2. Notices.

- (a) Subject to paragraphs (b) through (f) of this Section 12.2, all notices, requests and demands to or upon the respective parties hereto to be effective shall be either (x) in writing (including by telecopy, encrypted or unencrypted) or (y) as and to the extent set forth in Section 12.2(b) and in the proviso to this Section 12.2(a) and, unless otherwise expressly provided herein, shall be deemed to have been duly given or made when delivered or, in the case of telecopy or e-mail notice, when received, addressed to the Borrower, the Agent or such Lender (or other holder) at its address shown across from its name on Schedule III hereto or at such other address as it may, by written notice received by the other parties to this Agreement, have designated as its address for such purpose; provided, that any notice, request or demand to or upon the Agent or the Lenders pursuant to Section 2.2(a) or 4.2 shall not be effective until received.
- (b) Each Obligor hereby agrees that, unless otherwise requested by the Agent, it will provide to the Agent all information, documents and other materials that it is obligated to furnish to the Agent pursuant to this Agreement, including all notices, requests, financial statements, financial and other reports, certificates and other information materials, but excluding any such communication that (i) relates to a request for a new, or a conversion of an existing, borrowing or other extension of credit (including any election of an interest rate or interest period relating thereto), (ii) relates to the payment of any principal or other amount due under

this Agreement prior to the scheduled date therefor, (iii) provides notice of any Unmatured Event of Default or Event of Default under this Agreement, (iv) is required to be delivered to satisfy any condition precedent to the effectiveness of this Agreement and/or any borrowing or other extension of credit hereunder or (v) initiates or responds to legal process (all such non-excluded information being referred to herein collectively as the "Communications") by transmitting the Communications in an electronic/soft medium (with such Communications to contain any required signatures) in a format acceptable to the Agent to global.loans.support@citi.com (or such other e-mail address designated by the Agent from time to time); provided, that, if requested in writing by any Lender, the Company will provide to such Lender a hard copy of its financial statements required to be provided hereunder.

- (c) Each party hereto agrees that the Agent may make the Communications available to the Lenders by posting the Communications on DebtDomain or another relevant website, if any, to which each Lender and the Agent have access (whether a commercial, third-party website or whether sponsored by the Agent) (the "<u>Platform</u>"). Nothing in this Section 12.2 shall prejudice the right of the Agent to make the Communications available to the Lenders in any other manner specified in this Agreement.
- (d) The Company hereby acknowledges that certain of the Lenders may be "public-side" Lenders (i.e., Lenders that do not wish to receive material non-public information with respect to the Company or its securities) (each, a "Public Lender"). The Company hereby agrees that (i) Communications that are to be made available on the Platform to Public Lenders shall be clearly and conspicuously marked "PUBLIC" which, at a minimum, shall mean that the word "PUBLIC" shall appear prominently on the first page thereof, (ii) by marking Communications "PUBLIC," the Company shall be deemed to have authorized the Agent and the Lenders to treat such Communications as either publicly available information or not material information (although it may be sensitive and proprietary) with respect to the Company or its securities for purposes of United States Federal and state securities laws, (iii) all Communications marked "PUBLIC" are permitted to be made available through a portion of the Platform designated "Public Lender," and (iv) the Agent shall be entitled to treat any Communications that are not marked "PUBLIC" as being suitable only for posting on a portion of the Platform not designated "Public Lender."
- (e) Each Lender agrees that e-mail notice to it (at the address provided pursuant to the next sentence and deemed delivered as provided in the next paragraph) specifying that Communications have been posted to the Platform shall constitute effective delivery of such Communications to such Lender for purposes of this Agreement. Each Lender agrees (i) to notify the Agent in writing (including by electronic communication) from time to time to ensure that the Agent has on record an effective e-mail address for such Lender to which the foregoing notice may be sent by electronic transmission and (ii) that the foregoing notice may be sent to such e-mail address.
- (f) Each party hereto acknowledges that (i) the distribution of material through an electronic medium is not necessarily secure and that there are confidentiality and other risks associated with such distribution, (ii) the Platform is provided "as is" and "as available," (iii) none of the Agent, its affiliates nor any of their respective officers, directors, employees, agents, advisors or representatives (collectively, the "Agent Parties") warrants the

adequacy, accuracy or completeness of the Communications or the Platform, and each Agent Party expressly disclaims liability for errors or omissions in any Communications or the Platform, and (iv) no warranty of any kind, express, implied or statutory, including any warranty of merchantability, fitness for a particular purpose, non-infringement of third party rights or freedom from viruses or other code defects, is made by any Agent Party in connection with any Communications or the Platform.

Section 12.3. Computations.

- Subject to Section 12.3(b), where the character or amount of any asset or liability or item of income or (a) expense is required to be determined, or any consolidation or other accounting computation is required to be made, for the purpose of this Agreement, such determination or calculation shall, at any time and to the extent applicable and except as otherwise specified in this Agreement, be made in accordance with GAAP. If (i) at any time any material change in GAAP or (ii) on the Effective Date any "End of Lease Assets" are reclassified as goodwill on such date, and in each case the application thereof or such reclassification would affect the computation or interpretation of any financial ratio, requirement or other provision set forth in this Agreement, and either the Company or the Agent shall so request, the Agent and the Company shall negotiate in good faith to amend such ratio, requirement or other provision to preserve the original intent thereof in light of such change in GAAP or the application thereof or such reclassification (it being understood, however, that such ratio, requirement or other provision shall remain in full force and effect in accordance with their existing terms pending the execution by the Company and the Required Lenders of any such amendment); provided that, until so amended, (A) such ratio, requirement or other provision shall continue to be computed or interpreted in accordance with GAAP or the application thereof prior to such change therein or such reclassification and (B) in the case of any relevant calculation, the Company shall provide to the Agent and the Lenders a written unaudited reconciliation in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Agent, between calculations of such ratio, requirement or other provision made before and after giving effect to such change in GAAP or the application thereof or such reclassification.
- (b) Notwithstanding the foregoing or any other provision of this Agreement, the adoption or issuance of any accounting standards after December 31, 2015 will not cause any rental obligation that was not or would not have been Capitalized Rentals prior to such adoption or issuance to be deemed Capitalized Rentals.
- (c) In the event that (i) any accounting standard that is adopted or issued after December 31, 2015 would, but for the provisions of Section 12.3(b), cause any rental obligation that was not or would not have been Capitalized Rentals prior to such adoption or issuance to be deemed Capitalized Rentals and (ii) the effect of Section 12.3(b) shall materially impact the calculation of the financial covenants in this Agreement, then the Company thereafter shall provide, at the time of delivery of financial statements pursuant to Sections 8.1.1 and 8.1.2, to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders financial statements and other documents required or as reasonably requested under this Agreement to, as applicable, provide an unaudited estimated reconciliation of such financial covenant at the close of each quarterly period with respect to the treatment of Capitalized Leases and Capitalized Rentals, calculated using GAAP as in effect before such adoption or issuance.

- Section 12.4. <u>Assignments; Participations</u>. Each Lender may assign, or sell participations in, its Committed Loans and its Commitment to one or more other Persons in accordance with this Section 12.4 (and, subject to compliance by the applicable Lender with Section 12.6, the Company consents to the disclosure of any information obtained by any Lender in connection herewith to any actual or prospective Assignee or Participant).
 - Assignments. Any Lender may with the written consents of the Company and the Agent (which consents 12.4.1 will not be unreasonably withheld or delayed) at any time assign and delegate to one or more Eligible Assignees (any Person to whom an assignment and delegation is made being herein called an "Assignee") all or any fraction of such Lender's Committed Loans and Commitment; each such assignment of a Lender's Commitment shall be in the minimum amount of \$10,000,000 or in integral multiples of \$1,000,000 in excess thereof (or such lower minimum amount or lower integral multiple as the Company and the Agent may consent to); provided that, in the case of an assignment of the entire remaining amount of the assigning Lender's Commitment and the Committed Loans at the time owing to it, no minimum amount need be assigned; provided, further, that (a) no such consent from the Company shall be required if, at such time, an Event of Default under Section 10.1.1 or 10.1.3 has occurred and is continuing and (b) no such consent from the Company or the Agent shall be required for any assignment and delegation (i) from or to Goldman Sachs Bank USA to or from Goldman Sachs Lending Partners LLC or (ii) from or to Morgan Stanley Senior Funding, Inc. to or from Morgan Stanley Bank, N.A.; provided, further, that, any such Assignee will comply, if applicable, with the provisions contained in Section 5.4; provided, further, the Company may withhold consent to the assignment of any Lender's Committed Loans and Commitment to an Assignee for whom it is illegal to make a LIBOR Rate Loan described in Section 12.9(b)(iii) or that the Borrower would be required to compensate for any withholding or deductions described in clauses (i) or (ii) of Section 12.9(b) that are in excess of any such withholding or deductions the Borrower would be required to compensate to such assigning Lender, and any such withholding of consent by the Company is and hereby will be deemed to be reasonable; and provided, further, that the Borrower and the Agent shall be entitled to continue to deal solely and directly with such assigning Lender in connection with the interests so assigned and delegated to an Assignee until such assigning Lender and/or such Assignee shall have consummated such assignment:
 - (i) given written notice of such assignment and delegation, together with payment instructions, addresses and related information with respect to such Assignee, substantially in the form of Exhibit D, to the Company and the Agent;
 - (ii) provided evidence satisfactory to the Company and the Agent that, as of the date of such assignment and delegation the Obligors will not be required to pay any costs, fees, taxes or other amounts of any kind or nature (including under Section 12.5) with respect to the interest assigned in excess of those payable by the Obligors with respect to such interest prior to such assignment;

- (iii) paid to the Agent for the account of the Agent a processing fee of \$3,500; <u>provided</u> that the Administrative Agent may, in its sole discretion, elect to waive such processing and recordation fee in the case of any assignment; and
- (iv) provided to the Agent evidence reasonably satisfactory to the Agent that the assigning Lender has complied with the provisions of Section 11.10.

Upon receipt of the foregoing items and the consents of the Company and the Agent, and subject to the acceptance and recordation of the assignment by the Agent pursuant to Section 11.11, (x) the Assignee shall be deemed automatically to have become a party hereto and, to the extent that rights and obligations hereunder have been assigned and delegated to such Assignee, such Assignee shall have the rights and obligations of a Lender hereunder and under the other instruments and documents executed in connection herewith and (y) the assigning Lender, to the extent that rights and obligations hereunder have been assigned and delegated by it, shall be released from its obligations hereunder, except as specified in the last sentence of Section 12.6. The Agent may from time to time (and upon the request of the Company or any Lender after any change therein shall) distribute a revised Schedule I indicating any changes in the Lenders party hereto or the respective Percentages of such Lenders and update the Register. Within five Business Days after the Company's receipt of notice from the Agent of the effectiveness of any such assignment and delegation, if requested by the Assignee in accordance with Section 11.11, the Borrower shall execute and deliver to the Agent (for delivery to the relevant Assignee) new Committed Notes in favor of such Assignee and, if the assigning Lender has retained Committed Loans and a Commitment hereunder and if so requested by such Lender in accordance with Section 11.11, replacement Committed Notes in favor of the assigning Lender (such Committed Notes to be in exchange for, but not in payment of, the Committed Notes previously held by such assigning Lender). Each such Committed Note shall be dated the date of the predecessor Committed Notes. The assigning Lender shall promptly mark the predecessor Committed Notes, if any, "exchanged" and deliver them to the Borrower. Any attempted assignment and delegation not made in accordance with this Section 12.4.1 shall be null and void.

The foregoing consent requirement shall not be applicable in the case of, and this Section 12.4.1 shall not restrict, any assignment or other transfer by any Lender of all or any portion of such Lender's Committed Loans or Commitment to any Federal Reserve Bank or the European Central Bank (<u>provided</u>, that, such Federal Reserve Bank or European Central Bank shall not be considered a "Lender" for purposes of this Agreement).

Notwithstanding any other provision set forth in this Agreement, any Lender may at any time create a security interest in all or any portion of its rights under this Agreement to secure obligations of such Lender to a Federal Reserve Bank in accordance with Regulation A of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System or other similar central bank; <u>provided</u>, that, no such pledge or assignment of a security interest shall release a Lender from any of its obligations hereunder or substitute any such pledgee or assignee for such Lender party hereto.

The Company, each Lender, and each Assignee acknowledge and agree that after receipt by the Agent of the items and consents required by this Section 12.4.1 each Assignee shall be considered a Lender for all purposes of this Agreement (including Sections 5.4, 6.1, 6.4.

12.5 and 12.6)	and by its	acceptance	of an ass	signment	herein,	each.	Assignee	agrees to	be bo	ound by	the pro	visions	of this	Agreement
(including Sect	ion 5.4).													

- 12.4.2 <u>Participations</u>. Any Lender may at any time without the consent of the Company or the Agent sell to one or more Eligible Assignees or any Affiliate thereof which is not a Disqualified Lender and is engaged in making, purchasing or otherwise investing in commercial loans in the ordinary course of its business (any such Eligible Assignee or Affiliate being herein called a "<u>Participant</u>") participating interests in any of its Committed Loans, its Commitment or any other interest of such Lender hereunder; provided, however, that
- (a) no participation contemplated in this Section 12.4.2 shall relieve such Lender from its Commitment or its other obligations hereunder;
- (b) such Lender shall remain solely responsible for the performance of its Commitment and such other obligations hereunder and such Lender shall retain the sole right and responsibility to enforce the obligations of the Obligors hereunder, including the right to approve any amendment, modification or waiver of any provision of this Agreement (subject to Section 12.4.2(d) below);
- (c) the Borrower and the Agent shall continue to deal solely and directly with such Lender in connection with such Lender's rights and obligations under this Agreement;
- (d) no Participant, unless such Participant is an Affiliate of such Lender, or is itself a Lender, shall be entitled to require such Lender to take or refrain from taking any action hereunder, except that such Lender may agree with any Participant that such Lender will not, without such Participant's consent, take any actions of the type described in the third sentence of Section 12.1;
- (e) no Obligor shall be required to pay any amount under Sections 3.1, 5.4 or 6.1 that is greater than the amount which such Obligor would have been required to pay had no participating interest been sold;
- (f) no Participant may further participate any interest in any Committed Loan (and each participation agreement shall contain a restriction to such effect);
- (g) to the extent permitted by applicable law, each Participant shall be considered a Lender for purposes of Section 5.4, Section 6.1, Section 6.4, Section 12.5 and Section 12.6 and by its acceptance of a participating interest in any Committed Loan, Commitment or any other interest of a Lender hereunder, each Participant agrees that it is bound by, and agrees to deliver all documentation required under, the provisions of Section 5.2(b) and Section 5.4 as if such Participant were a Lender (it being understood that the documentation required under Section 5.4 shall be delivered to the participating Lender);
- (h) such Lender shall have provided to the Agent evidence reasonably satisfactory to the Agent that such Lender has complied with the provisions of the last sentence of Section 11.6; and

(i) each Lender that sells a participation shall, acting solely for this purpose as a non-fiduciary agent of the Borrower, maintain a register on which it enters the name and address of each Participant and the principal amounts (and stated interest) of each Participant's interest in the Committed Loans or other obligations under the Loan Documents (the "Participant Register"); provided that no Lender shall have any obligation to disclose all or any portion of the Participant Register (including the identity of any Participant or any information relating to a Participant's interest in any commitments, loans or other obligations under any Loan Document) to any Person except to the extent that such disclosure is necessary to establish that such commitment, loan or other obligation is in registered form under Section 5f.103-1(c) of the United States Treasury Regulations. The entries in the Participant Register shall be conclusive absent manifest error, and such Lender shall treat each Person whose name is recorded in the Participant Register as the owner of such participation for all purposes of this Agreement notwithstanding any notice to the contrary. For the avoidance of doubt, the Agent (in its capacity as Agent) shall have no responsibility for maintaining a Participant Register.

Any Lender (a "Granting Lender") may grant to a special purpose funding vehicle organized under the laws of the United States of America or any State thereof (a "SPV") of such Granting Lender, identified as such in writing from time to time by the Granting Lender to the Agent, the Company and the Borrower, the option to provide to the Borrower all or any part of its Committed Loans that such Granting Lender would otherwise be obligated to make to the Borrower pursuant to this Agreement; provided, that, (i) such SPV shall be deemed to be a Participant for purposes of this Section 12.4.2, (ii) nothing herein shall constitute a commitment by any SPV to make any Committed Loan, (iii) if a SPV elects not to exercise such option or otherwise fails to provide all or any part of such Committed Loan, the Granting Lender shall be obligated to make such Committed Loan pursuant to the terms hereof and (iv) the Company shall not be required to pay any amount under Sections 12.5 or 12.7 that is greater than the amount which the Company would have been required to pay had such SPV not provided the Borrower with any part of any Committed Loan of such Granting Lender. The making of a Committed Loan by a SPV hereunder shall utilize the Commitment of the Granting Lender to the same extent, and as if, such Committed Loan were made by such Granting Lender. Each party hereto hereby agrees that no SPV shall be liable for any indemnity or similar payment obligation under this Agreement (any indemnity, liability or other payment obligation, including but not limited to any tax liabilities that occur by reason of such funding by the SPV, shall remain the obligation of the Granting Lender). In furtherance of the foregoing, each party hereto agrees (which agreement shall survive the termination of this Agreement) that, prior to the date that is one year and one day after the payment in full of all outstanding commercial paper or other senior indebtedness of any SPV, it will not institute against, or join any other Person in instituting against, such SPV any bankruptcy, reorganization, arrangement, insolvency or liquidation proceedings under the laws of the United States or any State thereof. In addition, notwithstanding anything contrary contained in this Section 12.4.2, any SPV may (i) with notice to, but without the prior written consent of, the Company and the Agent and without paying any processing fee therefor, assign all or a portion of its interests in any Committed Loans to the Granting Lender providing liquidity and/or credit support to or for the account of such SPV to support the funding or maintenance of Committed Loans and (ii) disclose on a confidential basis any non-public information relating to its Committed Loans to any rating agency, commercial paper dealer or provider of any surety, guarantee or credit or liquidity enhancement to such SPV. This paragraph may not be amended without the written consent of any SPV at the time holding

all or any part of any Committed Loans under this Agreement (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed).

Costs, Expenses and Taxes. The Company agrees to pay within 30 days of written demand (a) all Section 12.5. reasonable and documented out-of-pocket costs and expenses of the Agent (limited, in the case of counsel, to the reasonable and documented fees and out-of-pocket expenses of a single outside counsel for the Agent (and, if reasonably required, of a single local counsel for the Agent in each appropriate jurisdiction)), in connection with the preparation, execution, delivery and administration of, and any amendment to, this Agreement, the Committed Notes and all other instruments or documents provided for herein or delivered or to be delivered hereunder or in connection herewith and (b) all reasonable and documented out-of-pocket costs and expenses (limited, in the case of counsel, to the reasonable and documented fees and out-of-pocket expenses of a single outside counsel for the Agent and the Lenders (and, if reasonably required, of a single local counsel for the Agent and the Lenders in each appropriate jurisdiction)) and, in the case of an actual or perceived conflict of interest, a single additional firm of outside counsel (or, if reasonably required, a single additional local counsel in each appropriate jurisdiction), incurred by the Agent and each Lender in connection with the enforcement of this Agreement, the Committed Notes or any such other instruments or documents. Each Lender agrees to reimburse the Agent for such Lender's pro rata share (based upon its respective Percentage determined at the time such reimbursement is sought) of any such costs or expenses incurred by the Agent on behalf of all the Lenders and not paid by the Obligors other than any fees and out-of-pocket expenses of counsel for the Agent which exceed the amount which the Company or the Borrower has agreed with the Agent to reimburse. In addition, without duplication of the provisions of Section 5.4, each Obligor agrees to pay, and to hold the Agent and the Lenders harmless from all liability for, any stamp, court or documentary, intangible, recording, filing or similar Taxes which may be payable in connection with the execution, delivery and enforcement of this Agreement, the borrowings hereunder, the issuance of the Committed Notes (if any) or the execution, delivery and enforcement of any other instruments or documents provided for herein or delivered or to be delivered hereunder or in connection herewith, except, in each case, any such Taxes that are Other Connection Taxes imposed with respect to an assignment or participation other than an assignment made pursuant to Section 12.9(c). All obligations provided for in this Section 12.5 shall survive repayment of the Committed Loans, cancellation of the Committed Notes or any termination of this Agreement.

Section 12.6. <u>Confidentiality</u>. Each of the Agent and the Lenders agrees to maintain the confidentiality of the Information (as defined below), except that Information may be disclosed (a) to its Affiliates and to its and its Affiliates' respective managers, administrators, trustees, partners, directors, officers, employees, agents, advisors and other representatives (it being understood that (i) no disclosure of Information shall be made by the Agent or any Lender to an Affiliate and such Affiliate's respective managers, administrators, trustees, partners, directors, officers, employees, agents, advisors and other representatives if such Affiliate is a Disqualified Lender and (ii) the Persons to whom such disclosure is made will be informed of the confidential nature of such Information and instructed to keep such Information confidential), (b) to the extent requested by any regulatory authority purporting to have jurisdiction over it (including any self-regulatory authority, such as the National Association of Insurance Commissioners), (c) to the extent required by applicable laws or regulations or by any subpoena

or similar legal process, (d) to any other party hereto, (e) in connection with the exercise of any remedies hereunder or under any Committed Note or any action or proceeding relating to this Agreement or any Committed Note or the enforcement of rights hereunder or thereunder, (f) subject to a confidentiality agreement with or other contractual, legal, or fiduciary obligation of confidentiality to the Company containing provisions substantially the same as those of this Section 12.6, to (i) any assignee of or participant in, or any prospective assignee of or participant in, any of its rights or obligations under this Agreement or (ii) any actual or prospective party (or its managers, administrators, trustees, partners, directors, officers, employees, agents, advisors and other representatives) to any swap or derivative or similar transaction under which payments are to be made by reference to the Company and its obligations, this Agreement or payments hereunder, (iii) any rating agency, or (iv) the CUSIP Service Bureau or any similar organization, (g) with the prior written consent of the Company or (h) to the extent such Information (x) becomes publicly available other than as a result of a breach of this Section 12.6 or (y) becomes available to the Agent, any Lender or any of their respective Affiliates on a nonconfidential basis from a source other than the Company. With respect to any disclosure under Section 12.6(c), each of the Agent and the Lenders, as applicable, shall use commercially reasonable efforts to promptly notify the Company, to the extent legally permissible and practicable under the circumstances, so as to permit the Company to obtain a protective order as to such disclosure, and each of the Agent and the Lenders will reasonably cooperate (to the extent practicable and permitted by their respective then existing policies) with the Company for such purpose.

For purposes of this Section, "<u>Information</u>" means all information received from the Company or any of its Subsidiaries relating to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any of their respective businesses, other than any such information that is available to the Agent or any Lender on a nonconfidential basis prior to disclosure by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, <u>provided</u>, that, in the case of information received from the Company or any of its Subsidiaries after the date hereof, such information is clearly identified at the time of delivery as confidential. Any Person required to maintain the confidentiality of Information as provided in this Section shall be considered to have complied with its obligation to do so if such Person has exercised the same degree of care to maintain the confidentiality of such Information as such Person would accord to its own confidential information. With respect to any Lender or Agent, the obligations of such Lender or Agent pursuant to this Section 12.6 shall terminate on the first anniversary of the earlier of the Termination Date and the date on which such Lender or Agent ceases to be a party hereto.

Section 12.7. <u>Indemnification</u>. In consideration of the execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Agent and the Lenders, but without duplication of the provisions of Section 5.4, each Obligor hereby agrees to indemnify, exonerate and hold each of the Lenders, the Agent, the Arrangers, the Affiliates of each of the Lenders, the Arrangers and the Agent, and each of the officers, directors, employees, agents and advisors of the Lenders, the Arrangers, the Agent and the Affiliates of each of the Lenders, the Arrangers and the Agent (collectively herein called the "<u>Lender Parties</u>" and individually called a "<u>Lender Party</u>") free and harmless from and against any and all actions, causes of action, suits, losses, liabilities, damages and reasonable and documented out-of-pocket expenses (limited, in the case of counsel, to the reasonable and documented fees and out-of-pocket expenses of a single outside counsel for all Lender Parties, taken together (and, if reasonably required, of a single local counsel for all Lender Parties, taken

together, in each appropriate jurisdiction), and, in the case of an actual or perceived conflict of interest, a single additional firm of outside counsel (or, if reasonably required, a single additional local counsel in each appropriate jurisdiction) for each group of similarly situated Lender Parties) (collectively herein called the "Indemnified Liabilities"), incurred by the Lender Parties or any of them as a result of, or arising out of, or relating to (i) this Agreement, the Committed Notes (if any) or the Committed Loans or (ii) the direct or indirect use of proceeds of any of the Committed Loans or any credit extended hereunder, except (x) for any such Indemnified Liabilities arising on account of such Lender Party's (or any of its Related Parties') gross negligence, bad faith or willful misconduct as determined by a court of competent jurisdiction in a final and nonappealable judgment, (y) for any such Indemnified Liabilities resulting from a material breach of the obligations of such Lender Party (or any of its Related Parties) under the Loan Documents as determined by a court of competent jurisdiction in a final and nonappealable judgment or (z) to the extent such Indemnified Liabilities result from any dispute solely among Lender Parties other than any claims against the Agent or any Arranger in its capacity or in fulfilling its role as Agent or Arranger under this Agreement and other than any claims arising out of any act or omission on the part of the Company or any Obligor, and if and to the extent that the foregoing undertaking may be unenforceable for any reason, the Obligors hereby agree to make the maximum contribution to the payment and satisfaction of each of the Indemnified Liabilities which is permissible under applicable law. Each Obligor agrees not to assert any claim against the Lender Parties on any theory of liability, for consequential, indirect, special or punitive damages arising out of or otherwise relating to this Agreement and the Committed Notes (if any) or any of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby or the actual or proposed use of the proceeds of the Committed Loans. All obligations provided for in this Section 12.7 shall survive repayment of the Committed Loans, cancellation of the Committed Notes (if any) or any termination of this Agreement. This Section 12.7 shall not apply with respect to Taxes other than Taxes that represent losses, claims, damages or similar items arising from any non-Tax claim.

Section 12.8. <u>Acknowledgement and Consent to Bail-In of Affected Financial Institutions</u>. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in any Loan Document or in any other agreement, arrangement or understanding among the parties hereto, each party hereto acknowledges that any liability of any Affected Financial Institution arising under any Loan Document, to the extent such liability is unsecured, may be subject to the Write-Down and Conversion Powers of the applicable Resolution Authority and agrees and consents to, and acknowledges and agrees to be bound by:

- (a) The application of any Write-Down and Conversion Powers by the applicable Resolution Authority to any such liabilities arising hereunder which may be payable to it by any party hereto that is an Affected Financial Institution; and
 - (b) The effects of any Bail-In Action on any such liability, including, if applicable:
 - (i) a reduction in full or in part or cancellation of any such liability;
 - (ii) a conversion of all, or a portion of, such liability into shares or other instruments of ownership in such Affected Financial Institution, its parent undertaking, or

a bridge institution that may be issued to it or otherwise conferred on it, and that such shares or other instruments of ownership will be accepted by it in lieu of any rights with respect to any such liability under this Agreement or any other Loan Document; or

- (iii) the variation of the terms of such liability in connection with the exercise of the Write-Down and Conversion Powers of the applicable Resolution Authority.
- Section 12.9. Extension of Termination Dates; Removal of Lenders; Substitution of Lenders. (a) At any time and from time to time after the Closing Date, the Borrower may, at its option, request all the Lenders then party to this Agreement to extend their scheduled Termination Dates by an additional one year period, or such shorter period as agreed upon by the Borrower and the Agent, by means of a letter substantially in the form of Exhibit E hereto (each, an "Extension Request"), addressed to the Agent (who shall promptly deliver such Extension Request to each Lender). Each Lender electing (in its sole discretion) to extend its scheduled Termination Date shall execute and deliver not later than the 10th Business Day after delivery of the Extension Request to Lenders, counterparts of such Extension Request to the Borrower and the Agent, who shall notify the Borrower, in writing, of the Lenders' decisions no later than the 15th Business Day after delivery of the Extension Request to the Lenders, whereupon (unless Lenders with an aggregate Percentage of 50% or more decline to extend their respective scheduled Termination Dates, in which event the Agent shall notify all the Lenders and the Borrower thereof and no such extension shall occur) such Lender's scheduled Termination Date shall be extended, effective only as of the date that is such Lender's then-current scheduled Termination Date, to the date that is one year, or such shorter period as agreed as provided above, after such Lender's then-current scheduled Termination Date. Any Lender that declines or fails to respond to the Borrower's request for such extension shall be deemed to have not extended its scheduled Termination Date. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the Borrower shall not effectuate any such extension of the Termination Date (i) more than two times during the term of this Agreement, (ii) more than once in any consecutive 12-month period and (iii) that would result in a scheduled Termination Date, after giving effect to such extension, that is greater than four years.
- (b) In addition to its rights to remove any Defaulting Lender under Section 4.1(b), with respect to any Lender (i) on account of which the Borrower is required to make any deductions or withholdings or pay any additional amounts, as contemplated by Section 5.4, (ii) on account of which the Borrower is required to pay any additional amounts, as contemplated by Section 6.1, (iii) for which it is illegal to make a LIBOR Rate Loan, as contemplated by Section 6.3, (iv) which has declined to (A) extend such Lender's scheduled Termination Date pursuant to subsection (a) above, or (B) consent to an amendment, modification or waiver and, in each case, Lenders with an aggregate Percentage in excess of 50% have elected to extend their respective Termination Dates or consent to such amendment, modification or waiver or (v) from which the Agent has received a written notice of objection pursuant to Section 6.2(a)(y) or clause (3) of the definition of "Benchmark Replacement Date", the Borrower may, in its discretion, upon not less than five days' prior written notice to the Agent and each Lender, remove such Lender as a party hereto. Each such notice shall specify the date of such removal (which shall be a Business Day), which shall thereupon become the scheduled Termination Date for such Lender.

- In the event that any Lender does not extend its scheduled Termination Date pursuant to subsection (a) above or is the subject of a notice of removal pursuant to subsection (b) above, then, at any time prior to the Termination Date for such Lender (a "Terminating Lender"), the Borrower may, at its option, arrange to have one or more other Eligible Assignees (which may be a Lender or Lenders, or if not a Lender, shall be reasonably acceptable to the Agent (such acceptance not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed), and each of which shall herein be called a "Successor Lender") with the approval of the Agent (such approval not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed) succeed to all or a percentage of the Terminating Lender's outstanding Committed Loans, if any, and rights under this Agreement and assume all or a like percentage (as the case may be) of such Terminating Lender's undertaking to make Committed Loans pursuant hereto and other obligations hereunder (as if (i) in the case of any Lender electing not to extend its scheduled Termination Date pursuant to subsection (a) above, such Successor Lender had extended its scheduled Termination Date pursuant to such subsection (a) and (ii) in the case of any Lender that is the subject of a notice of removal pursuant to subsection (b) above, no such notice of removal had been given by the Borrower). Such succession and assumption shall be effected by means of one or more agreements supplemental to this Agreement among the Terminating Lender, the Successor Lender, the Borrower and the Agent. On and as of the effective date of each such supplemental agreement (i) each Successor Lender party thereto shall be and become a Lender for all purposes of this Agreement and to the same extent as any other Lender hereunder and shall be bound by and entitled to the benefits of this Agreement in the same manner as any other Lender and (ii) the Borrower agrees to pay to the Agent for the account of the Agent a processing fee of \$3,500 for each such Successor Lender which is not a Lender.
- (d) On the Termination Date for any Terminating Lender, such Terminating Lender's Commitment shall terminate and the Borrower shall pay in full all of such Terminating Lender's Committed Loans (except to the extent assigned pursuant to subsection (c) above) and all other amounts payable to such Lender hereunder (including any amounts payable pursuant to Section 5.4 on account of such payment); provided, that, if an Event of Default or Unmatured Event of Default exists on the date scheduled as any Terminating Lender's Termination Date, payment of such Terminating Lender's Committed Loans shall be postponed to (and, for purposes of calculating commitment fees under Section 3.4 and determining the Required Lenders (except as provided below), but for no other purpose, such Terminating Lender's Commitment shall continue until) the first Business Day thereafter on which (i) no Event of Default or Unmatured Event of Default exists (without regard to any waiver or amendment that makes this Agreement less restrictive for the Borrower, other than as described in clause (ii) below) or (ii) the Required Lenders (which for purposes of this subsection (d) shall be determined based upon the respective Percentages and aggregate Commitments of all Lenders other than any Terminating Lender whose scheduled Termination Date has been extended pursuant to this proviso) waive or amend the provisions of this Agreement to cure all existing Events of Default or Unmatured Events of Default or agree to permit any borrowing hereunder notwithstanding the existence of any such event. In the event that Citibank or its Affiliates shall become a Terminating Lender, the provisions of Section 11.9 shall apply with respect to Citibank in its capacity as Agent.
- (e) To the extent that all or a portion of any Terminating Lender's obligations are not assumed pursuant to subsection (c) above, the Aggregate Commitment shall be reduced

on the applicable Termination Date and each Lender's percentage of the reduced Aggregate Commitment shall be revised <u>pro rata</u> to reflect such Terminating Lender's absence. The Agent shall distribute a revised Schedule I indicating such revisions promptly after the applicable Termination Date and update the Register accordingly. Such revised Schedule I shall be deemed conclusive in the absence of demonstrable error.

Section 12.10. <u>Captions</u>. Section captions used in this Agreement are for convenience only and shall not affect the construction of this Agreement.

Governing Law; Jurisdiction; Severability. THIS AGREEMENT AND EACH NOTE SHALL Section 12.11. BE A CONTRACT MADE UNDER, GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAW OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK; PROVIDED, THAT (I) THE INTERPRETATION OF THE DEFINITION OF MATERIAL ADVERSE EFFECT (AS DEFINED IN THE GECAS ACQUISITION AGREEMENT AS IN EFFECT ON MARCH 9, 2021) AND WHETHER OR NOT A MATERIAL ADVERSE EFFECT (AS DEFINED IN THE GECAS ACQUISITION AGREEMENT AS IN EFFECT ON MARCH 9, 2021) HAS OCCURRED, (II) THE DETERMINATION OF THE ACCURACY OF ANY GECAS ACQUISITION TRANSACTION REPRESENTATION AND WHETHER AS A RESULT OF ANY INACCURACY THEREOF, THE COMPANY AND/OR THE GECAS ACQUISITION SUBSIDIARIES HAVE THE RIGHT TO TERMINATE ITS OR THEIR RESPECTIVE OBLIGATION TO CONSUMMATE THE GECAS ACQUISITION UNDER THE GECAS ACQUISITION AGREEMENT AND (III) THE DETERMINATION OF WHETHER THE CONDITIONS TO THE GECAS ACQUISITION SET FORTH IN THE GECAS ACQUISITION AGREEMENT, OTHER THAN SUCH CONDITIONS THAT BY THEIR NATURE ARE TO BE SATISFIED UPON THE CLOSING OF SUCH TRANSACTION, HAVE BEEN SATISFIED OR WAIVED, IN EACH CASE, SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE INTERNAL LAWS (AS DEFINED IN THE GECAS ACQUISITION AGREEMENT AS IN EFFECT ON THE DATE HEREOF) OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE, WITHOUT GIVING EFFECT TO ANY LAW (AS DEFINED IN THE GECAS ACQUISITION AGREEMENT AS IN EFFECT ON THE DATE HEREOF) OR RULE THAT WOULD CAUSE THE LAWS (AS DEFINED IN THE GECAS ACQUISITION AGREEMENT AS IN EFFECT ON THE DATE HEREOF) OF ANY JURISDICTION OTHER THAN THE STATE OF DELAWARE TO BE APPLIED. EACH OBLIGOR IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY SUBMITS. FOR ITSELF AND ITS PROPERTY. TO THE EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION OF THE COURTS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK SITTING IN NEW YORK COUNTY AND OF THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT OF THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK, AND ANY APPELLATE COURT FROM ANY THEREOF SITTING IN NEW YORK COUNTY, IN ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY OTHER LOAN DOCUMENT, OR FOR RECOGNITION OR ENFORCEMENT OF ANY JUDGMENT, AND EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY AGREES THAT ALL CLAIMS IN RESPECT OF ANY SUCH ACTION OR PROCEEDING MAY BE HEARD AND DETERMINED IN SUCH NEW YORK STATE COURT OR, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, IN SUCH FEDERAL COURT. EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO AGREES THAT A FINAL JUDGMENT IN ANY SUCH ACTION OR PROCEEDING SHALL BE CONCLUSIVE AND MAY BE ENFORCED IN OTHER JURISDICTIONS BY SUIT ON THE JUDGMENT OR IN

ANY OTHER MANNER PROVIDED BY LAW. NOTHING IN THIS AGREEMENT OR IN ANY OTHER LOAN DOCUMENT SHALL AFFECT ANY RIGHT TO BRING ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY OTHER LOAN DOCUMENT AGAINST ANY OBLIGOR OR ITS PROPERTIES IN THE COURTS OF ANY JURISDICTION. All obligations of the Obligors and the rights of the Agent, the Lenders and any other holders of the Committed Loans expressed herein or in the Committed Notes (if any) shall be in addition to and not in limitation of those provided by applicable law. Whenever possible each provision of this Agreement shall be interpreted in such manner as to be effective and valid under applicable law, but if any provision of this Agreement shall be prohibited by or invalid under applicable law, such provision shall be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition or invalidity, without invalidating the remainder of such provision or the remaining provisions of this Agreement.

Each Obligor agrees that service of all writs, process and summonses in any such action or proceeding brought in the courts of the State of New York sitting in New York County and of the United States District Court of the Southern District of New York, and any appellate court from any thereof sitting in New York County, may be made upon AerCap, Inc., presently located in the United States located at 10250 Constellation Blvd. Suite 1500, Los Angeles, CA 90067 (the "Process Agent"), and each Obligor confirms and agrees that the Process Agent has been duly and irrevocably appointed as its agent and true and lawful attorney in fact in its name, place and stead to accept such service of any and all such writs, process and summonses, and agrees that the failure of the Process Agent to give any notice of any such service of process to any Obligor shall not impair or affect the validity of such service or of any judgment based thereon.

A party may appoint an attorney to represent it for purposes of signing this Agreement or any agreement or document it enters into in connection with this Agreement. If the power of attorney is expressed to be governed by Dutch law, each other party hereby accepts that choice of law, in accordance with Article 14 of the Hague Convention on the Law Applicable to Agency of 14 March 1978.

Section 12.12. <u>Counterparts; Effectiveness</u>. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and by the different parties on separate counterparts and each such counterpart shall be deemed to be an original, but all such counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same Agreement. Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page of this Agreement by facsimile transmission or electronic transmission will be effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart hereof. Any signature to this Agreement may be delivered by facsimile, electronic mail (including pdf) or any electronic signature complying with the U.S. federal ESIGN Act of 2000 or the New York Electronic Signature and Records Act or other transmission method and any counterpart so delivered shall be deemed to have been duly and validly delivered and be valid and effective for all purposes to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law. For the avoidance of doubt, the foregoing also applies to any amendment, extension or renewal of this Agreement. When counterparts of this Agreement executed by each party shall have been lodged with the Agent (or, in the case of any Lender as to which an executed counterpart shall not have been so lodged, the Agent shall have received facsimile, electronic mail or other written confirmation of execution of a counterpart hereof by such

Lender), this Agreement shall become effective as of the date hereof and the Agent shall so inform all of the parties hereto.

- Section 12.13. <u>Further Assurances</u>. Each Obligor agrees to do such other acts and things, and to deliver to the Agent and each Lender such additional agreements, powers and instruments, as the Agent or any Lender may reasonably require or deem advisable to carry into effect the purposes of this Agreement or to better assure and confirm unto the Agent and each Lender their respective rights, powers and remedies hereunder.
- Section 12.14. Successors and Assigns. This Agreement shall be binding upon the Obligors, the Lenders and the Agent and their respective successors and assigns, and shall inure to the benefit of the Obligors, the Lenders and the Agent and the respective successors and assigns of the Lenders and the Agent. Except as expressly provided herein, the Borrower may not assign any of its rights or delegate any of its duties under this Agreement without the prior written consent of all of the Lenders.
- Section 12.15. <u>Judgment</u>. (a) If for the purposes of obtaining judgment in any court it is necessary to convert a sum due hereunder in Dollars into another currency, the parties hereto agree, to the fullest extent that they may effectively do so, that the rate of exchange used shall be that at which in accordance with normal banking procedures the Agent could purchase Dollars with such other currency at the Agent's principal office in New York at 11:00 a.m. (New York City time) on the Business Day preceding that on which final judgment is given.
- (b) If for the purposes of obtaining judgment in any court it is necessary to convert a sum due hereunder in another currency into Dollars, the parties agree to the fullest extent that they may effectively do so, that the rate of exchange used shall be that at which in accordance with normal banking procedures the Agent could purchase such currency with Dollars at the Agent's principal office in New York at 11:00 a.m. (New York City time) on the Business Day preceding that on which final judgment is given.
- (c) The obligation of each Obligor in respect of any sum due from it in any currency (the "<u>Primary Currency</u>") to any Lender or the Agent hereunder shall, notwithstanding any judgment in any other currency, be discharged only to the extent that on the Business Day following receipt by such Lender or the Agent (as the case may be), of any sum adjudged to be so due in such other currency, such Lender or the Agent (as the case may be) may in accordance with normal banking procedures purchase the applicable Primary Currency with such other currency; if the amount of the applicable Primary Currency so purchased is less than such sum due to such Lender or the Agent (as the case may be) in the applicable Primary Currency, each Obligor agrees, as a separate obligation and notwithstanding any such judgment, to indemnify such Lender or the Agent (as the case may be) against such loss, and if the amount of the applicable Primary Currency so purchased exceeds such sum due to any Lender or the Agent (as the case may be) in the applicable Primary Currency, such Lender or the Agent (as the case may be) agrees to remit to such Obligor such excess.

Section 12.16. <u>Waiver of Jury Trial</u>. EACH OBLIGOR, THE AGENT AND EACH LENDER HEREBY WAIVE ANY RIGHT TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING TO ENFORCE OR DEFEND ANY RIGHTS UNDER THIS

AGREEMENT, ANY COMMITTED NOTE OR ANY AMENDMENT, INSTRUMENT, DOCUMENT OR AGREEMENT DELIVERED OR WHICH MAY IN THE FUTURE BE DELIVERED IN CONNECTION HEREWITH OR ARISING FROM ANY BANKING RELATIONSHIP EXISTING IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT, AND AGREE THAT ANY SUCH ACTION OR PROCEEDING SHALL BE TRIED BEFORE A COURT AND NOT BEFORE A JURY.

Section 12.17. No Fiduciary Relationship. Each Obligor acknowledges that neither the Agent nor any Lender has any fiduciary relationship with, or fiduciary duty to, such Obligor arising out of or in connection with this Agreement, the Committed Notes (if any) or the transactions contemplated hereby, and the relationship between the Agent and the Lenders, on the one hand, and such Obligor, on the other, in connection herewith or therewith is solely that of creditor and debtor. This Agreement does not create a joint venture among the parties. Each Obligor understands that each Lender and its Affiliates (collectively referred to in this Section 12.17 as a "group") is engaged in a wide range of financial services and businesses (including investment management, financing, securities trading, corporate and investment banking and research) and that members of each group generally act independently of each other, both for their own account and for the account of clients. Accordingly, there may be situations where parts of a group and/or their clients either now have or may in the future have interests, or take actions, that may conflict with the interests of the Obligors. For example, a group may, in the ordinary course of business, engage in trading in financial products or undertake other investment businesses for their own account or on behalf of other clients, including trading in or holding long, short or derivative positions in securities, loans or other financial products of the Obligors or their Affiliates or other entities connected with the credit facility provided for herein or the transactions contemplated hereby. In recognition of the foregoing, each Obligor agrees that no group is required to restrict its activities as a result of this Agreement and that each group may undertake any business activity, including acts in relation to any matter for any other Person whose interests may be adverse to an Obligor or any of its Affiliates, without further consultation with or notification to any Obligor.

Section 12.18. <u>USA Patriot Act</u>. Each Lender and the Agent (for itself in such capacity and not on behalf of any Lender) hereby notifies each Obligor that pursuant to the requirements of the USA Patriot Act (Title III of Pub. L. 107-56 (signed into law October 26, 2001)) (the "Act"), it is required to obtain, verify and record information that identifies each Obligor, which information includes the name and address of such Obligor and other information that will allow such Lender or the Agent, as applicable, to identify each Obligor in accordance with the Act. Each Obligor shall provide, to the extent commercially reasonable, such information and take such actions as are reasonably requested by the Agent or any Lenders in order to assist the Agent and the Lenders in maintaining compliance with the Act.

Section 12.19. <u>Acknowledgment Regarding Any Supported QFCs</u>. To the extent that the Loan Documents provide support, through a guarantee or otherwise, for hedging agreements or any other agreement or instrument that is a QFC (such support, "<u>QFC Credit Support</u>" and each such QFC, a "<u>Supported QFC</u>"), the parties acknowledge and agree as follows with respect to the resolution power of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation under the Federal Deposit Insurance Act and Title II of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (together with the regulations promulgated thereunder, the "<u>U.S. Special</u>

<u>Resolution Regimes</u>") in respect of such Supported QFC and QFC Credit Support (with the provisions below applicable notwithstanding that the Loan Documents and any Supported QFC may in fact be stated to be governed by the laws of the State of New York and/or of the United States or any other state of the United States):

In the event a Covered Entity that is party to a Supported QFC (each, a "Covered Party") becomes subject to a proceeding under a U.S. Special Resolution Regime, the transfer of such Supported QFC and the benefit of such QFC Credit Support (and any interest and obligation in or under such Supported QFC and such QFC Credit Support, and any rights in property securing such Supported QFC or such QFC Credit Support) from such Covered Party will be effective to the same extent as the transfer would be effective under the U.S. Special Resolution Regime if the Supported QFC and such QFC Credit Support (and any such interest, obligation and rights in property) were governed by the laws of the United States or a state of the United States. In the event a Covered Party or a BHC Act Affiliate of a Covered Party becomes subject to a proceeding under a U.S. Special Resolution Regime, Default Rights under the Loan Documents that might otherwise apply to such Supported QFC or any QFC Credit Support that may be exercised against such Covered Party are permitted to be exercised to no greater extent than such Default Rights could be exercised under the U.S. Special Resolution Regime if the Supported QFC and the Loan Documents were governed by the laws of the United States or a state of the United States. Without limitation of the foregoing, it is understood and agreed that rights and remedies of the parties with respect to a Defaulting Lender shall in no event affect the rights of any Covered Party with respect to a Supported QFC or any QFC Credit Support.

SECTION 13. GUARANTEE

Section 13.1. The Guarantee. The Guarantors hereby jointly and severally guarantee to each Lender and the Administrative Agent and their respective successors and assigns the prompt payment in full when due upon the expiration of any applicable remedial period (whether at stated maturity, by acceleration or otherwise) of the obligations, whether direct or indirect, absolute or contingent, now or hereafter from time to time owing to the Lenders or the Administrative Agent by the Borrower or any other Obligor under this Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents, in each case strictly in accordance with the terms hereof and thereof and including all monetary obligations incurred during the pendency of any bankruptcy, insolvency, examinership, receivership or other similar proceeding of the Borrower, regardless of whether allowed or allowable in such proceeding (such obligations being herein collectively called the "Guaranteed Obligations"). The Guarantors hereby further jointly and severally agree that if the Borrower shall fail to pay in full when due upon the expiration of any applicable remedial period (whether at stated maturity, by acceleration or otherwise) any of the Guaranteed Obligations, the Guarantors will promptly pay the same, without any demand or notice whatsoever, and that in the case of any extension of time of payment or renewal of any of the Guaranteed Obligations, the same will be promptly paid in full when due (whether at extended maturity, by acceleration or otherwise) in accordance with the terms of such extension or renewal.

Section 13.2. <u>Obligations Unconditional</u>. The obligations of the Guarantors under Section 13.1 are absolute and unconditional, joint and several, irrespective of the value, genuineness, validity, regularity or enforceability of the obligations of the Borrower under this

Agreement or any other agreement or instrument referred to herein, or any substitution, release or exchange of any other guarantee of or security for any of the Guaranteed Obligations, and, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, irrespective of any other circumstance whatsoever that might otherwise constitute a legal or equitable discharge or defense of a surety or guarantor, it being the intent of this Section 13 that the obligations of the Guarantors hereunder shall be primary obligations of payment and not of collection, absolute and unconditional, joint and several, under any and all circumstances (and any defenses thereto are hereby waived by the Guarantors). Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, it is agreed that the occurrence of any one or more of the following shall not alter or impair the liability of the Guarantors hereunder (and any such defense are hereby waived), which shall remain absolute and unconditional as described above:

- (i) at any time or from time to time, without notice to the Guarantors, the time for any performance of or compliance with any of the Guaranteed Obligations shall be extended, or such performance or compliance shall be waived;
- (ii) any of the acts mentioned in any of the provisions of this Agreement or any other agreement or instrument referred to herein shall be done or omitted;
- (iii) the maturity of any of the Guaranteed Obligations shall be accelerated, or any of the Guaranteed Obligations shall be modified, supplemented or amended in any respect, or any right under this Agreement or any other agreement or instrument referred to herein shall be waived or any other guarantee of any of the Guaranteed Obligations or any security therefor shall be released or exchanged in whole or in part or otherwise dealt with;
- (iv) any law or regulation of any jurisdiction or any other event affecting any term of a Guaranteed Obligation; or
- (v) any lien or security interest granted to, or in favor of, the Administrative Agent or any Lender or Lenders as security for any of the Guaranteed Obligations shall fail to be perfected.

The Guarantors hereby expressly waive diligence, presentment, demand of payment, protest and all notices whatsoever, and any requirement that the Administrative Agent or any Lender exhaust any right, power or remedy or proceed against the Borrower under this Agreement or any other agreement or instrument referred to herein, or against any other Person under any other guarantee of, or security for, any of the Guaranteed Obligations. The Guarantors expressly confirm that they shall obtain substantial direct and indirect benefit from the giving of the Guarantee pursuant to this Agreement.

Section 13.3. Reinstatement. The obligations of the Guarantors under this Section shall be automatically reinstated if and to the extent that for any reason any payment by or on behalf of the Borrower in respect of the Guaranteed Obligations is rescinded or must be otherwise restored by any holder of any of the Guaranteed Obligations, whether as a result of any proceedings in bankruptcy, liquidation, examinership or reorganization or otherwise, and the Guarantors jointly and severally agree that they will indemnify the Administrative Agent and

each Lender on demand for all reasonable costs and expenses (including fees of counsel) incurred by the Administrative Agent or such Lender in connection with such rescission or restoration, including any such costs and expenses incurred in defending against any claim alleging that such payment constituted a preference, fraudulent transfer or similar payment under any bankruptcy, liquidation, examinership, insolvency or similar law.

Section 13.4. <u>Subrogation</u>. The Guarantors hereby jointly and severally agree that until the payment and satisfaction in full of all Guaranteed Obligations and the expiration and termination of the Commitments of the Lenders under this Agreement they shall not exercise any right or remedy arising by reason of any performance by them of their guarantee in Section 13.1, whether by subrogation or otherwise, against the Borrower or any other guarantor of any of the Guaranteed Obligations or any security for any of the Guaranteed Obligations.

Section 13.5. Remedies. The Guarantors jointly and severally agree that, as between the Guarantors and the Lenders, the obligations of the Borrower under this Agreement may be declared to be forthwith due and payable as provided in Section 10 (and shall be deemed to have become automatically due and payable in the circumstances provided in Section 10) for purposes of Section 13.1 notwithstanding any stay, injunction or other prohibition preventing such declaration (or such obligations from becoming automatically due and payable) as against the Borrower and that, in the event of such declaration (or such obligations being deemed to have become automatically due and payable), such obligations (whether or not due and payable by the Borrower) shall forthwith become due and payable by the Guarantors for purposes of Section 13.1.

Section 13.6. <u>Continuing Guarantee</u>. The guarantee in this Section 13 is a continuing guarantee, and shall apply to all Guaranteed Obligations whenever arising. Each Guarantor agrees that the guarantee in this Section 13 is a guarantee of payment and not of collection.

Section 13.7. Indemnity and Rights of Contribution. The Borrower and the Guarantors hereby agree, as between themselves, that (a) if a payment of any Guaranteed Obligations shall be made by any Subsidiary Guarantor under this Agreement, the Borrower and the Company shall indemnify such Subsidiary Guarantor for the full amount of such payment and (b) if any Subsidiary Guarantor shall become an Excess Funding Guarantor (as defined below) by reason of the payment by such Subsidiary Guarantor of any Guaranteed Obligations that shall not have been fully indemnified by the Borrower or the Company, then the other Subsidiary Guarantors shall, on demand of such Excess Funding Guarantor (but subject to the next sentence), pay to such Excess Funding Guarantor an amount equal to such Subsidiary Guarantor's Pro Rata Share (as defined below and determined, for this purpose, without reference to the properties, debts and liabilities of such Excess Funding Guarantor) of the Excess Payment (as defined below) in respect of such Guaranteed Obligations. The payment obligation of the Borrower or the Company to any Subsidiary Guarantor or of a Subsidiary Guarantor to any Excess Funding Guarantor under this Section shall be subordinate and subject in right of payment to the prior payment in full of the obligations of such Obligor under the other provisions of this Agreements, including this Section 13, and such Subsidiary Guarantor or Excess Funding Guarantor, as the case may be, shall not exercise any right or remedy with respect to such excess until payment and satisfaction in full of all of such obligations.

For purposes of this Section, (i) "Excess Funding Guarantor" means, in respect of any Guaranteed Obligations, a Subsidiary Guarantor that has paid an amount in excess of its Pro Rata Share of such Guaranteed Obligations, (ii) "Excess Payment" means, in respect of any Guaranteed Obligations, the amount paid by an Excess Funding Guarantor in excess of its Pro Rata Share of such Guaranteed Obligations and (iii) "Pro Rata Share" means, for any Subsidiary Guarantor, the ratio (expressed as a percentage) of (x) the amount by which the aggregate present fair saleable value of all properties of such Subsidiary Guarantor (excluding any shares of stock or other equity interest of any other Subsidiary Guarantor) exceeds the amount of all the debts and liabilities of such Subsidiary Guarantor (including contingent, subordinated, unmatured and unliquidated liabilities, but excluding the obligations of such Subsidiary Guarantor) to (y) the amount by which the aggregate fair saleable value of all properties of all of the Subsidiary Guarantors exceeds the amount of all the debts and liabilities (including contingent, subordinated, unmatured and unliquidated liabilities, but excluding the obligations of the Subsidiary Guarantors hereunder) of all of the Subsidiary Guarantors, determined (A) with respect to any Subsidiary Guarantor that is a party hereto on the Effective Date, as of the Effective Date, and (B) with respect to any other Subsidiary Guarantor, as of the date such Subsidiary Guarantor becomes a Subsidiary Guarantor hereunder.

Section 13.8. General Limitation on Guarantee Obligations. In any action or proceeding involving any state corporate law, or any state or Federal bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or other law affecting the rights of creditors generally, if the obligations of any Guarantor under Section 13.1 would otherwise, taking into account the provisions of Section 13.7, be held or determined to be void, invalid or unenforceable, or subordinated to the claims of any other creditors, on account of the amount of its liability under Section 13.1, then, notwithstanding any other provision hereof to the contrary, the amount of such liability shall, without any further action by such Guarantor, any Lender, the Administrative Agent or any other Person, be automatically limited and reduced to the highest amount that is valid and enforceable and not subordinated to the claims of other creditors as determined in such action or proceeding.

Section 13.9. Releases.

(a) In the event of (i) a sale or other transfer or disposition of all of the Capital Stock in any Subsidiary Guarantor to any Person that is not an Affiliate of the Company in compliance with Section 8.9 or (ii) the sale or other transfer or disposition, by way of merger, consolidation or otherwise, of assets or Capital Stock of a Subsidiary Guarantor substantially as an entirety to a Person that is not an Affiliate of the Company in compliance with the terms of Section 8.9, then, without any further action on the part of the Administrative Agent or any Lender, such Subsidiary Guarantor (or the Person concurrently acquiring such assets of such Subsidiary Guarantor) shall be deemed automatically and unconditionally released and discharged of any obligations under the guarantee of such Subsidiary Guarantor of the Guaranteed Obligations, as evidenced by a written instrument or confirmation executed by the Administrative Agent, upon the request and at the expense of the Company. Upon delivery by the Company to the Administrative Agent of an officers' certificate stating that such sale or other disposition was made by the Company in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement, including Section 8.9, the Administrative Agent will execute any documents required in order to

evidence the release of any Subsidiary Guarantor from its obligations under its guarantee of the Guaranteed Obligations.

- (b) In addition, the guarantee of a Subsidiary Guaranter of the Guaranteed Obligations will be released:
- (i) if the Subsidiary Guarantor (other than ILFC or any Subsidiary that is or becomes a Subsidiary Guarantor on the Effective Date) ceases to be a guarantor under any Capital Markets Debt or unsecured Credit Facilities, including the guarantee that resulted in the obligation of such Subsidiary Guarantor to guarantee the Guaranteed Obligations, and is released or discharged from all obligations thereunder; or
- (ii) upon the expiration or termination of the Commitments and the payment in full of all obligations of the Obligors under this Agreement and under the Committed Notes (other than unasserted contingent indemnification and expense reimbursement obligations).
- (c) Any Subsidiary Guarantor not released from its obligations under its guarantee of the Guaranteed Obligations as provided in this Section 13.9 will remain liable for the full amount of the Guaranteed Obligations as provided in this Section 13.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the day and year first above written.

AERCAP IRELAND CAPITAL DESIGNATED ACTIVITY COMPANY

By: /s/ Eimear Gilmartin

Name: Eimear Gilmartin Title: Attorney-in-Fact

GUARANTORS

AERCAP HOLDINGS N.V.

By: /s/ Eimear Gilmartin

Name: Eimear Gilmartin Title: Attorney-in-Fact

AERCAP GLOBAL AVIATION TRUST

By: /s/ Eimear Gilmartin

Name: Eimear Gilmartin
Title: Attorney-in-Fact

AERCAP U.S. GLOBAL AVIATION LLC

By: /s/ Eimear Gilmartin

Name: Eimear Gilmartin Title: Attorney-in-Fact

INTERNATIONAL LEASE FINANCE CORPORATION

By: /s/ Patrick Ross

Name: Patrick Ross
Title: Vice President

GUARANTORS

AERCAP IRELAND LIMITED

SIGNED AND DELIVERED AS A DEED

By: <u>/s/ Ei</u>	mear Gilmartin
As at	torney of AERCAP IRELAND LIMITED
In the presence of:	
Signature of witness:	/s/ Loraine Hanlon
Name of witness:	Loraine Hanlon
Address of witness:	Dublin, Ireland
Occupation of witness:	Treasury Director

AGENT

CITIBANK, N.A.

By: /s/ Maureen Maroney

Name: Maureen Maroney Title: Vice President

CITIBANK, N.A.

By: /s/ Maureen Maroney

Name:Maureen Maroney Title: Vice President

GOLDMAN SACHS BANK USA

By: /s/ Robert Ehudin

Name:Robert Ehudin Title: Authorized Signatory

BNP Paribas

By: /s/ Celine Chatainier

Name:Celine Chatainier

Title:

By: /s/ [ILLEGIBLE]

Name:[ILLEGIBLE]
Title: [ILLEGIBLE]

MUFG BANK (EUROPE) N.V.

By: /s/ Chris Uphoff

Name:Chris Uphoff
Title: Managing Director

By: /s/ Mark Selles

Name:Mark Selles Title: CFO

WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A.

By: /s/ William R. Eustis

Name: William R. Eustis Title: Managing Director

TRUIST BANK

By: /s/ David Fournier

Name:David Fournier Title: Managing Director

Banco Santander S.A., Paris Branch

By:/s/ Pierre Roserot de Melin

Name: Pierre Roserot de Melin

Title: Chief Administrative Officer Banco

Santander SA Paris Branch

For any Lender requiring a second signature block

By: /s/ Caroline Pantaleao

Name:Caroline Pantaleao

Title: Head of Middle Office Banco Santander

SA

Paris Branch

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.

By: /s/ Chris Cho

Name:Chris Cho Title: Director

BARCLAYS BANK PLC

By: /s/ Craig Malloy

Name:Craig Malloy
Title: Director

Credit Agricole Corporate & Investment Bank

By: /s/ Julien Clamou

Name:Julien Clamou Title: Attorney-in-fact

By: /s/ Sebastien Maetz

Name:Sebastien Maetz Title: Attorney-in-fact

DEUTSCHE BANK AG NEW YORK BRANCH, as Lender

By: /s/ Ming K. Chu

Name:Ming K. Chu Title: Director

For any Lender requiring a second signature block:

By: /s/ Marko Lukin

Name:Marko Lukin Title: Vice President

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A.

By: /s/ Cristina Caviness

Name:Cristina Caviness
Title: Executive Director

MIZUHO BANK, LTD.

By: /s/ Donna DeMagistris

Name:Donna DeMagistris Title: Authorized Signatory

LENDERS

MORGAN STANLEY BANK, N.A., as a Lender

By: /s/ Michael King

Name:Michael King

Title: Authorized Signatory

LENDERS

MORGAN STANLEY SENIOR FUNDING, INC.

By: /s/ Michael King

Name:Michael King Title: Vice President

Royal Bank of Canada

By: /s/ Scott Umbs

Name:Scott Umbs

Title: Authorized Signatory

The Toronto-Dominion Bank, London Branch

By: /s/ Andrew Williams

Name:Andrew Williams Title: Managing Director

By: /s/ Pei-Lyn Hui

Name:Pei-Lyn Hui Title: Director

CREDIT SUISSE AG, New York Branch

By: /s/ Doreen Barr

Name:Doreen Barr

Title: Authorized Signatory

By:/s/ Andrew Griffin

Name: Andrew Griffin
Title: Authorized Signatory

HSBC Continental Europe

By: /s/ Diana Banciu

Name:Diana Banciu
Title: Associate Director,
HSBC Continental Europe

For any Lender requiring a second signature block:

By: /s/ Frederic Sammut

Name:Frederic Sammut

Title: Director

Fifth Third Bank, National Association

By: /s/ Jim Schmalz

Name:Jim Schmalz

Title: Senior Vice President

SOCIETE GENERALE, LONDON BRANCH

By: /s/ Su Ming Lim

Name:Su Ming Lim
Title: Director

Citizens Bank, N.A.

By: /s/ Raimo J. de Vries

Name:Raimo J. de Vries Title: Senior Vice President

ING Bank, a branch of ING-DiBa AG

By: /s/ Huo Kanters

Name:Huo Kanters Title: Managing Director

For any Lender requiring a second signature block:

By: /s/ Brett Clark

Name:Brett Clark
Title: Director

KEYBANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

By: /s/ Tad L. Stainbrook

Name:Tad L. Stainbrook Title: Vice President

National Westminster Bank Plc

By: /s/ Simon Jenkins

Name:Simon Jenkins Title: Senior Director

REGIONS BANK

By: /s/ William Soo

Name: William Soo Title: Director

Scotiabank (Ireland) Designated Activity Company

By: /s/ Maxime Comeau

Name:Maxime Comeau Title: Managing Director

By: /s/ Michael Weinberg

Name:Michael Weinberg Title: Associate Director

Schedule of Lenders

Fees and Margins

Address for Notices

Form of Committed Loan Request

Form of Committed Note

Form of Compliance Certificate

Form of Assignment and Assumption Agreement

Form of Request for Extension of Termination Date

Form of Guarantee Assumption Agreement

Form of Secretary's Certificate

Form of Opinion of Special New York Counsel

Form of Opinion of Special Irish Counsel

Form of Opinion of Special Dutch Counsel

Form of Opinion of Special California Counsel

Form of Opinion of Special Delaware Counsel

Form of Officer's Certificate

Form of Solvency Certificate [OMITTED]

CERTIFICATION

I, Aengus Kelly, certify that:

- 1. I have reviewed this Amendment No. 1 to the annual report on Form 20-F of AerCap Holdings N.V.;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Date: May 17, 2022

/s/ Aengus Kelly

Signature

Aengus Kelly Chief Executive Officer

CERTIFICATION

I, Peter Juhas, certify that:

- 1. I have reviewed this Amendment No. 1 to the annual report on Form 20-F of AerCap Holdings N.V.;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Date: May 17, 2022

/s/ Peter Juhas

Signature

Peter Juhas Chief Financial Officer

Document and Entity Information

12 Months Ended Dec. 31, 2021 shares

Entity Listings [Line Items]

Document Type 20-F/A
Amendment Flag false

Document Period End Date

Current Fiscal Year End Date

Dec. 31, 2021

--12-31

<u>Current Fiscal Year End Date</u>

Document Transition Report

--12-31

Entity Registrant Name AerCap Holdings N.V.

Entity Incorporation, State or Country Code P7

Entity File Number 001-33159
Entity Address, Address Line One AerCap House

Entity Address, Address Line Two 65 St. Stephen's Green

Entity Address, City or Town
Entity Address, Country

Dublin
IE

Entity Address, Postal Zip Code D02 YX20

Entity Well-known Seasoned Issuer Yes
Entity Voluntary Filers No

Entity Filer Category Large Accelerated Filer

Entity Current Reporting StatusYesEntity Interactive Data CurrentYesEntity Emerging Growth CompanyfalseEntity Shell Companyfalse

Entity Common Stock, Shares Outstanding 245,395,448

Document Fiscal Year Focus 2021

Document Fiscal Period Focus Q3

Entity Central Index Key 0001378789

Document Annual ReporttrueDocument Shell Company ReportfalseDocument Registration Statementfalse

Document Accounting Standard U.S. GAAP

ICFR Auditor Attestation FlagtrueAuditor NameKPMG

Auditor Location Dublin, Ireland

Auditor Firm ID 1116

Business Contact [Member]

Entity Listings [Line Items]

Entity Address, Address Line One AerCap House

Entity Address, Address Line Two 65 St. Stephen's Green

Entity Address, City or Town
Entity Address, Country

Dublin
IE

Entity Address, Postal Zip Code D02 YX20

Country Region353City Area Code1

<u>Local Phone Number</u> 819 2010

<u>Contact Personnel Name</u> Vincent Drouillard

Contact Personnel Fax Number 672 0270

Common Stock [Member]

Entity Listings [Line Items]

<u>Title of 12(b) Security</u> Ordinary Shares

Trading SymbolAERSecurity Exchange NameNYSE

5.875% Fixed-Rate Reset Junior Subordinated Notes due

2079 [Member]

Entity Listings [Line Items]

<u>Title of 12(b) Security</u> 5.875% Fixed-Rate Reset Junior Subordinated

Notes due 2079

Trading SymbolAER79Security Exchange NameNYSE

```
"inline": {
  "local": [
   "form20-F_a.btm"
                                 "labellian": {
  "local": [
  "aee-20211231_lab.sml"
                                         "presentationLink": |
"Looal": |
"aex-20211231 pre.uml"
                                         The state of the s
"State of Control of C
                                                 "Monal" "Found"-f.a.him",
"Lonedoft" "Found"-f.a.him",
"Contendate" ""COUNTSIGNISSILES",
"Monitale" ""COUNTSIGNISSILES",
"Monitale" ""COUNTSIGNISSILES",
"Amber" "Mis (Counter Type",
"expostCount": 1,
"unique": Teste,
"maintil": "Tales"
"maintil": "Tales"
                        The state of the s
                                         *** The state of t
                                         The second secon
                                         "Sundamen" "Sundamen" "Sundamen Sundamen Sunda
                                         "s"
|- "label" |
| "takel" |
| "sule" |
| "label" |
| "label" |
| "label" |
                                         "and red": |
"ed",
"ed",
"ed",
"ed",
"ed",
"ede,"
"ede,"
"ede,"
"inded": |
"almed": |
"almed": |
"almed": "Municase contact for the entity",
"label": "Municase Contact [Municase]
                                         "Similation", "Skippinschille", "Skippinschill", "Skippinschille", "Skippinschill", "Skippinschille", "Skippinschille", "Skippinschille", "Skippinschille", "Skippinschille", "Skippinschille", "Skippinschille", 
                                                 ],
"Jang": {
"Gainer: {
"Gainer: {
"Gainer: Tyan Humber of contact personnel.",
"Jahel": "Contact Personnel Yan Humber"
```

```
"manuf": "Dobys/shail.nem.gov/mb/J2821qd",
"premarkaine" |
"premarkaine" |
"manufilme" |
"manufilme"
| Towardsame", "Towardsprograms" and FEELING", "Towardsame", "Towardsprograms" and FEELING", "Towardsame and FEELING", "Towardsame, "To
              ),
"localname": "CoverAbetract",
"neuri": "http://abrl.sec.gov/dei/2021q4",
"abrltype": "stringTtemType"
       "constant", "CourseofficialYeakEndBate",
"annie", "Stipp://dmi.se.gov/dm/1/22144",
"Alip://sec.gov/dm/1/22144",
"Alip://sec.gov/dm/1
              "monicleam", "DocumentAncountLegitLandard",
"monicle", "DocumentAncountLegitLandard",
"monicle", "DocumentAncountLegitLandard",
"DocumentAncountLegitLandardTractype"
"mail type", "mail type", "mail type",
"mail type", "mail type",
"mail type", "mail type",
"mail type", "mail type",
"mail type", "mail type",
"mail type", "mail type",
"mail type", "mail type",
"mail type", "mail type",
"mail type", "mail type",
"mail type", "mail type",
"mail type", "mail type",
"mail type", "mail type",
"mail type", "mail type",
"mail type", "mail type",
"mail type", "mail type",
"mail type", "mail type",
"mail type", "mail type",
"mail type", "mail type",
"mail type", "mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail type",
"mail ty
                            Indicated Transfer of the Control of
A contract of the first term o
       The state of the s
       "Initializat", "DocumentDell'OmpappinentDel",
"Initializat", "DocumentDell'OmpappinentDel",
"Paramosit", "DocumentDell'OmpappinentDel",
"Paramositation",
"P
              The "Angle of the England State of the Association of the England State 
]."
"Monop"; [
"Monop"; [
"Monop"; [
"Monoperition", "Modern Flag that is true only for a form used as a transition report,",
"Ident", "Monoperit Transition Report.",
       "Semination" - "Remainings" - "Remai
       "Ministers", "Religiolismentalismentics",
"Smart", "Religiolismentalismentics",
"Smart", "Smart (Martine, special principal pr
              dogr., ;
| enum"; |
| walet", "Disconsidation", "Address Line 3 such as an Office Park",
"Jakes", "Existy Address, Address Line Three"
                                          Ang". |

morant: |

"sole": |

"documentation": "Name of the City or Town",

"label": "Notity Address, City or Town",
```

```
"messit," "Mips//dmi.em.gov/dmi/JSELQP",
"psessidist";
"ps
        "Tomasiame", "FolisphäsensCounty",
"Tomasiame", "TomisphäsensCounty",
"Tomasiame", "TomisphäsensCounty",
"Tomasiame", "TomisphäsensCounty",
"TomisphäsensC
                        "incidence", "ExcityOddreaProxialTigCode",
"annui", "BiSp(//alx1.eno.gov/dei/2011qt",
"purencialLine",
"biSp(//alx1.eno.gov/dei/2011qt",
"biSp(//aevog.com/vals/DocumentAndonity);
"alvitype", "movemisturisquientype"
"dei ExcityOddreaDiataSufvurince": [
"anni vet" [],
"anni vet" [],
                                                        en-us": |
"Folder: |
"documentation": "Hame of the state or province.",
"label": "Entity Address, State or Province"
                Total Control of the 
                "Amen't |
"Second" |
"Second To the Control of the 
ec-us": |
"role": |
"documentation": "Indicate number of shares or other
"label": "Exitiy Common Stock, Shares Outstanding"
                        "Integral / Message.com/sale/foliasements/difficity/information"
June 1994" | "Message* | Message* |
Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* |
Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* |
Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* |
Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* |
Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* |
Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* |
Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* |
Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* |
Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* |
Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* |
Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* |
Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* |
Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* |
Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* |
Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* |
Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* |
Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* |
Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* |
Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* |
Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* |
Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* |
Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* |
Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* |
Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* |
Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* | Message* 
                orders; {
    releft; {
    releft; {
    releft; recommended file number. The field allows up to
    "label". "Edity File Number"
],
"lang": {
"en-un": {
"oute": {
"documentation": "Indicate whether the regi
"label": "Exhiby Fire Category"
                The second secon
                        "Miley (Jerose, com/sole (Zonomenthodickiy) Internation"
paintippe" "paintings; [

Interpretation of the community of the com
                        "moniname". "ExcityListingsLiseItems",
"monina": "ExcityListingsLiseItems",
"monina": "Motips//smil.seo.gov/dmi/2021qt",
"presentialising"
"minips//seo.gov.ous/vols/DocumentAndEntityI'
"minips//seo.gov.ous/vols/DocumentAndEntityI'
"minips/" "excityGitemType"
"minips/" "excityGitemType"
"minips/" "instructiongTentItem";
"minips/" "instructiongTentItem";
"minips/" "instructiongTentItem";
"minips/" "instructiongTentItem";
"minips/" "instructiongTentItem";
"minips/" "instructiongTentItem";
"minips/" "instructiongTentItems";
"minips/" "inst
                                        "Indication", "RoisyListingsTable",
"Round's", "Roisy/Indication, provide/IZEIqd",
"Recently, "Roisy, Indication, provide/IZEIqd",
"Recentlation", "
"Roisy/Indication, "
"Roisy/Indication, "
"Roisy (Recentlation, "
"Roisy (Recentlation, "
"Roisy (Recentlation, ")
"Roisy 
                        "August |
"Bounds" |
"Bounds |
                The second of th
                                        [Jung] |
"Subserved" |
"Subserved" |
"Subserved |
"Subserved |
"Subserved |
"Subserved |
"Indicate line |
"I
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             and issues, as defined in Table 655 of the Recurities Act. Is used on Turm Types 10-K, 10-Q, 8-K, 20-T, 6-K, 10-Q/A, 10-Q/A, 20-F/A, 6-K/A, N-CDM, N-Q, N-1A.",
```

```
!, "lang": |
"en-un": |
"sole": |
"table": "ICFM Auditor Attentation Flag"
                                                                          And the second s
                                                                          "si"
"side" |
"side" 
                                                              "incolous", "denously; IRTLLE",
"incolous", "denously; IRTLLE",
"presentation",
"incolous", "incolouse; provides/IRELEGE",
"presentation",
"incolouse; "incolouse;
                                                                                                   ]...
Taken's [
"Schools | Taken's |
"Schools | Taken's |
"Schools | Taken's |
"Almost 
                                                                                       "consistence", "Encousing Encouncement", "Consistence", "Consistence", "Consistence", "Consistence, Consistence, Consisten
                                                                                       "All "Annual" "Supply indicating decides the security has a separting shighting under that section of the Embany Ant."
"Supply Reporting Subjective" "Thing, indicating decides the security has a separting shighting under that section of the Embany Ant."
"Supply Reporting Subjective" "Thing, indicating decides the security has a separting shighting under that section of the Embany Ant."
"Supply Reporting Subjective Supply Supp
                                                                          The second of th
                                                                          | Translation | 
                                                                          "manicalars" "ClassOfficializations"
"manicals" "ClassOfficializations"
"manicals" "ClassOfficializations"
"manicals" "ClassOfficializations"
"manicals" "Manicals" "manicals"
"manicals" "manicals" "manicals"
"manicals" "manicals"
"manicals" "manicals"
"manicals" "manicals"
"manicals" "manicals"
"manicals" "manicals"
"manicals" "manicals"
"manicals" "manicals"
"manicals" "manicals"
"manicals" "manicals"
"manicals" "manicals"
"manicals" "manicals"
"manicals" "manicals"
"manicals" "manicals"
"manicals" "manicals"
"manicals" "manicals"
"manicals" "manicals"
"manicals" "manicals"
"manicals" "manicals"
"manicals" "manicals"
"manicals" "manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"manicals"
"
                                                              "Secretary "State of the party 
                        Tonolion": "310"
);
"s": |
Titame": "Tous 20-3";
Tounder": "209";
Tounder": "220";
Tounder": "220";
Tounder": "220";
Tounder": "220";
Tounder": "220";
Tounder": "209";
Tounder": "209";
Tounder": "200";
Tounder": "200";
Tounder': "200";
Tounder'
                                     "Numbercion", "E"

|,

"si" |

"Mame": "Farms 10-K, 10-Q, 20-8

"Number": "240",

"Publisher": "EECT,

"Postion": "13",

"Numbercion": "4-1"
                                     ;
"19"; ;
"Mame": "Regulation I
"Number": "232",
"Publisher": "250",
"Rection": "403"
```

employed the manufacture of the Period Section